
HAL Id: tel-01402235
https://amu.hal.science/tel-01402235

Submitted on 29 Nov 2016

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access
archive for the deposit and dissemination of sci-
entific research documents, whether they are pub-
lished or not. The documents may come from
teaching and research institutions in France or
abroad, or from public or private research centers.

L’archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire HAL, est
destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents
scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non,
émanant des établissements d’enseignement et de
recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires
publics ou privés.

Distributed under a Creative Commons Attribution - NonCommercial 4.0 International License

British Policy towards Tunis (1830-1881)
André Raymond

To cite this version:
André Raymond. British Policy towards Tunis (1830-1881). History. University of Oxford, 1953.
English. �NNT : �. �tel-01402235�

https://amu.hal.science/tel-01402235
http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/
http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/
https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr


BRITI~H POLICY TOWARD0 TUNIS 
(1830 - 1861) 

PART 1 
by 

ANDRE RAYMOND 
0T. ANTONY ' S COLLEGE 

OXFOHD 

1953 : i 



AVERTISSEMENT 
 
 
Dans le tapuscrit original à partir duquel cette reproduction a été effectuée, les pages 545 à 603 
étaient manquantes. Elles ont été numérisées à partir d’un second exemplaire beaucoup moins 
lisible. Ces pages n’ont pas pu être reconnues par le logiciel de reconnaissance de caractères, elles 
sont donc en qualité « image » et ne sont donc pas indexées. Les signets pour ces pages 
fonctionnent. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Numérisation : Christian CHAMPALOUX (e-mediatheque.mmsh.univ-aix.fr) 

olivier.dubois
Texte tapé à la machine

olivier.dubois
Texte tapé à la machine

olivier.dubois
Texte tapé à la machine
Cotes des exemplaires présents à la médiathèque de la MMSH :
MT-27034 (1) et (2)

olivier.dubois
Texte tapé à la machine

olivier.dubois
Texte tapé à la machine

olivier.dubois
Texte tapé à la machine



British policy Towards Tunis 

(1830 - 1881) 

A thesis presented by 

ANDRE RA YMOND 

st. Antony's college 

for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy 

.. ..,- -

oxford. 
October 1953 • 



Table of Contents 

Bibliography 

Introduction 

Tunis under the Turks 
funis in 1830 
Gr eat Britain and Tunis 

Part I. The problem of the 'ra rochement' 
etween Tunis and the Porte 1830 - 1855 

I. The elements of the Tunisian question 
(1830-1835) 

Tunis and the Algerian expedition 
The decline of British influence in Tunis 
The occupation of Tripoli by the Turks 

II. Palmerston and the policy of 'rapprochement' 
(1835-1841) 

Shaping of British policy 
Di~ficulties of British policy 
The crisis of 1840 in Tunis 
The Turh:ish attempt of 1841 

III. Aberdeen and the policy of the status quo 
(1842-1846) 

The porte is officially converted to the 
status quo 

Anglo French rivalry in Tunis 
The incident between Tunis and Sardinia 
Attempt of mediation between Tunis and 

the Porte 
Aberdeen's policy falls into line with 

French action 
The results of the status quo policy 

IV. Tunis under French influence (1846-1855) 

I 

V 

1 
13 
29 

38 
40 
49 
52 

57 
62 
71 
89 

104 

119 

124 
135 
140 

153 

163 
169 

Attempted correction of British policy (184~ 174 
Great Britain and French predominance in 

Tunis 187 



II 

New Trends in British policy (1849-1851) 197 
The question of the succession to the Bey 210 
Conclusion 222 

part II. A Policy of Reform (1856-1867) 

V. Wood and the 'policy of reforms (1856-1860) 228 

The hew political situation in Tunis 228 
Wood defines his Tunisian policy 235 
The Fundamental Law (1857) 245 
Mohammed Bey's further reforms 262 
~nternational position of the Regency 269 
The ~unisian constitution (1860) 281 

VI. The defence of the Reforms (1861-1864) 294 

Beginnings of the Constitutional reforms 297 
Wood and the Turkish solution 303 
The first threats against the reforms 312 
Italian offensive against the reforms 322 

VII. The revolution of 1864 336 

Main features of' the revolution of 1864 338 
Threat of European intervention 341 
The powers neutralize one another in Tunis 357 
The revolution comes to an end 365 

VIII. Khaireddin's mission to Constantinople 376 

The preliminaries (summel"' of 1864) 376 
Khaireddin's negotiations in Constantinople 381 
The Powers and the Firman 386 
The issue of the Firman is delayed 390 

IX. The financial problem comes to the forefront 
(1865-1867) 400 

The Aegency after the revolution of 1864 400 
The Consolidation of the debt 404 
The crisis of the autumn of 1867 412 
Conclusion 417 



III 

Part III. The polLcy of Economic penetration (1868-1877) 

X. The International Financial Commission (1868-1870) 423 

From the French COl1l1lission to the International 
Commlssion 423 

organisation of the InternationfCommission 430 
Creation of the International Commission 439 

XI. The consequences of the defeat of France 
(1870-1871) 453 

Italian designs on Tunis (1870-1871) 453 
The Firman of 1871 461 

XII. British economic penetration (1871-1874) 473 

The Powers and the li'inancial Commission 473 
Wood and the policy of economic penetration 482 
The struggle for the direction of the 

government 489 

XIII. Wood and the Khaireddin Government (1874-1877) 507 

The reconciliation between Wood and Khaireddin 507 
The upsetting of the equilibrium "in Tunis 516 
The Oriental crisis and the fall of 

Khaireddin 533 
Conclusion 542 

Part IV. From Berlin to the Bardo (1878-1881) 

XIV. Berlin 548 

Derby and the offers of the "honest brokert • 549 
Salisbury and the policy of compensations 562 
Bargaining at Berlin 569 

XV. Salisbury and the Berlin engagements 580 

The Berlin promises are set down in writing 580 
Salisbury ~d the Frapco':'lta1ian rivalry 

in Tunis 586 
Salisbury gives more pledges to France 591 



IV 

XVI. The Liberals and the Berlin engagements 604 

Granville and the legacy of Salisbury 604 
The crisis of the summer of 1880 611 
The crisis of the Enfida 620 

XVII. The Bardo (APril-May 1881) 636 

b'rance decides to go ahead in Tuni s 636 
Granville's hesitations 640 
After the treaty 657 

Concluding observations 664 



v. 

Bibliography 

I. Unpublished sources 

1. Foreign Papers in the Record Office~ 1 

~ 77. 

FO 102 

FO 335 

FO 195 

General correspondence Tunis : FO 71 21 
(1830) to FO 77 30 (1837) 

General correspondence Tunis: FO 102 2 
(1838) to FO 102 144 (1881) 

Tunis Embassy and Consular (Archives of 
the Consulate): FO 335 56. to FO 835 154 

Turkey: Embassy and Consular Archives. 2 

FO 7 General correspondence Austria 

FO 27 

FO 45 

FO 64 

FO 65 

FO 67 

FO 78 

" 
tI 

" 
tt 

\I 

" 

tt 

" 
" 

" 
tI 

tt 

2. Unpublished unofficial sources. 

France 

Italy 

prussia and Germany 

Russia 

Sardinia 

Turkey~ 

Granville Papers (G.P.) Private papers deposmted in 
the Record Office (P.R.O. 30 29). 

Gladstone Papers deposited in the British Museum. 

1. They are referred to by the number of the series 
and the number of the volumes. 

2. 8 volumes contain correspondence between t ile Consuls 
in 'funis and the Ambassadors at the Porte. 



VI 

Ben Dhiaf
l

: Ithaf ahl az zaman bi ahbar muliik '.tiinis 
wa 'ahd el amiin. Several copies -of this unpub­
lished chronicle are deposited in the public 
Library of Tunis. References will be given to 
an unpublished translation which, for the period 
studied is divided into f'our pa.rts: 

Reign of Ahmed Bey (1837-1855) 
Reign of Mohammed Bey (1855-1859) 
Reign of' sadok Bey (1859-1864) 
Revolution of' 1864 (1864-1871) 

II. Printed Sources 

Documents diplomatiques 1864 

Documents diplomatiques franyais (D.D.F.) prerni~re serie 
(1871-1900) 

State Papers, vol. XCIX (1881) : Correspondence respecting 
the Affairs of Tunis (A.O.T.), No. I, II, III, IV, 
V, VI, VII, VIII, p. 501 and f. 

Poli tique exterieure de 1 '.Allemagne (P. E. A.) French 
translation of the "Grosse Politik der Europaischen 
Kabinette." 

Hansard's Parliamentary Debates: Third Series (Hansard) 

Gooch (G.P.) The later correspondence of Lord John Russell, 
2 vo1s, London, 1925. 

Grandchamps (pierre): Documents relatifs ~ 1e r~volution 
de 1864 en Tunisie, 2 vo1s. Tunis, 1935. 

Plantet (E.), Correspondence des Beys de Tunis et des 
Cohsu1s de France avec 1a Cour T. III (1770-1830) 
Paris, 1899. 

1. Born in 'J.'unis in 1219 H (1804) Ibn Abi ad Dhiaf 
served Ahmed Bey as his Chief Secretary with the 
rank of General. Appointed to the Commission of' 
reforms by Muhammed Bey (1857) he became a member 
of the Supreme Council (1860) and President of the 
provisional Tribunal (1860). He is known as a poet 
but above all as the author of a history of Tunis 
which is OUD main source f'or the period of the Husseini 
dynasty. He died in Tunis in 1291 H (1874) 



VII 

The letters of Queen Victoria: Second Series, 3 vols. 
(1862-1885) London (1926-28). 

Wellington (Duke of) Despatches, correspondence and 
memoranda, vols. vi amd vii, London. 1877 -1878. 

III. contemporary books on Tunis 

Capitaine x x x Une promenade a Tunis en 1842, Paris,1844 
, 

Oubisol, La Regence de Tunis, 1867. 

Daumas (Philippe) Quatre ans a Tunis (Alger, 1857) 

Desfontaines (Rene), Fragmens d'un voyage dans les 
Regences de Tunis et d'Alger fait de 1783 a 1786 
2. vols. 1838. 

Franck (Louis), 'J.'unis: Description de cette Regence, 
Paris, 1850. 

Francois (Albert), Tunis et la Regence sous Mohammed el 
Sadok Bey, ParLS 1867. 

Guerin (V.) 
/ 

Voyage Archeologique, 2 vols., Paris, 1862. 

Jul.Len · (Felix), Tunis et Oarthage, Paris, 1864. 

Kheredine,(General)l Reformes necessaires aux Etats 
Musulmans PariS, 1868. 

1. Khaireddin at Tunisi, born in 1225 H (1810) in 
Circassia was taken to Tunis as a child and brought 
up in the Palace of the Beys. He was entrusted 
with several missions in Europe by Ahmed Bey. 
Appminted General and Minister of Marine, he became 
President of the Supreme Council in 1860. He resigned 
his functions of Minister and president of the Supreme 
Oouncil in 1862. In 1867 he published the Aqwam al 
masalik fi ma'rifat ahwal al mamalik of which the 
preface was translated into French in 1868 under 
the title of uReformes necessaires aux Etats Musul­
mans". In 1869 he became president of the Internat­
ional Oommission and was prime Minister from 1873 
to 1877. After his dismissal by Sadok Bey he was 
called to TUrkey by Abd ul Hamid and became Grand 
Vizier in 1878. He died in constantino~le in l30§!L(1889J 



VIII 

Latour (A. de) Voyage de S.A.R. le due de Montpensier ~. 
Tunis. Paris 1847. 
Lettre d'un b'ran~ais a S.A. Mohammed el Sadok, 
Paris 1864. . 

Maggil (Thomas) Nouveau voyage a 'l'unis, Paris 1815. 

Monchicourt (Charles), Documents historiques sur la 
Tunisie. Relations inedites de Nyssen, Filippi et 
Calligarie (1788-1829- 1834) Paris 1929. 

/ 

Pell~ier (E.) Description de la Regence de Tunis, 
Paris, 1853. 

Pell~ier (E.) La R~genee de Tunis in Revue des Deux 
Mondes, l'Mai, 1856. 

Peyssonnel, (J.A.), Relation d'un voya.ge sur les cotes 
de Barbarie en 1724 et 1725, Paris 1838. 

Prevost (F.), La Tunisie devant l'Europe, Paris, 1862. 

puckler-Muskau (prince), Semilasso in Africa, vols.II 
and III, London, 1837. 

Des Rapports de la Tunisie avec l'Eur:)pe, Paris, 1865. 

Rousseau (A.) Annales tunisiennes, Alger, 1864. 

Shaw (Thomas) 'rravels and observations relating to sev­
eral parts of Barbary and the Levant, Oxford, 1738. 

Temple (Grenville), Excursions in the ~editerranean, 
2 .vols, London. 1835. 

La Tunisie et la Civilisation, Paris, 1867. 

IV. Reference Books. 

Ancel ~Jacques), Manuel historiQue de la question 
d orient), Paris, 1927. 

Bailey (Frank Edgar), 
reform movement, 

British policy and the Turkish 
Harvard, 1942. 

Balfour (Lady Frances), The life of George, fourth Earl 
of Aberdeen, 2 vols, London. 



IX 

Bardoux (Jacques ) , Quand Bismarck dominait l'Europe 
Pa r~s, 1953. 

Bourgeois (Er'ilile), Manuel historique de poli tique 
~trangare, vols. III and IV, Paris (1906-1925) 

Bourgeois et Pages, Les origines et les responsabilites 
de la Grande Guerre, Paris, 1921. 

Broadley (A. M.), The last Punic War, 2 vols. London, 1882 

Buckle (George Earle), The life of Benjamin Disraeli, 
6 vols. London, 1920. 

Bulwer (Sir Henry Lyttob), The life of Viscount Palmer­
ston, 3 vols, London, 1870-1874. 

Cambon (Henri), Histoire de la Regence de Tunis,paris,1948 

Caragiale (Vlad), La politique des Grandes puissances 
et la question d'Egypte, Geneve, 1947. 

Carroll (E.Malcoilim), French public opinion and Foreign 
affairs, New York, 1931. 

Cecil (Lady Gwendolen), Life of Robert Marquis of Salis­
bury (2 vols), London, 1921. 

Chabod, Storia della politica estera italiana, I, Ie 
premesse, Bari, 1951. 

Chiala (Luigi), Pagine di storia contemporanea, II, 
tunisi, Torino, 1892. 

Coolidge (A.C.). The origins of the Triple Alliance, 
New York, 1926. 

Crispi,(Francesco), The memoirs of Francesco crispi, 
vol. II, London, 1912. 

Darcy (Jean), b'rance et Angleterre: Cent annees de 
. rivalit~ coloniale, Paris, 1904. 

Daudet (E.), La mission du comte de Saint Vallier, 
Paris, 1918. 

Debidour (A.), Histoire diplomatique de l'Europe du 
congres de Vienne au congres de Berlin, vol. II, 
Paris, 1931. 



x. 

Debiclour (A.), Histoire diplomatique :..' de I' Europe depuis 
Ie congres de Berlin jusqu'a nos jours, vol.I, 
Paris, 1916. 

Dilke (Sir Charlest, The present position of European 
politics, London, 1887. 

Douin (Georges), Mohamed Aly et l'expedition dtAlger, 
Le Caire, 1930. 

Driault (E.), La question d'orient, Ps ris, 1905. 

Elliot (A.D.), The life of George Joachim Goschen, 2 
vols. ~ondo:p, 1911.,· 

Emerit, La revolution de 1864 et Ie secret de l'Empereur 
Revue Tunisienne, 1939. 

Engelhardt (E.), La 'l'urquie et Ie Tanzimat, 2 vols, 
Paris, 1882-1884. 

Feis, (Herbert), Europe the world's banker (1870-19147 
New Haven, 1930. 

Fitoussi et Benazet, LtEtat Tunisien et Ie protectorat 
francais, Paris, 1931. 

Fitzmaurice (Lord Edmond), The life of Lord Granville, 
2 vols. London, 1906. 

Flournoy (F.C.), British policy towards Morocco, Baltimore 
1935. 

Freycinet (G.de), Souvenirs (1878-1893), Paris, 1913. 

Giaccardi (Alberto), La conquista di Tunisi, Kilano,1940. 

Giolitti (Giovanni), Memoirs of my Life, London, 1923. 
, 

Guizot, Memoires, vol. VI, Paris, 1864. 

Guyot (Raymond), La premiere entente cordiale, Paris,1926. 

Gwynn and Tuckwell, The life of Sir Charles Dilke, 
2 vols. London, 1917~ 

Hanotaux (G.) Histoire oe la France contemporaine, 4 
vols. Paris, 1903-1908. 



XI 

Initiation a la Tunisie: Jean Pignon, La Tunisie Turque 
et Husseinite, Paris, 1950. 

Julien (CharleS-Andr~), Histoire de l'Afrique du Nord, 
vol. II, Paris, 1952. 

Knaplund (paul), Glad.stone and Britain's Imperial Policy, 
London, 1927. 

Knaplund (~aul), Gladstone's Foreign Policy, New York,1935 

Knaplund (Paul), Letters from the Berlin Embassy, Washing­
ton, 1944. 

Langer (William L.), European a~liances and alignments 
New York, 1950. 

Langer (William L.), The European Powers and the French 
occupation of Tunis, in American Historical Review, 
October 1925 and January 1926. 

Lee (Dwight E.), Great Britain and the Cyprus convention, 
London, 1934. 

Lee (Sir Sidney) King Edward VII, 2 vols, London, 1925 

Lyall, (air Alfred), The life of the Marquis of Dufferin 
2 vols, London, 1905. 

Marriott (J.A.R.), The eastern question, Oxford, 1918. 

Morley (John), Life of Gladstone, 3 vols., London, 1903. 

Newton (Lord), Lord Lyons, 2 vols., London, 1913. 

Parker (Charles stuart), Sir Robert Peel, vo1.III,London 
1899. 

P. H. X. (DtEstour~e11es de Constant), La politique 
franiaise en Tunisie, Paris, s.d. 

Safwat (M.), Tunis and the Great Powers, Alexandria,1943 

Sebag (paul), La Tunisie, Essai de monographie, Paris,1951 

Serres (Jean), La politique turque en Afrique d.u Nord 
sous 1a monarchie de Juillet, PariS, 1925. 



XII 

seton-Watson (R.W.), Britain and Europe (1789-1914) 
Cambridge, 1937. 

Seton-Watson (R. W.), Disraeli, Glads 'vone and the Eastern 
Question, London, 1935. 

, 
Swain (J. E. ), l'he struggle for the control of the 

Mediterranean, the.si;.s,Phlladelphia, 1933. 

Taffs (Winifred), Lord Odo Russel, Ambass ador to Bismarck, 
London, 1938. 

Temperley, (Harold), iritish Secret diplomacy from 
Canning to Grey, in cambridge Historical Journal,1938. 

Temperley (Harold), England and the Middle East; London, 
1936. 

Thureau-Dangin (paul), Histoire, de la Monarchie de 
Juillet, 7 vols., Paris, 1884-1892. 

Verete (M.), Palmerston and the Levant crisis, in 
Journal of Modern History, 1952. 

Webster (Sir Charles), The foreib~ policy of Palmerston, 
2. vols. London, 1951. 



Introduction 

Tunis under the Turks. 

1. The ultimate TUrkish reconquest of the Goletta 

trom the spaniards (1574) after fifty years of struggle 

for the control of Tunis provides a useful reference 

mark for the beginning ot the "Turkish period" in 

Tunis; but one should not be deluded as to the real 

character of the regime which was to last three cen-
1 

turies (1574-1881). The Turkish organisation as 

established by Sinane Pasha (a Pasha appointed by the 

porte for three years, to govern with the help of the 

Divan) did not last very long. As early as the 

beginning of the XVIIth century, the Regency of TUnis 

started to break away from the direct authority of 

the porte (this process was also noticeable in Algiers, 

but was much slower and less complete). A double 

struggle began first between the DeYs and the Pashas, 

then between the Beys and the Deys.2 The militia of 

1. 

2. 

There is no available recent history of TUnis 
(Henri cambon's "Histoire de la Re ence de Tunis" 
does not fill tha gap: e es accoun s or e 
Turkish period are to e found in Ch.A. JUlien 
"Histoire de l'Afrique du Nord" T 11, and in 
tt In! tiation it }a tunisie" ~n . erttc!~s~~i~t~~t'). 
pignon about "LS TUDis1! T que e 
Benazet et Fitoussi L'Etat tunisien et le 
protectorat franiais, p.18. 

, 
-~ ----. ~~~. , ~--,~~--------' 
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the Janizaries had been divided into 40 sections, each 

o~ them under the -command o~ a Dey: in 1590 the militia 

slaughtered the officers of high rank and the 40 Deys 

elected one of them as their chief. The Dey quickly 

became the real head of the government in TUnis, whilst 

the Pasha just retained the honorary f'Unction of 

representative of the porte (who continued to grant 

him the investiture). Later, in the XVIIth century 

one of the Dey's most important officers, the Bey, who 

held financial and military functions strengthened his 

authority until it challenged the DeY's supremacy: 

Murad Bey, a corsican slave (1612-1631) succeeded in 

being appOinted as pasha by the porte (1631) and in 

handing over bis functions to his heirs. The Dey 

nevertheless continued to be elected by the Divan but 

was progressively deprived of any real authority. 

A series of conflicts between MUrad's successors 

put an end to the MUrad! dynasty at the beginning o~ 

the XVIIIth century: in 1702 Ibrahim Sherif, the 

TUrkish Aghe of the spahis (native cavaJ.ry) succeeded 

in coming into power in Tunis and in holding the 

titles of Bey, Dey and Pasha at the same time. His 

defeat and capture by the Algerians (1704) put an end 

to his power but did not interrupt the process which 

had been going on for a century: another aghe of the 
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spahis, Hussein ben Ali, was proclaimed Bey in his place, 

and later suppressed the title of Dey (1705) and wa.s 

recogn1zed as Pasha and GOvernor of Itr1k1ya by the 

porte (1708). HUssein ben A11 then established the 

heredity of the beylical tunction1n his family: his 

dynasty 1s still reigning over Tunis. During that long 

historical process, a.s well as during the fifty years 

of war with Algiers which tollowed. Hussein's reign, 

the porte had played no act1ve part in the po11tical 

changes which had occurred in TUnis and had only 

rat1tied them after the events. The Sultan had rewarded 

the formal obedience of the Tunisian Rulers with purely 

honorary distinctions (particularly by granting them 
/ 

the title of pasha): "sa llajeste le Padishah des sept 

climats et le souverain de la terre et de la mer, nous 

" a contirme dans les titres de Mirimivan et de Miriliva 
..... 

et nous nous somrnes assis avec joie sur le Trone". 

Hammuda Pasha wrote to the King of France on his 
1 

accession. 

2. One of the main reasons why the Regency outlived 

half a century of civil war and Algerian intervention 

(1704-1756) was the strong administrative organisation 

which the Turks had received tram the previous Arab 

1. plantet correspondence des Beys de Tunis III, N 267. 



dynast~es and particularly from the hafcidesl : the Beys 

were indeed reduced in status to tributaries of the 

Algerian pashas, but the long reigns of Ali Bey (1769-

1782) and Hammuda Pasha (1782-1814) restored the 

prestige of the Hussein1 dynasty. Historical evidence. 

agrees that Hammuda Pasha was an outstanding sovereign: 

"le prince joignait a des sentiments eleves, 8 une 

generosite rare, a une remarquable penetration et a un 

jugement droit et solide, quo1qu'emprunt de l'e~rit 

'barbaresque' de son epoque et de son pays, une fermete 

de earactere qui seule put consolider san pouvoir au 

milieu de difficultes sans nombre qui s'eleverent 

During the period of unrest which 

followed. his death, his reign was referred to as a 

Golden Age, the "Augustan age of Tunisia".2 There is 

no doubt at all that Hammuda's reign was remarkable 

for a strengthening of the internal authority of the 

GOvernment: internal security was maintained, sometimes 

by using very energetic methods with the tribes (the 

lawless Usseltia were scattered allover the country); 

public works were carried on; the central administra­

tion was improved by the creation of specialized 

1. 
2. 

Julien II, p.277. 
Rousseau Annales Tunisiennes, p.280, Thomas Maggil 
Nouveau vo~age a Tunis p.13 and f., Louis Franck 
Tunis, p.O-71, erenwille Temple Algiers and Tunis 
I. p.191 and f., Benazet p. 41 and f. 
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ministers: (1) prime Minister, Minister of finances 

(Khaznadar), Keeper of the seals (Sahib et tabaa). 

Hammuda Pasha's most spectacular successes however, 

were achieved in the field o~ his relationship with the 

EUropeans. The following anecdote gives an idea of 

their situation in Tunis: FOr some time, Maggil 

reports, H8UlDuda pasha had taken pleasure in driving 

his carriage himself. The American consul had a very 

handsome one: the Bey saw it and took a fancy for it; 

he sent to demand it o~ him without further ado, and 

told the consul that as he needed it he advised him to 
1 

buy another one. His long war with Venice (1784-1792), 

his financial demands from the Italian and Northern 

powers (eight EUropean states were bound by treaty to 

send him consular gifts and a tr1ennal tribute; others, 

like Great Britain and France, until 1782, offered 

presents) show that the balance of power in the Medi­

terranean had not yet definitely turned in favour of 

the Europeans who remained subjected to the regime of 
2 

"war or tribute" and of "peace by presents". The 

French government themselves had to take the Pasha's 

exigencies into account and were often obliged to 

resort to presents in order to conciliate the Bey: as 

1. Maggil, p.10l. 
2. Plantet, LXIII and f. 
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France was slow in meeting the Bey's demands, the French 

oonsul was warned that Hce ne serait pas une chose bien 

extraordinaire (qu'il rUt) envoy' aux Travaux PUblicstt • l 

Hemmuda's Pasha's main achievement was the settlement 

ot his relationship with Algiers: a series ot wars put 

an end to the tribute, but were only brought to a con­

clusion in 1822. 

Towards the porte, Hammuda Pasha showed the same 

anxiety to assert the independence of the Regency, but 

he had to proceed with prudence towards his goal. When 

invited by the porte to put a stop to the naval war 

with Austria (who had just made peace with the ottomans) 

the Beys obeyed the order (1783). But in 1795 he 

intervened in the Regency of Tripoli and re-established 

Ali Karamanli on his throne, thus putting an end to 

the usurpation of the TUrkish corsair Ali Borghul, 

without even consulting the porte (the expectation ot 

ottoman displeasure at that initiative was however to 

give rise to serious apprehensions in Tunis).2 When 

the porte declared war on the French during the 

Egyptian expedition, Hammuda showed some heSitation in 

obeying the sultan's request: the Pashas of the three 

1. ibid. N 531: Devaize to the Oomite de salut pUblic 
May 14, 1795. 

2. Plantet III, N.527. 
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Regencies, the prench Consul wrote, are well aware that 

we have Capitulation treaties with the Porte and treaties 

with Barbary, and that to violate them by the porte's 

order would amount to recognize its suzerainty. They 

know the difference between respect of and submission 
1 

to it. The:' Bey decided ultimately to abide by the 

conduct of the Pasha of Algiers (perhaps for fear of 

reprisals), but he assured ])evoize (the French consul) 

of his regret of being compelled to break the friendly 

relations which, since his accession, he had the pleasure 

to maintain with France. 2 Hammuda concluded a truce 

with prance as soon as August 1800, but was obliged to 

yield to the ·urgent pressure of the Capidje of the 

porte" in order not to "compromise himself in the eyes 

ot the porte", and resumed the hostilities in APril 1801. 3 

The destruction of the janizaries showed Hammuda's 

gradual emancipation from ottoman influence, more 

clearly than his foreign policy which had to remain 

prudent. with a view to resist Algerian pressure Ali 

Bey had called upon the services of TUrkish soldiers 

and the importance ot the Turkish militia had been 

1. 
2. 

Plantet III. N.703. ])evoize to Talleyrand,November 26,17$ 
Plantet III, N.705. Devoize to Ta11eyrand January 4, 
1799: these assurances did not prevent Hammuda from ~ 
treating the French and their Consul when confined in 
their Fondouk (market place). 
Plantet III, 775. Devoize, APril 10,1801. 



-8-

increased accordingly. From the beginning of his 

accession Hammuda Bey wa.s aware of the dangers of this 

situation for his authority: he ceased recruiting troops 

in the Levant, removed the Turkish officials from the 

most important posts in the administration and surrounded 

himself with Mamelukes (mainly Circassians and GeOrgians).l 

The TUrkish soldiers became irritated at their falling 

into disfavour and ultimately 5,000 3anizaries rose in 

a body on August 30,1811: the population of Tunis armed 

itself a.nd helped the Bey's native troops to crush the 

revolt. The militia was severely punished and the 

TUrks lost all their political influence in Tunis. 2 The 

international situation of Tunis wholly justified 

Maggil's conclusion that as the Barbary princes were 

actually independent from the porte, they should be 
3 ;reated as such by the powers. 

3. Hammuda's death (1814) was followed by a great 

change in the relationship between Tunis and Europe, 

and also by a corresponding weakening of the Regency. 

Hammuda's succession gave rise to rivalries between the 

elder and younger branches of the Hussein1 family: 

othman Bey was assassins.ted (1814) and Mahmud Bey 

1. pignon, p.107. 
2. Rousseau, p. 270-275. 
3. Maggil, p.112. 
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acceded to the throne (1814-1824). That change was of 

course accompanied by the sudden fall of the favourites 

of the overthrown Bey, but the country remained remark­

ably calm, a further proof of the solid .. ity of the 

dynasty. 1 

The new Bey completely lacked authority and his 

weakness parDly accounts for a second Turkish rising in 

1816; the militia was again crushed and the ring leader 

nelibashi vainly tried to secure popular support. 2 There 

was, however, a widely spread discontent which had 

been created by the unprecedented humiliation which 

Lord Exmouth's expedition had just inflicted on Tunis. 

Piracy had never been as important in Tunis as it was 

in Algiers: "This nation, Shaw had already remarked at 

the beginning of the XVIllth century, (has been) for 

ma,ny years more intent upon trade and the improvement 

of their manufactures than upon plunder and cruiSing ... 3 

The Tunisian fleet was relatively weak (16 sails and 

24 small corsairs according to Franck, towards 1810). 

But privateering was a source of important benefits for 

the Bey, either from the captures at sea, the sale of 

christian slaves, or the presents and tributes which 

1. Rousseay p.291-295. 
2. ibid. p.317-318. 
3. Shaw Travel or observations, p.155. 
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the powers gave the Bey to avoid war or obtain peace. 

One could not understand the prolongation of that state 

of affairs until well into the XIxth century, in ~ite 

of the obvious disproportion between the European and 

North African naval forces, without taking into account 

the dissension between the Powers and their commercial 

rivalries: In case of war, Franck remarked, this scourge 

which fell on everybody was a means of hindering and 

ruining the navy and trade of the enemy; these pirates 

would have been less daring had there been less jealousy 

between the Ohristian princes. l It is of course diffi­

cult to determine with whom the main responsibility 

rested: the French were prone to accuse Great Britain, 

the main naval power, of that culpable tolerance; on 

the other hand Devoize's distrust of the British endea­

vours to put an end to piracy in 1816 ("LtAngle terre a 
A' , 

cherchC an meme temps a porter un coup mortel a notre 

navigation •••• en nous mettant en concurrence avec les 

deux principaux ~tats d'Italie")2 seems to justifY 

NySlen's opinion: ttlf England and France, he said to 

packler Muskau in 1835, had not found their private 

advantage in the existence of the piratical states, how 

1. 
2. 

Franck, p.124. 
Plantet III, N.I095. Devoize to Richelieu, December 
31, 1816. 
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long, defenceless as they are, could have they maintained 

themselves, to the disgrace of EUrope."l 

The situation was however deemed int91erable at 

the end of the Napoleonic wars and a stronger course 

of action was publicly asked for in Europe, for the 

abolition of christian slavery and of privateering in 

the Mediterranean. Admiral Exmouth was sent to the 

Barbary states to notify them of the decisions taken 

at the Vienna congress. Mahmud Bey could not but 

tollow the example of the Dey of Algiers and yield to 

the threat of a naval bombardment: on APril 17,1816 he 

promised to tree the christian slaves still detained in 

the Regency, and to abolish christian slaver.v in the 
2 :f'U.ture. TWO years later the Powers decided,at Aix, 

that France and Great Britain should be intrusted to 

intimate to the Regencies that they had resolved to 

put an end to privateering in the Mediterranean. 

Admirals JUrien and preemantle arrived before Tunis in 

september 1817 and the Bey, after a show of resistance, 
3 was again obliged to yield. Military and diplomatic 

initiative had been definitely taken over by the 

EUropeans. 

1. 
2. 
3. 

packler-MUSkau, semilasso in Africa, III, 299. 
Rousseau, p. 306-313. 
Rousseau, p. 334-337. 
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The European intervention in 1816 and 1818 seemed 

to indicate the beginning of the decline of the Regency. 

The internal situation worsened: financial difficulties 

aggravated by serious administrative detects me.~ly 

brought the country to the verge of bankruptcy; 1n 1828 

the Treasury was almost empty and HUssein Bey had to 

have recourse to shakir sahib et tabaa, a. Georgian 

Kameluk, who tried to remedy the situation by a stern 

programme ot economies, fiscal improvements and encour-
1 agement to agriculture. In the meantime the Bey's 

external position was weakened: after the intervention 

of 1818 the tributary powers tollowed the example ot 

Holland who intormed the Bey that she would hencetorth 

refuse to pay the tributes stipulated tor in the 

Treaties. The Bey "dut subir la loi du plus tort. L' 
" , ... epoque ou la Regence imposai t aux pu1ssances chret1ennes 

etait passee sans retour. C'etait a elle de s'humilier 

devant ceux-la meme qui jadis sellicitai-ent et achetaient 

son alliance."2 In Tunis the influence ot the 

EUropean consuls was more and more heavily felt by 

the BeYs. The porte tried to take advantage ot that 

situation to make the Beys feel a suzerainty which had 

long remained somewhat remote: in 1821 the Sultan 

1. Roussea~ p. 381-384. 
2. Rousseau, p. 333. 
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ordered the rulers of Algiers and Tunis to make peace; 

the two Pashas obeyed more readily as they were induced 

by increasing Eurppean pressure to settle their differ-
1 ences. Mahmud Bey later answered the sultan's -call 

for naval assistance: the Tunisian tleet (or rather 

what remained, as most of it had been destroyed by a 

storm ~n 1821) was destroyed at Navarino with the 

ottoman tleet. 2 Hussein Bey, however, did not go so 

far as to take a part in the Algero-French dispute, 

after 1827: in spite of the objurgations of the Sultan 

and of the Dey of Algiers, the Bey indeed felt some 

kind of satisfaction at the difficulties which his 

long-feared neighbour was experiencing. 3 

Tunis in 1830. 

4. A review ot the situation of Tunis round about 

1830 would show that many institutions which then 

appeared still to be in existence, had lost all their 

significance. P&ckler KUskau reports that at the Bardo 

(in 1835) he had seen the four Turkish slaves who were 

formerly entrusted with the mission of executing the 

Pasha, should the sultan be dissatisfied with his COnduct;4 

1. Rousseau p.340 and f., and Julien p.301. 
2. C amb on, p.S8. 
3. Rousseau, p. 375.t. 
4. puckler Muakau, II, p.277. 
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but the presence of these executors just as the Bey's 

"election" by the Divan ("avec le consentement ••• de 
/ 

tous les seigneurs et par l'acord unanime des senateurs 

d •• Divan et des membres de la ••• m11~" Mahmud wrote 

1n 1815 when announcing his accession)l were ceremon1als 

w.ithout meaning. The hereditary succession (by primo­

gen1ture in the Bey's family) brought absolute sovereigns 
I 

to the throne: "Toute l'autor1te, toute loi, toute dis-
I 

posit1on judicia1re au administrative emanent purement 
. I 

at s1mplement de la volonte du Bey qu'aucune borne 
, 2 

n'arrete" Filippi remarked in 1829. The admin1stra-

tion, which was very simple and very centralized, was 

in the hands of the Bey: when a European prince would 

need 100 civil servants to carry out the arfairs of 

state, four or six clerks do the needful in Tunis. 3 

The Divan only retained honorar.y functions; the ancient 

Dey, the Dou1et1y (Sah1b ed ])aula) was nothing more 

than a kind of prefect of police for Tunis: "11 est 
, 

entoure de l'ombre des Vieil1es 1nstitutions dont 1a 
/'. ~ J rea11te entouraat ses plus anciens predecesseurs ••• 11 

. I , 

joue avec l'imperturbab1e gravite d'un Ture une comed1e 

1. 

2. 

p1antet N.l047, lIahmud ;Bey to Louis XVIII January 
6, 1815. I 

Monchicourt Relations 1nedites ••• p.168. Desfontaines 
(towards 1786) used nearly tEe same words (lrsgmens 
d'un voyage •••• p.27). 
Franck, p.67. 
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, 4 

Ou 11 n'y a de reel que quelques coups de bateu qu'11 

donne et quelques piastres qutil reyoit. nl 

In two centuries the Beys had acquired a real 

independence from the porte: the protocol of' investiture 

with a pro forma meeting of' the Divan and a tradition­

ally humble letter to solicit the Sultan's investiture, 

remained in conf'ormity with the ancient ceremony. But 

the real marks of' dependence were unimportant in 1830 

and did not hinder the BeY's action in the least. The 

Bey did not pay any tribute to the Sultan: he sent 

customary presents to the porte, generally every three 

years. The coinage was made and the Friday prayer said 

1n the Sultan's name; the Sultan granted the f'irman of' 

investiture and the caf'tan whenever they were asked f'or 

by the new Beys; the custom of' the annual confirmation, 

which still existed when Franck visited Tunis (towards 

l8l0) was given up towards 1830. 2 In spite of' their 

marks of respect and of their expressions of' devotion 

towards the porte, Filipp~ wrote in 1829, the Beys tried 

as much as they could to put aside all which might 

remind them of' its suzerainty.3 As the janizar1es 

had been practically eliminated in 1811 and 1816, the 

I 
1. Pe111ssier Description de 1a Regence, p.13. 
2. Franck, p.57. 
3. Ilonchioourt, p.l44. 
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GOvernment had completely lost its Turkish character: 

The Turks had gradually become one with the country: it 

may be said that at the beginning of the XIXth century 

the process was finished and that the Hussein1 Dynasty 
1 

had become a Tunisian Dynasty. 

There was 1n 1830 noth1ng like an organised central 

government: 1n case of need the Bey ca.lled a OOWlcil 

together; he 1nv1ted wham he pleased and even the m1ni­

sters (Sahib et Tabaa: Keeper of the Seal, Khaznadar: 

M1nister of FDance, Agha: Oommander of the Army) had 

but little author1ty because the orders came directly 

from the Bey. The only off1c1al who had some influence, 

Pellissier remarked, was the Bey's secretary {Bach 

Kateb).2 The Beys, since the elimination of the Turks, 

surrounded themselves with Mamelukes who occupied the 

main po11tical and adm1n1strative posts - Justice was 

similarly simple and centralised: the Bey held daily 

judicial audiences which, the travellers report, were 

:full of colour and expedi tio1ls. 3 The Oourt of Sharaa 

was competent for the religious causes; the Oatds dealt 

locally with the ordinary offences. In such a highly 

centralized state, the army should have played an 

1. Julien, p.30l. 
2. pellissier, p.12. 
3. Franck, p. 58~~ . 66. ptlckler Muskau, p.182-l90. 

Desfonta.ines, p. 27.28. 
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important part; but it was too weak to do so. The naval 

force had been destroyed first by a storm (1821) and 

then by the Allied fleets at Navarino (1827), but the 

prohibition of privateering had already struck a hard 

blow at the Bey's fleet. In the army the most con-

spicuous feature was the elimination of the Turks: the 

Army had been reduced by financial difficulties from 

20,000 (5,000 Turks) at the beginning of the XIXth 

century to about 5000 towards 1830 (2000 Kabyle 

infantry from the Zouaoua tribe and about as many 

Turkish soloiers). To these regular troops the Bey 

coulo add 10,000 horsemen provided by the tribes. l Just 

before 1830 the Bey had undertaken to follow Sultan 

Mahmua's example and to modernize his army by creating 

a Nizam Djedid, but his effort had been but partly 

suceessful. 2 The Tunisian army in 1830 was in no way 

formidable: at least it was not superior enough to the 

tribal forces for enforcing an undisturbed internal order. 

We have abunda.nt information about the relative 

insecurity which prevailed in some parts of the country 

in 1830. prince packler MUskau gave up the idea of 

going to Gafsa owing to "the insecurity of the way and 

of the predatory excursions continually made by the 

1. Monchicourt: Filippi, p.131-139. 
2. Monchicourt: Oalligaris, p.319-320. 
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1 robber Bedouins." Along the western frontiers moun-

tain tribes were in a permanent state of insubordination: 

the Majeurs were considered as the most wicked people 

in all the Kingdom. The' Kabyles, P11ckler MUskau 

remarks, "have always been in bad repute, and are only 

so far subject to the Bey of Tunis as to pay him a 

trifling tribute, which must be collected every year by 

an armed force sent to scour the country. At this 

moment (in 1835) they are engaged in a sort of rebellion."2 

Pelli8sier reported some years later that some border 

tribes crossed the frontier and entered in Algeria in 

order to avoid paying their taxes when the Bey's army 

was coming into their districts to collect them. 3 The 

only regions which were permanently under the Bey's 

authority were the Northern region and the Sahel, where 

sedentary agriculture was the prevailing livelihood. 

With a view to ensure order and to collect the taxes, 

the BeYs sent a "camp" twice a year to the interior of 

the country, under the command of the heir apparent 

(the "Bey of the camp"): one Camp went southwards 

during the winter (after the olive and date harvests); 

the other visited the western districts during the 

1. 
2. 
3. 

Fackler MUskau III. p.191. 
1'1 , * d I , ,.ei. Ib;a. Tn. p '8 
Pel11ssier Revue des Deux Kondes 1856 t p.138. 
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summer (after the corn harvest). But it happened that 

refactorytribes greeted the Camp with gunShots. 1 Local 

administration was entrusted to the ca!ds: the admini­

stration of their districts, maintenance of order, 

justice, the collection of taxes were their main duties. 

The Calds often deserved their somewhat UDravourable 

reputation: being farmers of their offices they tried 

to regain their initial outlay 8S quickly as possible: 

the Caid, Filippi wrote in 1829, becomes a veritable 

tyrant over the population which he rules, and otten 

his rapacity knewsno 1imlts. 2 The office of Caid was 

gradually settled in some important families and became 

he red! tary. The Djellulis were Csids trom father to 

son in stax, the Ben AYads in Djerba; the omnipotent 

Oaid of the Kef had with him his sixteen year old son 

as "deputy caid". The only limit to the Oaidts 

arbitrary power if his vexations became too open or 

too impudent was the danger of being dismissed by the 

Bey, and of being in his turn deprived of all his ill­

gotten riches. 3 Shakir sahib et Tabaa tried to limit 

the power of the Caids and to remedy the worst defects 

1. About the Camps: Shaw, p.165-214, Desfontalnes, 
p. 63-64, Konch!court Filippi, p.209 and f., 
Fackler MuSkau III, p.262. 

2. Monchicourt: Pi11ppi, p.74 and f. 
3. Franck, p.67. 
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by giving them a fixed salary, but it does not appear 

that his reforms provided a definitive answer to the 

problem of local administration. l 

5. It is very difficult to give a precise account of 

the economic situation in Tunis towards 1830: travellers 

give much information, but it is too often vague or 

contradictory. The EUropeans who sojourned in Moslem 

countries were often the victims of too hasty generali­

sations, of the information they found in the books of 
/ previous travellers, or of their "idees re~ues" about 

the Arab world. They entertained strange illusions 

about the fertility of the soil ("It need only be 

turned up with a stick in order to bring forth every­

thing without manure, care or toil" according to 

packler yuBkau who is generally better inspired in 

his remarks).2 They were also but too prone to compare 

a situation which was far from brilliant with a past 

which they invariably described as a golden age. The 

impression of decline which the travellers have 

generally obtained in Tunis seems however to be fully 

justified by facts. 

The EUropeans in Tunis were particularly impressed 

1. packler Muskau III,P.21-24 and 168-234, pellissier 
p.43, 181-183, 319-320. 

2. packler Muskau II, p.163. 

--' 
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by the diminution of the Bey's financial resources: the 

public Revenue had fallen from about 20 m11110n p1asters 

towards the end of the XIXth century (nesfontaines says 

12 to 20 m11110ns and NYssen 24 mil110ns 1n 1790, Magg1l 

24 millions 1n 1810) to 8 millions in 1830. 1 The causes 

of that dec11ne are not easily accounted for. Maggil 

thought that the "normal" resources (taxes) prov1ded 

only a small part of Hamouda's 1ncome; it is difficult 

to estimate the amount of extraordinary resources 

(prizes, slave trade) which ran dry after the European 

intervention of 1816 and 1818. The sale of christian 

slaves, Filippi reports, was an 1mportant item of the 

budget; but the Bey must have felt even more strongly 

the loss of the pr1zes and of the tributes. The decay 

of B1zerte towards 1830 was partly due to the 1nterrup­

tion of piracy; the prosperity of Sfax was largely 

based upon pr1vateering (the Djellulis, Temple wrote 

in 1833, had fitted out up to 23 cruisers at the same 

t1me).2 The tr1butes and presents were undoubtedly 

a.n important 1tem 1n the Bey's budget: 8 states gave 

consular gifts and tr1ennal tributes to Hammuda Pasha; 

Spa1n gave 250,000 p1asters at the conclusion of the 

1. De sfontaines, p.3l, Monchicourt: Nyssen p.1S, 
Maggil, p.S7, Monchicourt: Filippi p.150 and f. 
Monchicourt: Filippi p.1Sl, Temple I, p.142. 
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treaty of 1791, the United States 93,000 dollars in 1799 

for the creation of their eonsulate, Holland 500,000 

francs 1n 1816, etc. l Rousseau's assertion seems to 

be at least partlyjust1fied: "L'Angleterre porta un 
I coup terrible aux ~1nances des deux Regences en les 

, 
pr1vant des ressources considerables qu'elles ret1raient 

de la course et de.; rachat des eselaves."2 These 

changes, however, cannot completely acoount for the 

diminution of the Bey's resouroes whioh is largely 

e~lained by the eoonomio deoline of the Regency. 

The depopulation of Tunis gives a striking pioture 

of that deoline: the plague of 1784-1785 {which is 

said to have oaused the death of one third of the 

population)3, the famine of 1806, the plague of 1818-1820 

(according to Rousseau there were 60,000 viotims in 

TUnis only) explain the extent of a diminution which it 

is almost 1mpossible to figure with preoision. NYssen 

gives the number of 6,000,000 before the plague of 

1784: it may be exaggerated though Maggil confirms it 

and estimates the population at 2,5000,000 in 1810; Temple 

(1833) says 2,000,000 and pellissier gives the rather 

pessimistic estimate of 800,000 {in 1845).4 

1. Plantet III, p.LXV and f. 
2. Rousseau p.3l3l. 
3. Plantet III, N~935. 
4. Maggil, p.47, Temple I, 224, Pelliesier p.329. 
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The basic natural resources o~ the country had not 

changed much since the XVIth century: cereals in the 

North, olives in the Sahel, palm trees in the south, 

cattle breeding in the interior. But ~rom the beginning 

o~ the XIXth century the travellers unanimously remarked 

on the diminution of cultivated areas and the increase 

o~ nomadism: the agriculturists showed a marked tendency 

to join the Tribes and to abandon their villages. 1 

Agriculture was neglected and abandoned because nobody 

dared to cultivate more land than they needed ~or their 

bare subsistance and the payment o~ taxes. 2 The 

peasants were overloaded with excessive taxes and the 

extortions o~ the Gaid.s and the ~armers o~ Revenue. The 

The arbitrary'proceedings and oppression of the agents 

of the government, Fackler Muskau wrote, explained why 

ttthe greater part o~ this ~ruit~u1 soil is still uncul­

tivated except in the neighbourhood o~ the towns. tt3 

The development of the monopolies discouraged the agri­

culturists, and Filippi for instance explained the 

decline of the olive cultivation in the Sahel by the 

institution of the oil monopoly.4 The con~sion of 

1. Pellissier, p.33l. 
2. Temple I, 225. 
3. packler Muskau II, p.163. 
4. Monchicourt: Filippi, p.109. 
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the system of land tenure (the regime of the "melk" -

private property - affected only a small part of the 

lands, but the collective lands, the . religious foundations 

- habous -, the domanial lands covered very extensive 

areas) the metayage system (the metayer genera~ly 

received one-fifth of the produce and was called 

Kbammes) hindered the progress of agriculture. l There 

was no modern industry and the traditional handicrafts 

were affected by the same difficulties as agriculture 

(over taxation and monopolies); in addition the competi­

tion of European produce threatened some of the formerly 

most prosperous crafts: the manufacture of the sheshias 

employed 15,000 workmen at the beginning of the xvrrlth 

century a.nd the Tunisian sheshias was exported every­

where in the ottoman part of the Mediterranean; Kaggil 

already remarked its decline which Franck and Filippi 

ascribe to the monppolist policy of the government and 

to the competition of cheap European products of mediocre 

quality. 2 

The extent of Tunisian trade was comparablewlth 

the trade of Beyrut at the same time: 275 ships arrived 

in the port of Tunis in 1830 (with a tonnage of 30,424 T): 

1. 
2. 

See p.sebag La Tunisie , p.Z7<and , ~OO. 
peyssonnel Relation d'un voyage •••• p.56 and f. 
Maggil, p.169.-170. Franck, p.84, Monchicourt Filippi 
p.118 and f. pellissler p.357-358. 
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341 in Beyrut (21,247 T) in 1835. 1 The external trade, 

estimated at 5,000,000 francs (imports) and 5,300,000 

francs (exports) in 1788 had of course been severely 

affected by the Napoleonic wars (in 1816 the imports had 

fallen to 2,200,000 trancs and the exports to 1,900,000). 

BY 1830 the trading had recovered ats balance: the imports 

reached 8,100,000 francs and the exports 5,100,000 (with 

about 2,000,000 francs of fraudulent exports).2 But 

the Europeans complained that the Bey's trade policy 

hindered the progress ot transactions and injured their 

interests: as the import duties were limited to 3 or 5% 

by the Treaties, the Beys increased. the exports duties, 

sold permits of exportation (teskeres), or monopolized 

the commerce of certain Tunisian products. The caravan 

trade with OentralAfrica (which brought black slaves, 

gold-dust and ivory to Tunis) was still flourishing at 

the beginning ot the century: Franck reports that three 

caravans arrived yearly from Ghadames (and twelve from 

Algiers). Although packler Muskau still pOinted out its 

importance, it had begun to decline;3 at all events the 

Tunisian Saharien trade was ruined soon after 1830 by 

the action undertaken by the Powers against the slave 

1. Bailey British policy and t~~ TUrkish Reform Move­
ment, p.102. 

2. Plantet III N.421 (1788) N 1099 (1816) N 1544 (1828) 
3. Franck, p.122-123, packler Muskau (1) p.2-3. 
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trade, the abolition of slavery in Tunis, and the 

diversion of the central African trade towards Tripoli. l 

Trade with Algiers, after a long interruption caused by 

the Tuniso-Algerian wars, was gravely hindered by the 

French occupation: "Algiers used to supply some native man­

ufacture, Consul Reade wrote in 1832. But not since the 

French took possession of it; from that moment its 

extensive overland trade with Tunis has entirely ceased.,,2 

We have remarked again and again that the Tunisian 

fiscal system was generally held responsible for the 

economic difficulties of the Regency. Although the 

situation worsened particularly after 1830, the diffi­

culties had begun long before. The taxes were heavy, 

numerous and complicated; besides the "legal" taxes 

(the tithes: Achour of the cereals, canoun of the palm 

and olive trees) there were innumerable administrative 

duties and taxes, not to mention contributions which 

were sometimes completely arb1 trary ('t right of hospi t-

ali t," offered. to the newly appointed caids, fines •••• ). 

The collectors of the taxes were the caids and the 

Farmers of revenues (who were often the Caids themselves); 

they rarely shrank from resorting to extortions to recover 

the money they had disbursed. some local products had 

1. 
2. 

Pellissier, p.l51. 
FO 335 57 / 3. Commercial Report for 1832. 
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become government monopolies: the government tarmed 

them out and their number increased continually (the 

ma.in monopolies, towards 1830 affected the h1des, wax, 

coral, tobacco •••• ). FUrther abuses were brought about 

by the system of monppolies and further barriers to 
1 the progress of economy. If one takes into account 

the exactions of the asents of the government it appears 

that although the government sutfered from a lack of 

financial resources, the load was nearly unbearable 

for the population. The situation became nearly des-

perate in 1828 and the Bey, as we have seen before, 

relied on the energetic administration of Shakir Sahib 

et Tabaa to bring about an improvement in his finances, 

but with very limited success. 

6. The Regency was fortunately spared the difficulties 

which the existence of Christian minorities created 

for the ottoman Empire: the only Christians living in 

Tunis in 1830 were Europeans and their number was 

relatively small (2 or 3000): it was to increase very 

quickly after the occupation of Algiers (in 1845 Pellissier 

estimated the number of Christians at about 15,000). The 

rest of the population was almost exclusively Moslem: 

the Arab invaders had mixed with the Berber population 

1. Pellissier, p.322-325. 
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who bad been completely arabized. The Turks however 

formed a class apart but th~were only a few thousand 

of them and their political, military and social 

importance was declining; the Kamelukes on the contrary, 

though few in nwnber, played a prominent part in poli­

tical life and lived around the Bey. The purely 

Tunisian population was divided according to their 

habitat and livelihood more than according to ethnic 

considerations. But the difference was so sharp between 

the townsmen and the sedentary agriculturists, and the 

nomads that travellers were prone to distinguish between 

two races, the Moors and the Arabs, whom they endowed 

with contrasted and imaginary national characteristics: 

the Moors were indolent, cowardly and lazy, extremely 

miserly and treacherous, and often apathetical and care-

less. The Arabs were chivalrous, warlike, faithful to 

the plighted word, though full of guile. l In the towns 

there were other racial elements (Turks, Andalusians etc.) 

which, though not very numerous, gave the urban popula-

tion a special mark. Economically as well as socially 

and intellectually the towns constituted a separate 

world. It was there, and particularly in Tunis, that 

the important Jewish minority was gathered. Its 

, 
1. Filippi, p.128. Dunant: Notice sur la Regence de 

TuniS, p.19l and 202. 
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constituent elements had very varied origins: the main 

body of the Jews had come to Tunis from the East (some­

times before the diaspora); but there were also the 

descendants ot JUdaized Berbers.; many had been expelled 

from Spain (after the XIVth century) or had come from 

Italy during the XVIllth century. They numbered between 

20 and 30,000 and formed a. separate connnuni ty, living in 

special quarters, paying a special tax, under the 

authority of their rabbis, who judged them according 

to the mosaic law. They were on the whole well treated 

by the Moslem majority but their social status was 

still inferior at the beginning of the XIXth century 

and was symbolized by the special costume which they 

were obliged to wear. Their situation however was 

improved after 1830 owing to Ahmed Bey's humalilliltarian 

policy and to the influence of the European Representative&l 

Great Britain and Tunis. 

7. Since the intervention of the Powers in 1816 and 

1818 the Regency had become a "question" in which 

British interests were involved. As for commercial 

interests, the part Great Britain played in Tunisian 

trade cannot be compared, for instance, with British 

commercial influence in Morocco (where she had the 

1. Franck pp.95-98. packler Muskau pp.179-181. 
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largest trading interest)l. France had partly lost 

her predominance of the last decades of the XVIlIth 

century when she accounted for half the Tunisian trade 

(4.7 millions out of 10.3 millions in l788); but her 

part still included one third of the imports and ex­

ports (4 millions out of 12 in 1826).2 The Italian 

States with another third of the trade came far ahead of 

U-reat Britain whose share did not amount to more than 

one eighth of the total trade (in 1830, 44 ships with 

a tonnage of 3.825T out of 276 ships with a tonnage of 
3 30.424 T). As the total amount of the Tunisian trade 

did not exceed £500,000 (12.9 millions francs in 1829) 

British trade with TUnis was not very important (in 

1830 Great Britain's trade with Turkey reached £3,500,000)4. 

But Tunis provided a part of the provisions which were 

needed for the base and the fleet of Malta, and this 

conSideration accounts for the interest which the Admir-

alty and the Colonial Office took in the Tunisian trade. 

On the other hand the British Consuls and tradesmen were 

of course desirous of keeping the door of Tunis opened 

for a future increase in British trade, and they hoped 

that the Regency might become a better market for 
-----_. " - -' -_ ..... . -" --
1. 
2. 
3. 
4. 

Flournoy Bri tish_ l>.0~..i.£l. . to..!_a.~d~~t9!OCCO, p.31-32. 
Plantet III N 421 (1788) N 1265 (1826) 
Fe 77, 21 and 22. Commercial reports. 
Bailey, p.74. 
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Bri tish ma.nuf'actures and provide a greater supply of' 

agricultural produce and raw materials. l 

The protection of the Europeans was no longer a 

problem in Tunis in 1830: since the beginning of' the 

century their situation had been completely changed. 

Instead of being treated in an off-hand manner by the 

Beys (the Consuls, Franck reports, ceme to the Palace 

with two pairs of shoes. They take off the first one 

when they enter the Bey's rooms; they then kiss handeL 2 

The Europeans had acquired a self-confidence which was 

turning into arrogance in many cases. That rapid 

change was brought about by the interventions of 1816 

and 1818, by the weakening of the Bey's authority and 

by the conquest of Algiers (the custom of the kissing 

of hands lasted for some years after 1830 and was only 

suppressed after the refusal of the French Consul to 

submit to it). Pellissier, while describing some years 

later the privileges enjoyed by the Europeans in TUnis 

(the Consuls judged the mixed civil and commercial 

cases in which the Tunisians were plaintiffs, and 

actually all criminal cases), was to remark that they 

were "exorbitant" but ttnecessary".S There were very few 

1. Maggil, p.131-l35 develops that point of view. 
2. Franck, p.9l. 
3. Pellissier, p.338-341. 
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Eng~isbmen in Tunis in ~830 but the British Consu~s had 

to protect a somewhat numerous Anglo-Maltese population, 

between ~OOO and ~OOO in 1836 according to Reade. l The 

Maltese, scattered in the centres of the Regency, in 

close contact with the native population with whom they 

traded, or trafficked (they were often engaged in usur.y 

or contraband), put serious difficulties in the way of 

the British Consuls, out of all proportion to their 

actual number. The conduct of the Maltese uhas become 

so daring and outrageous" Reade wrote in 1833, that he 

had felt obliged to report to the Foreign Office; 

ttuni'ortunately, he continued, they have a very bad 

reputation and if' any crimes are committed they are 

immediately suspected •••• They are violent in the 

highest degree to their own authority."2 In 1836 the 

Bey made a complaint to the consul: uNous vous avons 
, 
ecrit au sujet des Ma.ltais, he wrote, parceque leur 

, , 
malfaiBance a. augmente considerablement dans notre pays 

au pr~jUdice de tout le monde par l'assassinat, 1e pillage 
, , 3 

des proprietes et le vol." Under the circumstances the 

question was not so much that of protecting the Maltese 

from the Tunisians as the Tunisians from the Maltese. 

1. PO 77 29 Reade, December 30,1836. 
2. PO 77 ~4 Reade, November 2, 1833. 
3. FO 335 65, the Bey to Reade, August 26,1836. 
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8. If, materially, the British position in Tunis was 

somewhat weak, the strategic importance of the Regency 

could not fail to impress British statesmen. Situated 

in front of Malta, Tunis commanded the southern shore of 

the straits which unite the two parts of the Mediterranean 

and could eventually neutralize the British Mediterranean 

base. There was no such problem as long a.s Tunis was 

ruled over by an independent dynasty which was too weak 

seriously to threaten the British strategic interests: 

but these interests would indeed be imperilled if a great 

naval Power occupied that formidable position. The only 

Power whom Br1tain could suspect of entertaining such 

designs was, of course, b'rance whose Mediterranean 

poliey had failed 1n 1798-1800, but who was likely to 

resume her expansion at the first opportunity. 

Before 1830 such perspectives were remote indeed 

but it is none the less obvious that a strauggle for 

influence was already raging between the French and 

Bri tish Consuls in Tunis. French policy ws.s still very 

vaguely,shaped in the Barbary states but as soon as the 

end of the XVIIIth century characteristic features had 

begun to appear in the French appraisal of the situation 

of TUnis: France tended to recognize the quasi 1ndepen­

dence of Tunis and to negociate directly with her Beys, 

more with a view of easing her relations with them than 
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of preparing the way for an anneXion;l France claimed 

in Tunis a predominant "influence", the significance of 

whieh was not clearly defined, but which rested on the 

long duration of her relations with the Porte and Tunis 

(where she had had Oonsu1s since 1577), the importanee 

of her trade with the Regency, and her Mediterranean 

vocatioD. The idea that France was destined for a 

"role speeial" in Tunis beeame more preeise at the 

beginning of the XIXth century, after an eclipse during 

the Napoleonie waBs: 2 . tlSous le point de vue politique, 
, , 

il nous importe de reeouvrer notre ancienne preponder-

ance ~ Tunis et de l'aecroltre autant que possible" 

Chateaubriand wrote in 1823. 3 

Great Britain had her own Mediterranean pOSitions 

and ambitions and could not but view these pretensions 

with apprehension: her influenee in Tunis was more 

recent (the first British Consul had arrived in Tunis 

in 1623), her interests less powerfUl, but her position 

had been strengthened by her naval ,vietories and suprem-

aey in the Mediterranean. Lord Exmouth's inter~ention 

in 1816 had given a further proof of British interests 

and prestige. For that very reason it had given rise 

1. P1antet III N 703, 706, 725, 749, 1194. 
2. P1antet III N 1103. 
3. P1antet N 1184. 
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to serious apprehensions in the French quarters in 

Tunis (the French Consul spoke of the "politique tortueuse 

des anglais).l The French and English consuls were 

already in OPPOSition in Tunis: after 1827 when the 

question of Algiers became acute their rivalry increased 

and the relations in Tunis between de Lesseps and Reade 

worsened as they did indeed between Rousseau and 
2 Warrington in Tripoli. Just as the French statesmen 

were ta.king more interest in the Regency, so the 

British were more concerned with protecting the Regency 

against eventual French encroachments and ma.intaining 

the political status quo there. 

9. These conflicting tendencies could not but give 

rise to antagonist policies when the French government 

gave up their first project of limited naval action 

action against the Dey of Algiers and began to think of 

the temporary occupation of Algerian ports. Tunis was 

likely to be affected by that change of policy as the 

French, once settled in Algiers, could not fail to take 

interest in the fate of the neighbouring Regency, and 

were bound indeed to try to develop there influence 

therein: "On commence par les bons offices, on finit 

1. Plantet III N 1082. Devoize March 22,1816. 
2. Darcy Cent ans de rivalite coloniale p.63. 
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, 
par l'occupation •••• Des competitions internationales 

, 1 
peuvent seules retarder ce denouement ••• " Great 

Britain was similarly bound to oppose that inevitable 

development of French influence in Tunis, in order to 

defend her own commercial and strategical interests 

and ultimately to prevent the upsetting of the politi­

cal equilibrium in the Mediterranean. 

1. P.H.X. (D'Estournelles de constant) La politique 
fran2aise en Tunisie, p.2. This book, although 
it was published in 1891, remains the best and most 
lucid account of French policy in Tunis. 
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I. The problem of the 'rapprochement' between 
Tunis and the porte (1830 - 1855) 

tiThe difficulty 8S to Tunis is the 
number of status quos there. The porte 
has one ••• There is the French status 
quo ••• Then there is another status quo." 

(Rose 1853) 



I. The elements of the Tunisian question (1830-1835) 

1. During the five years which elapsed between the 

two events which were to prove decisive for the future 

of Tunis - the capture of Algiers and the re-establishment 

of Turkish domination in Tripoli (1830-1835) - there was 

no statement of a definite British policy towards Tunis 

after the brief crisis which occurred in the first 

months of 1830. In general the new and intricate 

problems which faced Great Britain in the Mediterranean, 

especially since the Greek crisis, were to remain 

without diplomatic solution for several years. The 

Algerian problem itself, which was then likely to 

produce the main difficulties in North Africa, lost 

much of its importance soon after it hs.d arisen. The 

accession of the orleans family to the throne induced 

the British Government to think that Fl~ance would sooner 

or later abandon a precarious and expensive conquest: 

this was an illusion which they were to keep for many 

years. Furthermore, after July 1830 their attention 

was turning to the European difficulties, and they 

-38-
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were so aware of the need for good relations with France 

that the French settlement on some parts of the Algerian 

coast lost much of its importance for the Foreign 

Office. l The two governments tacitly agreed not to 

continue the discussions and to leave the matter as it 

stood. 2 There is another reason, of a ra.ther technical 

kind, which helps to explain why the Foreign Office 

displayed little interest in the Barbaresque countries: 

Dhat region was within the control of the Colonial 

Office3 and Tunisian problems reached the Foreign Office 

only after passing through a ministerial department 

which natura.lly did not evince much interest for the 

political questions involved. It must be added that 

until 1835 no serious crisis occurred which seemed to 

call for more efficient methods in the handling of 

political affairs in North Africa. 

1. seton-watson Britain and EUrope, p.169. 
2. Darcy, France et Angleterre. Cent ans de rivslite 

coloniale, p.167. 
3. The consuls on the coast of Barbary had been 

"from early times" under the direction of the 
Home department and the colonial Office 
(parliamentary papers, VI, 10 August 1835, p.155). 
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Tunis and the A~gerian expedition. 

2. In the first weeks of 1830, however, Tunis was 

involved in the A~gerian question by an incident which 

was connected with the prospective operations against 

A~giers. In September ~829 Drovetti, then French 

cons~ at Alexandria, had informed Polignac, that 

Mohammed Ali was ready to undertake the conquest of 

the three Regencies on behalf of the Sultan; he wo~d 

require, however, 28 mi~lion francs, four men of war 

and French diplomatic protection. polignac readily 

availed himself of that opportunity of attaining his 

own object at little cost, and of putting an end to 

the long and unsuccessf~ blockade of Algiers: l he 

accordingly drsfted a plan which was roughly similar 

to Mohammed Ali's offer. The ensuing negociations 

with the Pasha and the S~tan were to be'conducted 

secretly in ord,er to avoid the possible opposition of 

Grea.t Britain. 2 

While Mohammed Ali wa.s giving his agreement to 

polignacts scheme (though s.sking for modifications in 

the material conditions of French help) Guilleminot 

brought up the plan at the porte on the ~st of December 

1829. At first, the Reis Effendi seemed to be 

1. 
2. 

Darcy, p.71. 
DOuin, Mohamed Aly et l'e;pedition dtAlger, XII. 
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favourable, but he afterwards changed his mind probably 

under the influence of Sir Robert Gordon. The British 

Ambassador, without waiting for instructions from the 

Foreign Office, took a strong line against the issue 

of the Firman which was to entrust Mohammed Ali with 
1 the conquest of the Regencies. Nevertheless Polignac, 

in the last days of 1829, drew up a project modified 

to meet Mohammed Ali's objections, and had it accepted 

by the French Government on January 3, 1830. It was 

then sent at once to oairo. 2 

It had been impossible to keep these negociations 

secret; as early as December 24, 1830 Lord Stuart of 

Rothesay inquired in paris about the rumours which 

were circulating and was given a categorical denial 

by Polignac. But through Gordon and Cowley the 

Foreign Office was at last given reliable information 

(January 13, 1830). It only remained for Polignac 

officially to inform the European Courts of his pro- . 

ject: the two dispatches of 16 and 18 January 1830 

gave the main features of the agreement with Mohammed 

Ali: Ibrahim Pasha was to subdue Tripoli, Tunis and 

Algiel~s and re-establish the sultan's authority there­

in. Polignac was well a.ware that the extension of 

1. Darcy, p.79; and Douin, XXVI. 
2. Douin, XXXI to XXXV. 
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the military operations to Tunis and Tripoli might 
, , 

raise some objections ua raison du caractere pacifique 
/ de nos relations avec les Regences de Tunis et 

Tripoli" - But he wanted to consider the question as 

being settled between "gouverneurs de plusieurs 
, , 

provinces d'un etat etranger" and laid the emphasis ' 

upon the benefit which the European Powers would reap 

from a more regular management of the administration 

in these countries. l 

The British GOvernment gave immediate expression 

to their oPPosition to the scheme: while admitting 

that the abolition of piracy would be advantageous to 

Europe, they feared lest behind Mohammed Ali, French 

influence should be established in North Africa; a~so 

it seemed da.ngerous to allow Mohammed Ali to increase 

his strength when it was assumed in London that his 

final aim was to secure his independence from the 

porte; the problem of ottoman integrity was thus linked 

with the Algerian question. 2 

Aberdeen and Wellington, however, carefully limited 

the bearing of their reservations. As early as the 

21st of January, Aberdeen pOinted out to the duc de 

Laval that the operation contemplated would be 

1. 
2. 

])Quin, n,III. 
serres, La politique Turque en Afrique du Nord,pp.19.20. 
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conceivable only · if Mohammed .Ali was to receive "mission 

ou du.¥ moins, consentement du sultan"; on the 23rd 

Wellington confirmed the surprise of his government 
/ , 

Mde voir le gouvernement francais etendre au dela 

d'Alger ses projets hostiles et compliquer (sa) vengeance 

avec un plan d'extermination oontre Tunis et Tripoli tt •
l 

Wellington Ifcould not but view this scheme as one 

tending to establish in these Regenoies ••• a French 

system of government instead of a Turkish onetl and 

ooncluded by inviting Laval "to submit to his Court 

the expedienoy of reoonsidering this soheme", the 

King of .b~ranoe being ,. suffioiently powerful to obtain 

satisfaotion by his own means. ,,2 • • • 

Meanwhile, the English Cabinet was taking steps 

to foil the projeot. on the 25th of·January Aberdeen 

acquainted Gordon with the uneasiness of the Government 

and asked him to push forward the Turkish mediation in 

the Algerian affair so that Frenoh intervention might 

be avoided. ~ On the other hand the British Consul 

at Alexandria was to warn the Pasha "that if he would 

undertake hostile operations of the nature intended 

without the authority or oommand of his lawful. Sovereign, 

1. Douin, XLVII and XLVIII. 
2. Wellington, VI, 438, 439, Despatohes, correspondence 

and memoranda. 
3. Douin, p.2. 



-44-

it would be impossible for His Majesty to regard such 

a proceeding with indifference. ttl As for the efforts 

to arouse the opposition of the Powers to the scheme, 

complete success was met only at Vienna. But even the 

courts which abstained from showing any deep hostility 

raised serious ob jections and looked at the scheme a.s 

wholly unworkable. 2 

This being so Polignac was induced to alter his 

first plan considerably: France was to assume respon-

sibility for the main operation against Algiers. 

Mohammed Ali's part being limited to the reduction 

of Tripoli and Tunis with subsidies reduced in proportion 

(council of the 31st of January).3 Great Britain 

nevertheless maintained her objections, but greatly 

toned down by the conviction that the new plan would 

prove impracticable. On the 19th of February Aberdeen 

wrote to Lord stuart that "it does not appear that the 

Pasha of Egypt has any just cause of war against the 

Regencies of Tripoli and Tunis; and if it be intended 

that he should make the conquest of these states 

without having been authorized by the Sultan the enter­

prize would assume a character which would scarcely 

1. Wellington, VI, p.580. 
2. Darcy, pp.89-94. 
3. _DPJ.lih~, LV-.-' • 
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deserve the approbation of Her Most Christian Majesty ... l 

Mohammed Ali, when informed of Polignac's second 

project (which arrived in Egypt one day after Ibrahim 

had accepted the first convention) could not but 

express his disagreement. The British opposition was 

only communicated to him officially on the 7th of 

March, but he made it clear that his refusal was in 

fact largely due to the unfavourable attitude of the 
/ ~ 

Foreign Office: ttJ'avais resolu dis le debut, he told 

Baker, de ne pas faire un pas dans cette affaire sans 

le consentement de l'Angleterre. c'est cependant les 
,.. , 2 

Anglais qui m'en eDt empeche." Meanwhile, Gordon 

was warning the Reis Effendi against the Polignac 

scheme. The determined attitude of the British 

Cabinet having thus provoked the failure of the plan, 

the French GOvernment was left to act alone. No-one in 

London was surprised by the breaking down of the 

negociations :. as Laval said in a letter to his 
~ 

Government dated March 17, ttle Cabinet est persuade ••• 
, " 

que les demarches qu'il a faites soit a Alexandrie, 
" ,,, 

soit a constantinople, ont reussi a arreter la co-
, 

operation du Pasha d'Egypte dans les dess.ins de la 

France. tf3 Consideration for the interests of British 

1. FO, 27, 405. 
2. Douin, p.XC. 
3. Douin, p. LXXVIII. 
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policy in the Mediterranean, rather than special 

regard for the fate of Tunis, had helped to dispel the 

clouds which threatened the Regency. The plan had 

failed before the Bey, belatedly informed, had even 

time to invoke Reade's assista.nce against Mohammed 

Ali's hostile intentions. l 

3. Tunis was not affected by the negociations over 

Algiers which were being pursued between the French 

and the British during the spring. In fact polignac 

had given up the idea of involving the Regency in the 

action which he was then preparing, and the Foreign 

Office did not think it necessary to renew the 

warnings given when the Mohammed Ali project was 

being contemplated in Paris. yet the developments of 

the Algerian expedition could not but affect Tunis. 

Reade did not require any specific instructions to 

keep the area under close observation and to oppose 

as far as he could the French enterprizes in Tunis. 

His personal relations with the French consul, M. de 

Lessops, had never been very friendly, a situation 

not unusual in the near East. They continued to deter-

iorate as the Algerian question was nearing its con­

clusion. 2 The responsibility for that situation could 

1. FR 77 / 21. Reade to MUrray, March 22, 1830. 
"2. Darcy, p.63. 
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have been fairly divided between them, and the charges 

they made against each other were at least partly 

justified in both cases: "From the moment of his 

arrival in , this country, Reade reported about de 

Lesseps, he has shown a disposition to interfere in 

the affairs of others but particularly mine. ttl 

Just as Reade was reflecting with some anxiety on 

the consequences which the taking of Algiers would 

bring about in Tunis, de Lesseps began to negociate 

with the Bey a, treaty which openly aimed at the elimin­

ation of piracy and the enslavement of Christians 

(which had, incidentally, disappeared since 1816 in 

Tunis). But the Treaty also intended to secure for 

France substantial advantages in the Regency (such as 

the long disputed privilege of coral fishing, and, in 

a new article, the concession of a ground in Carthage 

for the building of a Chapel Cleoicated to Saint Louis).8 

polignac instructed de Lesseps to act "avec tous les 
, , 

menagements convenables mais de la maniere la plus 

positive", but authorized him in case he met any resis-

tance to threaten the Bey with the intervention of the 

French Navy.& Rather than undergo the fate of his 

1. FO 77. 21. Reade to Hay June 7,1830. 
2. XI 'lY. 22. lfal) 88 to ;aiRel., Mi!i9 5, 11=0. 
z. Serres, pp.45-47. 
&. Plantet III, pp.700-704. 
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neighbour, the Bey preferred to yield., and signed the 

Treaty on the 8th of August: he had, however, previously 

consulted Reade who, left without instructions by his 

government, could not give him any support. The Colonial 

Office endorsed his attitude when, sometime later, it 

advised Reade to adhere "to a strict neutrality in any 

disputes which may arise between the French government 

and the Bey, and abstaining from all interference 

whatever". The Office thereby defined a policy 

pruden ti¥;. , . "/ limited to the defence of British rights 

in Tunis. l 

The conclusion of the agreements between Clauzel 

and Hussein Bey (for the installation as rulers of 

constantinople and oran of two princes of his family 

who would have become vassals of France and would have 

paid tribute) induced Reade to go beyond these instruc­

tions and to advise the Bey to be very careful in his 

relations with France and to avoid any decision which 

could increase French influence in the Regency.2 The 

Colonial Office did not, however, deem it necessary to 

take any step against the execution of the agreements 

in January 1831: ultimately the failure of the 

1. 00 77. 27. Murray to Reade, October 6, 1830. 
2. serres, 72-75. 

... ~ 
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agreementl justified this inaction and dispelled 

Reade's fears. 

The decline of British influence in Tunis (1830-1834). 

4. In spite of the assurances repeatedl.y given by 

the Bey when in ·difficulty, and of Reade's confidence, 

the British influence in Tunis could not avoid being 

seriously affected by the French settlement in Algiers; 

on the contrary the French influence continued to 

increase, and even if he resented the pressure which 

occasionally was brought to bear upon him (as in August 

1830) or the disappointment created by the failure of 

the Clauzel agreement, the Bey could not but acknow­

ledge the changes created by the presence near his 

frontiers of a powertul French army. Reade noticed 

these changes in his daily relations with the Bey: 

"Since the treaties of constantineJlila and oran ••• I 

have experienced every difficulty in the most common 

af'fairs ••• The Tunisian government have become exceed ... 

ingly difficult and I may add, insolent." Each diffi­

culty he experienced revea.led, he thought, the hidden 

1. The French government refused to approve a trans-
. action which seemed to prejudge the tuture of 
Algiers in a moment when they desired to avoid 
any commitment in that matter (Thureau-Dangin, 
Histoire de la Monarchie de Juillet, III, 463). 
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and hostile influence of de Lesseps: "They have his 

advice although secretly upon any affair which is now 

brought before the Bey.' Reade expressed openly his 

conv;i.ction that Ita very decided language" was to be 

used with the Bey: tlour influence has suffered very 

much indeed; but the moment a man of war or two are 

sent here to support me in the claims I have to make, 

I am persuaded it will be fully re-established. tt And 

again: "A small squadron of ours would put a.ll to 

right. ttl 

The arrest in the island of Djerba of the captain 

of a Greek vessel, the Andromache, seemed to provide in 

the nick of time the opportunity of showing British 

strength in Tunis which, Reade was confident, would 

restore bis pos:Ltion. ,The Colonial Office, probably 

under the influence of the Foreign Office which was 

directly concerned with the case,2 decided that the 

detention of the Andromache (which as a Greek vessel 

enjoyed British protection) justified a demand; of 

reparations from the Tunisian Government. It was 

thus gratifying Reade's wishes to the :full: tilt is a 

very mistaken idea, he wrote,to flatter and compliment 

1. FO 77 / 23 Reade to Hay, October 30, 1832. 
2. Backhouse to Hay, February 6, 1833. FO 77 24. 
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these people."l Goderick's instructions were brought 

to Tunis on a warship, a circumstance "which 1 ani sure 

(will) have the best effects in my future communications 

with the Bey". commented the warlike consul. 2 As it 

happened the Bey was obliged to yield and make the 

reparations which were demanded of him. "1 am persuaded 

that these authorities will be more cautious how they 

interfere with British interests for the time to come" 

concluded Reade when reporting the successful conclusion 

of the affair. 3 

The consul showed rather too much optimism in 

believing that such an action, drastic as it was, could 

in itself reverse a state of affairs of which the causes 

went much deeper. Hay. himself speaking for the 

colonial Office admitted "the decline of (British) 

influence ,a~1; Tunis ••• The truth is that the French 

expedi tion l:lgainst Algiers hat had the effect of mat­

erially weakening British influence allover Barbary", 

and seemed to look at these changes as inevitable: "In 

this state of things we must be content for a while to 

see these rulers truckle to France.,,4 Accordingly 

1. Fe 77 ~a7. Goderick to Reade, February 11,.1833. 
2. FO 77 ~a4. Reade to Hay, APril 22, 1833. 
3. ide Reade to Goderick, APril 13, 1833. 
4. ro 77 ~a7. Hay to Reade, February 11, 1833. 
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Reade was instructed to be careful in his dealings 

with the French at a moment when they were threatening 

constantine_: ttyou will understand that it would 

be inconsistent with the friendly relations in which 

this government stands towards France, to give any 

encouragement to the Bey of constantin ..... ttl The 

occupation of Tripoli by the Turks, as well as the 

annexation of constantin~, which soon followed, 

suddenly created problems wluch compelled Britain to 

give up this attitude of self-effacement. 

The occupation of Tripoli by the Turks (1835) 

5. The occupation of Algiers was one of the main 

causes of the expulsion from Tripoli of the Pasha 

Youssef, last member of the Karamanlis, the dynasty 

which had ruled over the Regency since 1795, under the 

very loose suzerainty of' the porte. In 1830, the 

sending of a French fleet had imposed upon him a Treaty 

roughly similar to the one which the Bey of TUnis had 

accepted on the 8th of August. 2 Interior difficulties, 

complicated by the intervention of the French and 

British consuls, each of them supporting his candidate, 

allowed the porte to re-establish its direct authority 

1. FO 77 27. stanley to Reade, APril 7, 1854. 
2. serres, pp.82-92. 
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in Tripoli. A Turkish squadron was sent to Tripoli and 

its commander Shakir Bey succeeded without great 

difficulty in dismissing the Pasha and appointing a 

new governor fully submitting to the authority of the 

porte (May 1835).1 The ottoman government still 

retained some hope of regaining possession of Algiers: 

their recovery of control in Tripoli gave them a strong 

footing in North Africa which could be used to this end; 

but it was a.lso obvious that Tunis would inevitably be 

affected by the change in Tripoli, and this considera­

tion justifies the anxiety with which Reade had watched 

the events in the neighbouring Regency. 

The porte had always considered that the three 

Regencies of Algiers, Tunis and Tripoli were integral 

parts of the Empire. But after 1835 that attitude 

ceased to be wholly academic and involved very precise 

and serious consequences. 2 As early as 1833 the Bey 

undertook negociations to induce the porte to grant 

the investiture of Tripoli to his brother and heir 

apparent Mustapha: the demands of the porte (an impor­

tant sum of money, an annual tribute, and the payment 

of the debts of the Pasha of Tripoli) had brought the 

1. Serres, pp. 121-123. 
2. Serres, p. 125. 
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scheme to nothing. 1 But in 1835 Tunis was more 

directly concerned with the fate of Tripoli: in January 

• Turkish envoy came to Tunis and asked for HUBsein 

Bey's help; but Was received with some coolness by the 

Bey who considered without much satisfaction the 

Turkish operations in Tripoli and entertained serious 

fears for his own situation. In June 1835 MUstapha BeY 

who had just succeeded to Hussein, was under such 

apprehensions about a supposed Turkish attack against 

Djerba that he decided to send to constantinople his 

principal Minister Shakir sahib et Tabaa; Shakir took 

with him a considerable number of presents in order to 

avert the threat. But before his departure a Turkish 

Frigate landed in Tunis shakir Bey himself; he 

announced the complete success of his mission at 

Tripoli and invited MUstapha Bey to provide the new 

Pasha with "tout ce que ce dernier pourra1t faire 

demander". The conclusion of the message he brought 

was rather ominous: The Su! tan consid.ered, he said, 
, 

"que les Regences de Tripoli de Tunis et d'Alger lui 

appartenaient" and consequently his duty was "de 

prendre interet a ce qui touche ces pays et de sur­

vei11er attentivement tout ce qui s'y passett • 2 

1. Serres,pp. 107-108. 
2. Serres, p. 137. 
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Reade watched in a hal~ hearted way the development 

of Turkish policy: he did not conceal the fact that he 

would be sorry to witness the possible occupation o~ 

Djerba by the Turks; while doing so he undoubtedly 

thought of the immediate trouble such an action would 

create in Tunis; he was obviously not referring to any 

clear conception o~ the relations between the Regency 

and the porte. l The political situation in Tunis was 

already deeply a~~ected by the new Turkish policy: the 

Bey's apprehension with regard to the real disposition 

o~ the porte towards him had just been given an 

appearance of justi~ication; Shakir had been coldly 

welcomed at constantinople where people were openly 

speaking o~ repeating over Tunis the success~ul 

operation o~ Tripoli. MUstapha Bey was therefore 

induced to turn towards France who was not yet firmly 

established in Algiers and was then preparing the con­

quest of constantine~, ~, For these reasons she was 

naturally hostile' to the presence of direct ottoman 

rule near her North African possession. 2 But French 

intervention of any kind was to provoke an inevitable 

reaction in British policy, and give a Mediterranean 

importance to the Tunisian question. 

1. Reade to ponsonby, JUly 9, 1835. FO 195 / 104. 
2. Serres, pp. 139-142. 
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It so happened that at the beginning of 1836, at 

the very time when the elements of the Tunisian 

. problem were more precisely defined, the responsibil­

ities of the British policy in Tunis fell into other 

hands: in 1835 the committee on Consular establishment 

had suggested that the consulates in the Barbary 

states should fall in future within the competence of 

the Foreign Office. The Foreign Office gave support 

to a measure which was intended to bring to British 

policy in these countries the required unity and 

efficiency to meet the developments in the affairs 

of Tripoli and constantine. l In APril 1835 

palmerston inf'ormed the commons that the Government 

was preparing~ transfer of the correspondence from 
t') 

one department to the other.~ 

1. Parliamentary papers, VI, 1835. 
2. Hansard's parliamentary Debates, Third Series 

XXXII, 1196. 
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2. Palmers ton and the policy of ttrapprochement" 
between Tunis and the Porte (1836 - 1841). 

1. Just as the Tunisian question was reaching a 

decisive stage, British policy in the Mediterranean 

was taking a more resolute turn after a gradual evolu­

tion which had lasted for many years. While it might 

be an exaggeration to say that in the first quarter 

of the nineteenth century ttthe British public in 

general and the Foreign Office in particular had very 

little interest in the affairs of TUrkeyttl~ it seems 

nevertheless obvious that the Greek crisis greatly 

increased the interest Great Britain took in 

Meciterranean questions. The development of commer-

cial intercourse with Turkey and the increasing impor­

tance of that market for British export trade were 

one of the primary motives of Britain's determination 

to maintain the ottoman state. 2 At the same time 

the problem of the Road to India was assuming a new 

aspect; and the need was being felt for a shorter way 

by land (towards the Euphrates or across the Isthmus 

of suez); a specially appointed commission reported 

favourably to the House of Commons in 1834, and a year 

1. Bailey, p.38. 
2. Bailey, pp. 80-82. 
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later the Euphrates road was actually explored. Great 

Britain could not but view in a new light the Power 

which controled those new roads to India. 1 

Palmerston's attitude towards the Mediterranean 

question had been gradually defined after 1830: in 

1832 and 1833 the Foreign secretary had shown some 

hesitation with regard to the amount of support he was 

to give to the porte against Mohammed Ali's claims. 

It is true that his reluctance to intervene was partly 

due to British commitments in Europe,2 but it is also 

obvious that, in spite of stratford Canning's warnings, 

Palmers ton did not then realize that there was any 

immediate danger for ottoman integrity.3 And again 

in 1833, although he understood better the necessity 

of avoiding the disruption of the Empire, Palmerston 

had rather uncertain ideas about the nature of Turkish 

domination in North Africa (he considered the "Barbary 

Deys" as autonomous rulers).4 

Indeed the crisis of 1833 was a decisive turning 

pOint: it gave to palmerston's policy the two comple­

mentary aspects which it was to keep afterwards; 

1. 

2. 
3. 
4. 

\ 

Guyot La premiere entente cordiale, p.156-157. 
Swain, The struggle for the control of the Mediterranean 
p. 53-54. 
Temperley, The crimea, p. 63-65. 
Swain, p.85-86 and p.132. 
Bulwer, Life of Palmerston~: Palmerston to Temple, 
March 21, 1833. (4 'leS) 
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resistance to Russia and reform in Turkey.l The treaty 

of Unkiar Skelessi threatened British positions in the 

Near East; Palmerston's reaction came too late through 

lack of preparation; but after the . Treaty he began to 

consider that area as the mainspring of his whole 

Mediterranean and Indian policy.2 The aims of his 

policy were clear: primarily Britain was to support 

the Turkish EmPire "hea.rtily and vigorously" and nby 

reforming it to make it more capable of resisting its 

enemies and able to play its part in the balance of 

power in Eastern Europe.,,3 This policy, which he 

purposely limited to material improvements (in the 

army, the finances and the administra.tion), was to stop 

the internal decline of the Empire, and in the meantime 

any sign of disruption was to be energetically checked: 

in October 1834 palmerston warned Mohammed Ali against 

"a declaration of independence or any interference with 

. the status qUO t,.
4 

It was precisely at the time when the "entente 

cordiale" was meeting its first difficulties that this 

new English policy threatened to multiply the causes 

1. Webster II 790. The Foreign Policy of palmerston. 
Temperley passim. See also Verete, Palmerston and 
the Levant crisis. 

2. Swain, p.Sl. 
3. Webster II, 540. , 
4. seton-watson, p.193. 
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of antagonism in a wery tender area for Anglo-French 

relations: as early as 1834, the year of the Quadruple 

Alliance, Talleyrand, on leaving London, made the 

funeral oration of the British alliance. l The following 

years saw a continued increase of difficulties, up to 

the climax in 1840, particularly in the Mediterranean 

where in every country (spain, Greece, Egypt, North 

Africa) as well as in every field (political, strategi­

cal, and economica.l) France and England were in bitter 

contention. 2 But most of all it was Mohammed Ali's 

policy which roused a mixture of rivalry and fear which 

induced the Foreign Office to consider him to be a 

'mere tool of Paris' and a permanent menace to the 

exi'stence of Turkey; a situation which ultimately 

gave rise to the Egyptian crisis. 

After 1835 Tunis impinged upon British policy in 

the Mediterranean in several of its aspects. In the 

general framework of Turkish recovery it was to be 

expected that the porte would try to renew in Tunis 

her successful Tripoli operation; the Foreign Office 

could not very well at the same time preach the doctrine 

of Ottoman unity in Alexandria, and refuse to support 

1. Guyot, p. 124. 
2. Swain, p.102. 
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the sultan against his Tunisian vassals' growing desire 

for independence; but the French government, who 

strongly s~pported Mohammed Ali, had even more 

pressing reasons for preventing Turlcish domination in 

Tunis, even if it was necessary to do so by developing 

there their own influence. This attempt would 

inevitably cause the hostility of the Foreign Office 

who was becoming more and more suspicious of any move 

which looked like French encroachment. 

Thus from the start the Tunisian question involved 

two conflicting aspects: a Turkish policy eager to go 

ahead in Tunis with the support of Great Britain who 

saw in this action an opportunity for strengthening 
, 

both the Regency and the porte - and the Bey,S. deter-

mination to save their virtual independence which 

obliged them to turn towards France for help: the 

interests of the French in this particular question 

were similar to those of the Bey; they could also be 

tempted to exploit the situation in order to establish 

a kind of mora.l protectorate in Tunis. 'Jlhe "Fr~nch 

danger" induced Great Britain to hope for a "Turkish 

solution", but any imprudent step might create a 

conflict with far-reaching consequences. As early as 

1836 the Foreign Office had to face this dilemma. 
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shaping of British policy (1836-1837). 

2. At the very beginning of 1836 the new trends of 

French policy in Tunis were given an unambiguous 

expression. Marshal Clauzel openly advocated the 

establishment of a French protectorate in Tunis: this 

was to become the traditional policy of the army and 

the Algerians during half-a-century. At the same time 
.. 

the Ministre des Affaires Etrangeres informed Admiral 

Roussin of the alleged views of Turkey on Tunis, and 
... 

invited him to ttfaire preuentir a la porte que toute 
.. 

tentative tendant a implanter S8 domination a Tunis 

l'exposerait a nous trouver sur son chemin".l · The 

presence of a French brig before Tunis, and later of 

Admiral lIugon's squadron (when it was rwnoured that 

the Turkish Fleet had been sent to Tripoli and Tunis), 

gave much weight to the erplanations which Thiers 

sent to the EUropean courts on JUly 3, 1836: the 

security of Algeria, he said, compelled France strongly 

to oppose any Turkish landing in Tunis: the Barbary 

Regencies were in fact enjoying ua complete indepen-

dence", and France was to maintain, if necessary, the 

inde~endence of Tunis. 2 

1. Serres, p.143. 
2. Serres, pp. 150-152. 



-63-

Confronted with the French vievsabout Tunis, 

Palmerston defined his own position with the same 

vigour, during two interviews he had with Bourqueney 

on the 29th of JUly a.nd the 9th of August 1835: the 

friendship which France professed towards the Sultan 

seemed scarcely compatible with any attempt "to prevent 

the Sultan from exercising his just rights within his 

own dominions". France's assumption that she was 

entitled to prevent a Turkish landing in an ottoman 

dependency could only appear as an attempt to exercise 

a kind of suzerainty in Tunis; France could not expect 

Great Britain to allow her to renew the operation of 

Algiers: tilt would be impossible for England to see 

wi th indifference the occupation of Tunis by Fl"ance".l 

Bourqueney, of course, denied any such intention on 

the French side; and, as simultaneously the Capitan 

Pasha stated that he had never intended to go to 

Tunis, the crisis was peacefully brought to an end. 2 

1. FO 27 /518. palmerston to Granville, November 1, 
1836. 

2. It is possible that the Capitan Pasha after having 
heard of the instructions given to the French 
Admiral had been induced to give up whatever secret 
plan he might have had. About the "pensees secretes" 
of Pertew Effendi and a plan for overthrowing 
Mustapha Bey, see Serres, p. 165. 
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3. French official quarters considered that the 

naval intervention had saved the Bey from a Turkish 

action. They tried to impress this upon Mustapha Bey 

himself; in any case the Tunisian Ruler could not 

fa~ to notice the activities of the French Navy at 

the Goletta, while on his western frontiers a powerful 

French Army was then trying to reduce the resistance 

of constantine (but was to fail in November 1836). His 

policy had to take these facts into account. Reade 

was impressed by the growing influence of the French, 

and was getting uneasy about the mysterious negociations 

which were talcing place between the Bey and the French. 

Reade was prone to worry about the weakening of his 

influence and to report about the alleged subserviency 

of the Tunisians towards France; a blunder of the 

Tunisian govermnent soon justified his fears, and 

gave him an opportunity to reassert his authority in 

Tunis. 

The quasi totality of the British residents in 

Tunis were Maltese: we have already remarked that 

their conduct "daring and outrageous" had been gener­

ally criticized by the successive British consulsl 

while the Tunisian authorities did not cease complaining 

1. Reade to Hay, September 27, 1833. FO 77 / 26-



-65-

against their insubordination: "If I was to send away 

all those who disturb public tranquillity, Reade wrote 

in 1835, it would take several vessels to carry themtt • l 

After a series of Violent incidents and finally a 

riot on the 27th of December 1836, the Bey took a 

drastic decision: he intimated to Reade the expulsion 

of the whole Maltese population at three days' notice. 2 

The decision was unconsidered, and practically inappli-

cable; furthennore it was so likely to lead to very 

serious trouble with the British government, that the 

Bey's stubbornness in the mat.ter in spite of Reade's 

strenuous representations, shows to what extent British 

prestige had weakened in Tunis. 

The Foreign Office took the matter very seriously: 

Palmerston sent very firm instructions to Reade: The 

Pasha was required to withdraw his order and a naval 

force was to be sent to Tunis in order to ensure the 

protection of British interests;3 in the meantime the 

British Ambassador at Constantinople was instructed to 

demand that tithe pashaw LshouldJ be positively 

ordered to respect the rights" of British subjects 

resident in Tunis.4 From a local incident the British 

1. Reade to Hay, APril 29, 1835. FO 77 / 26. 
2. The Bey to Reade, December 28, 1836, Fa 77 / 29. 
3. FO 77 / 30. Pa1merston to Reade, February 13, 1837. 
4. ro 78 / 300. Palmerston to Ponsonby, February 10,1837. 
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Government endeavoured to reap a diplomatic profit by 

encouraging the porte to assert its suzerainty over 

Tunis. The Bey already regretted his hurried decision 

and was looking for an honorable escape in order to 

soothe British ahger while saving his own dignity. But 

Reade obviously refused any kind of compromise and, by 

imposing an unconditional surrender, tried to regain at 

once all the ground lost since 1830. A very lengthy 

exchange of correspondence took place from January to 

April 1837: from one letter to another the Bey was 

gradually losing ground, but could not meet Readets 

requirements; in the end, threatened as he was with a 

breaking down of diplomatic relations, Mustapha agreed 

to acknowledge his defeat by simply a.nd solely can­

celling his decree. l some days after that capitula­

tion, Reade struck the finishing blow by producing 

a Vi~erial letter which acquainted the Bey with 

British complaints and demanded that he give an 

immediate remedy to them. 2 

4. The porte decided in 1837 to avail itself of' 

Britaints good will by attempting to settle the long 

pending problem of its relations with the Regency. In 

1. The Bey to Reade, APril 20, 1837. FO 77 / 30. 
2. FO 77 / 30. The Grand Vizir to Mustapha Pasha, 

March 1837. 
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the first place Ibrahim Bey was sent to Tunis with 

kind words and an offer to add Tripoli to Tunis(against 

payment of an annual tribute)l; the Porte then notified 

the Powers as mildly as possible of the departure of 

the capitan pasha, July 1837: he was to go to Tripoli, 

and there "si la saison et les vents lui permettent 
, ' dt aller a Tunis, il st y rendra a.ussi peur detruire les 

souP2ons et calmer les alarmes ~de so~ gouveneur 

actuel S.E. Moustapha pasha".2 

ponsonby had been asked to support the undertaking: 

his assent was worded in a form which was henceforth 

to become the official doctrine of the F.O., and was 

to be repeated, with only minor changes, throughout 

the following hald century. Ponsonby assured the 

Beys of the sincerity of the porte: "The Sultan is 

honestly desirous, it is his interest to be so, to draw 

closer the connection and intercourse between himself 

and the Pasha of Tunis." Both of them had the same 

interest in strengthening their mutual relations: the 

Bey because "he is too little to stand alone" and 

because a closer union with the porte would guarantee 

him against any hostile intentions; the sultan in order 

1. serres, p.172. 
2. FO 78 304. Memorandum of the 19th of July, 1837. 
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to strengthen the unity of Moslem countries and ensure 

their security. The Bey had to "stand under the 

protection of his legitimate sovereign"; on that con­

dition he would "rest in safety in the continual 

enjoyment of all the privileges, authority, dignity 

and power now possessed by him". In conclusion 

Ponsonby impressed upon Reade the importance of using 

his influence to induce the Bey to give a favourable 

reply to the Sultan's suggestions. l 

The assurances which the ottoman government had 

lavishly given with rega.rd to the Oapi tan Pasha t s 

mission, could not however allay French suspicion. The 

French Cabinet considered that _the Turkish cruise to 

Tunis was to be prevented at all costs, either because 

they genuinely thought that the Turks intended to 

attack the Regency, or interif'ere ' with the question of 

constantine, or merely because they wanted to take 

political advantage of the alleged evil designs of 

Turkey. Admiral Lalande was accordingly sent to Tunis 

with positive instructions to prevent the Oapitan Pasha 

from going there, even at the cost of using force. 

At the beginning of september the Levant and Africa 

squadrons were gathered at the Goletta. 2 Palmerston's 

1. Fa 78 304. ponsonby to Reade, July 17, 1837. 
2. serres, pp. 177-178. 
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reaction was immediate and strong: after having 

reminded the French Government of the assurances 

repeatedly given in the past with reference to the 

territorial integrity of Tunis, he pointed out that 

his goverrunent did not doubt that "the French ships of 

war ~would-l make no attempt to interfere with the 

communications which the ships of way of the Sultan 

~might-1 be instructed to hold with the Sultan's 

vassal the Bey of Tunis, as such interferences would 

be incompatible with the rights of the sultan. tll 

Palmers ton was strictly abiding by the policy he had 

defined in 1836, and which ponsonby had fully developed 

in July 1837. 

In Tunis however the presence of the French Fleet 

was more heavily felt than palmerston's declaration, 

firm as it had been. It is true that the Bey expressed 

some embarrassment about this compromising assistance 

which, he assured, he had never asked for; he answered 

ponsonby's recommendations by an assurance of complete 

submission to the Sultan ("we are but acting agents of 

our Lord the Sultan and his obedient slaves"). But he 

confessed to Ancram (then acting British consul)2 that 

1. Fe 27 537. palmerston to Aston Ae~eB, september 6,1837. 
2. Reade had left Tunis for some months on leave. . 
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"if the French fleet retired, the Turkish one might 

arrive which would not free them from their emba.rrass-

ment", and suggestecl that only the coming of a British 

squadron in the place of Lalande's Fleet could dissipate 

the possibility of a conflict between France and 

Turkey. At the same moment the e~ecution of Shakir 

Sahib et Tabaa, whom the Bey suspected of favouring 

Turkish intervention in Tunis, showed the extent of 

the Bey's distrust of the real aims of ottoman policy.l 

AS a result of French intervention the Capitan 

pasha, after proceeding to Malta, gave up the idea of 

coming to Tunis, and went back to constantinople in 

september 1837. All the while a French squadron was 

keeping a close watch on his movements. 2 The Turkish 

plan had completely failed: the diplomatic support of 

the Foreign Office had been useles2, and is in October 

1837 Akif Pasha was expressing the bitterness of his 

government with regard to the French action, ponsonby 

could not but urge him to be prudent, and added a 

serious warning "The porte, he said, might be certain 

England would not quarrel with France in support of any 

injudicious attempt made by the porte"; this statement 

1. Fa 77 / 30. Ancram to Pa1merston. september 18,1837. 
2. Serres, p.180. 
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gave evidence of the serious difficulties met with in 

the execution of the policy to which Ponsonby had given 

his patronage some months before. l 

Difficulties of British policy (1837-1839) 

5. In addition to the contradictions which were 

inherent in British policy towards Tunis and which 

partly explain the difficulties of 1837, further com­

plications arose by the end of the year. During Reade's 

absence (he was to come back only in 1839) the Consulate 

had fallen into the hands of the Vice-consul, Ancram, 

a very clumsy person who was totally lacking in 

prestige and influence. Ancram took over the business 

of the consulate at the very moment when, after the 

death of Mustapha Bey (october 10, 1837), Ahmed Bey's 

accession was to bring drastic modifications to the 

general trends of Tunisian policy. The new Bey was 

secretly desirous of strengthening the independence of 

Tunis by a gradual loosening of its ties with the porte. 2 

The development of his army (which was to have an 

adverse effect on Tunisian economy) aimed at that 

object, while it also gratified the Bey's natural taste 

1. 
2. 

ponsonby to Palmerston, Fe 78 306. October 6, 1837 
see Ben Dhiaf in his chapter on Ahmed Bey's character .. . 
and H.Hugon Les emblemes des Beys de Tun~s ••• 
(Paris, 1913). 
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for military affairs. Placed as he vias between two 

dangers, the Bey was much more afraid of the Turks than 

of the French,l probably because he knew that any 

French attempt in Tunis would meet with the opposition 

of Great Britain: for that reason the Bey, Ancram 

reported, was "most anxious to see an English Fleet 

in the Gulf'". The Bey's personal policy introduced a 

new element of' complication into the Tunisian problem. 

6. No sooner had the French armies occupied constantine 

(November 1837) than the pressure upon Tunis became 

more intense. It showed itself' first of all in the 

new expression of' an old idea: constantine would have 

been given to the Bey, or to a member of' his f'amily, in 

return for which a tribute would have been paid to 

France. This time the British Government expressed 

their hostility so clearly (tithe appointment of a near 

relative of the Bey of' Tunis to be Bey of' constantine, 

Palmers ton wrote in November, would be looked upon in 

this country as only a first and indirect step towards 

the establishment of' the political influence of France 

over Tunis itselfll)2, that the Ministre des Af'faires 
, 

Etrangeres inIl1ediately denied having elbntemplated the 

1. 
2. 

Fa 77 30. December ,a 183'7. Ancram to palmerston. 
FO 27 537. Palmerston to Aston, November 28, 1837. 
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scheme. The second difficulty was created by the 

question of the frontier delimitation which was to 

embitter the relations between the Beys and the 

Algerian authorities for over 40 years, and to provide 

ultimately the pretext for the French occupation. In 

these almost inaccessible regions the only (comparative) 

certainty was the relations of vassalage of the moving 

and unruly tribes towards the Bey; the French officers 

" tried to establish a frontier line It a It europienne tf and 

to turn to their advantage some complex and often con­

flicting historical precedents. Ahmed Bey turned to 

Ancram for support - The Vice Consul encouraged him 

to be firm and not to "give up one foot of Territory 

without the sanction or advice of the Sultan as he held 

the Regency under himtf •
l As was to be expected the 

Bey was not eager to solicit the help of a Suzerain 

whom he feared no less than France, and against whom 

he might some time require the support of the French 

Squadron. Palmerston tried to allay these apprehen­

sions: the Bey ought to tfrely upon the support and 

assistance of Great Britain •••• So long as he remains 

true to the Sultan according to the relations now sub­

sisting between him and the porte, Her Majesty's 

1. Ancram to Palmerston, Fa 77 30. December 8, 1837. 
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government will continue to e~gloy in his favour at 

Oonstantinople, those good offices whmch cannot fail 

to be successful, and will take steps at Paris to 

secure him against any unprovoked aggression on the 
1 

part of the French. If Palmerston gave no details 

about what he meant by "the relations now subsisting 

between (the Bey) and the porte". That promise of 

support on the two fronts, added to the strong pressure 

which had been brouggt to bear upon him, decided Ahmed 

Bey to overcome his reluctance and to appeal to the 

sultan: "NOUS n'avons le droit d'acquiescer a une 

diminution de territoire, he wrote to the French consul, ••• 

qU'apres avoir avis~ notre Souverain le sultan. n2 

The Foreign Office fulfilled its engagements 

towards Ahmed Bey. Palmers ton renewed his warnings to 

paris: "Great Britain, he wrote to Granville on February 

9, could not see with indifference any attempt of 

France to encroach upon the territory of Tunis, as to 

alter the political relations which now connect the 

Bey of that Regency with the porte." The Foreign 

secretary then gave a close criticism of the French 

demands and went so far as to question the very 

1. FO 102 2. Palmerston to Ancram. January 20, 1~38. 
2. Ben Dhiaf: Letter of the 5th of March 1838. Regne 

dtAhmed Bey, p.8. 
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foundations of the presence of the ,B'rench in Algiers. 1 

lliol~ replied with the now tl"adi tional assurances: 

France would respect Tunisian independence; as for the 

question of frontiers, it was of very slight importance. 

Palmers ton however had taken further precautions: 

Metternich had declared his readiness to join in a 

declaration regarding the Sultan's rights in Tunis 

(Lamb wrote rather awkwardly: "prince Metternich does 

not prejudice what these rights are ••• but he is ready 
., 

to maintain them whatever they may be").~ palmerston 

carefully brushed aside the idea of European negocia-

tions about so vague a question; and, limiting the 

discussion to the precise problem of Tunisian frontiers, 

he suggested to Metternich that similar instructions to 

those addressed to Granville should also be sent to 

the Austrian Ambassador in Paris. 3 

In constantinople, Great Britain gave the same 

prudent support to the Bey: anticipating Palmerstonts 

instructions ponsonby warned the porte in January 1838 

"in the strongest terms of the evils the ottoman 

government (WOUld) call down on its ovm head, if it 

LShoul.27 attempt anything against Tunis", but at the 

1. FO 27 555. palmerston to Granville, February 9,1838. 
2. ~~ 7 271. Lamb to Palmerston, January 26, 1838. 
3. Fe 7 270. Pa1merston to Lamb, February 9, 1838. 
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same time advised the Sultan "to refuse to consent to 

any cession or concession being made by the Bey of 

TW1is to the demands of the It"lrench. ,,1 Palmerston's 

instructions, though roughly similar to ponsonby's 

language, revealed the beginning of an evolution in 

British policy: they laid less e~phasis upon the rights 

of the porte in Tunis than upon "the expediency and 

policy of leaving the Bey of Tunis undisturbed in his 

present state of political dependence on the porte". 

Palmerston dwelt lengthily upon the motives which nat 

presenttt prevented a renewal of what had been done in 

Tripoli; he nevertheless assul ed the Turkish Government 

that the aim of British ,Policy was still to maintain 

Tunis in her present status vis a vis Turkey and asked 

them to rely on his endeavours to ensure the success of 

the common purpose of the two Powers in Tunis. 2 

On the whole the frontier question had been a real 

diplomatic success for British policy: the French 

pressure upon the Bey was somewhat loosened; the Foreign 

Office had convinced Ahmed Bey to turn to the Sultan 

for protection and had thus paved the way for a future 

agreement; finally it could be expected that the 

1. FO 78 329 B. Ponsonby to Palmerston. January 8,1838. 
2. FO 78 328. ~. to ponsomby, February 6, 1838. 



-77-

moderation advocated at constantinople would create an 

atmosphere of mutual confidence which was the foundation 

of that agreement. l 

7. In actual fact the ottoman goverrunent acted as 

if they had only taken into consideration in the commun­

ications of the Foreign Office what concerned their 

rights in Tunis, but not the important reservations which 

Britain was making as to the actual exercise of these 

rights. That attitude could not fail to provoke a 

crisis which brought to light the weaknesses of British 

policy. Just as Ancram was instructed to acquaint the 

Bey with the favourable results of Ponsonbyts action, 

Rear Admiral Osman Bey arrived in 'l'unis wi th Ahmed 

Bey's caftan of investiture. In the course of private 

interviews, the Turkish envoy infor'med the Bey that 

the Sultan wished to receive from his vassal an annual 

tribute: the proposed amount was 3000 purses, but the 

porte was ready to reduce it, the main point being the 

establishment of the principle. The Bey consulted his 

council and refused: the reason he gave to Ancram whose 

assistance he badly needed was his financial dif1'icul-

ties. But in his discussions with his advisors as 

well as in his answer to the Sultan, Ahmed Bey rather 

1. serres, p. 236. 
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laid the emphasis upon the reason which actually seems 

to have brought about his decision; the demand,in his 

opinion, was contrary to the traditional relationship 

between Tunis and the porte. l The French government 

hastily sent Admiral Lalande to Tunis (28th of May); 

meanwhile the Levant Squadron was instructed to watch 

closely the evolutions of the Turkish Fleet in case 

it went to Tunis. 2 It is not clearly known to what 

extent Ahmed Bey had been informed of that interven­

tion but his attitude showed that he at least "tacit-

eously (c<?nnived) at the ]'rench protectiont., and Ancram 

was convinced that if the Turks intervened in Tunis the 

Bey would "openly embrace the French protection •• ~' At 

all,events Ahmed Bey was very careful to evade "any 

open declaration of the support and intervention of 

England. There is openly, Ancram concluded, a dislike 

for some cause or other to openly avow the British 

protection. ,,3 

This being so the Foreign Office attended to the 

most pressing things first: while he asked in Paris 

for the sake of appearances, the reason for which the 

French fleet had been sent to Tunis ••• and received the 

1. Ben Dhiaf. Ahmed Bey's letter to the Sultan (May 
1838): (p. 9-10). 

2. Serres, p.237. 
3. FO ~02 2. Ancram to Palmerston, July 8, 1838. 
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very uncompromising reply that the naval movement had 

no political object, palmerston acted with more con­

viction at constantinople. On July 5, 1838 he instructed 

ponsonby to "represent to the porte the impolicy of 

imposing too heavy a tribute upon the Bey of Tunis"; 

if the Bey refused, he added, the Sultan would have to 

give up the attempt or to embark upon a military 

action which "would in all probability raise between 

the porte and the French government questions which, 

at the present moment, it would be much better for the 

porte not to stir. ttl With regard to the Turkish 

demand, Palmerston did not dispute the Sultan's rights, 

but the vigour of the French action compelled him to 

impress upon the porte the necessity of temporarily 

moderating its demands. It only remained for the 

ottoman Government to bow to the inevitable: the 

Turkish Fleet made 8. short cruize to SlDJ'yrna, under 

a close escort of French scouting vessels, and Ahmed 

Bey's envoy to constantinople, the Cheikh ul Islam 

Ibrahim Riahi, was given the promise that the porte 

would give up its demand 11 jusqu' a des jours meilleurs".2 

The problem of the extent of Turkish rights in 

1. ~~ 78 329A. pa1merston to ponsonby, July 5, 1838. 
2. Ben nhiaf, p.10~ 15. 
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Tunis remained untouched: The porte had n~aefinitely 

given up the idea of demanding a tribute which was 

in its opinion the very symbol of its sovereign rights; 

the Bey and the French government, however, agreed to 

state that no precedent, at least since the establish­

ment of the Husseini dynasty, could be put forward to 

justify such a pretention. The British attitude rather 

lacked precision: judging by Palmerston's enquiry 

after the cl~isis, "whether the former Beys of Tunis 

paid to the porte an annual tribute"l it appears that 

London had no clear idea of what was the status of 

Tunis towards the Porte. In the general framework of 

its Mediterranean and Oriental policy, the Foreign 

Office on the whole supported Turkish pretensions: but 

the events of 1838 showed that such a policy had no 

solid foundations, on account of Ahmed Bey's lack of 

confidence and of his tendency, when in danger, to 

turn towards France. As on the other hand the Foreign 

Office did not contemplate going to war with France 

for the sake of the Sultan's rights in Tunis, it was 

compelled to endure the French naval evolutions in the 

Tunisian waters. At the very moment when, by a diplo­

matic intervention, it tried to persuade the Turks to 

1. FO 102 2. palmers ton to Ancram,1August 1838. 
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act with moderation, the Foreign Office was suffering 

the consequences in ~unis of a. policy which it already 

knew was almost unworkable in the conditions then 

prevailing. 

8. The u-os 
~ . and do,vns of the considine affair give an 

accurate reflexion of the evolution of political 

events in Tunis in 1838; they indicate the Bey's 

gradual estrangement from Great Britain as Turkish 

demands were becoming more precise. Before his death 

Mustapha Bey had entrusted Reade with the mission of 

asking the British government to send an officer "to 

be attached to his son" as an adviser: after his 

accession to the throne, Ahmed Bey had confirmed the 

demand which then assumed greater political importance. 

The man palmers ton chose had some experience of that 

kind of mission: strictly speaking two unsuccessful 

missions to constantinople1had somewhat worn out 

colonel considine's stores of enthusiasm, so much 60 

that, when informed of his new assignment, he declared 

that he was Ita good deal disg""Usted with Turks in the 

shape of pashas".!. His instructions were vague 

enough to allow him free scope to act in the interest 

of British policy: as military adviser to the Bey for 

1. Webster, II. 546. 
~. FO 101 It <-~...:- t.. 8 .. &\&"--& M_.A &0 ,Ila 
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the organisation of his "army (Ult is an important 

political object for Great Britain that the Bey should 

be able to place himself in a respectable condition of 

defence against any attack by land"l) Considine would 

have a good opportunity to lessen the up to then 

paramount influence of the French instructQrs, and 

possibly to exercise a political influence on the new 

Bey. I 

considinets first appearance in Tunis was very 

promising: warmly welcomed by the Bey he was immed­

iately received in his service, and as early as APril 

30, Ancram wrote to Palmerston that considine had 

received "the command of (the) army under his Highness". 

The FOreign Office lost no time in promoting Considine 

to the rank of Major General and in preparing the 

organization of a staff of no less than 24 officers 

(the total cost of 2070 pounds was to be borne by 

Great Britain).' AS the French government was showing 

some anxiety, palmerston informed Granville of consi-
I 

dine's promotion and instructed him to give Mole 

1. PO 108 4. eeftBiaifte ~e Beekfte~Be, Mapes QO, JalB. 
I. PO 102 4. palmerston to considine, February 3, 

1838. As a further proof of the importance 
palmers ton attached to the mission we may notice 
that he remained in direct correspondence with 
considine until his return in England. 

Z. Fe 102 4. palmerston to Considine. May 26, 1838. 
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assurances which were not void of a touch of irony: 

"oolonel considine, he wrote, has no mission or 

diplomatic character at 'runis. Y. E. is aware that Her 

Majesty's government have a Consul General at that 

Regency. ,,1 

The triumph of Palmers ton was unhappily short-

lived: as early as May it became obvious that as the 

question of tribute was developing, Ahmed Bey was 

becoming more and more amenable to the pressure of the 

French.. Oonsul. Two months after his arrival oonsidine 

had not yet taken up his duties, in spite of Ancram's 

unremitting and clumsy summons. Finally on .rune 21, 

the Bey announced that he had never intended to appoint 

oonsidine as commander in chief of his army, and 

accordingly proposed to Oonsidine to remain in Tunis 

as his personal military adviser (which was the very 

position he was meant to assume in the first place). It 

is very likely that Ancram had misinterpreted the Bey's 

first promise, but oonsidine made no mistake when he 

considered that "French intrigue (had) been at work.,,2 

Furthermore Ancram's insistance had contributed to 

awaken the Bey's suspicions, carefully cultivated by 

1. FO 27 556. palmerston to Granville. June 19, 1838. 
2. FO 102 4. considine to palmerston, June 21, 1838. 
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the French, that an Anglo-Turkish intrigue was at work 

in l'unis: from that j!oint of view it was very unfor·tun-

ate that considine had just come from constantinople, 

a fact which seemed to confirm these fears. Considine 

thus remained in Tunis, very well treated by the Bey, 

but carefully kept away from any practical occupation. 

His correspondance with Palmerston endlessly repeated 

the same complaints: the Bey shows the greatest consi­

derations for me tt but I have really almost nothing to 

do •••• I am of very little use herel •••• I continue 

••• living a life of tiresome idleness. The Bey 

continues to treat me with great civility but as to · 

consulting me on anything he has ceased to do so.tt 2 

The victory remained with the French instructors of 

the Bey's army. 

After that resounding failure the relations between 

the Bey and Ancram continued to get worse: the visit of 

Admiral stopford, Oommander in Chief of the Medi­

terranean Fleet, was intended, Palme'rston thought, to 

It give weight to any representation which L AncramJ 

and Major General LoonsidineJ may see occasion to 

address to the Bey. lt 3 Its only result was to show 

1. 
2. 
3. 

ide october 11, 1838. 
io.. December 9, 1838. 
FO 102 2. palmerston to Ancram, August 2, 1838. 
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the Bey's gradual estrangement from Great Britain 

(August 1838). Considine severely criticised Ancram: 

ttMr.Ancram, he wrote, is a very good sort of man but 

perfectly unadequated with all those little forms of 

courtesy so necessary in his situation •••• His ears 

are always open to any reports and his mouth too much 

so, he is fond of hearing himself talk. tll A series of 

trifling incidents brought about very bitter discussions 

between the Bey and the consul: the responsibility for 

these disagreements largely rested upon Ancram who was 

only too prone to qualify the seizure of 41 "British" 

oxen suspected of having grazed in an olive plantation, 
A 

as ttl'acte Ie plus offensant auquel a pu jamais etre 

expose un sujet de sa Majeste Britannique sous aucun 

gouvernement civilis~It.2 Threatened with a breaking 

off of his relations with Great Britain, the Bey, as a 

last resort, applied to Admiral stopford who decided in 

his favour and advised the hot-headed Vice-consul to 

keep calm pending Reade's return. 3 In London palmer-

ston was watching this confusion with increasing 

irritation (tilt seems to me that Mr. Ancram has been 

picking a quarrel with the Dey and is quite in the wrong tt
) 

1. ~~ 102 4. considine to Backhouse, August 11, 1838. 
2. FO 102 2. Ancram to the Bey, November 28, 1838. 
3. FO 102 5. stopford, December 29, 1838 to Ancram. 
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and sent peremptory notes asking for Reade's speedy 

departure to Tunis "as the public service is suffering 

from the want of a consul General at that station". 

9. At last Reade arrived in Tunis on the 20th of 

February 1839 and set about re-establishing his 

relations with the Bey upon a friendly footing and 

removing the memory of the past difficulties (but as 

the mercile f3s palmerston remarked: "This was his fault 

for not going back soonertt)l. When in London Reade 

had referred to the Foreign Office the question of 

whether it seemed expedient to ask the Bey that the 

Commercial Treaty concluded in 1838 between Great 

Britain and the Sultan should Ifhave effect in Tunis 

as a dependent state upon the ottoman ErnPireu,2 

Palmerston had approved of the suggestion: Ponsonby 

was instructed accordingly to "request the porte to 

make known to the Bey of Tunis that the provisions of 

that convention extend and apply to Tunis, as well as 

1. Fa 102 5. Reade to Backhouse, March 4, 1839. With 
a view to strengthen his prestige Reade had come 
back to Tunis on a warship. The Consul had also 
been authorized by Palmers ton to expend. 50 pounds 
a year lias presents to such persons immediately 
about the Bey's person in order to obtain informa­
tion which cannot be otherwise got at". 

2. FO 102 2. Reade to Backhouse, December 3, 1838. 
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to other parts of the 'l'Urkish Empire"; as for Reade, 

without broaching the subject himself, he was to assure 

the Bey, if consulted, that the execution of the Treaty 

was "imperative".l In Palmerston's mind, in addition 

to obvious commercial advantages, the Treaty provided 

the opportunity of concretely mooting the problem of 

Turco-Tunisian relations. But after his return Reade 

considered that the British political position in 

Tunis did not allow him to embark on a new discussion 

which was very likely to raise serious difficulties: 

Ancram had found it advisable to try the reaction of the 

Bey's advisers and they had "appeared to be displeased,,2 

besides, as the French were spreading the rum our 

(intended to make the Bey. uneasy) that Reade had brought 

imperative instructions with regard to that question, 

the consul thought it more advisable to put it aside 

temporarily. If Reade was able to solve easily the 

minor difficulties raised by Ancram, he was completely 

unsuccessful in his attempt to obtain for Considine 

the position which had been first -contemplated for him: 

the Bey was uncompromising and after a last fruitless 

interview in Au~~st 1839, considine offered his resig-

nation and left Tunis. 

I. PO 102 5. palmerston to Reade, January 10, 1839. 
2. FO 102 5. Reade to pslmerston, March 4, 1839. 
3. ibid. July 30, 1839. 
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This was a hard blow to British influence in Tunis 

particularly as the Bey, in spite of his assurances 

of faithfulness to Britain, seemed much more anxious 

to avoid any difficulties with France; it is very 

likely that he had no personal leaning towards her, 

but as Turkey was being put out of action by Mohammed 

Ali, the only danger for the Regency now came from 

Algeria. In APril, the Bey had sent a mission to 

Paris: in answer he received heartening words (soult 

affirmed that "there was no disposition whatever on 

the part of the French government to disturb this 

Regency,,)l ·which, he declared, "fully satisfied" him. 

Reade of course was not so easily satisfied with French 

assurances and he would have wished. the Bey to be more 

suspicious: but neither the rumour of a mobilisation 

in Algiers, nor the new frontier difficulties, could 

apparently shake the Bey's confidence. Reade repeatedly 

urged him "to be watchful,,2 and d.isclosed his mis-

givings to palmerston: "I am rather-apprehensive that 

they do not pay that rigid attention as I conceive 

they ought to do in regard to the political situation 

in which this Regency is placed towards the French 

government". 3 In fact Reade when later repeating 

1. ibid. July 80, 1839. 
2. ibid. september 27, 1839. 
3. ibid. october 3, 1839. 
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his complaints noticed at last that the Tunisians 

"demonstrated more anxiety in regard to the affairs 

in the East tl •
l He was thus putting his finger on the 

main problem: that the development of :political events 

in the Near East deeply affected the Bey's attitude 

towards France and Great Britain, as far as he con-

sidered that his own fate was bound up to that of 

Itiohammed Ali; in the same way the Egyptian question 

and its consequences for France-British relations was 

to affect the position of the Foreign Office towards 

Tunis very seriously. 

The crisis of 1840 in Tunis. 

10. The deterioration of relations between France 

and England had begun several years before 1839: in 

1835 one could already find indications of their 

gradual estrangement. But it was in 1839 that the 

complete overturning of the alliances took place;2 in 

the end of that year, after Mohammed Ali's first and 

resounding successes, Palmerston became fully convinced 

that France entertained Mediterranean ambitions and 

that,alreedy established in Algiers, she was now plan­

ning to establish a kind of protectorate over a state 

1. ibid. october 28 , 1839. 
2. Temperley, p. 97. 
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which would have joined Egypt, syria and Arabia: ttlf 

these claims were accomplished, he wrote in December 

to Granville, it is easy to see that Tunis and Tripoli 

would soon be absor'bed in the same political system 

and prance would become practically mistress of the 

whole of the southern coast of the Mediterranean. tt1 And 

later, in APril 1840, he wrote again to Granville: 

~Irance did not stop deceiving us "about the affairs 

of Buenos Ayres, as they have done about almost every 

matter in which we have had any communications with 

them such as Spain, portugal, Greece, Tunis, Turkey 

d · t p . t ,,2 an Egyp, ers~a, e c ••.• 

Palmers ton was so genuinely convinced of the 

reality of that general threat which Great Britain 

was to oppose "by war if remonstrances should prove 

ineff.ctua1t1~ that his whole North African policy was 

thereby affected, in Morocco as well as in Tunis. 4 

prom December 1839 he multiplied his interventions in 

Paris in order to keep France out of North Africa and 

to check her alleged hostile intentions there: on the 

13th of December he instructed Granville to remind the 

1. 
2. 

3. 
4. 

~~ 27 578. palmerston to Granville,December 10,1839. 
Bu1wer, The life of Viscount Pa1merston, III, p.310. 
(palmerston to Granville, April 16, 1840). 
Swain, p. 121. 
F1ournay, pp. 58-62. 
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French government "in a friendly and inoffensive manner" 

of tithe pledges giventl by them with regard to Tunis 

"1 and Morocco. And later, on March 16, 1840, without 

any precise cause for alarm, save that the time was 

now a,pproaching "when the French government is said to 

be likely to commence some military operations in Africa", 

Palmers ton recalled that the French government tlhas 

distinctly and more than once engaged itself towards 

the Government of Great Britain that France will not 

encroach in any manner waatever upon Tunis and Morocco. tl2 

Palmers ton felt so uneasy about T~is, when he 

looked at the course of events in the Near East and 

the ambitions which he attributed to the French, that 

he thought of enlisting Austria in ti1.e action he con-

templated in case Tunis and Morocco would be threatened 

by France. In February 1840 he sent the correspondance 

relating to the French engagements to Vienna; and on 

the 12th of March, summing up the state of oriental 

affairs for Lord Beauvale, Palrnerston reported opinions 

expressed in Paris "that the Mediterranean ought to be 

a French lake, that Mehemet Ali should be made the 

sovereign of Egypt, syria and Arabia, and should become 

1. FO 27 578. palmerston to Granville. December 13,1837. 
2. ~~ 27 598. palmerston to Granville, March 16, 1840. 
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the protected ally of France, and that thus with 

Algiers, Egypt and syria, and with Tunis and Tripoli 

which would of course be swallowed up by France and 

her Egyptian ally, France would virtually command the 

whole shore of the Mediterranean."l Lord Beauvale 

drew Metternicll's attention to "the principle that 

the extension of French occupation in the North of 

Africa is an European instead of rul exclusively English 

Q.uestion" and to the connexion existing between 

Mohammed Ali's action and "the project which appears 

to be entertained by France of extending her domination 

on the African coast". To Pa1merston's entire satis-

faction, Metternich replied that he was ready in case 

of need to enter into discussion with Great Britain 

about that question. 2 

With that background of fear and distrust, Britain 

was inevitably to look upon any alleged French move 

towards Tunis with more suspicion than ever, and she 

was to counteract it with all the vigour she could 

display. She was also more interested than ever in 

seizing any favourable occasion of putting on a satis­

factory footing the relations between Tunis and the 

1. FO 7 290. Pa1merston to Lord Beauvale. March 12,1840. 
2. Fe 7 290. Beauvele to pa1merston, APril 15, 1840. 
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porte in order to reinforce the Sultan's authority and 

check French encroachments or the Bey's desire for 

independence. But in that endeavour Britain had once 

more to reckon with Ahmed Bey's own reactions about 

Eastern Affairs. 

11. In December 1838 the Foreign Office had already 

contenrplat~d asking the Bey to apply the Oommercial 

Treaty signed at Balta Liman in 1838; but the ques­

tion had been put aside in order not to hinder Reade's 

efforts to restore his good relations with the Bey. 

The Bey's hostility to that extension of the Treaty 

was based upon financial considerations (the Treaty 

stipulated the abolition of monopolies which were the 

source of lnany abuses but which provided the Treasury 

with badly needed resources) and political motives: 

an automatic extension of the Treaty to Tunis would 

have given a concrete example of the Bey's dependency 

on the Porte and would have created a feeling that he 

was giving up his right to conclude separate treaties 

which his predecessors had exercised for nearly 150 

years. This second reason was undoubtedly the most 

important in the Bey's mind; but it was precisely that 

aspect of the question which was likely to induce the 

Foreign Office to demand the appllication of the treaty 
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1 and thus to consolidate the sultan's suzerainty in Tunis. 

The original cause ,of the British intenention was 

quite unimportant: in January 1840 the Bey had decided 

to farm out tobacco; the ~'ranco-Tunisian treaty o~ 

1830 and the Anglo Turk treaty of 1838 prohibited the 

creation of monopolies; but, talcing into consideration 

the weakness of the tobacco trade and the Bey's 

~inancial difficulties, Reade did not deem it necessary 

to interfere in the matter.2 Some weeks later, a 

Chaouch brought the Hatti Sheri~ o~ Gulkhane to Tunis, 

but Reade remarked that h,: had no instruction about 

the treaty, and decided to wait ~or the porte's 

official noti~ication o~ the treaty before embarking 

on any negociation on this subject: 3 Reade was ob­

viously reluctant to deal with so delicate a question. 

But the Foreign Office had reasons of its own to refuse 

to p~stpone its intervention any longer. On March 14 

1840 Palmerston instructed Reade to "require that this 

1. 

2. 
3. 

Serres, p. 252. It is worth noticing in this 
connection that the Foreign O~fice did not attempt 
seriously to obtain from the Bey the application to 
the Regency of the Hatti Sherif of Gulkhane: this 
makes it quite clear that the diplomatic problem of 
the relations between Tunis and the porte, not the 
purely interior question of reforms, seemed then to 
be the mo.~ important. 
PO 102 7. Reade to palmerston, January 1840. 
PO 102 7. Reade to Pa1merston, March 16, 1840. 



-95-

monopoly shall be immediately revoked as it is a. 

violation of the convention between Great Britain and 
1 the porte." some days before Pa1merston had informed 

ponsonby of his decision and asked him to call the 

attention of the porte to the question and to obtain 

from it the sending of imperative instructions to the 

Bey. 2 The porte readily complied with so agreeable a 

request and on the 18th of April the Grand Vizir sent 

to the Bey a letter in a rather comminatory vein: "Les 

procedes dont il slagit etant ••• contraires au traite 

de commerce, i1 est clair et eVident que ls Sublime 

Porte ne saurait les t01erer. 11 faut par consequent 

que vous emp1o~z vos seins a ce que le monopole des 

tabace cesse. tt3 

Reade's first approaches provoked a dismay which 

could have been easily foreseen: Ahmed Bey asked for 

a respite and decided to send an Ambassador to the 

porte in order to suggest modifications "au sujet des 

articles dont l'introduction ou l'exportation dans la 

Regence nous endommagerait"j but Ahmed Bey took care 

not to show any basic oPPosition to the principle and 

assured Reade of his readiness to enforce the Turkish 

1. 
2. 
3. 

FO 102 8. Palmers ton to Reade. March 14, 1840. 
FO 78 389. P8Ii1:we.l's·~on to Ponsonby MarCA l~ "lBA.fL 
FO 78 393. Ponsonby to palmers~o~, APr~~ ~~~~~. 
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At the same time he requested the backing 

of the French consul, and although the French merchants 

in Tunis expressed their approval for purely economic 

reasons of the extension of the treaty to Tunis, de 

Lagau promised the Bey the whole hearted support of 

his Goverrunent. Reade soon became irritated with the 

Bey's dilatory tactics: "It appears very clear to me 

to be the intention of this government to procra.stinate 

•••• the execution of the Convention as long as poss­

ible, he wrote on May 14, and I am persuaded that if 

imperative orders are not transmitted from the 

ottoman porte, the procrastination will be indefinite.,2, 

and he made the charge, which was not unlikely, that 

the Bey's resistance was inspired by de Lagau's advice. 

The arrival on June 2 of the vizirial letter did 

not bring the question any closer to a solution: the 

Bey declared that he would not take any step before 

the porte had answered the Tunisian envoys, and two 

days after he left Tunis with his army for the south 

of the Regency to repress the troubles which had been 

caused by the extortions of the government agents 

among some tribes of the region of Gab~s. Reade gave 

1. FO 102 8. Reade to Palmers ton, May 14, 1840. 
2. Id. 
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up his hopes of a speedy conclusion: If I suspect very 

strongly, he wrote to palmerston, ~that-1 the Bey 

is encouraged in His proceedings •••• by his expecta-

tion of being seconded. in His views through the influence 

of the French government. ttl In actual fact, some days 

before, the Bey's Foreign advisor, Count Raffo, had 

left for paris; though he ha.d no apparent official 

mission, he was actually entrusted with the task of 

obtaining :f;'rench support in the diSCUssions which were 

going on with Great Britain, for the application of 

the treaty as well as for that of the Hatti Sherif. 2 

Reade related the rather ominous words assumed to have 

been said by Thiers "that the Bey had a perfect right 

not only to establish such regulations as he might deem 

proper upon the importation or exportation of tobacco, 

but of any other article. tt3 They \vere confirmed by 

a question asked of Granville by Thiers on June 12 

with regard to the alleged sending of British vessels 

to Tunis Uto enforce a demand for the abolition of 

the monopoly;" Thiers considered that such "measures 

of hostility could not be viewed with indifference by 

the French government. tt4 

1. FO 102 7. Reade to Palmerston, June 6,1840. 
2. Serres, p.253. 
3. Fe 102 7 Reade to Palmerston, June 22, 1840. 
4. FO 27 603. Granville to Palmerston, June 12, 1840. 
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12. This unexpected reversal of the annual practice 

since 1836 made Palmerston's long accumulated anger 

explode. The tension with France was then reaching 

a climax: At that very moment, threatened with the 

final success o:f Mohammed Ali and despairing of getting 

French co-operation, palmerston was holding with 

Brunnow, Neumann and Bulow the interviews which were 

to bring about the Four Powers Agreement (July 15 1840)1. 

The answer the Foreign secretary made to Thiers's 

martial note took a very decided line: Granville 

would explain ttthe state of the case tt but at the same 

time "declare... clistinctly that Great Britain can 

aclmowledge no right of protectorship on the part of 

France over the Regency of Tunis, which is a part of 

the at toman EmPire and not a d.ependency of France". 2 

It did not appear that Paris was much impressed by 

this vigorous language: palmerston poured his irrita­

tion in s note hastily worded on the 27th of July: 

"It seems clear ••• that the French government 'wish to 

pursue the same policy with respect to Tunis as with 

respect to Egypt and syria, and that their wish is to 

separate Tunis from the Turkish Empire in order to 

1. seton-watson, p.205. 
2. FO 27 599. palmerston to Granville, June 26, 1840. 
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connect it with France. «1 Ana. a tew days la ter 

Palmerston wrote to Melbourne a letter typical of his 

state of mind during all that summer of crisis: "If 

the prench attempt to bully and intimidate us as they 

have done, the one way of ~ing their menaces is by 

qUietly telling them that Vie are not afraid.,,2 

In Tunis the Franco-English relations were scarcely 

less strained: a French squadron had arrived before 

the Goletta on July 17, but Reade was unable to obtain 

reliable information with regard'to its real designs 

(which may have been to support the Bey in the question 

of the treaty against a possible Turkish intervention); 

the rnystery was still complete when the Fleet lett in 

August. Reade felt rather uneasy about the closeness 

ot the relations between the Bey and the French 

consul and discovered everywhere evidences of French 

intrigues: in the coming of six Soeurs de Charita 

who, he thought, would try to develop French influence 

among the Roman Catholics (and especially among the 

Maltese) as well as in the building of the Chapel of 

Carthage: this monument Vias supposed to commemorate 

the death of st Louis, but Reade thought that it looked 

1. FO .10a..7v. 
2. Swain p.121: Palmerston to Melbourne, Aug-ust 18,1840. 



-100-

"more like a fortress than a monumentttl and could have 

been used as a landing base (palmerston was so impressed 

by that prospect that he later asked Guizot to acquaint 

him "with the object of those preparations,,2). When 

the; Bey came back to Tunis the discussions were 

resumed about the question of the Treaty, but ,Ahraed 

did not yield: The };I'rench ttare doing everything in 

their power to create if possibte a bad understanding 

between the Bey's Government and myself" Reade 

concluded. 3 

Reade failed to understand that the news from the 

East was not such as to induce the Bey and. his advisors 

to favour British positions in Tunis and he expressed 

his surprise: "I tear that £,"they areJ viewed by 

the Bey and his Government with dissatisfaction ••• 

'l'here is no doubt that they £ areJdesirous that 

Mohammed ,Ali should succeed in His Views to the fullest 

extent. tt4 ,Ahmed Be1 could not fail to be impressed 

by the Tury~sh success which had been secured by 

British support, and to fear that the Porte should 

be thus encouraged to a similar intervention in Tunis. 

1. Fe 102 7. Reade to Palmerston, Tunis, August 20,1840. 
2. Fe 27 613. pa1merston to Guizot, september 15, 1840. 
3. FO 102 7. Reade to Pa1merston, September 7, 1840. 
4. FO 102 7. Reade to Palmerston, August 20, 1840. 
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Threatened with that gloomy prospect, he natural~y 

turned toward.s France: when in September 1840 a Turkish 

envoy came to Tunis and after having given notice of 

the alliance between the Sultan and the Four Powers 

renewed the demand for an annual Tribute, Ahmed Bey 

at once applied to France for help. without Reade's 

knowledge. 1 In order to win a decisive advantage 

Reade suggested in case the Egyptian coasts should be 

blockaded that the Sultan should ask the Bey to send 

some of his ships to the East under Sir Robert stopford's 

coml11and. 2 But, perhaps to evade such a request the 

Bey put his ships out of commission; and only Reade's 

intervention could dissuade the Bey from allowing the 

departure of 500 pilgrims "all stout young men (who) 

would ••• could they proceed to Alexandria, join 

Mohammed Ali's forcesu •
3 In November Reade still 

considered that "by far the greater part of the 

inhabitants do not hesitate to express their senti­

ments openly in favour of Mohammed Ali" and it was 

only after the end of the war in syria (in December), 

that the Bey lost heart. Reade had long expected 

that the event would result in a weakening of French 

1. Serres, p. 254-255. Ben Dhiaf, p. 44-45. 
2. FO 102 '1 . Reade to Pa1merston, september 21,1840. 
3. FO 102 7. Reade to Palmerston, october 14, 1840. 
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prestige and a development of his own influence, but 

the consequences of t he E6"YPtian crisis were, as it 

was natural, more complex: having witnessed Mohammed 

Ali's significant failure the Bey could be induced 

to give up his pretensions to independence and to 

look for an agreement with the porte. But the 

oriental events were more likely to strengthen his 

fear lest the porte should seize the first opportunity 

of reducing him to obedience as she had d.one with the 

pasha of Tripoli and the Viceroy of Egypt: in that 

contingency he would have to turn to France in the 

last resort. 

13. Wi til the autunm the relations between prance and 

Great Britain were put on to a better footing again: 

in November, with Guizot as prime Minister in b'rance 

and the success of the operations in Syria, Palmers ton 

could expect that France would soon join the European 

concert: ttThe British cabinet, he wrote, cannot 

sufficiently deplore that it has been for a moment 

separated from France."l 'l'he situation subsequently 

improved in Tunis: the Bey's fierce resistance was 

at last rewarded. A second Vizierial letter had asked 

for the cancellation of the decree on the tobacco 

1. Temperley, p.140. 
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monopoly (in september); but as we have seen the Bey 

had decided to wait for the return of his envoy to 

constantinoplel who did not bring back in November 

any "positive instructions in regard to the treatyu.2. 

And although Palmers ton had refused to yield to the 

arguments laid before him by Count Raffo (ltHer Majesty's 

government, he replied, have no choice but to claim 

for British subjects residing in Tunis, all the 

advantages which they are entitle~ to under the treaty 

of 1838,,)3 his action was actually paralysed by the 

unexplainable inaction of the porte (unless it be 

supposed that it was largely due to the great number 

of gifts which the Bey had sent to constantinople),. 

But the Bey had largely contributed to that political 

success by his tenacity and by his skilfulness in 

his dealings with Great Britain: by basing his oppos-

ition on the economic and financial consequences 

which he dreaded for the Regency, he avoided the strong 

British reaction which an open hostility to the very 

principle of the application of the Treaty would have 

been very likely to raise against him. Finally the 

Foreign Office, which had raised the question in March 

1. 
2. 
3. 

FO 102 7. Reade to palmerston. september 21,1840. 
FO 102 7. Reade to Palmerston. November 29, 1840. 
FO 102 9. Palmerston to the Bey october 22,1840. 
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1840 for obvious political motives in relation to the 

oriental crisis, no longer had the same imperative 

reasons for pushing it to a favourable issue. The 

matter was allowed to drop, and many years elapsed 

before it was ra.ised again. All the same that 

acceptance though tacit of the Tunisian and French 

theory could be construed as a retreat of British 

policy, and it could not fail to encourage the Bey 

in case of need to renew a resistance which had been 

so successful. 

'fhe Turldsh attempt of 1841. 

14. New difficulties were put in the way of the 

British policy in Tunis by a fresh attempt of the 

porte to recover its authority in the Regency. It 

was obviously encouraged to do so by the events of 

1840, but political conditions had now cr~nged on 

account of the 'rapprochement' between France and Great 

Britain, and of the increasing impatience which the 

Tury~sh exigencies were arousing in Great Britain 

as they delayed the peaceful settlement in the East. l 

The abrupt manner in which the porte, with 

ponsonby's support, was dealing with Mohammed Ali, had 

1. Temperley, p.137 passim. 
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enabled the "French party" to create Ita very strong 

sensation" in Tunis. As a confirmation of the 

SUltan's bad feelings towards his vassal, it was 

rumoured in Ivlarch tha t English, Austrian and 'rurl{ish 

warships were to be sent for a demonstration against 

the Regency where a new Pasha would be established 

with the backing of Turkish troops.l The project was 

rather improbable, but Ahmed Bey at once turned towards 

prance for help;2 at the same time for safety's sake 

he applied to palrnerston, declaring to Reade that 

"in fact the French were the greatest thorn in his 

sidett and th.at "he threw himself entirely lrpon the 

good offices and protection of EnglandU ; as a mani­

festation of his sincerity and goodwill he reverted 

to the question of the Commercial Treaty and promised 

to abide by the decision of the Porte: "If the answer 

were not favourable, notwithstanding it would be the 

ruin of his Finances, He would not hesitate any further 

in carrying the Treaty into effect." Reade tried of 

course to allay his fears with regard to the ottoman 

policy and to arouse his suspicions about French 

intrigues;3 in the same way Palmerston absolutely 

1. 
2. 
3. 

FO 102 10. Reade to Palmerston, March 9, 1841. 
serres, p. 257. 
FO 102 10 Reade to palmerston. March 18 1841. 
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contradicted the rumours of combined naval intervention 

which, he added, "has evidently been invented and pro­

pagated by the French for the purpose of alarming the 

Bey, and in order to drive him through fear to throw 

himself into dependence of France .... l Ahmed Bey, 

playing a very clever double game, intended to secure 

for himself the simultaneous support of Britain (by 

her diplomatic pressure on the porte) and of France 

(by the presence of her fleet in the Gulf of Tunis) 

whenever he should require it. 

The Bey's apprehensions were confirmed however 

by the arrival of a Vi~erial letter embodying the most 

extensive demands ever expressed by the porte (May 1841); 

payment of an annual tribute - ottoman control on the 

Finances and the Intert8~ administration of the 

Regency - previous assent of the porte for the Bey's 

relations with the Powers. The Bey showed marks of 

an understandable emotion: no historical precedent 

could be brought forward to justify demands which 

would have reduced him "to the simple Governorship of 

a province". Reade himself was struck with dismay at 

a step which threatened to ruin British influence in 

Tunis completely, and even to throw the Regency into 

1. FO 102 10. Palmerston to Reade, APril 7, 1841. 
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confUsion and disorder: "The Koors and Arabs would, I 

am convinced, never submit to Turkish rule". He whole­

heartedly Bupported the Bey's appeal to the Foreign 

Office and his suggestion of an immediate intervention 

at constantinople. The consul even went so far as 

to suggest to Palmerstan the expediency of giving 

Admiral stopford instructions "which may enable him 

to ward off the attempt, should it be made suddenly 

and without the knowledge of the British Government. ttl 

The clumsiness and dissimulation of the Turks thus 

induced the British consul to advise his government 

to adopt a policy which closely resembled the French 

policy since 1836. The French Cabinet, warned by the 

Bey, was already dispatching two warships to Tunis 

and making strong representations in constantinople. 

15. palmerston acted in contmrmity with Reade's 

suggestion and thus accentuated the evolution of 

British policy along its new lines. In fact the 

Turkish demands arrived at a very awkward moment: 

In JUne and July the British were just trying to 

obtain French acquiescence for the Straits convention 

which was to be signed only on the 13th of JUly, three 

days after the Quadruple Agreement which brought the 

1. FO 102 10. Reade to Palmerston. Kay 31, 1841. 
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Egyptian crisis to its conclusion. l It would have 

been very clumsy, under these circums tances to embark 

on a new discussion with the Paris Government about 

Tunis. On the other hand, as it had been noticed 

by Reade, the very foundations of British policy in 

Tunis were threatened by the Turkish initiative: as 

the Bey would obviously resist, any attack would only 

strengthen French influence there and perhaps create 

the conditions for a French protectorate, unless Great 

Britain were decided eventually to accept a war on 

behalf of Tunisien independence. This being so, 

Palmerston's main e~forts were directed towards the 

ottoman Government. 

To the Bey Palmers ton sent assurances which were 

in accordance with the traditional doctrine of the 

Foreign Office: "You will always tind this government 

anx19US to assist you in any way in which it can do so 

conSistently with the rights of the porte"; but he 

added the promise of an intervention in Oonstantinople.1. 

In Paris, but rather for form's sake, palmerston 

referred once more to the pledges previously given, 

and received in return the alreadY claSSical assurances 

1. 

'. Zo. 

Serres, p. 260. 
Temper1ey, pp. 141-143. 
PO 335 77/4. Pa1merston to the BeY, July 15, 1841. 
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ot French disinterestedness in Tunis. l But as Louis 

Philippe intimated openly to Bulwer that France would 

not tolerate any Turkish action against the Bey the 

British Ambassador seemed to be satisfied with the 

good conduct certificate which he conterred on the 

ottoman Government: H(I) simply repeated that I did 

not, tor my own part believe that the TUrkish Government 

had at this time the intentions which His Majesty 

seemed disposed to give it." And Bulwer added: "I 

did not teel it necessary to discuss with His Majesty 

the right which the French might have to interfere ••• 

between the porte and the Dey, though certainly it 

was a fair field for argwnent.,,2 He did not seem to 

realize that his attitude was tantamount to accepting 

that right ot' interterence which the Foreign Office 

had so vigorously contested during the previous years, 

or at least to submitting to it. 

palmerston's lErttation fell heavily on the Porte. 

The Bey considered the Sultan's demands inconsistent 

with the status quo, he wrote to Ponsonby, and 

amounting to his reduction to the condition of a mere 

governor of a TUrkish ~vince. ponsonby would warn 

the porte "that it would not be wise at the present 

1. 
2. 

PO 27 621. Pa1merston to Bulwer, July 22, ~84~. 
PO 27 626. Bulwer to Palmerston, JUly 12, 1841. 
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moment to attempt to make any change in the Relations 

which have hitherto subsisted between the Beys of 

Tunis and the Sul ten. It The Porte had too pressing 

taSks to carry out in the Sultan's direct Dominions 

to immobilize "for many years to come the employment 

of all his money, of all his troops and of all his 

naval forces" in an enterprize the success of which 

was doubtful: "The Turkish government should also 

recollect that the French in Algiers are near at hand 

to assist the Tunisians against any expedition which 

the Sultan might send." A French intervention would 

result tor the Turks in the loss of "all power and 

authority whatever over Tun1s~ And in such a case 

the European Powers would likely give up opposing to a 

change brought about by "the imprudent steps on the 

part ot the Sultan". Palmerston concluded by 

"strongly advising the Sultan to leave matters between 

himself and the Bey of Tunis on the same footing on 

which they have stood between his predecessors and the 

to~er Beys" and, with that object in view to send 

to Tunis "friendly and reassuring communications". 1 

1. PO 78 429. Palmerston to Ponsonby, JUly 15, 1841. 
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16. Shortly after that decisive dispatch the Melbourne 

Cabinet was replaced by Peel's government: although 

one could have augwed that this change would bring a 

new line in Fore;i.gn policy the spirit of the !1'p'e.r.~J: 

administration was still to prevail for some time in 

the handling ot Tunisian affaire. l DUring the summer 

French vessels remained near TUnis which, it was 

persistently rumoured, was still threatened by a 

Turkish attack: as OD August 13 Palmerston had suggested 

to the Admiralty the expediency of sending some 

British vessels to "watch the proceedings of French 

Ships,.2 the two fleets were gathered at the Goletta 

and the antagonism between the French and British 

Consuls went on, more violent than ever, both ot them 

endeavouring to frighten the Bey in order to prevent 

him from joining the opposite party. In September, 

however, with the return to constantinople of the 

Capitan Pasha's pleet after a cruize in the Egean, 

there was nO 'longer any excuse for the presence ot 

French ships in TUnis; s.nd in October the squadrons 

left the Goletta. 

1. See Bailey, p. 209, about Aberdeen's instructions 
to oanning'.: they had been written in september 
but "from the content one might guess they were 
from pslmerston's own hsnd~ 

2. PO 102 12. palmerston to Admiralty, August 13,1841. 
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In the meantime the two Governments had been in 

continual coomunication about Tunis. In September 

the French Ambassador in London explained the French 

views with reference to the Regency: his government 

considered that the Beys, though they were the Sultan's 

vassals, had exercised specific rights for a hundred 

and fifty years, and would not be deprived of them 

Whatever the pretensions of the porte may be. l In 

answer Aberdeen save injtc •• tions about a policy which 

for the time being was roughly in conformity with 

Palmeretonts conceptions: reminding the French govern­

ment of their suspicions about Turkish policy, Aberdeen 

affirmed that the "unremitting efforts" of the British 

Ambassador tlto persuade the TUrkish government to 

abandon the project of a hostile expedition against 

Tunis, if it ever were seriously entertained" had 

been answered by repeated assurances the sincerity of 

which seemed to be unquestionable. Aberdeen added that 

the measures the French government had thought it 

proper to take to prevent the carrying out of these 

alleged intentions appeared to be "scarcely consistent 

with the real independence of the ottoman EmPire". 

The Foreign secretary emphasized that relations of 

1. Serres, p. 263. 
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"Lord Paramount and Vassal" continued to exist between 

the Bey and the Sultan (but he unhappily brought 

forward the payment of a tribute by the Bey as a 

proo~ of these relations, an assertion which indicated 

a rather vague knowledge of the status of the Regency). 

Aberdeen evinced some surprise with regard to French 

interference in the difficulties between Tunis and 

Turkey wha.tevertheir origin might have been and he 

seemed to propose a kind of friendly mediation in 

order to bring nearer the positions of the Bey and the 

Sultan. Like France, he said, Great Britain desired 

"nothing but the maintenance of those relations between 

the Sultan and the Bey of Tunis": and he concluded 

that from the identity of French and English views 

he was induced to hope that their common aim could be 

reached "without the occurrence of measures violent 

in their character and dangerous in their consequences"l. 

on the whole Aberdeen's argumentation continued to fit 

into the general framework of policy initiated by 

Palmerston: but a grea.ter moderation in Aberdeen's 

tone and his open desire tor a better understanding 

with France showed that British policy was reaching a 

turning point and was likely to be gradually altel,:'ed 

1n the near tuture. 

1. FO 27 624-. Aberdeen to Oowley, December 31, 1841. 



-114-

17. The most striking feature of British policy 

towards TUnis during these six years is the increasing 

discrepancy between the policy originally planned by 

the Foreign Office and wha.t it was actually able to 

do, owing to the difficulties which it met with on 

the spot. palmerston had defined the general outline 

of an "ideal" British policy: without aiming at an 

exclusive influence in Tunis, the Foreign Office 

desired that British interests should be efficiently 

protected. With that object in view the Beyts 

autonomy had to be maintained and British policy was 

incompatible with the predominance of another powe·r in 

Tunis: France was specially suspected of entertaining 

s':1ch aspirations since the occupation of Algiers. 

Thus a. fundamental distrust of French policy in North 

Africa was the second foundation of British policy 

towards Tunis. Trying to prevent France from jeopard­

izing Tunisian autonomy, the Foreign Office thought 

it could do it most efficiently by making use of the 

portets desire to settle its relations with Tunis. Such 

a policy offered the further advantage of being in 

agreement with the support Britain was generally 

giving to the porte and its efforts of regeneration. 

The action contemplated for the furtherance of these 

three objects was of a strictly diplomatiC character: 
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, 
remonstrances in Paris to discourage French intervention 

in Tunisian affairs; advice given to the porte in 

order to ensure the realization of its plans; indefat­

igable exertions to convince the Bey that his interests 

lay wi th the Su! tan and to awaken him to the prox1mi ty 

of the French danger. 

At the very outset there were serious difficulties 

to overcome and the situation actually worsened. The 

French, though they were not yet thinking of a pro­

tectorate, obviously aimed at establishing their moral 

preponderance in Tunis: they strongly objected to the 

strengthening of the Turkish rule in Tunis which could 

have been a nuisance for their action in Algiers 

and at least would have checked their progress in 

Tunis. That policy was adopted from the start and was 

unflinchingly carried on afterwards: the French GOvern­

ment thus gradually assumed a kind of right of pro­

tection upon the Beys, under the cover of an alleged 

defence of Tunis against the Turks. The French 

attitude was given some colour of likeliness by the 

Bey's reluctance to submit to the TUrkish exigencies: 

the Beys considered that if they were legally dependent 

upon the porte, they actually exercised all the powers 

of independent sovereigns: France by giving her 

support to their conception acquired very naturally 
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a strong influence in Tunis, particularly after Ahmed 

Bey's accession, as he was even more eager than his 

predecessor to assert his independence, and more SUB­

picioUB with regard to Turkish policy which he deemed 

more dangerous than the designs ot France. Ahmed Bey 

mad, full use ot French assistance, but took care not 

to neglect the support Britain could afford him by 

softening the Turks and by neutralizing the risks 

which could arise trom a too exclusive French "protection". 

Last but not least the TUrks were not wholly reliable 

allies: they were inclined to use British support for 

a policy of their own and their initiatives put diffi­

culties in the way of the Foreign Office more than once. 

Strictly speaking these difficulties were inherent 

from the beginning in the principles of British policy, 

but it was made clearer later on that the Foreign 

Office was unable to convince the Bey that his interest 

was to side with the Sultan, that the porte was not 

ready to submit its policy to British approval, and 

that the efforts made for strengthening TUrkish 

suzerainty in Tunis could end in bringing about the 

very French domination which Britain wanted to prevent. 

There is no doubt that the difficulties were incre'ased 

by the lack ot a precise conception of the relations 

between Tunis and the porte: neither Palmerston (in 1838) 
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nor Aberdeen (in 1841) appeared to know that the Bey 

did not pay tribute to the Sultan. Consequently 

British policy wavered between the prench and Turkish 

conceptions of the Tunisian status: the first attempt 

to define that status did not occur until 1853; mean­

while British policy was bound to assume the character 

of a yearly i~rovisation in answer to yearly concrete 

si tuations. 

Reade, whose point of view was limited to the 

Tunisian scene, understood very early the basic diffi­

culties of British policy; but the Foreign Office had 

to take into account the main trends ot its European 

policy, and particularly its desire to be in close 

relationship with the porte. In the long run British 

policy could not avoid giving ground; the, position 

adopted in 1836 and 1837 (support given to the porte 

in Tunis and strong diplomatic action against French 

intervention) could not be maintained because a threat 

of war would have been the only way of preventing 

French naval action. Obviously the Foreign Office 

did n,ot intend to go so far; it was therefore gra.dually 

obliged, although it continued to procl.~m the validity 

of TUrkish suzerainty in TUnis, to advise the porte 

against trying to exercise it actually (at least for 

the time being); and although it denied that the French 
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had any ground for intertdrence, it was obliged to 

endure it. Henceforward British policy would have to 

be content with a more limited target, that of avoiding 

an incident between prance and Turkey in that region 

of the Mediterranean: this meant intervening in Con­

stantinople as well as in Paris as it clearly happened 

in 1841. The first result was that the porte was now 

debarred from thinking of a military action in Tunis 

as had been the case in Tripoli; it was no longer 

possible to envisage the development of ottoman 

influence in the Regency, as Palmers ton seems to have 

thought in 1836; the main problem was to find a modus 

vivendi acceptable to Turkey in order to preserve at 

least the existing state of things and check French 

advances in the Regency. 
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III. Aberdeen and the policy of the status quo (1842-1846) 

1. The change of administration, and Aberdeen's 

appointment as Foreign Secretary affected British policy 

in Tunis in so far as British policy as a whole was 

modified. That change was of course gradual and we 

have remarked that Aberdeen's despatch of December 1841 

kept a 'palmerstonian' spirit, although the emphasis 

laid on the desire for an Anglo-French entente indi­

cated a new orientation which was to become clearer 

afterwards. If palmerston had felt the obligation to 

partly revise his attitude towards the Tunisian question, 

the principles of his policy (distrust of France and 

support of TUrkey) had not been deeply affected. 

Aberdeen questioned Palmerston's views on basic 

problems, and as the British Tunisian policy depended 

very much on the View the Foreign Office took of its 

relations with prance and Turkey, any change in those 

relations could not fail to be felt in Tunis. 

Long before the formation of Peel's cabinet, 

Aberdeen and Peel had showed some uneasiness at the bad 

rela.tions which existed between prance and England at 

the end ot the liberal administration. In January 1841, 
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after the King's speech, Aberdeen wrote to princess 

Lieven: "I cannot help expressing my astonishment and 

strong disapprobation of the absence of all concil­

iatory expressions towards the French govermnentn • l 

And Aberdeen had hardly entered upon his duties when 

he expressed to the same corresponda.nt the confidence 

he placed in Guizot: "Difficulties of course we shall 

have ••• but if we are tully agreed in the main object 

we ha?le in view, these will disappear. tt2 Aberdeen's 

anxiety to understand the French instead or bullying 

them, and to improve the relations between the two 

countries, lasted throughout his fiTe years of office. 

The second matter in which Aberdeen's opinion radically 

differed trom Palmerston's was his attitude towards 

Turkey: since the time when he wrote "independently 

of all foreign or hostile impulse this clumsy fabric 

of barbarous power will speedily crumble to pieces 

from its own inherent causes of decay" and defined the 

aim of British policy as "rather to find the means of 

supplying its place in a manner the most beneticial 

1. 

2. 

Lady Frances Balfour, The Lite of Aberdeen, II, 
p. 112 (Aberdeen to princess LleTen, January 28, 
1841). And tor Peel's own attitude, parker, 
Peel, II, p. 454. 
LadY Francis Balfour, II, p.122. Aberdeen to 
princess LieTen, september 7, 1841. 



-121-

in the interests of civilisation and peace"l his 

opinion about the Turks (ttthe poor devils") had not 

been greatly modified: tiThe stupidity, corruption and 

tyranny of the Turks are scarcely to be credited" he 

wrote in 1842. 2 It is therefore not surprising that 

Aberdeen should have been rather reluctant to interfere 

wi th the Hom;e poJ.icy of the Porte as his predecessor 

had done, and to give fUll-support to Stratford 

Canning's Reform policy: indeed the situation of the 

Refo~ after 1841 was not such as to induce Aberdeen 

to show any confidence in the pOSSible improvement of 

Turkey; the failure of the effort of modernisation 

between J.84J. and 1845 seemed entirely to justify 

Aberdeen's pessimistic views, and he would not fail 

to listen willingly to Nicholas' radical conceptions 

in the matter. 

The combination of these two new factors created 

favourable conditions for an improvement of the rela­

tions betw~en France and England in North Africa. It 

does not appear that Aberdeen felt much interest in 

those countries, at least at the beginning of his 

tenure of office: "I do not know, he wrote in March 

1. Lady Frances Balfour, I. pp.239-240. Aberdeen to 
Sir Robert Gordon, November 30, 18Z8. 

2. Ibid. II, p.139. Aberdeen to Princess L1even, 
March 25, 1842. 
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1842, that it could ~ignify much to us whether the 

French choose to occupy themselves with the Arabs and 

Moors in Africa."l In actual fact the Cabinet at last 

recognized French rule in Algiers and strongly advised 

the aul tan to hold. aloof from the conflict between 

Abd el Kader and the French. 2 In Tunis the Foreign 

Office endeavoured to look upon French policy with 

less distrust and to show a mo~friendly spirit towards 

French conceptions. As, at the same time, Aberdeen 

treated the Turks rather coolly and was less prone 

than Palmerston to rely upon them in his Mediterranean 

policy, a tendency grew up to intervene at the porte 

rather than in Paris when difficulties arose in Tunis 

as had happened already in 1841. 

The French policy towards Tunis, during these 

years, as Guizot later summed it up in his Memoirs, 

left no other alternative than this attitude of resigna­

tion, with an occasional tinge of bitterness, if 

Aberdeen was decided to avoid as far as possible any 

oontroversy with Paris: "Chaque fois qu'une escadre 

turque approchait ou menayait d'approcher de TuniS, 

Guizot wrote, nos vaisseaux se portaient vers cette 

1. Ibid. II. p.139. Aberdeen to Princess Lieven, 
March 26, 1842. 

2. Flourney, pp. 71-73. 
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A , 

cote, avec ordre de proteger le Bey contre toute entre-

prise des Turcs •••• A chaque mouvement que nous 
, 

faisions dans ce sens, le cabinet anglais s'inqui.e-

tait ••• nous a.dressait des observations, des questions; 

il faisait valoir les droits de souveraidte de la 
, 

porte sur TUnis - NOUS declarions notre intention de 
"-les respecter ••• pourvu que la porte ne tentat plus 

de changer a TUnis ~l'~ancien etat de choses."l The 

best Aberdeen could do in these conditions, was 

obviously to seize upon that desire, officially ex­

pressed by the French, of maintaining the existing 

situation in TUnis, and to make the "status quoit the 

basis of his own TUnisian policy. But the Foreign 

Secretary had to take into account the attitude of 

the local Representatives of the Powers who perpetuated 

the tradition of Anglo French Rivalry, in spite of the 

desire expressed by their Governments to put an end to 

that rivalry.2 on the other hand the very notion of 

ttstatus quo" did not provide a solution for the problem: 

what could be the meaning and use ot an agreement in 

theory on a "status quoit which had a different meaning 

tor each of the parties concerned? 

1. 
2. 

, 
Guizot, Kemoir~ Vol.6. p.269. 
see Lady Frances Balfour II, pp.105 and 136. 



-124-

The porte is officially converted to the status quo (1842) 

2. Towards the end of 1841 it was again rumoured that 

Turkey was fitting out a squadron which was to be 

directed against Tunis: Guizot then decided to inter­

vene at the porte and to express the strong hostility 

of the French government to any such attempt and their 

resolution to uphold the status quo in the Regency. In 

the meantime very strong representations were made to 

Reshid Pasha, who had just arrived in Paris as a TUrkish 

Ambassador. 1 With reference to these steps Aberdeen 

indicated in December 1841 that while he agreed with a 

policy aiming at maintaining the status quo, he could 

not but make reserves with regard to the manner in 

which that policy was being carried out by France. De 

Bourqueney nevertheless informed the Sultan and the 

Reis Effendi that his government would oppose any enter­

prize aiming at ., interfering" in the affairs of the 

Pasha of Tunis, disturbing the status quo in that 

province and sending for that purpose a Naval force". 

The Porte at first expressed some displeasure at what 

it considered interference in its relations with a 

province which was "a part of the ottoman Empire": 

but as the French Ambassador pressed for a favourable 

1. Serres, pp. 269-272. 
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answer, sarim Pasha at last sent a note to Bourqueney 

(and later communicated it to the British Jmbassy). 

That note embodied the formal assurance that the porte 

had not "the least intention of altering the status 

quo in TUnis either with respect to the present Governor 

or with the administration of the province". The porte 

merely desired "to ensure tranquillity in every part 

of the Empire"; the Regency had no reason to take alarm 

at the ottoman intentions "as long as the Mushir (acted) 

faithfully towards the porte."l (The note which had 

been handed over to Bourqueney stated more precisely: 

"tant que S. E. Ahmed Pasha., gouverneur de Tunis, 
, 

remplira bien les devoirs qui lui sont imposes et 

payera le tribut de son pachalik").2 The French gov­

ernment warmly welcomed what they interpreted as a 

diplomatic success: in actual fact the reserve added by 

the Turks in the French Note with regard to the Tribute 

(the Bey and the French had persistently denied that 

the tribute was an obligation) greatly limited the 

bearing of the engagement; but it was convenient for 

both parties to welcome favourably a settlement which 

was wholly ambiguous. 

1. Fe 78 475. Bankhead to Aberdeen, January 12, 1842 
2. Serres, p. 274. 
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At least the Turkish note of January 7,1842 gave 

the impression that there had been a lasting improvement: 

The Foreign Office was highly gratified to learn that 

the French government regarded the Turkish answer as 

"perfectly satisfactory". In Tunis Reade, acting upon 

Aberdeen's formal instructions, advised the Bey to 

avoid ttaffording any real cause for the Ottoman porte 

to complain of Him"; the Bey apparently soothed by 

the recent manifestation of Turkish conCiliatory dis­

positions, decided to sen~ presents to Oonstantinople 

as a token of good will. Reade remarked with satis­

faction that Ahmed "had actually t~wn himself into 

the arms of England", a fact which he explained by 

the equal apprehensions the Bey entertained with rega.rd 

to French and Ottoman policy. But Reade defined the 

limits of that attitude when adding for stratford 

Canning's use: "I should regret myself extremely to see 

any hostile movement on the part of the Ottoman porte 

against this Regency •••• I feel convinced that any 

Turkish force sent here would meet with the most deter­

mined resistance trom the w~ole moorish population."l 

3. The Bey's emissary had hardly reached Constanti­

nople when the Turks opened fresh discussions about the 

1. Fa 102 16. Reade to Stratford canning, March 23,1842. 
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problems of the Bey's paying an annual tribute, applying 

the Tanzimat in the Regency and accepting limitations 

to his internal autonomy.l Early in JUne 1842 the 

Bey was informed by a Vizirial letter that a Firman was 

to be sent to him, directing him for the future "not 

to nominate officers ••• without submitting their 

names to the ottoman porte," and adding that "The 

amount of an annual Tribute would be fixed ••• No flag 

but the Turkish one .should be hoisted in the future." 

Immediately acquainted w1 th the matter, Rea.de could not 

but remark that these demands seriously encroached upon 

the Beys' administrative autonomy and expressed again 

to Aberdeen his own conviction that any Turkish attempt 

against Tunis would create "anarchy and contusion"2: 

that first impression was quickly strengthened by the 

threatening tone which the Turkish envoy assumed in TUnis. 

That situation involved the serious possibility 

of a grave crisis in Tunis: the French J'leet had already 

been ordered to be ready in case the TUrkish forces 

would make an attempt against the Regency. Aberdeen 

acted immediately in accordance with the new trends of 

1. Ben Dhiaf, pp. 54-59. Ben Dhiaf was with Mohammed 
Kha1reddin (not to be contused wi th Khaireddin 
Pasha) the Bey's envoy to the Porte. 

2. PO 102 15. Reade to Aberdeen, June 15, 1842. 
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British policy: a reassuring letter was sent to the 

Bey announcing that representations would be made in 

constantinople, and concluding with the usual exhorta­

tion to "maintain in his present d1fficulties the 

character of a faithful vassal" and to be careful not 

to be seduced by the advices and promises he received 

from the prench. ("The assistance which he may obtain 

from any foreign Power may give that Power such a hold 

upon him, as may lead to the destruction of his author­

ity in Tunis a.s effectually as any mandates issued by 

the porte.tt)l BUt the main effort of the Foreign 

Office aimed at calming the impatieBoe of the Porte. 

The Turkish demands, Aberdeen wrote to stratford 

Canning, "would entirely change the position in which 

the Bey has for many years been placed, and would 

reduce him to the rs.nk of an ordinary pasha". The 

porte's intervention could only be justified if the 

Bey's "disobedienoe or misconduct" was clearly proved: 

but the Pasha had continuously professed "the most 

implicit submission and deference" towards the SUltan. 

It was not to the Sultan's interest to create diffic­

ulties in Tunis, at the very frontiers ot Algiers: 

"The porte need scarcely be reminded that ••• no change 

1. PO 102 15. Aberdeen to Reade, July 14, 1842. 
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can take place in the conditions of this Regency which 

may not lead to a corresponding change in the policy 

of France." In case a conflict broke out in the 

Mediterranean, Great Britain would be obliged to inter­

fere in consequence of "the obstill8cy and indiscretion 

of the porte"; should it happen, the porte could not 

reasonably expect that Great Britain would "teel it 

incumbent on itself to limit its interference to the 

maintenance of the Dominion ot the porte". On the 

other band a French intervention wa.s likely to occur, 

as France would remind the porte of the pledges taken 

in January 1842, 8.n engagement which, Aberdeen consi­

dered, was "equally binding on the porte as regards 

this country". The British GOvernment had been amply 

satisfied by these assurances as 8 "pledge of wisdom 

and moderation on the part of the porte". AnY hostile 

move against Tunis would constitute a breach of these 

assurances, and, by the confusion which it would 

create, could not but "alienate entirely the province 

ot Tunis from the paramount dominion of the Sultan." 

Aberdeen hoped in conclusion that tbe porte would 

give up its alleged intentions and keep its relations 

with the Bey "on the same tooting as heretofore", and 

that "it would not place the British Government under 

the painful necessity of adopting a course of conduct 
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which •••• may in some degree interfere with that close 

~riendship and alliance which it is its anxious desire 

to maintain with Turkey."l 

4. pressed as they were on the other side by very 

severe French representations, the Turks could not but 

give careful consideration to the threat which was 

implied by Aberdeen's despatch: although Stratford 

Canning thought that the porte had undoubtedly intended 

to make in .. Tunis. the kind of changes which had been 

effected in Tripoli, without ever consulting him, he 

was convinced that after Aberdeen's severe instructions 

the renewed promises made by the Turks not to attempt 

such an operation could be regarded as sincere. The 

Turks nevertheless continued to assert that the tribute 

was an obligation which the Bey himself had acknowledged 

after his accession to the throne (Ahmed Bey vigorously 

denied that assertion)2. It is on that limited ground 

that the porte was to re-open the question with, this 

time, the support of the Foreign Office. The ottoman 

Minister for pOreign Affairs pOinted out to Stratford 

Canning that the porte, by giving up two of the demands 

presented in June, had proved its good will, and was 

1. PO 78 474 Aberdeen to stratford Canning, July 14,1842. 
2. FO 335 77. stratford Canning to Reade, August 17,1842. 
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then entitled to insist upon the question of the 

tribute. Oanning was accordingly informed in September 

1842 that the Bey would he invited tt to pay an annual 

tribute •••• according to what he had paid in the 

first year of his government"; the amount of the 

tribute did not really matter "as the object was not 

to secure a certain amount, but to maintain a principle 

alreadY established ... l 

Stratford Oanning did not find the demand unreas­

onable and he wrote to Reade that it would perhaps "be 

most consistent with the real interest of the Bey 

to enter on this occasion into some definitive and 

satisfactory arrangement with the porte"; the payment 

of a purely nominal tribute would be beneficial to the 

Bey himself as "the danger of an apparent yet not 

legitimate independence with respect to the encroachment 

of any Christian power, as well as towards the porte 

itself, under other circumstances might be thereby 

considerably diminished. n2 Aberdeen showed some 

interest in the project. But it was rather optimistic 

to suppose that Ahmed Bey, after the successful con­

clusion of the summer crisis, would readily submit to 

1. Fe 78 480 Stratford canning to Aberdeen, september 
14, 1842. 

2. PO 335 112. Stratford Canning to Reade, october 2,1842. 
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even a mode~ate demand which, he moreover asserted, bad 

no precedent and had never been accepted by him at any 

time. Reade wa.s well aware of these difficulties and 

he took care not to insist upon such a delicate question: 

"1 caIUlot conclude without again. taking the liberty of 

recommending in the strongest manner possible the Bey's 

situation to Your EXcellency's favorable notice" he 

answered to stratford oanning. l That short lived 

attempt at least indicated to what extent British policy 

reIDained wavering and vaguely informed of the real 

situation in TUnis. The Foreign Office had in 1842 

pronoWlced in ravour of the policy of the "status quo"; 

the "status quo" had thus met with the general approval 

of the Powe~s interested in TUnisian affairs; the 

difficulties began when the Porte endeavoured to exer­

cise the rights it found in its own definition of the 

status quo, and which both France and the Bey asserted 

did not exist. Great Britain officially asserted that 

Turkey bad suzerain rights in Tunis, without defining 

them; but her diplomatic action prevented Turkey from 

making use of them, without however disregarding the 

serious risks to which her quasi independence would 

eventually expose TWlis. 

1. PO 102 15. Reade to Aberdeen. october 28, 1842. 
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Anglo-French rivalry in Tunis (1843). 

5. Although he sincerely desired to avoid any dis­

cussion which was likely to impair seriously the good 

understanding with France, Aberdeen could not but 

recognize how seriously the independence or Tunis was 

threatened by the development of French 1nflaence. It 

was precisely in order to strengthen the British 

position in Tunis and to counteract French activity 

that the Foreign Office had been 1nduced to restra1n 

Turkish demands. As the Porte during the year 1843 

temporarily relinquished its plans with regard to the 

Regency, the rivalry between France and England became 

more acute and was revealed by a series or unimportant 

incidents. Each of the consuls endeavoured to cheCk 

the enterprises or bis rival, de Lagau generally taking 

the initiative, and Reade struggling as well as he could 

to maintain his influence over the Bey. These consular 

quarrels were unavoidable in regions where the isolation 

of the Europeans brought them to an almost permanent 

state of disagreement. A Swiss traveller remarked in 

1842 that opinions in Tunis were so different about 
, , 

Reade "qu'il m'a ete impossible de m'assurer s'il est 
, 

effectivement un diplomate aussi distingue, un si parfait 
I 

gentleman, un si grand homme en un mot que le depeignent 
, 

ses partisans, ou si, comme le pretendent ses antagonistes 



il n'est qutun intrigant avare et mechant". The French 

had a further reason for hating Reade: he had been in 

saint Helena, under Hudson Lowe, one of Napoleon's 
1 gaolers. 

6. It was very important for Reade to keep the 

Catholic Mission under strict supervision as the British 

residents in Tunis were mainly of Maltese origin, and 

therefore beloaged to the Roman Oatholic Churc~, in 

1842 France had scored a first success when Padre 

:mmmanuele "a person entirely- devoted to British interests"l 

had been gradually eliminated from the Mission. Reade 

had of course endeavoured to induce the government of 

Malta to press upon the Padre provinciale, the impor­

tance of keeping Padre Emmanuele in Tunis. But inter­

vention in affairs which involved the Roman catholic 

Church was of course a delicate matter for British 

officials, and in that field of action France had 

better and more efficient means at her disposal - Padre 

Emmanuele was actually sent back to Malta. One year 

afterwards, the MiSSion ceased to be under the super­

Vision of the Padre provincia1e in Malta, and was 

directly connected with the APostolic Vicarate. Reade 

1. une promenade a Tunis en 1842, p. 176. 
2. PO 102 15. Reade to Aberdeen, January 4, 1842. 
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sorrily concluded that "the Mission therefore may hence­

forward be considered as entirely Frenchtl and he suggested 

to the Foreign Office the expediency of embarking on a 

new religious policy in Tunis, by creating "a church 

expressly for the use of the Maltese and governed by 

their own prieststl •
l Rather than grapple with the 

intricated problems which were involved in that pro­

posal, the Foreign Office preferred to hand over the 

Maltese flock of TUnis to the bad Shepherd. 

7. Since the French occupation of constantine the ~:~ 

had not ceased on the Algero--Tunisian frontiers because 

of the vagueness of the limits and the insubordination 

of the Arab tribes (Algerian as well as Tunisian) who 

lived in these remote and difficult regions. The 

incident which occurred in July 1843 was specially 

serious: a French colwnn, while pursuing a rebel 

Algerian tribe, entered Tunisian territory, clashed 

with the TUnisian mountaineers and tinally retired, 

atter having inflicted considerable losses on the 

Tunisians. The Bey immediately sought Reade's advice: 

the Consul, while strongly advocating a prudent attitude 

towards France, in order to avoid giving her an oppor­

tunity to intervene; assured the Bey that Great Britain 

1. FO 102 17. Reade to Aberdeen. May 22, 1843. 
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would support him in case of need. Meanwhile two French 

men of war had arrived in the Goletta: their official 

mission was to protect the Regency against the 

Turkish Fleet which was due to leave constantinople 

for its usual summer cruise; but as nothing indicated 

that it was intended to go to Tunis, the sending of the 

French vessels was rather hasty. It was specially ill­

timed as it came just after the border difficulties 

with the Bey. 

Aberdeen immediately expressed his uneasiness. 

writing to Cowley, he empnasised his own desire to solve 

the difficulties between the two governments "in a 

friendly and temperate manner" and to avoid taking any 

steps which would reveal "an appearance of jealous 

vigilance and si1spicions"; but he firmJ.y reminded the 

French government of their previous engagements and 

suggested that instructions should be sent to Algeria for 

recalling the troops. As for the men of war which had 

been sent to Tunis "apparently on the supposition that 

a TUrkish squadron had proceeded or was destined to 

proceed to that place", Aberdeen put forward information 

which contradicted these rumours; he accordingly suggested 

the calling back of the squadron, as otherwise the 

British command in the Mediterranean "would naturally 

and properly consider in his duty to detach a squadron 
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Guizot answered that the tron-

tier question was about to be settled; as on the other 

hand it appeared that the destination of the Turkish 

Fleet .. s.s not Tunis, the French men of war · would be 

called back. It is worth remarking that, even when 

protesting against French intervention, Aberdeen seemed 

to accept a kind of right on the part of the French 

government to protect Tunis against ottoman designs. 

8. Convinced as he was that France entertained h~stile 

intentions towards the Regency, Reade could not but 

think that there was some relation between these designs 

and the reopening of the affair of the Saint Louis 

Chapel. That ambiguous building (people only agreed 

about its ugliness) had continued to be the cause of 

various suppositions since 1840: practical jokers had 

even spread the rumour that when the Chapel had. been 

built, the British had threatened to erect tfen faveur 
.f , / 

d'Annibal un joli petit monument, elegamment orne de 

tours et d.e bastions •••• probablement sur le point 

culminant du Cap carthage tl •
2 In JUly 1843 de Lagau 

asked the Bey for an authorization to build new rooms 

around the Chapel: Reade immediately connected that 

1. Fe 27 664. Aberdeen to cowley, August 18,1843. 
2. Un promenade a TUniS, pp. 120-122. 
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demand with the boundary question, the coming of the 

French men of war, and the alleged activity of Algerian 

agents in the Regency. His conc1us10n was that a plan 

existed which could not "be viewed without a certain 

degree of suspiciOn".l He advised the Bey to play for 

time and referred the matter to the Foreign Office. 

Aberdeen took it very seriously and informed Cowley 

of his uneasiness: ua suspicion naturally arises that ••• 

a system of vexatious and overbearing interference is 

deliberately adopted by French towards the Bey which ••• 

justifies a jealous vigilence on our part. tt2 Some weeks 

later Admiral OWen sent to Tunis a frigate to obtain an 

account of the situat10n: after having carefully 

examined the Chapel, Captain Grey made a reassuring 

report: although its situation was militarily excellent, 

he said, "had I not been warned beforehand, I cannot 

say that any part of the building or enclosure would 

ha.ve struck me as being too solid for what it professes, 

or as having any other cha.racter than a religious one. ,,3 

The question of the Chapel was thus definitely drqpped 

by the Foreign Office. 

By the end of the year a violent incident occurred 

1. FO 102 17. Reade to Aberdeen, August 25, 18.3. 
2. FO 27 654 Aberdeen to cowley, August 18, 1843. 
3. Fa 102 17. Grey to owen, september 26, 1843. 
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between the Bey and the French consul which, coming 

after the long series of difficulties already mentioned, 

seemed to give some weight to Reade's suspicions, but 

it is also very likely that, because the~e had been no 

Turkish atten~t, the French penetration had only been 

more conspicuous than when it had the pretext of the 

defence of Tunis. These incidents greatly contributed 

to strengthen Reade's position, a.s Britain had constantly 

supported the Bey in his difficulties with France. On 

the other hand they showed that Aberdeen could not 

escape being drawn into difficulties which the mutual 

antagonism of the consuls greatly embittered. captain 

Grey, who was an unprejudiced observer, remarked with 

regard to that hostility that Reade was "on intimate 

(terms) with none of his colleagues, and as it is 

notorious that the Bey consults him on any occasion, 

his influence excites the jealousy of the French who 

find in him the principal check to their intrigues ••• 

This continual struggle for supremacy must naturally 

give some bias to his opinions."l Reade on the other 

hand had good reasons for accusing de Lagau of contin­

ually trying tfto dra.w the Bey into a discussion on some 

important point in order to put Him off his guard and 

1. Fe 102 17. Gre;y- to OWen, September 26, 1843. 



-14Q-

construe some act of His into a direct insult."l 

9. The incident between Tunis and Sardinia (1843-1844). 

The real problems which affected TUnis were unex­

pectedly put in the shade by a conf'lict between the Bey 

and Sardinia: its origins were unimportant enough, but 

its consequences could have been disa.strous owing to 

French and Turkish endeavours to share in its solution, 

if the Foreign Office had not succeeded in preventing 

it from giving rise to a Mediterranean problem. 

During the summer of 1843, owing to the mediocrity 

of the crops, the Bey had issued a circular prohibiting 

from then on the exportation of corn: The Sardinian 

Consul complained that such a. decision was contrary to 

the Tuniso-Sardinian treaty of 1832 (which provided 

that the Bey should give three month's notice) and 

asked for its cancellation. On the Bey's refusal, the 

Consul broke off his diplomatic relations and brought 

the case to the attention of his government (September 

1843). That decision was obviously hurried and unwise: 

Reade remarked that it seemed inopportune to ask for 

the strict application of the treaties "when in oppos­

ition to such restrictions as the Bey may find himself 

under the necessity of imposing, 8S in the present 

instance, for the maintenance and preservation of the 

1. FO 102 17. Reade to Aberdeen, october 30, 1843. 
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inhabi tants. "1 The Sardinian Government nevertheless 

firmly backed their consul, perhaps with political 

considerations in mind. But the Bey persisted in his 

refusal and began preparing to defend the country. 

The incident was trifling at the outset; but it 

soon became clear that the whole problem of the relations 

of the Powers with Tunis would be involved in it. The 

Porte had been very uneasy with regard to the interrup-

tion of her relations with the Bey since 1842; in 

November 1843 it had thought of sending a vessel to 

Tunis with a friendly despatch from the Sult~n. But 

stratford canning had been somewhat unfavourable to a 

step which "would only give umbrage without answering 

any effective purpose ••• and had advocated simpler and 

more unostentatious means for expressing the sympathy 

of the porte".2 The incident of 1843 very opportunely 

provided the porte with reasonable pretext for sending 

a Commission "pour s'informer en apparence du differentic: 

Sardo Tunisien, mais au fond pour voir ce que le Pecha 

fait et quelle est sa position envers la porte."3 At 

the end of January 1844 the porte informed Stratford 

Canning of the impending departure of Omar Effendi 

1. FO 102 17. Reade to Aberdeen, September 18,1843. 
2. FO 78 523. Stratford canning to Aberdeen,Deeember 1,1843 
3. Fe> 336 82. stratford Canning to Reade,J)ecember 27,1843. 
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on a mission of enquiry: it added that in ease hostil­

ities broke out tl1a Sublime porte se trouverait dans la 
. " , necessi te ••• d.e defendre le pays ••• Une flotte 

ottomane ~serait-1 envoyee pour proteger la province 

de Tunis, qui fait partie des Etats de sa Hautesse. tfl 

Omar Effendi had further instructions for clearing up 

the suspicions and imaginary apprehensions of the Bey 

and for pressing upon him the necessity of regularly 

writing to the Porte, in the future, in order to inform 

it about the administration of the province. 2 

10. The initiative of the Porte was fraught with far 

reaching consequences: The Sardinian goverbment were 

of course irritated by the threatening tone of the 

Turkish note and accordingly stiffened their position; 

on the other hand the Bey feared lest the Sultan's 

Envoy should try "to intermeddle with things of more 

importance than prudence would allow His Highness to 

pass unnoticed." But the main danger was of course 

that France should seize the opportunity to exercise 

her "moral protectorate" over Tunis; it was at least 

quite clear that she would strongly appose any Turkish 

action in the Regency. Stratford canning and Aberdeen 

1. Fe 78 554. Rifaat Pasha's note to stratford Oanning 
January 31, 1844. 

2. Fa 78 554 Qmar Effendi's instructions communicated 
in January 1844. 
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appreciated the danger in very similar words, at the 

beginning of February 1844: ttThe ob ject of the porte 

in sending a Oommissiomrto Tunis, stratford oanning 

reported, and asserbing her right to interfere author­

itatively between the Bey and his antagonist is that 

which never ceases to occupy her attention, the recovery 

or acqu1e±tion of every inch of ground to which she can 

lay claim with any degree of plausibility. But she can 

hardly avail herself of the present epportunity without 

alarming the Bey and encountering the oPPosition of 

France. I have no doubt that M. de Bourqueney will 

remonstrate against the porte's eventual intention of 

sending a squelron to Tunis, and on different grounds 

it may be presumed that Her Majesty's Government would 

equally deprecate the adoption ot such measures without 

necessity. ,,1 Aberdeen could not but view the situa-

tion in the same light. 

The only course open to Aberdeen was obviously 

to propose and to have adopted as quickly as possible 

a British mediation in order to anticipate TUrkish and 

French interventions and the dangers which they in­

volved. AS early as the 3rd of February Aberdeen 

suggested to the Bey the expediency of indemnifying 

1. Fa 78 554 Oanning to Aberdeen. Februar~ 1, 1844. 
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the Sardinian merchants for the losses they might have 

suttered; though he admitted the fairness of the Bey's 

case, Aberdeen pointed out to him the difficulties to 

which he would be exposed should he show too much 

obstinacy. The Bey was too well aware of the double 

danger which threatened him, to refuse an amicable 

settlement and he answered that he would abide by 

Aberdeen's decisio~ (February 22, 1844).1 The legal 

ground for British intervention was opportunely provided 

by the very stipulations of the Treaty of 1832 between 

Tunis and Sardinia (Great Brita.in had mediated that 

agreement; and it entitled her to act as an inter­

mediary in difficulties which were liable to occur 

between the two countries~ Aberdeen then sent hastily 

his proposals for a settlement to Turin and Tunis, and 

pressed the urgency of a satisfactory answer upon both 

courts. 

11. stratford Canning had not waited for Aberdeen's 

instructions and had strongly remonstrated to the porte 

against the sending of TUrkish men of wa,r to Tunis. 

His main argument ("that the departure of a. Turkish 

squadron for that port w6uld be infallibly followed, 

if not preceded, by the reappearance of a French naval 

1. FO 102 22. Ahmed Bey to Aberdeen, February 22, 1844. 
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force in the same waterstt ) could not but impress the 

Turks and induce them to adopt a prudent course of 

policy.l Aberdeen wholly approved Stratford canning's 

attitude: any attempt to take advantage of the Bey's 

difficulties and to assert ottoman suzerainty in Tunis 

could not fail to bring about insoluble complications: 

Great Britain remained "anxious ••• that the ties by 

which TUnis is united to the ottoman Empire should not 

be severed" but any hasty action would infallibly 

arouse the Bey's resistance "even at the sacrifice of 

his own freedom of action by invoking the interposition 

of a.n EUropean Powertf • 2 The Porte understood the 

allusion and merely sent a commissioner who was prudent 

enough to maintain an attitude of reserve in Tunis until 

he went back to constantinople. 

The Foreign Office expected that the main diffi-

culties would be encountered in Paris: as soon as 

Bourqueney had heard of the warlike declarations of 

the porte, he had sharply disputed its right to inter­

fere with the Tuniso Sardinian conflict. There is no 

doubt that the French Government then thought of putting 

forward an offer of mediation: at the beginning of March 

1. stratford Canning to Reade, FO 335 87, February 7,1844. 
2. PO 78 552 Aberdeen to Stratford Canning, March 16,1844. 
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I 
Abercromby reported from TUrin that the French charge 

d'affaires had been informed by Guizot that the French 

and British consuls were to'tco-operate" in furthering 

a settlement. Beveral offers of unofficial interfer­

ence were made by Louis Philippe but refused by Sardinia 

and a further attempt by de Mareuil met with no more 

success. l In Tunis de Lagau made the same offer; but 

the Bey rejected it on the ground that he had already 

placed the matter in Aberdeen's hands. 2 At least the 

Paris Cabinet clearly indioated that it had decided to 

defend the Regency if it was threatened: Louis Philippe 

and Guisot informed the Sardinian Ambassador that 

France would "oppose even by force any hostile attaok 

upon the Bey of Tunis"3 and cowley was warned by the 

King that France "could not suffer" the intervention 

of a Turkish Foroe in TUnis: Louis Philippe added 

(and put thereby a peculiar construction on the negoc­

iations in progress for an agreement) that he would be 

"very glad if Her Majesty's Government could be induced 

to assist in that good work".4 In order to soften the 

disappointment whioh the French Cabinet oould have met 

1. Fe 67 127 Abercromby to Aberdeen. March 4, 1844. 
2. PO 102 19 Reade to Aberdeen, March 23, 1844. 
3. FO 67 127 Abercromby to Aberdeen, March 13, 1844. 

4. Fe 27 694 Cowley to Aberdeen Maroh 8, 1844. 
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with on account of its being kept out of the settlement, 

Aberdeen tried to vindicate British interference in the 

matter on the ground that it was the mere consequence 

of her mediation in the Tuniso Sardinian treaty. He 

nevertheless added that "under these circumstances Her 

Majesty's Government conceiveathat any further foreign 

interference would be unnecessary and might rather tend 

to obstruct than to accelerate the v.:ork of pacification 

already so happily commenced."l Nothing remained for 

Guizot but to wish the Foreign Office a happy negocia­

tion and to assure Cowley that "the mediation of Great 

Britain ••• could not but be acceptable to the French 

Government. All he hoped was that it would be success-

ful." The French added some days later a promise that 

pending the negociations "France would remain perfectly 

quiet and would not send any naval force to TUnis.,,2 

The extension of the conflict having been thus 

prevented, the difficultt:' l.tself was quickly and easily 

solved after Aberdeen's arbitration was accepted by the 

Bey (on April 6) and the Sardinian government (APril 12). 

De Lagau showed some jealousy over this brilliant 

success of British diplomacy and the prestige it gave 

1. FO 27 689 Aberdeen to Cowley March 15, 1844. 
2. FO 27 694 oowley to Aberdeen March 18 and 22, 1844. 
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to Reade. l The Turks expressed a formal satisfaction, 

but informed Stratford Canning that since the Bey 

"neither pays tribute, nor sends the customary naval 

contingent to join the TUrkish squadron in its annual 

cruise, he should at least be careful not to allow a 

third year to pass without presenting to the sultan, 

as heretofore, some valuable testimony of his respect 

and duty." Aberdeen advised the Bey to comply with 

the portets desire and to act towards the Sultan so as 

to "obviate the possibility of any just complaint 
2 being alleged against bim by the Porte". · stratford 

ca.nning renewed the request in September and advised 

the Bey to "keep up a more frequent correspondance with 

the Urand Vizir on matters connected with the welfare 

and prosperity of his territory" so that the Porte 

might be encouraged to persist in its good intentions 

towards him. tt3 But the Bey merely answered that none 

of the Porte's demands were in accordance with the prec­

edents, and Reade had . to be satisfied with an assurance 

that he would do his best to manifest his submission to 

the Sultan. 

1. Serres, pp. 313-314. 
2. PO 102 19. Aberdeen to Reade, May 31, 1844. 
3. FO 335 87 Stratford Canning to Reade, September 

27, 1844. 
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12. While the negociations were going on to settle 

the differences between the Bey and Sardinia, the 

hostility between Reade and the French Consul, once more 

reached a climax. The occasion was provided by the 

trial of the Maltese xuereb: having assassinated a 

Tunisian, he had been handed over to the Tunisian 

judges, at the Bey's request, and in conformity with 

the Treaties, and had been sentenced to death. The 

event was nearly unparalleled in a Moslem country and 

it gave rise to unfavourable comrnents in EUropean 

quarters. The Consuls, very probably at de Lagaut s 

instigation (he had to take revenge for British success 

in the TUniso Sardinian affair), intervened and asked 

that the case should be referred to a British Court. 

In the meantime violent posters called upon the 

"Fratelli Maltese" to protest: ttl maomettani Nemice 

della croce mon devono imbrattare le loro sacrileghe 

mani nel sangue dei Cristiani ••• Riunitavi tatti 

sot to il sacro vessillo della croce."l On the very 

day of the sentence the Consuls again protested and 

threatened the Bey with' the action of their governments. 2 

Reade called upon Aberdeen's help and sharply criticized 

1. PO 102 20 Reade to Aberdeen, March 28, 1844. 
2. Ibid, APril 20 1844. 
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the French ooneul for the prominent part he took in the 

intrigues which were directed against him. The Foreign 

Office backed the Oonsul and authorized the execution 

of the sentence. The day Xuereb was executed, the 

French Vice-Coneul in the Goletta expressed the EUropean 

discontent in a rather ostentatious way : "Le navire a 
, , 

vapeur Frailfais "Le Cameleon", he later wrote to his 

colleagues, s'est eloigne de la rade pour que le 
A 

pavillon franc;ais n'y flottat pas au moment de 
, , 1 

l'execution d'un chretien." 

Aberdeen thought it was high time to try to 

lessen the tension between the French and English 

consul.s in Tunis. Bidwell (superintendent of the 

consular Service) sent to Reade a confidential despatch 

which severely criticized the Consul's propensity to 

see at every turn proofs of French intrigue and a.dvised 

him to adopt a more:'friendly attitude towards his 

colleague: "WhY shoula not you and the French Consul. 

unite and be on good terms? The two governments are 

on the best terms. Therefore the inference is that 

the agents of the two governments at Foreign Places 

should also be on good terms." Bidwell also asked 

Reade to be less lavish in his ttreflexions and insinuations 

1. Ibid. June 8, 1844. 
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against the French and the other Consuls" in his 

correspondance. l On the other hand, tar tram making 

in Paris the strong representations Reade had expected 

and actually suggested, Aberdeen was satisfied with 

reminding the French that his conduct in the xuereb 

case was in strict conformity with the treaties; he 

added that, although they were convinced that the 

Consuls' duty would have been to "absta.in from all 

further opposition on the spot", H.M.'s Government had 

"no intention to profer any formal complaint to the 

French Government."2 In the House of Lords, in answer 

to Lord Beaummnt's vehement protestations against the 

attitude of the Foreign Consuls, Aberdeen evinced the 

same restraint and the same anxiety to avoid any 

acrimonious discussion: while he admitted that the 

conduct of the Consuls had been "improper" he consi­

dered that "as to a 'reparation' he ha.d no reparation 

to demand." some Powers had already disapproved ot 

the conduct of their Representatives; France had not 

yet found it advisable to do so: "perhaps he might 

with a little ingenuity - if he had nothing better to 

do - get up a discussion to show the French government 

1. PO 102 21. Bidwell to Reade, May 15, 1844. 
2. FO 27 690 Aberdeen to Cowley, May 21, 1844. 
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how much our consul was in the right and how much 

their Consul was in the wrong. but as such a proceeding 

could lead to no useful result ••• he had been satisfied 

with expressing the opinion of Her Majesty's government 

upon the transaction" (August 3, 1844).1 

Aberdeen's modera.tion was all the more noteworthy 

as relations with France were just undergoing a very 

serious crisis over the Pritchard case,and the Moroccan 

and Greek difficulties. If Palmerston's opinion (the 

government have been for nearly three years .. almost 

licking the dust before their French ally, and now ••• 

in spite of all this France becomes every day more 

encroaching, more overbearing, more insulting and more 

hostiletf).2 can be ascribed to his anti-French bias, 

Peel's own·~atisfaction revealed the d1fficulties 

which Aberdeen found in his way: "Now ••• Morocco and 

Tunis are threatened; and unless we hold very decisive 

language to France and are prepared to act upon it 

with regard to Tunis and Morocco, they, or so much of 

them as suits the purposes of France, will follow the 

fate of Algiers. tf3 On the other hand the French 

1. Hansard Third Series LXXVI 1844. Lords August 3, 
1844, col. 1670-1672. 

2. Bulwer III, p.149. Palmerston, August 29, 1844. 
3. Parker, .peel III, p.395. Peel to Aberdeen August 

12, 1844. 
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government did not make a friendly policy easier tor 

Aberdeen: during the summer of 1844 as the TUrkish 

Fleet was being prepared for its usual cruise in the 

Archipelago, in spite of Rifaat Pasha's assurances 

and although it had no well-grounded reason to believe 

that the Oapitan Pasha would try to go to Tunisl the 

Paris cabinet again resorted to the now classic sending 

of a naval division to the Goletta (August to November 
\ \ 

l844). Aberdeen nevertheless repaired from protesting 

in Paris, but his attitude, while it avoided in Tunis 

the conflicts which occurred everywhere else, gradually 

and deeply affected the very principles of British 

policy towards Tunis. 

13. Attempt at mediation between Tunis and the Porte (1845) 

Aberdeen had not completely given up the idea of 

a 'rapprochement' between the Bey and the Sultan: the 

advice he had given to the Bey after the happy conclu­

sion of his difticul ty with Sardinia, clearly indicated. 

that in spite of a succession of disappointments this 

rapprochement was still one ot the basic principles of 

British diplomacy in Tunis. After the Bey's answer the 

prospect looked nl'~r disheartening: but that very 

reluctance on the Tunisian side could not but arouse 

1. Serres, p. 312 and 313. 
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the irritation of the Porte and its fear of French 

influence and incite it to renew its previous attempts 

at the risk of giving rise to fresh Mediterranean 

difficulties. 

14. The French government missed no opportunity of 

asserting their inflUence in Tunis: Reade nevertheless 

noticed that after 1844 French action in the Regency 

was exercised in a rather more discreet, and more 

friendly way than before the Sardinian incident. The 

French seemed now less desirous to frighten the Bey 

than to win his good will by flattering and reassuring 

ma.rks of friendship. EVen the traditional visi t of the 

French Fleet, which found this time a. shadow of 

justification in vague rumours of TUrldsh naval prepa­

rations and military reinforcements in Tripoli, assumed 

in 1845 a very amiable character: The Duke of Montpensier 

on his way to the Levant landed in Tunis (from the 20th 

to the 25th of June 1845) and his short sojourn provided 

an opportunity for a series of festivities, receptions 

and exchanges of decorations, wholly unprecedented in 

Tunis. Reade strictly abided by Aberdeen's instruc-
. 

tions and tried to take part in the universal rejoicings. 

But one can guess that his personal feelings were in 

agreement with Admiral Owen's own impressions: freer , 
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than the consul to express his feelings frankly, OWen 

considered that, deprived of the excuses provided during 

the ten previous years by the movements of the Turkish 

Fleet, the French had hevertheless found a'new means 

for justifying their naval visits at the Goletta: "I 

cannot but view them as part of a train of calculated 

mischief, which it is our duty to watch with care and 

be prepared to counteract if necessary" he concluded 
1 

rather gloomily." 

The warmth of the Beyts reception was of course 

connected with the hostile designs which the Turks 

were perSistently a.ccused of harbouring against Tunis. 

At the beginning of July these rumours showed some 

foundations« l2pOOAlbanian soldiers were to arrive in 

Tripoli, and an expedition was being prepared against 

Djerba; it was added that a Turkish Fleet would take 

part in the operation, with British naval support. 

Reade did not attach much importance to that new varia­

tion on an ancient theme, but the Bey felt so uneasy 

about news which the French embroidered in threatening 

colours that he hastily despatched the presents which 

he had omitted to send the year before. 2 A more serious 

1. FO 102 23 Owen to Admiralty, July 20, 1845. 
2. Fe 102 23. Reade to Aberdeen, July 23, 1845. 
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incident with the TUrks confirmed soon afterwards the 

Bey's suspicions about the porte's good will. the sin­

cerity of which Aberdeen, stratford canning and Reade 

had not ceased to guarantee. Austria having decided 

in 1845 to have a consul General in Tunis, M. de Kester 

arrived in August to take up his duties, with a Firman 
, 

issued by the porte and addressed to the "modele dee 

Kadys et des Juges •••• le Kady de Tunis", instead of 

the usual letter from his government DO the Bey. The 

Bey could not but consider that the porte was thus 

trying indirectly to give weight to its pretensions 

in Tunis: he accordingly answered that the procedure 

was "contraire a nos anciens usages awe quels i1 nous 

etait impossible d'apporter aucun changement ni 
/ 

alteration"; he refused to give audience to Kester in 

so far as he assumed an official position as long as he 

would not be directly accredited to him.l Thereupon 

K~ster lett Tunis and the Bey applied to the French 

and English consuls for support. The case was embarr­

assing and could be pregnant with serious consequences. 

stratford Canning admitted that the question was ver.y 

important for the Bey himself as it affected "the 

dependence or independence of his authority" and he 

1. Fa 102 23 Circular to the consuls, August 21, 1845. 
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accordingly regretted that the porte should have mooted 

such a delicate problem. The porte on the other hand 

considered that "the rejection of M. Koster was not to 

be tolerated and that measures should be taken to force 

the Bey into obediencew• But Stratford Canning pointed 

out that the Bey would hardly be expected "to recognize 

an act destructive of his own claim."l The British 

Ambassador exerted himself to settle the problem and 

his efforts 8S well as Bourqueney's protestation 

finally induced the porte to give up its claim before 

it received the scolding which Aberdeen had sent to 

constantinople when he had heard of the whole affair: 

ttNothing indeed can be more impolitic on the part of 

the porte than to seek to raise frivolous questions 

with the Bey of Tunis ••• The TUrkish government must 

be well aware not only that the interest felt by the 

British government in the welfare of the Bey would 

deprive the Sultan of any advantages which he might 

expect at least from the tacit acquiescence of Great 

Britain in any attempt which His Highness might make 

to convert his nominal sovereignty over TUnis into a 

real one, but that the Porte would infallibly encounter 

in such an attempt the active oppOSition of prance". 

1. FO 78 601. stratford Canning to Aberdeen, september 
3, 1845. 
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Recent happenings proved that "even if the Sultan were 

unquestionably in the right" France would not tolerate 

the intervention of a TUrkish Fleet against TUnis. The 

porte would therefore act prudently in a.voiding ill 

advised measures whioh could not fail to frighten the 

Bey and stiffen his resistance.1 

15. It was apparently in order to obliterate the memory 

of the last incidents, and to allay the Bey's suspicions 

that by the middle of , September 1846 the Sultan 

acquainted Stra.tford C8lUling with his intention of 

giving before long an evidence of his "most gracious 

intentions towards the Bey of Tunis. H2 some weeks 

later, the porte actually submitted to Canning a Firman 

which aimed at rewa,rding the Bey for his "loyalty" and 

his "useful services": the Bey was granted a confirmation 

for life of his pashalik while the Sultan gave up the 

demand for a tribute. 3 st.atford Canning whole-heartedly 

supported what he believed to be "a manifest proof of 

the wie8 and benevolent line of policy which the Imperial 

Government has now at length adopted. 1t He had carefully 

impressed upon the porte the expediency of avoiding in 

1. PO 78 593, Aberdeen to Stratford Canning, October 6,1846. 
2. PO 78 601. stratford canning to Aberd.een, September 

16, 1845. 
3. PO 102 23 The Grand Vizir to the Bey (beginning of 

october 1845). 
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the Firman "every remnant of pretension which might give 

umbrage to the Bey of Tunis", and he therefore hoped 

that "the Bey's allegiance as a faithful vassal to his 

sovereign ~would-l be duly displayed on every sUitable 

occasion" • Canning nevertheless perceived dimly that 

the confirmation for life was such as to create uneasi-

ness in the Bey's mind, but he laid the emphasis on the 

advantages which the Bey would draw from a concession 

which, he thought, was the limit of what the porte 

could do, and in short he hoped that Reade could 

convince the Bey to accept it."l The Foreign Office 

was not less gratified with the Sultan's endeavour to 

conciliate instead of indisposing the Bey, and ex­

pressed much satisfaction at finding that the porte 

had ttat length decided upon acting towards the Bey in 

a manner so well calculated to secure his devotion to 

the sultan and to prevent any disagreeable questions 

connected with the Regency of Tunis arising between 

France and Turkey."2 

EVents soon proTed that optimism to be wholly 

unfounded. The Bey was stricken with dismay at the 

receipt of the Firman: Stratford Canning's letters 

1. FO 78 602. stratford canning to Aberdeen october 31, 
1845. PO 102 23. Stratford Canning to Reaa. 
October 21 and 27. 

2. PO 78 593. Aberdeen to 'Stratford Canning, November 
20, 1845. 
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(Which Reade had transmitted to him in order to count­

eract the alarming rumours which prevailed in TUnis), 

had indeed induced him to hope that "whatever measure 

should be taken, coming through CStratford Oanning'sJ 

kind offices could never be prejudicUd to His interests 

or detrimental to His Rights". He immediately took 

the view that the Firman was a backward step and held 

that he could not accept a text which seemed to be at 

variance with the hereditary character of the HUssein! 

government in Tunis. Reade nevertheless advised him to 

accept the Firman, but the French Consul convincingly 

impressed upon the Bey the prudence of avoiding giving 

an answer which 'Could prove detrimental to his successors' 

rights. 1 The Turkish Envoy was accordingly given a 

very deferential reception, but the Firman was not read 

publicly and after having consulted his Ministers the 

Bey sent an answer which, with due regards for the 

Sultan's authority, clearly explained the Husseini 

claim for hereditary succession: "Tout cequ'il desire, 
"" , " I' , he said, est d'etre traite comma l'ont ete sespre-

decesseurs •••• CNotre-l point de vue ••• est d~oir la 

" dynastie husseinite marcher sur les traces de nos peres 
"-

et aieux dans sa conduite vis a vis du gouvernement 

1. PO 102 23. Reade to Stratford Canning November 15,1845 
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ottoman." (November 23, 1845)1 It only remained for 

Reade to s.sk stratford canning to intervene at the 

porte on behalf of the Bey.2 The Ambassador did not 

feel sanguine about resuming negoc1ai10ns with the 

ottomans: they were obviously reluctant to accept the 

extinctive prescr1ption of the Sultan's rights of 

suzerainty. stratford Canning was reminded . that the 

customary sending of annual Firmans of confirmation to 

the Pashas, although it was "a mere formality" for the 

Bey, nevertheless remained binding upon him; it was 

quite true that those Firmans had not been sent to 

Tunis for eight years, but in theory the Sultan retained 

his rights; the grant of a confirmation for life ought 

therefore to be cOD8~dered by the Bey as a rea~ favour. 

Cann1ng, wh11e refusing to lose hope, concluded in a 

disillusioned mood: tlthere is much occasional danger 

in plaCing implicit reliance on the assurances of any 

oriental government."3 

In all fairness Stratford Canning would have been 

more justified to ascribe his recent failure to the 

policy of his own government: the last incident had 

1. Ben Dhiaf, pp. 82-84. 
2. Fe 102 23, Reade to Stratford canning, November 17, 

1845. 
3. Fe 78 630, stratford Canning to Aberdeen, December 

2, 1845. 
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given a new evidence of the improvisation of British 

policy and of the inadequate knowledge of the Foreign 

Office. with regard to the international situation of 

the Regency. It was obvious for anybody knew it (Reade 

for instance) that the Bey could not accept the confirm­

ation "for life" in as much as he did not acknowledge 

the right of the porte to interfere in the hereditary 

succession within the HUsseini dynasty. BUt if British 

policy in Tunis suffered from i ,ts being ill defined, 

it was further hindered by the irreducible oPPosition 

of Tunisian and Turkish views on the matter. When it 

defended its rights (should they be out, of date) the 

porte showed a. stubborness which found some justifi­

cation in Ita natural desire ,to guard the principles of 

sovereignty."l on the other hand the Bey, strong in 

France's constant support, perSistently refused to give 

up any right he had received f~om his predecessors, and 

he even rejected any fictitious demonstration which 

would have been in contradiction with what he held to 

be the status quo of the Regency. At the beginning of 

1846 Rea.de defined his attitude as follows: "Nothing 

could be more agreeable to His Highness than that His 

relations with the porte should continue to remain as 
----,-,- ,-~----

1. stratford Canning to Aberdeen, Fe 78 630, 
December 2, 1845. 
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they formerly were. I cannot think that His Highness 

will ever consent on a.ny consideration whatever to 

alter his situation with regard to the Porte, even 

should he find eventual advantages which He would not 

otherwise obtain."l 

Aberdeen's policy talls into line with French action in 
oonstantinople (1846) 

16. The 1845 failure was all the more important as 

the Foreign otfice, during the 20 following years, was 

to avoid intervening directly for the settlement of 

the differences between the Bey and the Sultan, an 

attitude tatamount to acknowledging the partial failure 

of Palmerston's policy. Obviously British policy had 

come to a deadlock. The very implementing of the 

status quo came up against a deeper problem, which had 

been long left in obeyance: the significance of the 

status quo. The new French policy was obtaining such 

successes in Tunis that de Lagau was able to assert 

in December 1845 that "nous avons main tenant dans 

cette partie ~e l'Afrique, presque tous les avantages de 

la possession, sans en avoir les inconvenients."2 

The seasonal rumours relating to military 

1. PO 195 213 Reade to stratford canning, March 2,1846 
2. serres, p. 331. 
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preparations in Tripo11, and to a visit of the Cap1tan 

Pasha to Malta, re.w1ved the Bey's apprehensions. The 

French government took advantage of his fears,although 

they did not appear to be well founded~ to renew the 

princely vis1t of 1845. The Mediterranean Squadron, 

plaoed under prince de J01nv111e's command, anchored 

before the Goletta on the 28th of June; some days later 

the DUc d'Aumale rejoined his brother, and the presence 

of the two Royal guests was the pretext for an exchange 

of attentions of all kinds which to be sure oould not 

completely delude the Bey; but two years' continual 

Frenoh exertions to win his favours could not but 

impress him and induce him to lean towards France, the 

more so as they contrasted sharply with the apparent 

indifference of the British Government which showed 

too often their interest in his behalf by severely 

admQnishing him to adopt a policy which he secretly 

disliked. It was not politically unimportant that in 

their endeavours "to gain the spirit of everyman 

possessing any, the least influence at the Bey's court" 

the French should have nin some instances succeededn• 2 

------- ....... .. -.- -

1. serres, p. 340. 
2. FO 102 25 Reade to Palmers ton. August 20, 1846. 
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17. Aberdeen nevertheless spared no pains to support 

the Bey's case at the porte when needed. Scarcely had 

he been informed of Ahmed Bey's uneasiness about the 

alleged hostility of the Turks - in spite of constant 

efforts to allay it "by mildness, by submission and by 

very considerable pecuniary sacrifice"l - than Aberdeen 

assured the Bey that the necessary steps would be taken 

to verity whether his fears had some foundation "and 

in case of necessity to remOJ1strs.te in the strongest 

manner against any attempt being made to molest Tunis."2 

Aberdeen did not actually wait for a confirmation 

of these rumours, although the experience of the ten 

previous years was such as to justify some scepticism: 

on the very day he had replied to the Bey, he informed 

Stratford canning that "after the repeated declarations 

of France that any attempt by the porte to interfere 

with the Independence of the Bey would be resisted 

by a French Force, and after the repeated warnings on 

the part of England that Turkey must look for no support 

or countenance from an English Force in any such ill 

judged attempt" it seemed "hardly credible" that Turkey 

should contemplate seriously any act of aggreSSion upon 

1. FO 102 26 Reade to Aberdeen, May 25, 1846. 
2. PO 102 26 Aberdeen to Reade, June 26, 1846. 
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Tunis. However the evidence was "apparently so strong" 

that Aberdeen considered it as his duty to ask from the 

porte without further delay a distinct explanation of 

its intentions in this respect. The British Government 

he added, were entitled to demand this exPlanation on 

account of their friendly relations with the ~orte, 

and "of the high estimation in which they hold the Bey 

of TUnis, whose conduct, both with reference to the 

Sultan and to the powers of Europe in general, appears 

to them always to be highly meritorious'! but "more 

especially on account of the interest which England 

has in the maintenance of peace and tranquillity in 

the southern parts of the Mediterranean sean. Should 

it prove correct that the porte really harboured 

hostile feelings against the Bey, stratford Canning 

should "remonstrate in the strongest terms against 

such a proceeding"; in case the porte should deny such 

intentions, the Ambassador should impress upon the 

ottoman government the exPediency of "ta.king immediate 

measures for tranquillizing the fears of the Beyw; and 

suggest an inquiry about the behaviour of the Pasha 

of Tripoli and if necessary a severe reprima~ "At 

all events, he concluded, the porte must understand 

that H.M.'s government deprecate no less the employ­

ment of intrigue for the purpose of disquieting the 
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Bey of Tunis, than they do that of open force for his 

expulsion from the Regency."l 

The French government had not been mQ,re · v:2!.gorous 

in their own defence of the Bey at the Porte: the only 

(and of course major) difference between the attitudes 

of the two Powers had been that France had sent Prince 

de Joinvillets squadron before Tunis as a material 

support for BOurquene7t s remonstrances. But at the 

diplomatic level the reactions and argumentations were 

nearly similar and the very expression "Independence 

of the Berf was written down for the first time in an 

official despatch of the Foreign Office. Under these 

conditions it is not likely that Stratford oanningts 

own doubts about the Sultants alleged intentions, and 

Reschidts reiterated assurances would have convinced 

Aberdeen of Turkish Sincerity, had not Peelts cabinet 

been overthrown in the meantime. Palmerston, back in 

the Foreign Office, was more prone tha~ Aberdeen to 

make allowance in the rumours concerning Tripo11 for 

the intrigues "which the agents of France employ so 

much zeal to l 'tDment and to propagate. "2 

1. PO 78 635 Aberdeen to at.atford Canning, June 25,1846. 
2. PO 78 641. stratford Oanning to Aberdeen, July 

4, 1846. 
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18. Before the first effects of the ministerial change 

could be felt, the British policy in Constantinople 

went on along Aberdeen's lines. Wellesley, left in 

charge of the Embassy by Stratford Canning's departure 

on leave, came to a complete agreement with de Bour­

queney about the expediency of obtaining from the Porte 

the recalling of Ahmed Pasha, then military commander in 

Tripoli. His comments were very significant of the 

final tendencies of Aberdeen's policy: "I think it of 

such importance to remove all cause of French umbrage 

in that quarter that I propose ••• to advise Reschid 

Pasha to comply with the French Ambassador's wishes."l 

A few days later Reschid Pasha entered into negociations 

with Bourqueney in order that the Turkish Fleet during 

its annual cruise should be spared the h~iliation of 

being watched by a French man of war (as had been the 

case during the last years). Bourqueney, by way of 

preliminary, ha.d asked for a written assurance that the 

Fleet should not be directed against Tunis, a formal 

renunciation to any operation against Tunis, and the 

calling back of Ahmed Pasha. The French Ambassador 

then suggested "lest however this demand should give 

any umbrage to the SUltan" that the Turkish declaration 

1. Fe 78 642. wellesley to Palmerston, August 1, 1846. 
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should be made also ~o the British Ambassador. Bour­

queney was thus making a bold attempt to secure England's 

participation in French policy in Oonstantinople. But 

Wellesley did not appear to see any difficulty in his 

being a party to an agreement which entitled France to 

a kind of "droit de regard" upon the movements of the 

TUrkish Fleet. As for the recalling of Ahmed Pasha 

"1 have ventured to advise the ottoman Government to 

comply with the French Ambassador's request" he concluded. l 

19. The results of the status quo policy •. 

Wellesley's last steps in oonstantinople were the 

legacy of the Aberdeenian period, just as Palmerston 

was resuming the functions of Foreign Secretary: in 

some respects they exaggerated the main features of 

Aberdeen's policy, but one can tiDd therein an image 

of the ultimate consequences of the ttstatus quo" policy. 

At the outset, in 1841, that policy involved a clear 

recognition of Turkish rights of suzerainty over the 

Regency; but through growing suspicions about Turkey 

and her attempts to take advantage of the status quo 

to reassert her suzerainty over Tunis, British policy 

gradually proceeded towards a co-operation with France 

on the very bases of French policy. With a view to 

1. FO 78 642. Wellesley to Palmers ton, August 14, 1846. 
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defend ttTunis~ndependencetfGreat Britain finally assumed 

at the Porte a diplomatic action roughly similar to 

France's (but France strengthened it by the action of 

her Fleet before Tunis.). 

One of the main features which accounted for that 

eVolution had been the Bey's attitude: determined a.s 

he was to save the autonomy of the ~egency, and if 

possible to strengthen it, he had not ceased to stiffen 

his resistance to any compromise which coulo result in 

forcing upon him decayed forms which were in contradic-

tion to the actual situation of Tunis with regard to 

the porte. While acknowleclging the principle of 

Turkish suzerainty he had cleverly neutralized its 

effects by combining French naval support with British 

diplomatic help. The Turkish lack of political realism 

had contributed to worsen the original difficulties of 

British policy. It was clear enough, in 1846, that the 

diplomatic game about Tunis had come to a deadlock: 

the Turkish pretensions, as expressed by Reschid Pasha 

in a memorandum which he had handed over to Stratford 

Oanning, were wholly unacceptable for the Bey, Since 

they had been successively rejected by Ahmed Bey (annual 

tribute, limitations to internal and external autonomy).l 

1. FO 102 25. That memorandum is dated 1846 without 
any other precision. 
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It is but true to add that the porte had not made 

British action easier, and that too often she had 

resorted to ill-timed steps without previously con­

sulting the Foreign Office; but one should remark that 

the Turks could reasonably feel some uneasiness about 

the existence of rights which they were prevented from 

exercising from considerations of Mediterranean policy. 

As for the French government, they had persistently 

followed a policy which openly aimed at protecting the 

Bey, but tended more a.nd more to create in Tunis a 

moral protectorate; French action had been characterized 

after 1844 by an effort to win the Bey's good will 

ra.ther than to frighten him, as before, by the display 

of French military strength. 

The British policy was partly paralysed by Aber­

deen' 6 constant d.esire to keep friendly relations with 

Paris in spite of the AnglO-French antagonism in Tunis: 

Aberdeen had for that reason given up the quasi permanent 

pressure which Palmerst9n had brought to bear upon the 

Quai d'orsay, and had concentrated his efforts on the 

Porte which was likely to be more amenable to British 

representations; in TUnis the advice Reade gave to the 

Bey ran counter to his desire for independence. The 

Foreign Office experienced greater difficulties in 

putting forward a solution harmonizing the conflicting 
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exigencies of the Bey and the Sultan, as its own con­

ceptions about the status quo remained very vaguely 

formulated, a fact which had clearly appeared in 1842, 

1844 and 1846. Aberdeen was more anxious to avert 

possible dangers than to bring about a lasting solution: 

the last attempt at rapprochement had been a complete 

failure (1845). Despairing of bringing about a 

rapprochement which it was nearly impossible to manage 

peacefully, the Foreign Office could only advocate a 

"minimum policy" of mediation which aimed at avoiding a 

Mediterranean incident and the immediate loss of 

Tunisian independence; the success of the British media­

tion in 1844 was the triumph of that rather negative 

policy. 

By a continual improvisation the Foreign Office had 

been able successfUlly to ~.cope with the danger of a 

French seizure of the Regency, but its policy involved 

serious dangers for the future in so far as it kept the 

same diplomatic formulas, without trying to prepare a 

different diplomatic course, better suited to the sit­

uation. The mere assertion of abstract Turkish rights 

could not by itself prevent their gradual extinction if 

the porte was not allowed to exercise them; French policy 

W6S then bound to succeed and the French conception of 

the status quo to prevail over the rather v8g-ue British 
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position. The Bey was thus placed in an isolation 

which Palmers ton had rightly deemed very dangerous 

but which had become worse since 1841 • 
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IV. Tunis under French influence (1846 - 1855) 

1. Palmerston's resumption of British Foreign Affairs 

could not but bring about a new change in British policy 

towards Tunis. The partial success met with by Aberdeen 

in his endeavour to avoid difficulties with France about 

Tunis was largely due to his conciliatory spirit, a.nd 

forbearance. Palmerston however considered such 

patience to be the indication of a weak policy towards 

France: "I am afraid," he wrote shortly af'ter his 

return to off'ice, "that Aberdeen's system of' making 

himself Under Secretary to Guizot has been injurious 

to British interests allover the world."l And as 

early as september 1846 he defined the main trends of 

a policy of strenuous resistance to French expansion: 

"We have been defeated by our timidity, hesitation, 

and delay •••• So it is and always will be with France: 

if' others are f'irm they stop or recede; if others 

recede or faulter they advance and rush on ••• We have 

-----_ .•. --. -_ . . .... .. . -
1. Gooch, The Later Correspondance of' Lord John 

Russell, I, p. lSi. Palmers ton to-Russell, 
December 8, 1846. 
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all been too much afraid of France ... l The first 

fruits of that pugnacious policy were the successive 

Mediterranean crises to which the Spanish affair served 

only as a prelude; but in September 1846 Peel already 

remarked that "maintenant que la.. bonne entente est 
/ ,2 

detruite la guerre pent survenir a tent moment." The 

new spirit was also felt in Morocco where Anglo-French 

relations became suddenly more strained at the end of 

1846. In Tunis Palmers ton obViously considered that 

the course British policy had lately taken called for 

a realignment of, if not a departure from, Aberdeen's 

policy. But palmerston was soon to discover that 

the situation in 1846 no longer allowed him to aim at 

the same objectives as he had in view ten years'before: 

the events of November and December 1845 revealed the 

deep changes whtch had occurred in Tunis and accordingly 

obliged Palmerston to set himself more limited objectives 

than he had first thought of doing. 

2. Attempted correction of British policy (1846). 

As soon as Palmers ton had resumed bis functions, 

he gave clear indications about the new orientation of 

British policy. With regard to the alleged Turkish 

1. ibid. (I) pp. 117. 118. Palmerston to Russell, 
september 10, 1846. 

2. GUlot, p. 292. 
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threatening activity in Tripoli, Palmerston showed from 

the outset a scepticism which contrasted strongly with 

Aberdeen's anxiety. palmerston was convinced that French 

agents were mainly responsible for the propagation of 

these rumours, and relied upon the assurances given by 

the porte; he decided that the best course to take was 

to make enquiries on the spot, and two ofricers were 

accordingly sent to Tripoli tt to examine into and to 

ascertain the state of affairs in that Pashalik with 

rererence to the supposed designs on Tunis. nl The repor~ 

which was forwarded to the Foreign Office in October 

1846 positively asserted that there were no preparations 

in Tripoli which COUld. justiry the Bey's apprehensions. 

On the other hand, Palmerston severely criticized 

the negotiation into which Reschid Pasha had entered with 

Bourqueney in August and in which Wellesley had played 

a rather unexpected part: "It would have been more 

prudent,n palmerston wrote on september 7, "not to have 

made the communication which was made to K. Bourqueney ••• 

There is no disguising the fact that the application 

made to the French Ambassador that as a favour he would 

abstain from sending a ship of war to watch the Turkish 

Fleet, and the consent to make stipulations as the 

1. Fe 78 63fi. Palmerston to Wellesley, September 7,1846. 



-176-

condition on which such a favour was to be granted, was 

derogatory to the dignity and independenee of the Porte." 

While approving of the porte's assertion that it did 

not entertain hostile intentions aga.inst TUnis, palmer­

ston regretted tha.t such a declaration should have been 

the result of a humiliating bargaining.l As far as it 

could, the Foreign Office obviously aimed at strength­

ening the Turldsh position and at questioning the French 

diplomatic sueeess. 

3. At this juneture the Bey suddenly announeed that 

he had decided to go to Paris and London, a deeision 

which was to ereate some confusion in British poliey 

and to reveal the degree of independence the Regency had 

reached with French support. As soon as Reade was 

apprised of the Bey's unexpected decision (september 

28, 1846) he foresaw all the difficulties which that 

journey was likely to create; he immediately suspeeted 

(and his bias inspired him with justified suspicions 

in this particular case) that the French Party had, if 

not prompted, at least encouraged the Bey to take such 

a step; the Bey's journey could not but provide France 

with an opportunity to manifest the support she gave 

to Ahmed Bey's pretensions and on the other hand place 

1. Ibid. pa1merston to Wellesley, September 21, 1846. 
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Great Britain in a.n embarrassing situation should 

these pretensions bring about a confliot between the 

Bey and the sultan. But Reade's exertions to induce 

the Bey at least to delay his departure, so that his 

government should be informed and could try to olear 

up the problems involved, proved useless. Ahmed Bey 

was eager to leave Tunis and to receive the flattering 

reception which he had been promised by de Lagau. The 

Government of the Regenoy during his absence was quickly 

organised, and on November 6, the Bey went aboard his 

Steamship bound for MarseilleE>.l 

While the Bey was travelling in France Palmers ton 

made the necessary arrangements for the Bey's reception 

in England: Reade was called back to London, and the 

Foreign Offioe asked the Army to seleot an offieer who 

was to escort the Bey and, it wa.s added, who "for 

obvious rea.sons should be intelligent. n2 In the mean­

while Palmerston defined his s.ttitude about the etiquette 

of the Bey's reception: the problem was just beginning 

to trouble the Turkish Ambassador in Paris who had had 

an inkling of Guizot's intention to give the Bey "the 

honors due to an independent Sovereign".3 As for 

1. FO 102 25. Reade to Palmerston, Ootober 24, 1846. 
2. ibid. Foreign Offioe to Lord Fitzroy, November 30,1846. 
3. Fe 27 757 Normanby to pslmerston, November 20,1846. 
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Palmers ton, there was no room for doubt: "The Bey of 

Tunis", he wrote to Normanby, "is decidedly not a sover-

eign and independent prince and ought not to be treated 

as such." He was entitled in Paris to the same recep-

tion as Ibrahim Pasha "that is to say that they will 

have him presented by the Turkish Ambassador."l And 

accordingly a few days later the Foreign secretary 

explained that "considering the relation in which the 

Bey stands towards the Sultan, it will devolve upon the 

Representatives of the Porte in this country to present 

His H1ghness~ her Majesty.,,2 

4.SQliman Pasha's fears were thoroughly justified 

-by Guizot's final attitude: in spite of Ibrahim Pasha's 

precedent, Guizot apprised Normanby of the French 

intention to receive the Bey "plutot en souvera1n".3 In 

actual fact Ahmed Bey when arriving in Paris was pre­

sented directly to the King and no attention was paid 

to Soliman Pasha's rights. 4 Guizot was at great pains 

1. Bulwer (III) p. 319. Palmers~on to Normanby, 
November 15, 1846. 

2. PO 27 747 palmerston to Normanby, November 27, 1846 
3. FO 27 757, Normanby to palmerston, November 27, 1846. 
4. A de Latour Voyage de S.A.R. Ie duc de Montpensier 

pp. 227-228. 
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to vindicate a decision which had an obvious political 

bearing: by treating the Bey as an independent sovereign 

France strengthened her moral influence over him, while 

she got the British into serious trouble. l As seon as 

Normanby had discovered the French intentions he had 

informed the Ambassadors of the Powers who had decided 

to abstain from attending the official ceremonies where 

the Bey was to be present. And when Ratfo came to 

the Embassy, Normanby made it clear that whatever 

regard the Bey would be shown in England "it would be 

expected there that he should be presented by the 

Ambassador from the porte. u2 The Bey, apparently, was 

not prepared for such news and he was greatly perplexed: 

he had not foreseen such difficulties, Raffo reported; 

he did not aspire to an independent position, but on 

the other hand his dignity prevented him from accepting 

in England a procedure of reception so inferior to the 

French one, the more so as it would be interpreted as 

an acknowledgement of the rightness of British reserva 

tions about the etiquette adopted in Paris. Normanby 

1. It is worth remarking that at about the same time 
Palmerston refused, rather abruptly, Guizot's offer 
for a common attitude about the annexation of 
QracQvie by Austria (Thureau Dangin VII, pp.273-275). 

2. PO 27 757. Normanby to Palmerston, November 
27, 1846. 
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supposed that the Bey had fallen under the influence of 

the French who wanted "not even so much to flatter his 

vanity as to make his visit to England impossible by 

accompanying it with pretensions which neither our own 

consistency nor our alliance with the porte could allow 

us to admit."l 

Palmerston had nearly no choice in the matter: 

his desire to strengthen the friendly rela.tions with 

the porte, his deep distrust of the aims and methods 

of French policy made bim adopt a firm position on a 

question which involved, beside problems of mere eti­

quette, very serious consequences regarding the inter­

national situation of the Regency. If the Bey and 

France were to triumph on this occasion, the prestige 

of the porte and what it still retained of its rights 

in Tunis would be so impaired that there was no room 

for hesitation; the Foreign Office was bound to abide 

by British traditional policy in Tunis, even if, as 

was likely, the relations with the Bey were to be 

affected by that decision. Palmerston thus confirmed 

in his a.nswer to Normanby that the duties and obliga­

tions of his government towards their ally the Sultan 

"could not be forgotten or overlooked •••• The Bey does 

1. 10 27 757. Normanby to Palmerston, November 30, 1846. 
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not profess to be an independent Sovereign and cannot 

therefore expect to be treated as such." Palmerston 

nevertheless strongly encouraged the Bey to persevere 

in his intention of visiting England and concluded 

with a very serious warning: "If His Higlmess reflects 

calmly upon all the circumstances of His position 

political and geographical, he will probably be of 

opinion that his political connection with the Sultan 

is a valuable security against dangers to which his 
1 geographical situation would tend )0 expose him." 

The Bey however turned a dear ear to the allusion 

and Normanby could not make him change his mind. Ahmed 

Bey nevertheless sincerely regretted the estrangement 

between him and Great Britain and knew the dangers 

which he would incur by an exclusive reliance on French 

support: he was ~ully aware of these impending difficul­

ties, and his uneasiness may be the explanation of his 

wistful answer to his biographer and minister Ben Dhiaf 

who was speaking highly of the marvels of Parisian 

life: "11 me tarde dtentrer a Tunis par 1a Porte de 

Bab A1aoui et de respirer ltodeur de friture du marchand 

de beignets qui sty trouve. H2 Keanwhile the tone of 

1. Fa 27 747. Palmerston to Normanby, December 1, 1846. 
2. Ben Dhiaf, p. 114. 
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Palmerstonts communications was becoming mare and more 

irritated against the Bey's stubbornness: "He must jUdge 

for himself ••• and it he changes his original intention 

and goes back to Africa without visiting England, he 

will be the greatest loser by such a, determination and 

the fault will not lie with Her Majesty's government. ttl 

Ahmed Bey at last decided to put an end to a fruitless 

discussion and announced that he had given up his 

origina~ idea and would go back directly to Tunis: 

"U. l' ,Ambassadeur de votre gouvernement, tf he wrote to 
I 

the Queen, "nouB a prevenu d'une forme de reception 
, , 

dont nous n'avions point conna~nce a notre depart. 
, 

cette eirconstance a entrave l'accomplissement de notre 
I ... 

desir, a cause du tardeau qui pase sur nous dans 

l'administration de notre famil1e et de notre pays et 

que nous ne pouvons pas prendre sur nous de d~truire."2 

A few days later (on December 15, 1845), the Bey left 

France and returned to Tunis. 

5. Palmerston was of course deeply dissatisfied with 

the BeY's decision: he answered with an ominous . cold­

ness, merely acknowledging receipt of Ahmed Bey's 

letter and of its content. Reade (who had received 

1. PO 27 747. palmerston to Normanby, December 4,1845. 
2. PO 102 27. The Bey to palmerston, December 11, 1846. 
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in the meanwhile a despatch cancelling his recall to 

England) was instructed to deliver it "without comment"; 

in case the Bey "should propose to offer any explanation 

of the step which he has taken" Reade was to answer 

simply and solely that he had "received no instructions 

from ~his-1 government to enter upon that subject."l 

As for the French Government, palmers ton contented 

himself with mercilessly retuting the arguments which 

Guizot had drawn up in an endeavour to justify the 

reception given to the Bey. But it does not seem 

exaggerated to think that the Tunisian diffieulties 

had also something to do with Palmerston's exasperated 

feelings against Franee in Deeember 1845, when he 

wrote his memorandum "on our National Defence" and 

seriously contempla.ted the pOBsibili ty of a conflict 

with France: "The two countries have in every part of 

the globe interests, commercial and political, which 

are constantly claShing, and the conflict between 

which may at anytime on a sudden give rise to same 

discussion of the most serious and embarrassing nature. u2 

But however vigorous his personal feelings may 

have been, Palmerston could not overlook ~he complications 

1. Fa 102 25. Pa1merston to Reade, December 13, 1846. 
2. Bulwer III, p.390. 
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which could not but arise from a precipitate Turkish 

move. The indignation of the Porte burst out, as one 

CQuld have expected beforehand, in passionate indictments 

against French policy in Tunis: Soliman Pasha took the 

!'irst opportunity to sound Normanby upon the attitude 

Great Britain would adopt should the Sultan decide to 

punish the Bey and to vindicate his authority in TUnis 

by making use of "his just right to withdraw in cases 

of misconduct the power which was derived from him", 

and should France consequently interfere and take steps 

to protect the Bey. From the very beginning Normanby 

made no secret of the seriousness of the problem and 

insisted upon the prudence of previously consulting 

the powers. l Palmerston wholly approved of Normanbyts 

reserve a.nd made 1 t clear that the British government 

"would strongly dissuade the Sultan from taking any such 

step ••• because such a measure ••• might drive the Bey 

of Tunis to declare himself independent, and to throw 

himself on France for support: and in that case the 

porte could not be strong enough single-handed to 

reduce the Bey of Tunis to subjection; and the other 

Powers of EUrope might not feel disposed to take up 

arms on an occasion which would appear to have been 

1. Fa 27 757. Normanby to palmerston, December 10,1846. 
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needlessly created by a. voluntary act of the Turkish 

Government. Ml That warning was not very different from 

some of Aberdeen's considerations; at least there could 

be no mistake about the British desire to ward off a 

possible crisis, and about the probable isolation of 

the porte if it resorted to harsh measures against the 

Bey. Soliman pasha showed some disappointment, but the J 

porte had to be content with exchanging notes with 

Bourqueney: while it reasserted its rights in the 

Regency and dwelt on "the painful impression" which had 

been created in constantinople by the Beyts visit to 

Paris and its consequences, the French Ambassador put 

the French case not very convincingly. (The Regency, 

he stated, "existait et continue d'exister comme etat 
'/ / 

relevant, a quelques egards, de la suzerainete de la 

porte, mais non comme sUjette de celle-ci,,2). Had it 

been tree to act as it wished the Porte would readily 

have taken up a more abrupt attitude: it had contem­

plated rejecting Guizot's explanatory note, but in 

Constantinople as in Paris British moderating influence 

was felt and wellesley advised the ottoman government 

to put an end to the discussion with the assertion that 

1. 
2. 

Fe 27 747. Pa1merston to Normanby, December 15,1846. 
Serres, pp. 356, 357. 

I 
! 
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"en acceptant ce qui s'appelle status quo, la Sublime 

"' " porte a en meme temps etabli le principe qu'elle 

maintient a l'heure qu'il est, le principe du droit 

de souverainete sur cette province."l 

One could. also ascribe to Palmerston's desire to 

limit the effects of the Bey's visit, Bloomfield's 

move at Saint Petersburg in January 1847: The British 

Ambassador acquainted Nesselrode with British views 

regarding the incident the Bey's visit had created in 

Paris, and he also informed the Chancellor of the 

advice given to the porte to abstain "from committing 

itself to any line of action with regard to the Bey 

which might unnecessarily affect its friendly relations 

with France." Thereupon Nesselrode assurred that 

"no advice could be wiser or better imagined to prevent 

any bad effects resulting from this business at Con-

stantinople." BY ascertaining Nesselrode's approbation 

palmerston obviously aimed at preventing a Russian 

interference which could not have failed to muddle the 

question and to worsen the difference between France and 

the porte. 2 Like Aberdeen before him, Palmers ton was 

led to take into account the deep changes which the 

1. Fe 78 677. Wellesley to Palmerston, January 18,1847. 
2. FO 65 333. Bloomfield to Pa~erston,January 5,1847. 
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Tunisian situation had undergone, and although Turkish 

rights were more and more threatened by the initiatives 

taken by the Bey and France, he had to resign himself 

to upholding a policy which aimed at avoiding a Medi­

terranean conflict more than at giving to the Tunisian 

problem a tfTUrkish solution". 

6. Great Britain and French predominance in Tunis. 

Ahmed Bey's visit to Paris showed the improbability 

of a speedy settlement of his differences with the Porte, 

and indicated the beginning of a new phase of British 

policy in Tunis: whatever intentions Palmers ton had 

nourished when he had resumed his Ministerial functions, 

he had now to retreat to a policy of waiting in the 

Regency, where French influence was reaching a climax. 

But while they temporarily limited their ambitions to 

the mere maintenance of the political and diplomatic 

conditions then prevailing, the British Government gave 

up none of the positions which they had theoretically 

upheld for ten years with regard to Tunisian dependence 

vis a vis the porte; all could be saved in the future 

provided Tunis could avoid any crisis which was likely 

to imperil her existence and bring foreign domination 

upon her. 
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7. After his return to Tunis, the Bey had tried to 

discuss with Reade and to explain the difficulties he 

had met with during his visit in France; but the Consul, 

strictly abiding by palmerston's instructions, had 

persistently declined entering into any argument on 

that subject. Ahmed Bey's anxiety and regrets were 

undoubtedly sincere: his leaning towards Great Britain 

was based upon his conviction that she was not looking 

for any political advantage in Tunis; if on the other 

hand he was deprived of British good will, his whole 

diplomatic system would fall to pieces: faced with a 

still threatening Turkey, he could no longer rely upon 

British support, but would have to put himself entirely 

in French hands, a situation which involved serious 

dangers. It is not surprising therefore that the Bey 

should have multiplied his adVances for a reconcilia­

tion with Palmerston. At the beginning of February 

1847 one of his familiars expressed his concern at 

Reade's reserved attitude; his coldness had crea.ted 

"a painf'ul impression"; the Court was now convinced 

t'hat France had a.dVised the Bey to go to France in 

order to "ruin the Bey's relations with the Sultan and 

compromise Him with England." The Bey admitted "that 

the voyage had more than failed in its object; that 

had he foreseen the difficulties which have since arisen, 
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He would never have undertaken it. ttl 

Palmers ton considered that the ground was now 

sure for resuming friendly relations with the Bey and 

that further rigour was only likely to throw him back 

under French influence. He accordingly instructed 

Reade to intimate privately to the Bey that "a suitable 

expression of regret at what has happened, made person­

ally by His Highness to you, would be accepted by Her 

Majesty's government as satisfactory for the want of 

respect shown by the Bey to the British government. tt2 

The Bey responded to palmerston's offer with a readiness 

which, Reade wrote, "surpass all my expectations". He 

sent to Palmerston a letter in which he apologized for 

his having given up his visit to England "we trust, he 

concluded, that the Queen's Great and Illustrious 

Majesty will accept our excuses ••• we anxiously add to 

Your Lordship that our not having proceeded to England 

has caused us both grief and regret ••• our friendship 

and respect towards Your great government are UDalterable."3 

The incident being thus happily ended, Palmers ton assured 

the Bey of the friendly feelings of the British Govern-

ment and promised him "to support by amicable representations 

1. PO 1:02 27. Reade to stanley, February 9, 1847. 
2. ibid. palmerston to Reade, March 8, 1847. 
3. ibid. The Bey to Palmerston, March 29, 1847. 
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at constantinople ~his~ just pretensions in regard to 

any matters in which ~he-l may be interested" with 

this reservation that the Bey should evince "due consi­

deration and respect for the person and authority of 

the Sultan",l a formula which was vague enough to save 

Turkish rights in TUnis without committing the Foreign 

Oftice to any precise policy. 

8. The relations between the Bey and the Sultan, as 

matters stood in 1847, did not allow more than remote 

hopes of a satisfactory solution. The Bey had too 

many occasions for verifying the soundness of his 

appre~ensions regarding unfavourable Turkish dispositions 

towards him: news coming from Constantinople encouraged 

that state of mind, and there were, of course, in Tunis 

many people who were interested in strengthening his 

fears with regard to the alleged hostile intentions of 

the Pasha of Tripoli. palmerston endeavoured to allay 

these fears, endlessly renewed, and noticed that "this 

notion of a deSign on the part of the Sultan to attack 

Tunis has no other foundation whatever than in the 

desire of the French government to gain credit with 

him for protecting him from an attack which nobody 

intends to make."2 There wa.s some foundation in that 

1. ibid. palmerston to the Bey, }lay 1, 1847. 
2. FO 102 27. palmerston to Reade, JUne 4, 1847. 
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statement but the apprehensions nevertheless existed, and 

gave rise to open demonstrations of Franco Tunisian 

friendship and a political intimacy which made Reade 

uneasy. 

As a last resource the Consul contemplated once 

more establishing a stricter connection between the Bey 

and the Sultan. It would be, he wrote, the "only 

practical remedy against French intrigues in this 

country~ Let mutual cont'idence be created between the 

Suzerain and his vassal and the "very inSignificant" 

difficulties which divided them could be solved. The 

only serious difference between them was related to 

the problem of the nomination for life (but it was a 

fundamental one). It was to the interest of the porte, 

Reade added with optimism, to grant the Bey's wishes 

which would merely amount to confirming the status quo; 

such a concession was the condition of the settlement 

of the Tunisian question. l palmerston forwarded that 

incomplete approach to the problem to Cowley, for the 

information of the ottoman Government, but cowley (to 

whom Reade had written directly) had already got into 

touch with Readb,d)d Pasha and Aali Effendi on tha.t matter. 

The result of his conversations, as it was communicated 

1. Ibid. Reade to Palmerston, August 4, 1847. 
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in september 1847 to palmerston and Reade, was not in 

the least encouraging. The porte was deeply dissatis­

fied with the situation of the Regency and apparently 

"nothing but the certainty of Foreign intervention in , 

the Bey's favour ~prevented-1 the Sultan from vindi­

cating his claims on Tunis by all the means at his 

disposal." Reschid Pasha, however, sincerely wished 

for an agreement and suggested that the status of the 

Regency be assimilated to that of the Pashalik of Egypt: 

the porte would have recognized the hereditary right 

of succession in the Husseini dynasty, in return for 

which the Beys would have paid an annual tribute and 

would have accepted some restrictions to their auto­

nomy in their diplomacy and administration. The Bey's 

interest, cowley thought, was to make some sacrifices 

in return for the security whichr he would gain by the 

agreement: his concessions regarding the tribute· and 

his external and internal autonomy would be largely 

counter-balanced by the support Tunis would receive 

from the porte, which would free the Bey from French 

protection and tiltelage. l That offer was no improve-

ment indeed it compared with Reschid pasha's memoran­

dum of 1846: the Porte did not show more understanding 

1. Fe 102 27. Lord oowley to Reade, september 27, 1847. 



J 

-193-

than before and was but too prone to compare her 

"granting" a right which the Beys had actually exercised 

for nearly 150 years with her demanding serious con-

cessions which Ahmed Bey had persistently shrunk 

from accepting. palmerston realized that such conditions 

were not likely to bring about a fruitful discussion 

and he abstained from mentioning Cowley's memorandum 

in his correspondance with Reade; the Consul himself 

maintained the same attitude of reserve in his relations 

with the Bey.l 

9. French influence in Tunis was stronger than it had 

ever been before. It is very likely that the Bey 

never relied upon French policy with full " confidence, 

but France was the only power to indulge his vanity as 

well as to give him strong political support. Around 

him the "French party" prevaile,d over any other influence 

which was partly due to the ascendency de Lagau exer04sed 

over the omnipotent minister Uahmud Ben Uad who had 

absolute control over the Bey's finances. The celebra-

tion of the feast of saint Philippe by gun salute as 

1. palmerston's reserve did not however prevent him from 
advising the porte to be carefUl in a possible 
arrangement with Tunis "how far it goes in giving 
the Bey permission to conclude Treaties with Foreign 
powers, because the right of making Treaties is 
generally considered as a test of independent sov­
ereignty." (FO 78 676. palmerston to cowley, 
November 3, 1847.) 
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well as the creation of a bank in Tunis was looked upon 

by Reade as the visible signs of the French penetration 

against which he would have readily advocated a more 

active British policy: as far as he was concerned he 

never missed any opportunity of counteracting what he 

considered as French intrigues, and the rivalry between 

the consuls of France and Great Britain appeared in the 

very family conflicts of the ~en AYads, the father 

being a supporter of British policy while the son 

sided (as we have seen) with the French. palmerston, 

however, did not show himself eager to be involved in 

the imbroglio of home affairs in TUnis and refrained 

from interfering when British interests were not 

directly threatened. So much 60 that when Reade 

suggested strengthening Mohamed ben AYad's personal 

position in the Bey's vouncil, in order to check the 

disastrous influence of Mabmud ben AYad and of his 

French advisers to whose influence he attributed the 

speedy deterioration of Tunisian finances and economy, 

Palmerston appeared rather reluctant and evinced 

scepticism about the possibility of bringing about a 

deep change in the Bey's policy: "You should endeavour 

to induce the Bey of Tunis to see the elder Ben AYad, 

but you should not make this request a matter of 

importance, because after all it is not likely that a 
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single conversation with that person would co~teract 

the other influences which are daily brought to bear 

upon the Bey.tt l 

The revolution of February 1848 seemed to justity 

Palmerston's cautious policy as the change of regime 

in France very naturally created some disturbance in 

French foreign policy and in Franco-Tunisian relations: 

the Bey was induced to entertain doubts about the 

continuity of French support, while the Ministere des 

" Affaires Etrangeres was hesitating as to what ib was 

to do in TUnis. 2 De Lagauts recall seemed to indicate 

a desire to end the twenty years' old struggle for 

influence in Tunis. Feeling his isolation and fearing 

that in case fresh difficulties arose with the Porte 

he would be deprived of the usual prench military 

support, the Bey followed more readily the suggestions 

he received from British quarters, and the authority 

of Reade (whose personal prestige had remained high) 

was of course strengthened. At the beginning of 1849 

the Bey at last decided to send to Constantinople the 

customary presents, a course which ~eade had strongly 

and more than once advised him to adopt; Reade was 

1. PO 102 27. palmerston to Reade, November 10, 1847. 
2. see Flournoy, pp. 129-133 for a similar decline 

of prench influence in Morocco after 1848. 
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much gratified by the Bey's return "towards the policy 

constantly recommended by Her Majesty's Government."l 

But that belated manifestation of good will may be 

attributed principally to rather obscure manoeuvres 

which were taking place at Constantinople and satis­

factorily explained Ahmed Bey's propitiatory gesture 

and recourse to British help. On several occasions 

the Bey had been pressed by the Pasha of Tripoli and 

Abbas Pasha of Egypt to make a visit to the Sultan in 

constantinople in order to settle definitely his rela­

tions with the porte: the travel and the meeting of 

tt two such men as Su! tan Abd el Me jid and Ahmed Pasha 

of TunisM were described to him in bright and attractive 

colours; but the Bey was obviously not eager to fall 

into the sultan's hands, specially after the cold wel­

come which had just been given to his Envoy and his 

presents. 2 

Stratford canning echoed the porte's attempts to 

persuade "the Bey of Tunis to give up his pretensions 

to independence and to place his government more com­

pletely under the authority of the Sultan", and reported 

that Reschid Pasha had sounded him about British 

1. FO 102 34. Reade to Palmerston, JUne 18, 1849. 
2. Ibid. Ferriere to Palmerston, October 21, 1849. 
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disposi tions "to countenance and favour such an attempt 

with the view principally of withdrawing Tunis from 

the immediate operation of French influence". The Porte 

may have thought of uniting the pashaliks of Tripoli 

and Tunis "as an inducement for the Bey of Tunis to 

comply with the sultan's well known desire to bring him 

more avowedly under his direct authority.ttl Palmerston's 

answer was however discouraging: he strongly advised 

the porte to "accept with cordiality the Bey's prot'ess­

ions of loyaltY" and to refrain from any scheme which 

was likely in the long run to strengthen French influence 

in North Africa and lessen the Sultan's own authority 

without making the Bey "independent of French influence, 
c:\. 

or able to cope with French intrigue of more disposed 

than hitherto to cling to the Sultan." "The close 

neighbourhood of the superior French power in Algeria 

must inevitably enable the French government to exercise 

considerable influence upon the person who is placed 

at the head of the Tunisian Regency.,,2 

10. New trends in British Poliey (1849-1851). 

palmerston thus admitted the existence in Tunis of 

a paramount French influence. It was at this juncture 

1. PO 78 777. stratford Canning to Palmerston, JUly 4 
and 19, 1849. 

2. FO 78 770. palmerston to Stratford Oanning, August 
20, 1849. 
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that Reade died in Tunis (August l849) after having 

devoted more than twenty years of his life to a 

tenacious struggle against the expansion of French 

influence: British policy had not been completely 

successfUl, but his personal position, was unrivalled 

in the Regency, and the regrets the Bey expressed as 

well as the uncommon honours he paid to Reade's remains 

proved that British prestige at least had not diminished. 

The arrival of a new Consul less involved in the local 

imbroglio and conflict with the French representative, 

provided an opportunity for taking a fresh view of 

Tunisian problems. 

11. The instructions which were given to the new Consul, 

Sir Edward Baynes, emphasized the traditional themes of 

British policy in Tunis. The Bey, though enjoying a 

large share of independence in the administration and 

Foreign Relations, was a va.ssal of the Sultan and could 

not be considered as a sovereign prince: Baynes was 

not therefore accredited to him by a letter from the 

Queen (as had been done for Reade "from inadvertance 

or misconception" of the Bey's international situation) 

but only by a letter from palmerston •. The Bey had 

formed apprehensions about the aims of 7rench and above 

all ottoman policy: For that situation the French were 

largely responsible and they had forced upon him 
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protection "against dangers which had no real existence". 

Baynes' duty would be to allay those fears and to con­

vince Ahmed Bey that "TUnis is more likely to continue 

to enjoy its present state of existence by remaining 

an integral part of the Tu.rkish empire than if the Bey 

were to throw off his nominal allegiance to the sultan." 

The porte's intentions towards him were friendly and in 

case of need the BeY could rely upon the good offices 

of Great Britain. As for his attitude towards France, 

the Bey should evince prudence but should be ready to 

resist unjust demands. These instructions as a whole 

brought no new element into British policy, which had 

not ~undamentally changed since French activity had 

compelled the Foreign Office to give up any immediate 

prospect of a "Turkish solution". 

The innovations began when Palmerston, scratinizing 

the problem of Tunisian administration, advocated the 

introduction of such internal improvements as the 

situation of the Regency required: "The Bey would do 

well, he said, by impartially administe.ing the govern­

ment to remove from His people all occasions for having 

recourse to foreign protection and He should discoun­

tenance and prevent acts of harshness or extortion on 

the part of his local governors or subordinate authority 

by whicb the people are oppressed and made discontented." 
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The problem of reform was thus tackled indirectly as 

an additional means of preserving the Regency from 

succumbing to external pressure. But in 1850 that 

"new policy" was only sketched: Baynes was to show 

much restraint; he was not to try to dictate nor to 

obtrude his advice it the Bey did not evince the dis­

position to seek it. In any case British policy towards 

Tunis was "open and straight forward": Great Britain 

did not aspire "to bid against others tor influence" 

and she looked for "no selfish interests of her own." 

The main object she had in view in Tunis was to con­

tribute "as far as she is allowed by the Tunisian 

government to do so, towards maintaining that govern­

ment in its present state of political existence." 

Those considerations can be accepted as a fair and 

genuine description of the ways and aims of British 

Policy in Tunis at that time. l 

12. As' it WaS easy to foresee, Baynes~from the very 

beginning,had to deal with the external problems which 

were the most urgent in Tunis. The new Consul happened 

to find in the Archives of the Consulate the memorandum 

which cowley had drawn up in 1847: still rather unex­

perienced in Tunisian questions, Baynes thought that 

1. PO 102 37. Palmerston to Baynes, February 11, 1850. 
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those proposals, which had not been acted upon by Reade 

at the time, could be used for bringing about "an 

amicable and definitive settlement" of the relations 

between the Bey and the Su! tan. 1 palmerston knew the 

question too well to entertain illusions about the 

chances of Baynes succeeding in his enterprise: he 

accordingly authorized Baynes to investigate the matter 

but advised him to exert the utmost prudence in order 

not to "excite apprehensions in the mind of the Bey.tt2 

In actual fact, a few months later}Baynes recognised 

that "fram local as well as external causes there 

exists at present no reasonable prospect of His Highness' 

voluntary concurrence in an arrangement of the character 

described by Lord Oowley.tf3 The only workable policy 

remained 'he "minimum policy" which palmerston had 

defined in 1850. The confusion which continued to 

surround the relations between the Bey and the Sultan 

was to revive for a time the naval and diplomatic 

demonstrations which had occurred annually during the 

July Monarchy. 

In July 1850 the tradition of the French naval 

visits was resumed: the rumoured presence of an ottoman 

1. FO 102 37. Baynes to Addington, May 18, 1850. 
2. Ibid. Palmerston to Baynes, June 12, 1850. 
3. Fa 102 40. Baynes to palmers ton, January 31, 1851. 
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fleet in the Egean sea and its alleged instructions to 

come to Tunis were once more the official reasons for 

that demonstration. The Bey did not evince much 

surprise and Baynes was convinced that he had been 

informed of and had approved beforehand that protecting 

measure. 1 Faced with this resumption by the Second 

Republic of Louis Philippe's policy, Palmerston resorted 

to the usual representations in Paris: "This report, 

he wrote to Normanby, seems to be a revival of the 

annual invention by means of which the French Government 

used for several years to frighten the Bey of Tunis with 

an unfounded report of hostile designs towards Him on 

the part of the Turkish Government. n2 The French Fleet 

left Tunis in september 1850. The French explanations 

did not appear to convince the Foreign Office better 

than those which had been given from 1835 to 1847 in 

similar circumstances; but the British were more inter­

ested by the account which Theis, the French consul in 

Tunis, gave to Baynes in October 1850 of French policy 

in the Regency: from what he said it clearly emerged 

that France after two years of hesitation had taken up 

again her traditional policy: "France considered the 

1. FO 102 37. Baynes to Palmerston, JUly 26, 1850. 
2. FO 27 865. palmerston to Normanby, August 3, 1850. 
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suzerainty of the porte as nominal and the obligations 

of the Bey towards the Sultan as confined to occasional 

complimentary presents. So much indeed that were the 

Turkish government to attempt enforcing more, the 

ottoman armaments would be met by those of France. ttl 

In the following year thet'I'urkish threettt seemed 

to have more weight: vexatious measures (of a fiscal 

nature) taken against TUnisians in Tripoli seemed to 

indicate a renewal of bad feelings and were viewed in 

Tunis as the prelude to stronger action, an interpret­

ation which was strengthened by the usual rumours 

about military preparations. 2 Although he felt 

assured that this news was "no doubt as devoid of 

foundation as similar reports in past years have been" 

Palmers ton sent to Stratford canning a despatch the 

acrimony of which may be partly ascribed to the 

deceptions which had been met with during the previous 

years in the policy of reforming the ottoman Empire. 

Canning was instructed "to represent to the Turkish 

ministers how much more it would be for the interest 

of the Sultan if the Turkish Government would direct 

their earnest endeavours to developing to the utmost 

1. FO 102 37. Baynes to Addington, october 24, 1850. 
2. FO 102 40. Baynes to palmers ton, November 12, 1851. 
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the resources of the vast regions which are subject to 

the direct rule of the Sultan, instead of raising in 

the dependencies of the Turkish Empire needless ques-

tions as to eontroverted matters, the discussion of 

which can lead to no good but on the contrary must tend 

to impair rather than to confirm the authority of the 

Sul tan in the countries to which such questions relate. t. 

And Palmers ton concluded rather ironically that "if by 

internal improvements the Turkish government was strong 

at home, it would more effectually deal with the ques­

tions on the remote confine~ of the Empire."l The 

renewed, assurances given by the Porte did not succeed 

in allaying the uneasiness of the Foreign Office, and 

Granville in January 1852 again asked Canning to "urge 

the porte not only to abstain from any proceedings 

calculated to cause disquietude to the Bey ••• but to 

go further and encourage the Bey, by the most friendly 

assurances to look to ~he '~'Sul tan. • •• rather than to 

Foreign powers for the security of his position at 

TuniS.·2 Granville at the same time did not fail to 

urge the Bey to give up any thought of independence 

and to strengthen his relations with the porte:3 but 

1. FO 78 851. Palmerston to Stratford Canning,November 
13, 1851. 

2. PO 78 888'. Granville to stratford Canning January 12, 
1852. 

3. FO 102 42. Granville to Baynes. January 12, 1852. 
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these encouragements, as well as the Bey's promises 

had little actual effect on the relations between the 

Bey and the Sultan. 

13. Perhaps more important, a.t least for their future 

bearing, than these traditional diploma.tic steps, were 

the first interventions which aimed at stopping the 

economic ruin and the internal decay which, a.s early 

as 1850, threatened the very existence of the Regency. 

That new aspect of British policy happened to be a 

part of the struggle against French influence as the 

chief minister Ben ,Ayad whom Reade and after him Baynes 

regarded as the cause of the evil was generally held 

to be a supporter of French policy in Tunis. Ahmed 

Bey's Military efforts had proved to be too heavy 

for Tunisian resources which had not stopped shrinking 

since the beginning of the century for economical and 

political reasons. The subsequent over taxation of 

the country which an obsolete and inadequate financial 

system made even more unbearable, was therefore at the 

root of the difficuJ.ties: the mismanagement of the 

finances, the malversations of the administrators (and 

specially of Ben AYad who had a large share of res­

ponsibilities, and profits in the embezzlements) soon 

brought the country to the verge of bankruptcy. Reade 

as early as 1847 had exposed the danger, very likely 
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because his fear of French influence had awakened him 

to the shortcomings of Ben AYad1 s administration. His 

unsuccessful opposition to a projected Tunisian Bank 

(which was on the contrary supported by Ben AYad and 

the French) arose from his political suspicions. But 

in 1850 the threa.t of Tunisian bankruptcy became 

serious enough to show the expediency of advising the 

Bey to make some urgent internal reforms: administra-

tive improvements became one of the basic conditions 

for the maintenance of TUnisian autonomy. In this 

respect Palmerston's request that the Governor of 

Sfax should receive for the future a fixed salary in 

order to put an end to his exactions, was the first 

indication of the new trends which were later to 

guide British policy (March 1850): palmerston'e move, 

it must be added, largely originated in his desire · to 

protect British traders against the arbitrary pro­

ceedings on the part of the local authorities in Sfax. l 

A few months later Baynes firmly opposed the plan 

for a loan: money was to be provided by Eugene Pastre 

an important business man of Marseilles, and here again 

Baynes' attitude was governed by a twofold consideration: 

1. FO 102 37. Palmerston to Baynes, March 22, 1850. 
The archives give no further indication about 
that affair. 
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he was genuinely convinced that it was in the Bey's 

interest to abandon a very onerous transaction; but as 
, 

a British consul he could not but desire the failure 

of a saheme which would have given the French an actual 

predominance in Tunisian external tra.de to the detri-

ment of British interests (the projected loan of 

15,000,000 was to be repaid in 5 years; the Bey granted 

as a guarantee permits for the exportation of Tunisian 

Oil, which amounted to giving the French the complete 

monopoly of the oil trade).l As the discussion went 
J 

on, Baynes was le1d to bring up the Commercial Con-

vention of 1838 with Turkey as an obstacle to the 

projected transaction. The Bey preferred to give up 

the negociations rather than tackle again that deli­

cate question. But once more the problem of extending 

the convention to the Regency claimed the attention 

of the Foreign Office: Baynes wondered "whether the 

time had not arrived for insisting on the abolition of 

all monopolies and permits of exportation ••• contrary 

to the provisions of the convention of Balta Liman."2 

Although it could appear as a mere renewal of 

Palmerston's demand in 1840, the manoeuvre had a very 

1. Ibid, Baynes to Palmers ton, October 3, 1850. 
2. PO 102 37. Baynes, October 3, 1850. 
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dtrrerent meaning: in 1840 Pa1merston's move had a 

purely political bearing and aimed at asserting TUrkish 

sovereignty over Tunis. In 1850 Baynes and Pa~merston 

thought more or the economic side or the question: they 

wanted to protect British commercial interests which 

monopolies and excessive taxa.tion threatened to impair, 

and they were convinced that rree trade would benerit 
1 

the economic progress or the Regency. That material 

strengthening, palmerston and Baynes thought., .. would 

check French inrluence and prevent dangerous projects 

like the loan or 1850. from being carried out. But 

the Bey once more ofrered resistance: the more so as 

the French government were giving him their support 

and denying that the Treaty of 1838 could be auto-

matically enforced in Tunis. Baynes' pressure however 

was so strong that Ahmed Bey had to propose a solution 

which spared him a political humiliation: instead of 

enforcing the Anglo Turkish Treaty ("if the British 

Government should insist on my accepting the Convention 

•••• I am a lost man, it is a question of life or 

death with me") he proposed to revise the existing 

Anglo-TUnisian treaties in order to lighten the custom 

1. Ibid. Palmerston to Baynes, November 2 and 
December 6, 1850. 
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duties and suppress some of the monopolies. l Palmer­

ston assurred that be was ready "to leave in abeyance 

those political questions the agitation of which seems 

to be so disagreeable to the Bey" and accepted the 

negociation as it was proposed by Ahmed Bey.2 Ahmed 

Bey then pro~ised that he would propose a project for 

the reform of finances and custom duties which would 

meet British demands: but in spite of renewed repre­

sentations during the year 1851, nothing was done. The 

Tunisian government needed money so much that they 

could not give up any of their financial resources. 

In the end the Bey's dilatory tactics were again success-

ful: his illness in 1852, and the political difficulties 

it created, the financial diester which followed Ben 

AYad's flight to France, and the worsening ot Oriental 

affairs in 1852, induced the Foreign Office to postpone 

further discussions on the commercial and economic 

problems. 3 

Nevertheless British policy was later to give 

more and more attention to these questions. After 1851 

the Foreign Office emphasised at every possible oppor­

tunity the need for redress and reform in the 

1. Fe 102 40. Baynes to Pal.merston, February 28,1851. 
2. Ibid. Palmers ton to Baynes, March 31, 1851. 
3. FO 102 44. Malmesbury to Baynes, January 6, 1853 • 
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administration. When Baynes reported the disturbances 

which had occurred in the Djerid after fiscal ext or-

tions: these events answered palmerston, "ought to be 

looked upon by the Bey as practical proofs of the 

impolicy of permitting misgovernment in the Regency."l 

When the consul alluded to the emigration of some 

tribes to Algeria or Tripoli; these evils and incon-

veniences "are the natural and necess ary fruits of a 

bad and vexatious administration.,,2 When trouble 

arose with France after incidents caused by unruly 

frontier tribes: the Bey ought to "put B stop to these 

outrages within the limits of the territory which he 

claims as belonging to Tunis, as otherwise he 

furnishes the French with an excuse for encroachment 

on that territory~3 

The question of the succession to the\~~ ;\a~d of 
Tunisian intervention in crimean war ~(1852-1855) 

14. A sudden illness which, for a time, appeared 

seriouslj to endanger the Bey's life, unexpectedly 

broagh~ ~o the fore the problem of the succession to 
\\.~, \\ t ~ '\ u 

the Bey: the Powers were accoI'dlngly obliged to re-

consider the international pOSition of the Regency, 

1. 
2. 
3. 

Ibid. 
Ibid. 
Ibid. 

Palmerston to Baynes, April 9, 1851. 
July 5, 1851. 
October 27, 1851. 
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no longer from a theoretical point of view, but in a 

very precise connection. The difficulty had scarcely 

been overcome when the outbreak of the ~urco-Russian 

war revived the controversy over the conditions and 

limits of the Bey's dependency. 

In July 1852 the Bey ha.d a stroke of apoplexy; 

as a consequence he was partly paralyzed and on the 

verge of death for nearly one year. The successor to 

the throne was Sid1 Mohammed Bey, Ahmed Bey's cousin 

who held the title of Bey du Camp. Baynes was never­

theless afraid lest troubles should occur in the 

Regency and attempts should be made to seat Mohammed 

e1 Amin, the Bey's young brother, on the Throne.l. The 

Foreign Office considered that precautionary measures 

were obviously needed and asked for assurances from 

those two govermnents which might be likely to take 

advantage of succession difficulties. In August 1852 

Malmesbury took the necessary steps in Paris and Con­

stantinople: in both places he suggested a declaration 

that the status quo would be maintained in Tunis and 

that no interference was contemplated "with the 
2 ordinary succession in the Regency." The answers were 

1. FO 102 42. Baynes to Malmesbury, August 31,1852. 
2. FO 78 889. Malmesbury to Rose, August ~6, . 1852. 
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wholly satisfactory, with the customary reservations 

both in Paris ("provided the porte makes no attempt to 

resume its direct authority,,)l and Constantinople 

(ttThe porte would observe the status quo ••• but ••• she 

could not shut her eyes to her rights theren )2: as a 

further measure of precaution the Foreign Office asked 

the Admiralty- to keep an eye on :J,.'unisia.n affairs. 

In the meantime Baynes discreetly sounded Mohammed 

Bey, the heir apparent, about his political feelings; 

he soon discovered that he was inclined towards an 

agreement with the porte, on condition that the porte 

would recognize the hereditary rights of the Husseinis 

and the privileges they had enjoyed for nearly 150 

years. Baynes suggested that the Foreign Office should 

take the opportunity to resume negociations with the 

Porte on the basis of the Cowley memorandum. 3 Malmesbury 

agreed to the proposal and instructed Rose to try and 

ascertain the conditions on which the porte might be 

willing to effect an understanding with the successor 

to the present Bey of Tunis. 4 Unhappily the Porte 

had already decided to send a Commissary to Tunis "with 

1. FO 102 42. Malmesbury to Baynes, september 28,1852. 
2. FO 78 894 Rose to Malmesbury, September 13, 1852. 
3. FO 102 42 Baynes to Malrnesbury, October 1.0,1852. 
4. PO 78 889. Malmesbury to Rose November 26, 1852. 
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instructions to provide for the succession to the 

government of that country taking place in the regular 

line ... l Rose who was just reporting the Sultan's 

"hankering after sovereignty instead of Suzerainty in 

Tunis" did not feel sanguine about a step which was 

bound to bring a.bout French reactions: La Valette 

indeed made immediate representations at the Porte and 

Paris spoke of sending a Fleet into Tunisian waters. 2 

At the beginning of December 1852 the Turkish envoy 

left constantinople, rather suddenly: there had been 

rumours (which proved false) that the Bey had died and 

obviously the porte wished to cut the discussion short. 

The mission, however, was a complete failure: the Bey 

took good care to guard the envoy at Sight, and he was 

even unable to come into contact with Baynes before he 

sailed back to Constantinople. 3 

15. The three Powers had so far agreed that they 

intended to maintain the status quo in case Ahmed Bey 

died in Tunis. But as soon as they tried to proceed 

further and to explain what they meant by "sta,tus quo" 

the basic disagreements between French and ottoman 

conceptions appeared. The porte contended that formulas 

1. , Fe 78 895. Rose to Malmesbury November 17,1852. 
2. Ibid, November 25, 1852. 
3. FO 102 42. Baynes to Malmesbury, December 26,1852. 
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which after 150 years of TUnisis.n autonomy were empty of 

meaning retained their full value and meant precise 

obligations for the Bey. The French government inferred 

from his actual autonomy and from ~ ni,illl .... Turkish 

failures since 1836 that the Bey, in spite of an anti­

quated etiquette, was really an independent sovereigtk 

La Valette laid bare the root of the problem when he 

artlessly remarked that the new Bey was essentially 

"elected" by the "Notables de Tunis" (he meant the 

Divan whic~in 1850 no longer played an effective part 

in ~he designation): thus implying that the Sultan~s 

firman of investiture was a mere matter of torm. l On 

the contrary the Ottoman Government, taking advantage 

of the investiture the Sultan granted to the newly 

"elected Bey", asserted that the Sultan held an absolute 

right of veto and could withhold his consent fram any 

"candidate" whom he thought "a bad subject and unfit 

for the government. tt2 The French Government could not 

tolerate that theory (which was thoroughly contra­

dicted by the precedents): their answer was the sending 

of two war ships to Tunis. Rose himself remarked that 

Turkish pretensions were "of course departures from the 

1. Fe 78 895. Rose to Malmesbury, November 25,1852. 
2. FO 78 895. Rose to Malmesbury, December 18, 1852. 
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status quo", and Russell at the same time called them 

obsolete and useless. l But in all fairness the Ottoman 

government could have rightly answered that if they 

were given only the right to approve a choice made in 

Tunis without their concurrence, their "suzerainty" 

was reduced to nearly nothing. There was no way of 

escape from the difficulty: but the Foreign Office 

felt less prepared than ever to allow the Porte a free 

hand, as Anglo French co-operation was essential to 

meet the oriental crisls. 2 

Confronted with that diplomatic imbroglio Rose 

came to a logical conclusion, which the Foreign Office 

had been apparently unable to draw itself since the 

beginning of the Tunisian difficulties in 1835: "The 

difficulty as to Tunis ••• is the number of status quos 

there. The porte has one and that is that her sover-

eignty although dormant remains unimpaired ••• Then there 

is the French status quo which- •• is that the notables 

of Tunis have the right to nominate the Bey ••• and that 

the Sultan ~ confirm that nomination. Then there is 

another status quo and that is the pure hereditary 

succession. " And Rose added that no lasting solution 

1. FO 78 924. Russell to Rose, January alP 1853. 
2. see in Flournay, pp. 147-148, the Anglo French 

co-operation for amicably settling the Moroccan 
question in 1852 and 1853. 
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could ever be found for Tunis tfti1.1 the real status 

quo be settled and known.tf~ Baynes tried to answer 

Rose's preoccupations and to give a full account of 

the international position of the ~egency: it was 

the first attempt of' the kind, on the British side, 

since 1835. At the end of' his very important report 

Baynes concluded that t'the real status quo of' Tunis is 

a virtual independence" and that conseq~ently !fit may 

be reasonably doubted that any ef'f'ort of British 

diplomacy could bring about an amicable arrangement 

by which the political condition of' the virtually 

inde~endent Beylek of' Tunis could be assimilated to that 

a>t '- other great vassals of the Porte." With that 

object in view Baynes hoped against hope that the porte 

would "desist from pretensions which, even were they 

clearly incontestible, she is manifestly unable to 

enforce" and "accept frankly and definitively a 

suzerainty which would lea.ve to the vassal state the 

full power of self government which it now exercises.,,2 

Mohammed Bey seemed ready to accept an agreement con­

cluded on these conditions: but would the Porte agree 

to them? And if it did could it be expected that, 

1. FO 78 928. Rose to Malmesbury, January 4,1853. 
2. FO 102 44. Baynes to Clarendon, April 20, 1853. 
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invested with such a shadowy suzerainty, it could afford 

efficiently to support the ~egency? The very definition 

of the status quo did not by itself provide a solution 

for the TUnisian problem which arose from the irrecon­

cilable opposition of French, Turkish and English views, 

and not from the obscurity of the status quo. But it 

is true that by awakening to consciousness of the 

problem; the Foreign Office had at least an opportunity 

to change a policy which it had adhered to for twenty 

years ilj. spite of the contradictions it involved. 

16. oriental affairs created a sUdden diversion which 

was nevertheless to lead back to the same problem, 

considered from another angle. During the spring of 

1853 the Porte expressea. its surprise tha.t the Bey had 

ma.de no offer of assistance to the Sultan with refer­

ence to the possibility of Turkey being forced into 

hostilities with Russia. The Bey answeeed that he was 

ready to send warships and also troops if required, 

in case war occurred: obviously he was not a"arse to 

making conciliatory gestures as long as his autonomy 

was not questioned. l It is difficult to estimate how 

sincere was the Bey's personal friendliness towards the 

1. Ibid, May 30, 1853. 
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porte: the military preparations proceeded rather 
1 slowly but the Government could argue serious financial 

difficulties as Ben Ayad had just fled to France with a 

handsome part of the budget; Ben Ayad had scarcely 

reached Paris when he asked for and obtained French 

nationality; he thought that this step would secure him 

against subsequent Tunisian reprisals and was partly 

justified in the event. Pending a decision of the 

imperial government concerning the money stolen by Ben 

Ayad, the Tunisian contingent was being built up at a 

slow pace, and the French government did not miss the 

opportunity to evince their hostility to any kind of 

Tunisian intervention 'in a possible Russo TUrkish war. 

The French intervention at this juncture was 

characterized by a mixture of the confusion and lack 

of candour which was to be the special feature of 

Imperial diplomacy in the Tunisian question: As was 

to happen more than once, the policy officially advocated 

by the Ministere des Affaires Etrangeres was somewhat 

different from the policy the French Consul adopted on 

1. Baynes entertained doubts about the Bey's straight­
forwardness; but Ben Dhiaf thinks that the Bey 
sincerely desired to help the Sultan and sorely 
regretted his previous policy as regards his 
relations with the porte. 
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the spot, which suited more closely the traditional 

policy of French preponderance in Tunis. At the 

beginning of July 1853 the French Charge d'Affaires 

showed his dislike for the contemplated project: 

Clarendon instructed Cowley to make Representations to 

Drouyn de Lhuysj the Minister admitted that the Consul 

had "displayed too much zeal and ••• given too much 

importance to a trifling affair"; he nevertheless added 

that "if His Highness wished to assist the Sultan, he 

had better send him a sum of money than a crazy old 

ship, which would probably never reach Constantinople. ttl 

In actual fact French policy in Tunis followed a course 

very different from the soothing assurances given in 

Paris: Beclard's system of intimidation went on; he 

warned the Bey against a step which "would be an 

acknowleclgement of vassalage" destructive of all that 

France had affected during the last folirteen years 

towards establishing for the Beylek of Tunis a politi­

cal condition separate from the Porte. 2 The Foreign 

Office renewed its representations and tried to ascer­

tain what were the views of the French government with 

respect to the Bey of Tunis and his relations with the 

1. FO 27 972. cowley to Clarendon, August 18, 1853. 
2. FO 102 44. Baynes to Clarendon, August 18, 1853. 
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the porte. Drouynts answer was satisfactory on the face 

of it: France desired the maintenance of the status quo 

in Tunis; the Bey had acquired certain independent 

rights, but he had at the same time certain duties to 

perform towards the Sultan; the b'rench government "did 

not approve" Beclardts conduct in the matter of the 

assistance offered by the Bey to the Sultan. But when 

Cowley urged him to define more accurately the relations 

between the Bey and the Sultan, Drouyn maintained a 

disturbing reserve: He professed "ignorance of the 

relative positions of the Sultan and the Dey but he 

said that whatever that position might be, he wished 

it to be maintained." And his conclusion that the 

Bey's assistance was "rather a mark of friendship than 

an act of homage" revealed much regarding the true 

bent of French policy. 

It is difficult to accouht for the indifference 

the Foreib~ Office showed with regard to the Beyts 

letter of August 1853 in which he had asked for 

advice: that silence made Beclardts action easier, and 

it needed a second demand to remind Clarendon of the 

first one. The Bey was then informed that the British 

Government thought ttthat (he) ought to comply with 

the requisition of the Sultan" (January 12,1854)1 -

1. FO 102 46. Clarendon to Baynes, January 12,1854. 
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Ahmed Bey ha.d postponed his decision and was waiting for 

an answer: when he had it he proclaimed that he would 

send to the Sultan an assistance which would consist 

of ships and soldiers. l The Foreign Office was 

thoroughly pleased by the deCision; the Quai d'orray 

published in the Moniteur an article which gave a 

rather peculiar account of the events: the deciSion, 

it was alleged, had been taken after taking counsel 

with the French government. Indeed Drouyn could hardly 

offer an open opposition to the Bey's decision, as 

France did not officially acknowleo.ge the Bey's 

independence, and was then embarking upon a policy of 

intervention in favour of the Ottoman Empire, in which 

she endeavoured to gain British support2; at any rate 

the Minister tried to announce the decision in such a 

way 88 to manifest the extent of French influence in 

Tunis. 

British policy had scored an obvious success but 

its significance was limited, because the Bey's decision 

had not the political bearing the Foreign Office antici­

pated, and did not bring any lasting improvement into 

the relations between vassal and suzerain. On the 

1. Ibid. The Bey to Baynes, May 10, 1854. 
2. see Temperley, pp. 352-354, and 376-377. 
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contrary the internal consequences were rather unfor­

tunate:· 14,000 Tunisians were sent to Turkey and spent 

the war period in obscure garrison lire in Batum where 

they were decimated by epidemicsj ror that result the 

Bey's government exhausted their last resources and had 

to resort to financia.l expedients which were to hasten 

the ruin of the country, and ultimately bring about 

foreign intervention. l From that point of view the 

outlook was rather menacing when Ahmed Bey died (May 

30, 1866), a. few months before Baynes himself (July 23 

1866). Mohammed Bey's accession to the throne and 

consul Wood's apPOintment occurred at the very moment 

when the liquidation or the crimean war was most likely 

deeply to arfect the relations between the great Powwrs 

themselves, and their attitude with regard to the 

Oriental question. New individuals and new problems 

promised the beginning of a new phase in the history 

of the Tunisian question. 

conclusion. 
17. From 1830 to 1866 the Tunisian question had been 

for the Foreign Office essentially a diplomatic question, 

a.ffecting its Mediterranean policy and its relations 

1. P.R.X. gives an illuminating account of the Tunisian 
consequences of that Crimean expedition, but he is 
of course inclined to darken the picture and to 
exaggerate the Turkish (and Inglish) responsibili­
ties for the ruin of the Regency. 
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with France and TUrkey: the . internal problems did not 

at that stage deeply concern British policy, a.s more­

over British interests were on the whole rather limited, 

and in no way threatened by the local government -

That comparative indifference partly accounts for some 

misunderstandings with regard to the policy of the Beys 

or their relations with the Sultans. 

In the shaping of British policy, party consider­

ations did play some part, at least during the first 

ten years: when Aberdeen, and after him palmerston came 

into office, the views the tories or the liberals took 

of British policy towards France and the porte had a 

direct effect upon their attitude to Tunisian af'fairs. 

But gradually the Foreign Office worked out a policy, 

which was to remain but slightly altered until 1878, 

and was to be received as the traditional policy by all 

parties: Palmerston must be given the main credit for 

this result. British policy aimed at upholding and 

preserving the existence of the ~egency which was 

seriously threatened by the French settlement in 

Algiers and the Turkish occupation of .Tripoli: with 

this object the Foreign Office tried simultaneously 

to prevent a french seizure of the Beylek and to en­

courage an amicable adjustment of Tuniso-Turkish 

dif'ficul ties. 
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In its positive action British policy met with 

an utter failure; the main reasons for thts were the 

Bey's personal policy, his loaging for independence 

and his deeply rooted distrust of Turkish .policy (in 

which he was not completely mistaken), the use France 

made of these fears to strengthen her influence on 

Tunis, the stubbornness and stiffness of Turkish policy. 

But the Foreign Office by leaving the matter in the 

utmost confusion and clinging to unworka.b1e formulas, 

must bear a large part of the responsibility. As early 

as 1835 it was obvious that the "Turkish solution" 

could not be forced upon the Bey and the French govern­

ment without risking a Franco Turkish claah, in which 

Britain was likely to be ultimately involved; but 

palmerston himself recoiled from that eventuality, 

because he did not deem that the importance of the 

problem in itself justified him running such a riSk; 

the Tunisian problem merged into and in no way deter­

mined, British poliey towards France and Turkey. 

The Foreign Offiee had accordingly to be content 

with the negative side of its TuniSian policy. Aberdeen's 

holding of office only quickened that process. To save 

the Bey from an Algerian fate was none the less a 

complex matter: it involved unceasing interventions 

in Paris against the alleged French encroachments upon 
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Tunis, and an unremitting mediation to avert the devel­

opment of Mediterranean difficulties. We have seen 

how that diplomatic a.ction was gradually moved from 

Paris to constantinople. The result of twenty years' 

discussion was the constitution of a Tunisian status 

which, in 1855, was not much different from a real 

independence. As 8 matter of fact the Bey's inter­

national position had sUffered few changes since 1830, 

but in 1855 the Great Powers more or less recognized 

a state of things which France had been the first to 

assert in 1835. It was obvious in 1855 that neither 

England nor Turkey could any longer contemplate re­

sorting to force or even diplomatic pressure to intro­

duce such changes into Tunis as had occurred in 

Tripoli. Moreover the range of action was so 1im.ted 

that it was doubtful whether so emasculated a Turkish 

sovereignty, if it was even possible to proclaim it 

in Tunis, would prove useful for protecting the Regency 

of Tunis against the ambitions of the Great Powers. 

At any rate the Regency had suffered twenty years 

of diplomatic storm without collapsing. It is true 

that the indecision of French policy after 1848 had 

been a help for Great Britain. But in spite of French 

predominance, Britain kept her prestige in 'l.~niS: the 

assumption that she did not look for exclusive po1itiea1 
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domination there accounted for that unique moral sit­

Uation, and explained Ben Dhiaf" s f'la.ttering remarks: 

"De leur nature les Anglais s'inclinent devant tout ce 

qui est vrai, tout ce qui est juste ••• Ils n'ont pas 

d'autre ambition que de tlrer profit de leurs relations 

et de leurs rapports commerciaux. Ils n'ont aucune 

autre visee."l It was however becoming progressively 

more clear not only that Tunis was threatened 'by the 

French desire for expansion, but that the gradual 

deterioration of her own internal affairs was at 

least equally dangerous to her existence. The Foreign 

Office had begun to take some interest in the problem; 

it wa.s at that juncture that the end of the crimean 

war revived the already long-standing problem of the 

reform of the ottoman Empire, with which the Franco­

British entente in the east seemed about to grapple 

successtully. 

1. Ben Dhiaf, Sadok BeY, p. 92. 



II. A Policy of Reform (1856 - 1867) 

"certains gouvernements europeens 
ont cherche et cherchent encore a 
soulever ,les sujets de quelques 
Etats musulmans contre Itacceptation 
des institutions politiQues at 
administratives que leurs souverains 
vQudraient octroyer. tf 

( - Khaireddin 1867) 
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V. Wood and the policy of reforms in Tunis (1856-1860) 

The new political situation in Tunis. 

1. AS we have already remarked the Foreign Office 

had become aware of the importance of internal reforms 

long before 1856; but it was only t;hen that the ques­

tion came to the forefront - The crimean war had brought 

together France and England in the Mediterranean and 

had induced them to luake further efforts with a view to 

reach a lasting understanding in the East. The most 

conspicuous problem there was the neVi attempt to 

reform the Ottoman Empire. The pressure vnLich. the 

Powers had brought to bear upon the Porte since the 

Vienna negotiations (February 1855), had given rise to 

new developments in Turkey; they culminated in the 

promulgation of the Hatti Humayun (21 February 1856).1 

The Hatti.Humayun only provided a framework of reforms: 

the Sultan's good will was of course necessary for 

their completion; but it was essential that the tra­

ditional AnglO-French rivalry in the Near East should 

not hinder the process of modernisation - ~ Circular 

to this effect was sent by the Foreign Office to the 

1. Engelb.ardt: La Turquie et 18 Tanzimat, I, pp.123-J..39. 
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British Agents in the ottoman Empire (February 20, 1856); 

in the meantime the Quai d'orsay gave very similar 

instructions to the French Representatives. 1'he British 

circular expressed the confid,ent hope that cordiality 

and cooperation would exist between the Agents of the 

two Powers in order to support a policy which aimed at 

"the general improvement of the socia~ conditions of 

that mrmpire"; they should take care that the Sultan' s 

good will should not be impeded either by apathy or 

indifference on the part of his subordinate authorities. 

That sup:port, however, was to be Wlobtrusive, and the 

Bri tish Agents wel'le to abstain from "Wldue interference" 

and to limit themselves to advice or suggestion: "They 

have no right to insist upon the adoption of any 

particular line of conduct or to carry their remon­

strance to the length of menace tt •
l 

With regard to Tunis itself, Franco-British co­

operation seemed all the more easy to bring about as 

the French policy was officially following a new line, 

which could be reconciled with the traditional attitude 

of the Foreign Office: during the Conference of Vienna 

(APril 1855) Drouyn de Lhuys had gone so far as to 

assure Gortshakov that he was ready (il n'eprouvait 

1. FO 335 106 Circular FO,February 20, 1856. 
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"aucune difficulte ff ) to extend to Tunis the French ' 

guarantee of the lindependemce and terl"'i torial integrity 

of the ottoman Empire: 1 - Some years later Walewski 

told Cowley that there had been in point of fact a 

difference of opinion within the In~erial Government 

about Tunis in 1855, some ministers mpenly advising 

the Emperor ttto recognize in an explicit manner the 

Sovel"'eign rights of the Sultan over f:theJ Regency ... 2 

In the event the traditional policy pl"evailed in France, 

but French hesitations could have provided an oppor-

t uni ty for put ting an:. end to the Anglo-French rivalry 

in Tunis. And this may be the origin of the rumour 

that after the conclusion of the Paris Treaty "Lord 

Palmerston, M. Gladstone, Lord Russel~ .M. Disraeli and 

Lord Stratford de Redcliffe all said that now the 

possibility of a further French advance on Tunis was 

removed for ever. ttS 

2. While the diplomatic situation was undergoing 

these changes, the accession of'a new Bey and the 

nomination of two new consuls greatly strengthened the 

possibilities of reform in Tunis. contrary to Ahmed 

1. 

2. 
3. 

Accounts and Papers 1854-1855, Volume LV (pp.81-145) 
conference of the 26th of April 1855. 
FO 27 1260, cowley to Malmesbury, october 6, 1858. 
Broadley, The last punic war, II, 390. 
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Bey, who had endeavoured to imitate the European coun­

tries with eagerness, if not always with discrimination; 

Mohrumaed Bey (1855-1859) seemed to be more respectful 

of tradition, and his rule promised to be more strictly 

It arab t' and tlmoslem". He was under the influence of 

the Ulema who wished to recover the influence they had 

lost under his predecessor. l The new Bey entertained 

suspicions about Aruned Bey's innovations; Baynes had 

noticed as early as 1852 that he was reluctant to endorse 

Aruned Bey's foreign policy, and inclined to accept an 

agreement with the Sultan; Mohammed Bey distrusted 

the European consuls and felt less confident than his 

predecessor that European influence would be beneficial 

to his country;2 one of the first acts after his 

accession had been to instruct Khaireddin, then in 

Paris, to break 01'1' the negotiations for a loan. 

From all these signs one might have expected a 

period of reaction against his predecessor's policy. 

Yet the new Bey felt that his country needed deep 

internal reforms, and was indeed ready to introduce 

them, on condition that these refoflns would conform to 

the religious, social and political traditions of Tunis: 

1. FO 102 53, Wood to Clarendon, July 6, 1857. 
2. P. Daumas, Quatre ans a 'runis, p. 180. 
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he meant to maintain hbs absolute authority; a.nd in no 

way shared the liberal aspirations of some of his 

advisers (for instance Ben Dhiaf who resented his auto­

cratic character). He had never thought of adopting 

the Hatti Humayun lest it should weaken his external 

position, and because he did not like its liberal 

1'lavour. He rather intended to adopt a limited and 

practical programme of improvements aiming at re-estab­

lishing the fotmler economic prosperity, encouraging 

agriculture and eliminating the most obvious injustices 

of the fiscal and administrative organisation. The 

first two years of his reign were marked by very 

promising results: alleviation of taxation, reform of 

the achour (tithe), creation of the poll tax - reduction 

of the military establishment, and a struggle against 

the extortions of the Governors. It looked as i1' 

the new Bey was to fulfil the programme he had set 

himself: "Assurer les vaux despeuples qui se groupent 

aut our de lui et combattre le mal qui les menacett • l 

These noble aspirations could not but meet with 

a sympathetic response at a time when the newly apPOinted 

!t'rench and British consuls shared a sincere enthusiasm 

1. Edict of Shawal 1272 (June-July 1856) quoted by 
"Lettre d'un Franisis a S.A. Mohammed el Sadok" 
p. 12. 
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for the cause of reform. " Leon Roches had begun his 

career in Algeria where he had been in succession 

Abd el Kader's secretary (after he had gone over to 

Islam) and Bugeaud's confidential agent; there he had 

acquired a perfect knowledge of the Arabic language 

and Arab civilisation and a genuine sympathy with and 

understanding of the Islamic world and its problems. 

His personal inclinations fell in with the policy 

his government openly advocated: as soon as he had 

arrived in Tunis he had used his influence at Court 

to advise the Bey to follow ~he example of the porte 

and grant similar reforms to his people. He had 

failed to persuade him to promulgate the Hatti Humayun, 

but the Bey could not but be deeply in~ressed by the 

advice Roches gave him Uto show a disposition to follow 

the example of the sultan by adopting at once such 

reforms as could be made here".l 

The new British consul, Richard Wood2 , held similar 

------.. ---.----- ._--
1. FO 102 50. Ferriere, March 15, 1856. 
2. Born in 1811 (according to his own answer made to 

an official inquiry in 1879, and in 1806 according 
to tele "Who's Who" of 1897: 1806 seems more likely) 
Wood had been first employed by the Levant Company 
(1824). In 1826 he was transferred to the ~nbassy 
of constantinople and became Dragoman in 1834. He 
was Ponsonby's secret agent for several secret 
missioms in syria in 1831-1833 (to watch and report 
about, the movements of Egyptian armies) in 1835-
1836 (in a mission of information which ended in 
Mesopotamia) in 1840 (he contributed to the organi­
sation of the syrian rising). In 1841 h~ ~as 
appointed consul in Damascus where he rema~ned 
until his apPointment in Tunis (1855). 
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views: he had a long experience of Moslem countries as, 

in the course of his career begun in constantinople 

nearly thirty years before, he had lived in various 

places in the Middle East, mainly in syria. He had an 

outstanding knowledge of the Arab countries and of their 

problems. The influence of Stratford Canning who had 

long been his direct chief probably accounted for his 

lasting belief that the ottoman Empire could be reformed. 

Twenty years later, in 1877, in spite of innumerable 

disappointments he still entertained the same confi­

dence: "There is nothing in the letter and spirit of 

the Mohammedan religion to impede the introduction of 

reforms"; and he added that the ottoman Empire "has 

actually given umnistakable proofs of a vitality, 

energy and unity of purpose which its best well-wishers 

did not imagine it to possess."l There was more in 

him than a mere conviction that reforms were possible: 

when a consul in syria, he had been given a hand in 

the development and working of the administrative 

improvements which European influence had induced the 

porte ~o grant to that province. Twenty years passed 

in the Levant had also involved him in the usual struggle 

for influence which went on between the French and 

1. FO 102 108. Wood to Derby, November 27, 1877. 
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English representatives: There was some exaggeration 

in the French statement that he had put up there a 

strenuous opposition to French policylj but he was 

likely to resist any exclusive French influence in 

'l'unis, should he think it could sta.nd in the way of 

British political and economic interests. 

Wood defines his Tunisian policy. 

3. wood's first impressions of Tunis were far from 

favourable: the recent financial improvements met with 

his approval, but he considered that reforms ttof a 

more permanent and solid character "would have to 

accompany them; in the government he found "Ministers 

raised from the lowest ranks ••• who owe their elevation 

to caprice or vice and their fortunes to corruption and 

grasping rapacityu.2 The Bey himself did not show him 

enough conSideration: uThere appears to exist a fixed 

determination to pay little regard to the representa-

tions of this consulate".3 Wood explained that cold-

ness by the Bey's resentment at an alleged lack of con­

sideration: Wood, like Baynes in 1850, had been accre-

dited to him by the Foreign secretary, not by the 

Queen; but the prime cause of the distrust and contempt 

1. constant, p. 22. 
2. FO 102 50. Wood to Stratford Canning, July 7,1856. 
3. Ibid, to Clarendon, July 15, 1856. 
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the Bey's government evinced towards the Foreign 

Representatives, was a religious fanaticism which he 

regarded as very dangerous. 

Wood deemed it his duty to strengthen his position 

and humble the Bey's pride: he spent his first months 

in Tunis in skirmishes and recriminations with the 

Tunisian authorities; the matters for discussion were 

often unimportant; but having laid down as a principle 

that there was in Tunis a deliberate intention to ignore 

his rights, he fought over the summer residence of the 

Consulate (which the Beys had given to the British 

Consuls and which Mohanyned Bey had just taken back) as 

if his prestige and authority depended on his getting 

it back. He did not hesitate when necessary to use 

a very strong language with the Bey, and after one of 

these stormy interviews he remarked with a hardly 

veiled satisfaction: "It is not often the lot of abso­

lute l-1iahommedan princes surrounoed by their courtiers 

to hear wholesome truths, said in such unreserved yet 

courteous manner".l 

4. Wood was not long in defining more precisely his 

views on the main defects of the 'runisian government: 

"Absence of any given principles for the guidance of 

1. :PO 102 50 • . Wood to Clarendon, September 9, 1856. 
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the action of' the government which is absolute in form ••• 

oppressive s;ystem of taxation ••• Abuses inseparable 

from the farming of tne public revenues ••• absence of 

properly constituted Tribunals, Civil, criminal and 

Gormnercial. ttl The reforms he suggested would aim at 

encouraging agriculture, facilitating trade and abolishing 

monopolies. The Bey's previous efforts had already 

yielded some results in that way: but these first 

steps had to be followed by the creation of a more 

liberal system of administration. 2 Here Wood expected 

serious resistance, and he thought that he could over-

come it only if he was suYVorted by the other Consuls, 

and above all by Roches. Roches was in no way averse 

to cooperating with his British colleague for a policy 

which was in complete conforrni ty with the J.;'Irench and 

Bri tish circulars of E'ebruary 1856, and Wood was very 

careful to sup~ort Roches in his difficulties with the 

Bey. He expected that the friendly relations he was 

thus es tablishing with Roches could be very uset"ul 

when he found an op~ortunity to enter upon the great 

designs he had in view. Moreover, Wood thought that 

if the incidents between Roches and the Bey ended in 

a French naval demonstration, t1the appearance of two 

----.--... --- ._---
1. Ibid. 
2. Ibid. 

september 2, 1856. 
october 8, 1856. 
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or three frigates would rob (the Bey) in the course of 

four and twenty hours" of his illusions about his real 

strength; the Consuls would accord.ingly be placed "in 

a position to recommend the introduction of ameliora-

tions imposed upon us by sentiments of Humanity, no 

less than by the Interests of trade".l At the end of 

August Wood and Roches had several discussions about 

the situat i on of the Regency; they reached complete 

agreement upon the need for reforms and progressive 

improvements; they suggested in much the same terms 

that their respective govel"nments should take common 

steps towal-'ds "the substi tution of a more humane and 

regular administration".~ A few weeks later ¥iood gave 

more details about the means by which the Bey's resis-

tance could be overcome: ttan amicable naval demonstra-

tion"; then, if necessary, fla strong recommendation to 

the Bey ••• to imitate the more liberal system and the 

ameliorations and improvements in the administration 

adopted by the sultan. tt3 

As soon as Clarendon had received Wood's first 

reports on the situation in Tunis, he had tried to 

sound the French Goverrunent. The answer had been 

1. FO 102 50. Wood to Clarendon, August 25, 1856. 
2. Ibid. September 2, 1856. 
3. Ibid, september 23, 1856. 
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altogether discouraging: Walewski had denied the exis­

tence of these Franco-Tunisian difficulties to which 

Cowley had alluded and, Cowley reported, "he seemed 

disposed in general to blame M. Roches' conduct who he 

considered had been too hard upon the Tunisian govern-

mentu • l Clarendon thereupon instructed Wood to adopt 

tla conciliatory tone ••• towards the Bey." But new 

reports from Tunis soon induced Clarendon to renew his 

proposals: cowley was instructed to inform Walewski 

that the British Government were "prepared to unite 

with the French government towards bringing about a 

better state of things" at Tunis. 2 Walewski answered 

with a refusal and, cowley again reported, evinced some 

ir'ri tati,::m at Roches' unconciliatory at ti tude.' Clarendon 

however, endeavoured a third time to secure France's 

participation in a common action in 'funis. 'fhis time 

his proposal was more precise and took its inspiration 

from Wood's last suggestion; "It may be necessary for 

H.M. 's government to take some measures to remedy the 

state of things described by M.Wood", he wrote on the 

7th of October ; cowley would "ask count Walewski 

1. FO 29 1115. Clarendon to Cowley, september 4, and 
FO 27 1133 Cowley to Clarendon, Septerilber 8, 1856. 

2. FO 27 1116. Clarendon to Cowley, September 19, 1856 
3. FO 27 1122. cowley to Clarendon, September 21,1856. 
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whether the French Government have an intention to send 

a naval i'orceu •
l Walewski merely replied that the Bey 

had settled all the pending questions to his satisfaction, 

and ignored Clarendonts suggestion. It was obvious that 

France was wholly reluctant to cooperate with Great 

Britain in Tunis: Wood came to the conclusion that 

France, far from desiring an improvement in the situation 

of Tunis, was waiting for her ruin the more easily to 

incorporate her with Algeria; without going so far one 

can assume that the Imperial Govel"nment were not ready 

even for the furtherance of reforms, to sacrifl1ce or 

share their preponderance in Tunis for the sake of an 

association with Great Britain2 and in this respect, 

Roches' readiness to support Woodts suggestion must 

have been loolced upon in Paris as a threat to the It'rench 

position in Tunis. 3 As far as British policy was 

1. FO 2~ 1117. Clarendon to Cowley, October 7, 1856. 
2. In the meantime the French attitude in Morocco was 

completely different and the Quai dtorsay was taking 
a favourable view of a plan for a common naval 
demonstration against the piracy. But the struggle 
for influence was less strong in Morocco than in 
Tunis. (Flournoy, p. 163.) 

3. At least one can assume that it was the view offic­
ially held by the Q,uai d'orsay. Simultaneously 
Napoleon III had his own policy and in December 
1856 and January 1857 the Emperor suggested to Cowley 
a vast Mediterranean scheme: the share of France 
would have been Morocco, Great Britain would have 
been given Egypt and Sardinia Tunis. Cowley, and 
the It'oreign Office evinced of course the utmost 
caution and ignored the hint. (cowley to Clarendon, 
December 28, 1856, and Februar'y 27, 1857). 
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concerned, the Forei~"Il Office could only record the fact 

of Franee's refusal to join in bringing pressure to bear 

upon the Bey: nothing could be done under these conditions. 

5. If Wood's reform projects thus ended in a complete 

failure, the Consul was more successful in other fields 

of action. His relations with Mohammed Bey were 

established on the footing he had looked for from 

the beginning: exposed as he was to strong pressure 

from the French side, threatened with unhappy develop­

ments if he did not give Wood the satisfaction he 

demanded, the Bey gave up the str~ggle; well pleased 

with the prestige he had thus acquired in Tunis, Wood 

proceeded with the realisation of his programme. 'l'he 

development of British interests in the country was one 

of his main preoccupations: Wood thought that the intro­

duction of British undertakings would benefit the country 

by developing its untapped resources; British co~nercial 

and economic interests would of course derive advantages 

from that policy, and British influence would be made 

likewise "solid and permanent". In the long run the 

British government would have to devote more attention 

to 'tunisian problems and the diplomatic position of the 

Bey would be thereby strengthened; last but not least, 

French ambitions in 'funis would be checked by the 

creation of strong British positions. (fhe first 
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concessions which Wood obtained in November 1856 (for 

the creation of an Anglo-Tunisian bank and the setting 

up of an English Company for cotton cultivation) greatly 

increased his authority in the Bey's councils and he 

could write in November 1856 that ina near future he 

would be "better able to suggest alone and unaided 

since France refuses her cooperation other adrainistra­

tive and Financial reforms. ttl 

6. Wi th Wood' s arrival in ~'unis, a new opportunity 

offered itself to define afresh the policy of the Foreign 

Office with regard to the diplomatic situation of the 

Re gency. Mohammed Bey had resented Wood's being 

accredited by Clarendon, and not, as had been the custom 

before Palmerston, by the Queen; the secret grudge he 

had nursed against the Foreign Office partly-accounted 

for the cold reception Wood had first met with in Tunis. 

But Clarendon had replied to Wood's uneasy reports by 

a firm statement of the British position: Whatever the 

reasons behind France's treatment of the Bey as an 

independent ruler, it was "of great importance to 

England to maintain the dependent position which the 

Bey of 'l'unis occupied with regard to the Sultan. ,,2 

1. 
2. 

Fa 102 50. 
FO 102 50. 

Wood to Clarendon, November 26, 1856. 
clarendon to Wood, August 13, 1856. 
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When the Bey had resumed his complaints, in October, 

Wood had acted in accordance with Clarendon's instruc­

tions. He had encouraged Mohammed Bey to rely on the 

Sultan's favourable dispositions and on British friend­

ship and protection, and reminded him that as he was 

placed between "two fires", it was to his interest to 

make the Regency tla link in the chain which joins other 

Mahammedan states to Europett ; a situation which made 

him certain that the Regency would be covered by the 

gual"antee which the Powers had given to the Ottoman 

~npire. However, Wood was not himself fully convinced 

by his own argument, and he remarked that the Bey's 

position could not be regarded as perfectly safe unless 

it would be "unreservedly consummated by some diplomatic 

act to which recourse might be had, in time of need or 

danger. If Meanwhile Wood suggested that "some indulgence" 

should be shown for the Bey's wishes. l 

Wood's suggestion placed the Foreign Office in an 

awkward position: was the immediate strengthening of 

British influence in Tunis worth a change in the policy 

which had been pursued for more than twenty years'? Some 

hesitation was felt: Clarendon appeared at first dis­

posed to comply with the Bey's request. In s:pite of 

1. Ibid, Wood to Clarendo~, October 8, 1856. 
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the strong objections raised by the officials in the 

Foreign Office, in spite of the precedent of Baynes' 

accreditation in 1850, Clarendon decided that although 

the "principle" was "no doubt right", he was not sure 

that 'fBri tish interests" might not be promoted by a 

different practice".l A draft was prepared for the 

Queen's signature, and laid before Palmerston in January 

1857. The prime Minister at once opposed the measure 

contemplated by Clarendon. The question which had been 

mooted by the Bey was not a mere question of etiquette ; 

French policy was openly aiming at severing the Bey's 

connection with the Sultan. "our policy on the other 

hand has always been to maintain his dependency on the 

Sultan as a safeguard against his becoming a vassal of 

France." The Bey aspired to an independent position: 

"11" your only object is to please ChimJ we ought to 

acknowledge him independent, but if we look to permanent 

interests we must maintain important principles even at 

the risk of displeasing him. tt2 palmerston's opinion, 

and tradition, prevailed over the desire for a change. 

Clarendon's answer to Wood was so carefully worded in 

accordance with the precedents that it seemed like a 

1. FO 102 50. Note, November 5, 1856. 
2. Ibid. Note, January 23, 1857. 
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selection or passages rrom the archives or the Foreign 

Orrice: "The Bey •••• must be satisried that he is not 

strong enough to stand alone, and that the sa~ety or 

his beylik depends on his continuing to rorm an integral 

part of the Ottoman Empire, and 8S such secured by the 

common guarantee of all the Powers or Europe."l These 

optimistic considerations barely veiled the deep un­

certainty of the Bey's pOSition which had moved Wood to 

act. He nevertheless remained bound to a policy which 

had proved inefrect~ye, and which hindered his action 

in Tunis without guaranteeing the external security of 

the Regency. 

The Fundamental Law (l857) 

7. The prospects or political rerorm were UDEertain 

in 1857: the Bey had rerused to proclaim the Hatti 

Humayun, the French Government was reluctant to work 

with Great Britain in Tunis, and consequently the Foreign 

Office felt powerless to act alone. Wood was entirely 

dependent on himself and could do nothing but hope for 

circumstances which would allow him to :ti'orce reform upon 

the Bey and upon the French and English governments. 

An oPDortunity suddenly occurred when a Tunisian Jew, 

Batto Sfez, accused of having insulted a Moslem and 

1. FO 102 53. Hammond to Wood,private, January 25,1857. 
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cursed the Mahorrnnedan religion while drunk, was hurriedly 

sentenced to death. Instead of judging the Jew himself 

the Bey yielded to popular excitement and gave the case 

to the religious court (Sharia). Although Batto Sfez 

protested his innocence, the judges sentenced him to 

death. The Bey could. have reconsidered the decision; 

but he did not dare to resist the pressure the Blema 

brought to bear upon him, and the threat of a collective 

resignation of the religious judges; and frightened by 

the possibility of disturbances should he annul the 

sentence of the court, he ordered its immediate execution 

(June 25, 1857). The unusual severity of the Sharia 

as well as their relentlessness in obtaining the execu-

tion of their decision are not easily accounted for, 

except by excessive religious zeal and an obvious 

desire to regain their popularity by satisfying the 

fanaticism of public opinion. But the Bey had shown 

in this matter a political short-sightedness for which 

he was to pay dearly.l 

The European quarters showed an emotion which was 

partly justified: the event seemed unparalleled as no 

such procedure had been recorded for the last forty 

1. FO 102 53. Wood to Clarendon, June 30 and July 6, 
1857. Ben Dhiaf" Reign of Mohammed Bey, pp.41 to 43. 
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years; and, theoretically at least, all Ohristians could 

have been similarly treated. l But perhaps more than 

that example of a "barbarous fanaticism", they resented 

the Bey's stubbornness and his refusal to listen to the 

representations made by the Oonsuls. Roches and Wood 

had vainly impressed upon him the disastrous outcry 
2 which the execution would raise in Europe. The 

impression was so strong in the European Oommunities 

of 11unis that the Oonsuls had no need to incite out-

bursts of indignation among their nationals. In the 

addresses of the Prench and british resid.ents indigna-

tion over this manifestation of "fanatisme sous sa 

forme la plus hideuse" and demands for gual~antees 

protecting ttJtheirJ property but also LtheirJ 

persons lt , were combined with more material considerations. 

They asked 1'01' a protection of their commercial inter-

ests, meaning the observation of the treaties and the 

suppression of the hindrances which the Tunisian 

government caused "daily to the free course of our 

commerce by its uncontrolled system of Monopolies". O:(1he 

two petitions concluded with a wish "to see such reforms 

1. It is only fair to remark that nothing of the kind 
had ever happened to Europeans in Tunis since 1815, 
and that for criminal affairs they were placed 
under the sole jurisdiction of their Oonsular Oourts. 

2. ~~ 102 53. Wood to Olarendon, June 30, 1857. 
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established in this Regency as may relieve us of all 

alarms. ttl 

Wood had realised from the beginning that he had 

found the incident from which his reform plan could 

come into being. He had simply to take from the peti-

tion of the British residents the elements of the pro-

gramme of action Wilich he proposed. to Clarendon's 

attention on the 6th of July: Was the Bey to "be 

abandoned to its Lthe UlemaJ retrograde and fanatical 

action, or rescued from it and placed in a position, by 

the exercise of a moral pressure on the part of the 

Great Powers, to pursue a system of progressive improve-

ment, civil and religious, administrative and commercial?" 

Britain, Wood pointed out,' ought to avail her'self of 

the opportunity to put pressure on the Bey in order 

"first that the concessions which the Sultan has made at 

various periods should be likewise conceded by the Bey 

of Tunis. Secondly that the Bey should give a Tanzimat 

to this country regulating the administration and 

establishing institutions which would ensure in a more 

positive manner the lives end property of his subjects. 

'£hirdly that henceforward the 'rreaties ••• now infringed 

1. FO 102 53. Wood to Clarendon, JUly 6,1857, with 
two enclosures: Address of the British residents 
(June 30) and Adresse des Res~dents fran~ais 
(June 27). 
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and violated by local regulations and Government M:ono-

polies shall be purely and fairly carried out for the 

better protection of trade.»l The undertaking was 

this time promising as Roches wholly agreed with Wood 

and was proposing that his government should demand 

the promulgation of "a species of Hatti HomaYbuilttin 

Tunis. The urgency of the problem as well as the 

favourable view of the lt1rench community seemed likely 

to bring the Quai d'orsay to accept an Anglo-French 

action in Tunis. 2 

8. Wood's erpectations were not fulfilled. b'ram the 

very first overtures, walewski showed an unexpected 

reticence: Cowley reported that although he a.pproved 

Roches' conduct and sent "some general remonstrances 

to the Tunisian Government •••• ~walewski~ did not 

appear in any way inclined to do more." 'l'he French 

minister seemed rather prone to excuse the Bey on the 

ground that he had been submitted to strong pressure 

from the Ulema. 3 In spite of these disheartening 

first steps, clarendon decided to abide by Wood's plan 

for reform: on the 21st of July he instructed Cowley to 

express to 'vValewsl~i "the readiness of Her Ma jesty's 

---------- _. . -..• --

1. FO 102 53. Wood to Clarendon, JUly 6, N.24. 
2. Ibid, N. 25. 
3. FO 27 1200. Cowley to Clarendon, July 15,1857. 
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government to co-operate with the Government of the 

Emperor in an endeavour to induce the Bey of Tunis to 

adopt such reforms in his administration as may develop 

the resources of the Regency and afford security for 

foreigners residing in it, and also to cause the 

Treaties with Foreign Powers to be religiously observed. 1tl 

It would have been embarrassing for Walewski fully to 

turn down this offer: but the limited acquiescence 

which he gave to Clarendon's proposal meant that he 

actually shrank from the far reaching action which 

Clarendon had contemplated. He instructed Roches to 
, , 

demand !t1a creation de tribunaux mixtes analogues a 

ceux qui ont ete institues par la porte ottomane" and 

added a very rnodera te admonishment with regard to the 

execution of Batto Sfex; there VIas n,o mention whatsoever 

of political reforms in Tunis. 2 Malaret communicated 

these instructions to Clarendon with a proposal for a 

joint action: clarendon was then obliged to accept it 

and to restrict his own instructions to Wood to the 

obtaining of a mere judicial reform in Tunis. He aC.ded 

that, should Roches receive instructions "to urge the 

Tunisian Government to abolish mrlIl4p:)lies, abuses and 

1. FO 27 1180 Clarendon to Cowley, July 21,1857. 
2. FO 27 1217. Malaret to Clarendon, JUly 29, 1857. 
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local regulations detrimental to commerce with that 

country", Wood Vlould have to concert his action with 

him. But after Walewski' s manoeuvre the ~'oreign Office 

could entertain no illUsions on that pOint. l 

support from both governments was 'therefore again 

failing at the very moment when in '.funis Wood was 

meeting very serious difficulties. The Bey had over­

come the disarray which had followed Sfez's execution 

and was showing more and more reluctance to promulgate 

the far reaching reforms Wood suggested, the more so 

as the "Ecclesiastical Party" (the Ulema) were strongly 

opposed to these innovations. With eloquence and 

insistance Wood emphasized the necessity for the Bey 

to abide by the imperial decrees lest he should himself 

appear a,s a "Kufer" (infidel). Should the Bey model 

his conduct on the "bigotry and fanaticism" of tlle 

Ulema he would be prevented from introducing in the 

Regency "the improvements and reforms which the civi­

lized world not only required from, but would sooner 

or later impose upon himtl and which would provide for 

the removal of the grievances of the ,Merchants, civil 

and religious equality for his subjects, and tne 

formation of mixed Tribunals. The Bey cast the blame 

--------'-, .. - ,---,-

1. FO 102 53. Clarendon to Wood, August 6 and 7,1857. 
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for Batto's execution on the Ulema and answered that 

hasty reforms were likely to cause trouble among the 

population; "Whenever it is practicable, ,t he concluded 

very vaguely, If I will do that which prudence and the 

welfare of my subjects require" (JUly 25 1857).1 Wood's 

endeavours met with more response from the prime Minister 

and Kl'laireddin. With the object of convincing them 

he painted a picture of the attitude of the Powers 

which although impressive was not in strict accordance 

wi th reality: "If '&'rance did contemplate taking 

stringent measures against the 'runisian Government 

England would join her in such a work of humanity and 

clvl1ization.,,2 But the Bey's last word in the matter 

was not encouraging: "Quant ~ 'l'~tablissement dlinsti-
. , 

tutions, he wrote to '~'Vood J.n August ••• nous procederons 

a ces r~formes progressivement suivant ce qulil sera 
. , 

possible de faire dans nos etats •••• On ne peut changer 

tout alun coup, dans un pays des anciennes couturnes et 

institutions qui fonctionnent depuis une longue suite 
I 

d I annees •• , 

In actual fact Roches and Wood's joint representa-

tions, on the basis of their limited instructions, 

1. FO 102 53. Wood to Clarendon, Jul;y' 25, l85Yl. 
2. Ibid, August 4, 1857. 
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could not do more than obtain the creation of two 

Cl'>iminal and Commercial Courts. 'l'he triminal Tribunal 

was to be COlill)Osed of lVioslem notables and judge all 

criminal cases; the Bey retained his i..Jowers of deciding 

ultimately and the Sharia kept their jurisdiction over 

religious questions. l AS Wood remarked with conster-

nation, the promised Comme:'cial 'rribunal was not even a 

Mixed Court: the future prospects of x'eforra were mOl"e 

gloomy than ever. 

Y. The unexpected arrival before Tunis of a E'rench 

naval squadron placed Wood in a posi tion to force t:le 

reforms upon the Bey (August 31, 185'!). The visit of 

the li'l~enci1 :b'leet diel not mean any change in It'rencn 

policy. Admiral 'l'rehotlart) ha(1 been instl'ucted to 

act ttwith prudencett in supporting Roches' representations; 

Roches was to demand the creation of Mixed Courts and 

the application of Commercial Treaties (by which 

Walewski meaut.tae freedom of trade and the granting 

to foreigner's of the l"ight to own landed property in 

Walewslci a few days afterwal~ds confirmed to 

Oowley t~lat "there was no question of mal::ing, much less 

1. It""'O 102 53. Wood to clarendon N 33, August 18, 1857. 
Ben Dhiaf, pp.43-44. 

2. Ben Dhiaf, pp.45-48 gives for these instructions 
the date of July 30: it is )erhaps a mistake for 
20 Juillet. 
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of enforcing, any demand on the Bey. On the contrary 

the French government was satisfied with the last 

assurances given by the Tunisian goverhment."l It is 

also beyond doubt that the naval visit had been decided 

upon without consulting the Foreign Office, and that 

Walewski continued to ignore the British proposals of 

joint action. In his despatch of September 4, Cowley 

while reporting Walewski's explanations, bitterly 

cOlmnented tha t the prench Government clung to their 

"policy of isolation with regar'd to this Regency" and 

regretted that by their keeping Great Britain in 

ignorance of' theil~ decision, the French. Government 

should have deprived hel .. "of the option of partaking 

in this demonstr'ation. It It so happened however, that 

the sending of the fleet immediately followed the 

Osborne meeting (August 1857): Napoleon III, Wa1ewski 

and the British Cabinet had made no .11usion to the 

Tunisian situation during their conversations,2 but 

1. Fe 27 1203. c-6wley to Clarendon, september 4,1857. 
2. With regard to Napoleon's visit to England and the 

osbol"ne convel"sations (which ran mainly upon the 
Rumanian Question) see Marriott The Eastern uestion 
(p. 298) and Seton-watson (p.365. Napoleon III 
had perhaps dvvel t upon his grandiose Medi ter'ranean 
schemes (E. Bourgeois Manuel historique III, p.428 
and Debidour Histoire diPlomatirue de l'Europe, I 
p. 173), but these schemes, whi e affecting Tunis 
as the other l'vledi terranean countries, were not to 
be followed with immediate decisions. With regard 
to palmerston's refusal to consider such projects 
see Di1ke Europe in 1887 (p. 78). 



-255-

Wood was struck by the coincidence and he tried to make 

the best use of it. Although he had received neither 

instruction nor even information, he gave an inter-

piJetation of the events, partly imaginary and partly 

authentic which seemed plausible enough. 'rae feelings 

of the :&'oreign Office about the neceLsi ty of issuing 

r'eforms were well t:nown: the presence of the French 

Fleet could be inter-preted as a decisive :&'rench move in 

pursuit of the same objects. Wood endeavoured to con-

vince the Bey that the demonstration was the first 

jOint action of the two Powers in favour of reforms in 

'funis. Of course that game of bluff could not succeed 

if Roches did not support WOOdl : his attitude since 

the beginning of the crisis indicated that he would 

not oppose using the presence of the Fleet for a policy 

which had his whole hearted agreement while much ex-

ceeding walewski's intentions. 

A few days after the arrival of the fleet, Wood 

went to the palace and offered the Bey his friendly 

mediation; the sending of the Fleet, coming after the 

Osborne meetings, could not have been decided "without 

'the concurrence" of Great Britain; l;'l"ance, Wood said, 

1. And of course it could not have succeeded if fast 
means of communication had existed between Tunis 
and Europe. The first telegraph line w~s estab­
lished in 1860. 
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had grown wearied of the Bey's dilatory tactics and she 

had now decided "to compel Your Highness either by 

persuasion or coercion to yield the concessions demanded 

of you. In a wor :~ of liurnani ty and civilisation, of 

progress and reform, England cannot and will not remain 

behind, and I am therefore instructed to cooperate 

with my French colleague, and to unite our efforts in 

bringing about the accomplisl~ent of the wishes of our 

respective governments." Should the Bey attempt to 

resist "we will interru:pt our l~elations with you and 

if necessary we will blockade your ports. HI Wood 

added that the two Powers could also ask the Sultan to 

issue a Firman enjoining the Bey to apply in Tunis the 

ottoman Reforms. Tunis would then be in danger of 

undergoing "the transformation that Tripoli underwenttf. 

Wood slcetched the broad outlines of the refOr!,lS which 

Prance and Great Britain were supposed to demand: Mixed 

Tribunals, execution of the 'l'rade conventions (these 

two points were walewski's genuine demands) and granting 

of tfsecurity of life and propertytt to the Bey's subjects 

(this was Wood's own programme and was to provide the 

------_ .. _ . . _ .. _ .. _-
1. Ben Dhiaf asserts that Wood's threats had been even 

more precise: "Si vaus voulez 'couter mes conseils, 
hatez vous de promulguer cette reglementation, car 
notre flotte est a Malte et u'attend Que rna reponse 
que doit lui porter un vapeur Pl'e.t a appareiller." 
Mohammed Bey, p. 45. 
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basis for thel/Ahd el Amantt ). "England and France, Wood 

concluded, would no longer tolerate the present state 

of things in Tunis."l 

The French Admiral's language to the Bey was of 

course less precise but strong enough to confirm Wood's 

assertion that France and Great Britain were acting in 

full agreement. The Tunisian oP90nents of the Reforms 

had to admit that it was impossible to resist such a 

coalition: on the contrary the influence of Ben Dhiaf, 

Khaireddin and all the officials who advocated liberal 

reforms was strengthened. ~he time had now come for 

Wood to ex-plain what he meant by the "organic Laws 

which should limit and regulate the prerogatives and 

rights of the sovez'eie;n prince, on the one side, and 

the duties of the subjects on the other" • Putting 

aside the questions of -che hlixed 'llribunals and of ~i.ihe 

COImnercial interests about which there was no serious 

disagreement, Wood suggested that the Bey should issue 

a Charter embodying five fundamental laws mich were 

modelled upon the principles of the Hatti Sherif of 

Gulkane (1839) and the Hatti Humayun (1856): ttl. Security 

for life and property, 2. Equal taxation. 3. Equality 

before the law, 4. Religious f~eedom, 5. Limitation 

1. PO 102 53. Wood to Clarendon, september 2, 1857. 
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of the period of mili tar'y service. ,,1 

The Beyts last hope was to take advantage of a 

possible disagreement between Wood and Roches: he had 

perhaps noticed some discrepancy between the programmes 

which were put forward by Wood and the French. Anyhow 

he answered that he was ready to grant the reforms which 

Wood demanded if the two consuls could reach an agree-

ment in that matter.2 Roches had received no further 

instruction from his government, but it had been agreed 

between the two consuls that Wood would renew the 

negotiations with the Tunisian Government and that 

when they attained a certain stage Wood would "intimate 

to the Bey the urgent expediency of inviting the French 

Charge dtAffaires to his counsels".3 It was high time 

to put an end to the whole affair as the Fleet was to 

leave Tunis on the tenth of September. Without further 

delay Roches agreed with Wood that a memorandum embodying 

Woodts previous demands, should be prepared and handed 

over to the Bey. trhe memorandum recalled the Bey's 

promises with regard to: "1. Etabliseement de tribunaux 
, / 

criminels ou seront amnis les israelites lors qu'un 

1. FO 102 53. Wood to Clal'endon, septeGlber 4,1857. 
2. FO 102 53. Wood to Clarendon, September 4, 1857. 

Perhaps the Bey only wanted to take precautions 
against the eventual OPdosition of the French 
Government. 

3. FO 102 53. Ibid. september 15, 1857. 
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, 
israelite sera en cause. 2. Etablissement de tribunaux 

commerciaux mixtes. 3. L'Egalit~ civile et religieuse 

de tous les sujets du Bey. 4. La liberte absolue du 

Cowaerce dans laquelle se trouve naturellement comprise 

l'abolition de toutes les fermes. 
, 

5. La liberte pour 

tous les Europeens d'exercer toute espece d'industries 

en se soumettant aux conditions Qui peseront sur 
, 

l'industrie indigene. 6. La Faculte pour les memes 

Europeans de posseder des immeubles en toute propriete 
, . 

en se sownettant awe char'ges qui peseront sur les pro-

pri~taires indig~nes." 'rhese 6 articles reproduced the 
, 

stipulations of the Hatti Humayun. The memorandum then 

reproduced the demand Wood had laid before the Bey that 

the Reforms should rest on "des reformes organiques qui 

en seront la base et la garantie"; the five fundamental 

principles which Wood had proposed to the Bey a few 

days warlier were to be taken as bases of the "consti­

tution qui Cas:::.urerai tJ desormais aux sujets tunisiens 

•••• des ' droits et nne liberte inconnue jusqu'ici et 

qui peuvent seuls vivifier le nouvel ordre de choses. ttl 

10. It only remained for the Bey to give way: hi.s 

Council was gathered and the ministers agreed that the 

reforms Wood and Roches suggested could not be evaded. 

1. PO 102 53. Wood to Clarendon, september 10,1857. 
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The Bey accoruingly entrusted his .irst Secretary, Ben 

Dhiaf, with the task of drafting the Fundamental Law 

(Ahd el Aman). The text was promulgated on september 

10, 1857; Wood and Roches had been consulted before­

hand and had ex.,pressed their a.greement. Ben Dhiaf had 

closely followed wood's successive statements; in actual 

fact, he had merely linked together the eleven pOints 

which Wood had submitted to the Bey's attention. A 

preamble had been added which established a connection 

between the Ahd el Aman and the reforms Mohammed Bey 

had accomplished during the first year of his reign; the 

preamble recalled the similar measures edicted in Turkey 

and. concluded that "C' est une loi de la nature que 
, ; 

l'homme ne puisse arriver a la prosperite qu'autant 

que sa liberte lui est entUrement garantie".l The Ahd 

el Aman was undoubtedly a personal success for Wood: 

it was the long delayed conclusion of a policy which 

the consul had initiated in the very first d.ays of his 

arrival in Tunis; he had very skilfully availed him­

self of the propitious circumstances and had overcome 

the numerous obstacles he had met in his way. Wood's 

satisfaction was therefore fully justified; fully justi­

fied too, were the felicitations Clarendon sent to the 

1. FO 102 53. wood to Clarendon, september 15,1857. 
Ben Dhiaf, pp. 48-49. 
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Bri ti ah Agent. The Bey had, however, acted under 

moral pressure and not without having been threatened 

by naval intervention: obviously the Reforms would have 

to be defende~ Nevertheless the proclamation of the 

Ahd el Aman put an end to the Bey's procrastination; 

the movement of Reform began in Tunis 

It remained to be seen whether the French govern­

ment would endorse Roches' policy. Woodsupposed 

that the Ahd el Aman was likely to embarrass, if not 

irritate the Quai d'arsay which had never expected and 

even less wished for, such developments. A few years 

later, Drouyn de Lhuys reminded the French Consul in 

rrunis that til' octroi de cette Consti tution n' a pas ete 

conseille par le gouvel'nernent fran<tais qui demandait 

seulement une reforme judiciaire."l The same Consul, 

.M. de Beauval, openly admitted that if Wood had fUl"thered 

the policy advocated by his govermnent, Roches was to 

be blamed "for having allowed himself to be put forward 

by LWOOdJ to carry out British views and policytl.2 

It is very likely that Walewski was scarcely satisfied 

with Roches' interpretation of his instructions: but 

it would have been difficult to call what had been done 

------.--.--.. . .. -
1. FO 27 1537. Drouyn to Beauval. May 11,1864, in 

Cowley to Russell, December 20, 1864. 
2. PO 102 72. Wood to Russell, August 30, 1864 • 

. --~---- -- -- - -----~---.- .. - - ---- --- - - -_ .. 
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in question; on the other hand the French Minister 

would have uneasily explained why France deprecated 

reforms in Tunis when she strongly aavocated them in 

constantinople. walewski made the :best of what had 

happened in Tunis and he was one of the first ]'oreign 

Ministers to send his congratulations to the Bey.l 

Mohammed Bey's further reforms (1857-1859). 

11. The proclamation of the Ahd el Aman was only the 

beginning of the reform movement: it had to be completed 

and extended. While congratulating Wood upon the happy 

result of his efforts, clarendon reminded him of ttthe 

wide difference which exists between the publication 

and the execu.tion of decrees" and hoped that the Ahd 

would not remain a dead letter. 2 Wood was well aware 

of the problem, and while informing the British Agents 

in 'runis of the promulgation of the Ahd el Aman he 

added a warning that the extension of the reforms was 

Itnaturally the work oftimett and that Foreigners would 

have to act with "prudence and circwnspection ••• 

impartiality and justice" in order to help the Govern-

ment in his task. 3 Wood's policy was made easier by 

the attitude of prudent reserve which the French 

1. 
2. 
3. 

:&'0 102 55. 
FO 102 53. 
FO 102 53. 
29, 166Z. 

Wood to clarendon, January 5,1858. 
clarendon to Wood, October 3, 1857. 
Wood to the British Agents, september 
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Government was then mainta ining with regaro_ to 

Tunisisn questions. on the spot Wood could rely on 

Roches' support: the two consuls were on very friendly 

terms, a situation rather unusual in Tunis. Finally 

Wood was supported in the Bey's council by Reformers, the 

most prominent of whom were Khaireddin and Ben Dhiaf: 

the reform movement was thus to become a Tunisian 

affair instead of being more or less forced upon the 

Bey from outside. 

It is of course very difficult to give a precise 

account of Wood's share in the reforms which followed 

the Ahd el Aman: Wood himself gives rather scanty 

information and Ben Dhiaf while refering to the various 

reforms does not go deeply into details with regard to 

their elaboration. It is likely that Wood had a 

great influence over the 'runisian reformers. Ben 

Dhiaf writes that he was "l'un des h(])mrnes les plus 

eminents de son pays. 
.-

Doue de sentiments nobles, 

eloquent, d'une intelligence penetrante, homme juste 

d'un jugement droit."l We may suppose that Wood and 

Khaired.din had not only friendly relations but 

exchanged ideas about the political problems which 

confronted Tunis. In 1868 while sending to the Foreign 

1. Ben Dhiaf, Mohammed Bey, p. 44. 
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Office a copy of Khaireddin's "Reformes necessaires 

aux Etats Musulmans", the Consul observed that Khaireddin 

had early acquainted him with his project a.nd that Wood 

had "encouraged him to LhisJ utmost to carry it out. ttl_ 

a remark which bears witness to his influence on 

Khaireddin. However that may be, it was Wood who as 

early as september 1857 suggested the creation of a 

Commission. which would "frame •••• laws and regulations 

confQrmable to the new state of things." Here again 

Wood found his inspiration in the Hatti Sher'if of 

Gulkhane which provided for the creation of such a 

Commission. 2 'l'he Commission was created by decree 

in November 1857: contrary to Wood's suggestion it was 

not a mixed body; its members were exclusively Tunisians, 

6 ministers and 4 Ulema. Such a composition, it was 

hoped, would allay the apprehensions which were enter-

tained by many devote Moslems with regard to the 

orthodoxy of the reforms. Unhappily it soon appeared 

that the Ulema were not ready to cooperate in developing 

the reforms. 3 But the Commission, with Khaireddin, 

Ben Dhiaf and General bi t hamed, worlced very efficiently 

on the whole. In accordance to Wood's suggestion in 

1. Fa 102 62. Wood to Clarendon,December 29,1868. 
2. see Engelhardt, (I, 260). 
3. Fa 102 53. Wood, November 10, 1857. 
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· 1858 "that a mWlicipal cOWlcil should be fOl"med which 

would not only frame Municipal laws and regulations, 

but should undertake public works and improvements", 

the creation of the Municipal Council of Tunis was 

decreted in August 1858. It undertook very useful 

public works such as the maintenance of public buildings 

and streets, and the in~rovement of the street police. 

A military reform (August-september 1858) and a decree 

which put an end to the inferior status of the Tunisian 

Jews (September 1858), were the next steps towards the 

internal improvement of the Regency.l 

12. As we have seen, Wood wanted to complement his 

programme of political reforms with the introduction 

into Tunis of European skill and capital, which, he 

expected, would result in economic . progress for the 

Regency, and political and material benefit for the 

British. He spared no pains to take advantage of the 

first concessions he had obtained in 1856. The scheme 

for cotton cultivation, however, met with serious 

obstacles, the main difficulty being the reluctance of 

British capitalists to invest money in Tunis. At the 

end of 1857 an Anglo-Tunisian Company was created: its 

1. Ben Dhiaf, pp. 58-63. 
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object WaS to introduce cotton cultivation on an exten­

sive scale as an experiment: the prime Minister showed 

much interest in the undertaking and the British Govern-

ment themselves encouraged the scheme by sending cotton 

seed and machines. l Although precise information is 

lacking, it seems that the attempts made in the region 

of Djedeida were not successful enough to encourage 

an extension of the scheme. As long as the fundamental 

question of the right of the foreigners to possess real 

and landed property in Tunis was not solved, it was 

very unlikely that such schemes could prove workable. 

At the outset the ConceSSion for a bank had also 

met with little financial encouragement in London 

where Wood had sent santillana, the Chancellor of the 

Consulate, to investigate the market. 2 With a view to 

encouraging Foreign speculators the Bey offered to 

provide the main part of the capital of the bank 

(£50,000 out of £75,000); it was then possible to 

interest a group of British bankers in the scheme. 3 

The Bey promulgated a decree (APril 1858) which defined 

the conditions of the granting of the concessions: The 

English and 'runisian bank would enjoy the privilege of 

--------- --.-.. -
1. 
2. 
3. 

FO 102 55. 
FO 102 54. 
FO 102 67. 

Wood to Malmesbury, April 5 and May 8,1858. 
Santillana to Clarendon, February 1858. 
Wood to Malmesbury, June 15, 1858. 
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issuing bank notes during ten years; the Tunisian 

government would exercise their control over its opera­

tions; the British Consul would have a right of "inter­

ference in the affairs of the bank"; the Bank Vlould be 

authorized to own "houses and lands ••• and other sort 

of immovable property". 1 The foundation of the Bank 

had scarcely been announced when the French Consulate 

manifested its opposition. Soon afterwards the Ministere 

des Affaires Etrangeres took up the matter, to Wood's 

irri tation: the tendellcy of It'rench policy is tt obviously, tt 

he wrote to Clarendon, I1the prevention of British enter­

prise and the development of British trade and interests.,,2 

It is Wlquestionable that France looked unfavourably 

upon the progress of British influence in l'unis; .but 

the Quai d'orsay could put forward more valid arguments 

against the Bank. Negociations took place between 

Paris and London and ultimately the contractors had to 

give up some of the most objectionable articles: the 

"English and 'l'unisian Bank" became the "Tunisian Bank"; 

the British consul was deprived of his rights of control, 

no Charter was requested fl"om the British Government. 

French opposition to the scheme having thus ended at 

1. 
2. 

FO 102 67. 
]1() 102 56. 

Wood to Malmesbury, April 5,1858. 
Wood to Malmesbury, October 20, 1858. 
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the beginning of 1859, the Bank could begin its opera-

tions: but the scheme was nevertheless a failure as 

the British contractors, dissatisfied with the limita-

tions French intervention had imposed upon them, tried 

to evade the guarantees the Bey had written down in 

the Concession. Their pretensions led to serious diffi-

cuI ties with the Bey; in the end the London bankers 

cancelled the contract and tr'ied to obtain the payment 

of indemnities which were justified neither by the 

prejudice they had suffered nor by the terms of the 

contract, a scenario which was to be used more than 

once la ter on. On this occasion, however, the Foreign 

Office fully endorsed Wood's opinion and refused to 

SUPP01"'t a claim which was wholly indefensible. 1 

Wooe.' 8 failures in the economic field indicated. 

that his policy in this regard was premature. The 

difficulties which had arisen with the British contrac-

tors proved also that such undertakings were not devoid 

of dangers for the Tunisian government. The Bey had 

had a foretaste of the risks he would incur if he 

allowed himself to fall into the hands of unscrupulous 

adventurel"'s, who were at tra cted by his wealmess and his 

laclc of financial experience: one understands the Bey's 

1. FO 102 6'7. Wood to Russell, AU,- ust 1 8 , 1860. 
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hesitation in granting full economic rights to the 

Foreigners in Tunis. 1 
Less than after the one year 

concession of the 'I'unisian Bank, the Bey agreed to be 

drawn into the restoration of the carthage Aq.uedueh t: 

Roches and the French contractor had promised that the 

benefits would be enormous; in actual fact the profit was 

small, and the eX}lenditure heavy; and the undertaking 

dealt the first serious blow to Tunisian finances. The 

first outcome of the policy advocated by Wood VIas 

ominous for tiw future. 

International position of the Regency (1857-1860). 

13. Wood was not the only observer who concluded from 

the precarious international status of Tunis to the 

urgency of suitable deciSions: at the beginning of 

1858 the Austrian Consul, Merlato, while in Vielma, 

told Seymour that the Regency seemed condemned to become 

before long a French province, unless her equivocal 

situation was at last settled and she was recognized 

as " a perfectly independent state". 2 The Foreign 

Office was not unawal'e of the danger, but for fesr of 

impairing the status quo, it was led to abstain from 

doing anything, a situation which VlaS a source of 

1. PO 102 55. Wood to Malmesbury, October 20, 1858. 
2. FO '7 541. Seymour to Malmesbury, March 10, 1858. 
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embarrassment for Wood and of irritation for the Bey.l 

Wood again took the initiative and suggested that 

his government should take advantage of favourable 

circumstances to bring the Bey "to recognize in a formal 

manner the temporal Suzerainty of the Sultan". Mohammed 

Bey was apparently convinced tha.t his dependence on the 

porte, being only nominal, did not assure him a complete 

protection; he: seemed to be ready, if Britain took the 

initiative, to accept a rapPJ!Dchement which he had 

always looked for. Wood had persistently repeated 

that the security of the Regency "should not be left 

to depend upon vague assurances that its political 

existence will be respected", and that it could only 

be efficaciously assured by the extension of the guar­

antee of integrity recently given to the Porte. Action 

was the more urgent as the heir apparent, Sadok Bey, 

was known to favour a policy of independence with regard 

to the Porte. A successful negociation, Wood added, 

1. It is for inst8nce very difficult to give account 
for Malmesbury~. s persistent refusal to bestow a 
British order on the Bey who was very eager to be 
awarded one, and who had been covered 01 decora­
tions by all the European Courts, after the pro­
clamation of the Ahd el Aman. His successor was 
at last awarded the order of the Bath in 1865, one 
year after the suspension of the Reforms (FO 102 
55 Wood to Malmesbury, APril 5, 1858; Malmesbury 
to Wood, April 26, 1858). 
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depended on the porte's readiness to give up antiquated 

pretensions and to recognize that it would be more advan­

tageous to aid the solution of the problem "by submitting 

to a pa.rtial but in reality nominal sacrifice, than to 

subject herself eventually to a certain loss." 

Wood accordingly defined, in his Memorandum of 

July 31, 1858, the conditions which the Bey seemed ready 

to accept as the basis for a settlement: The Porte 

'Would ensure "1. Confirmation of the right of succession 

in the family of Hassan ben Aly ••• 2. Non-intervention ••• 

in the internal administration of the Regency. 

3. Continuation of the right of the Be~to arrange and 

carryon their Foreign relations. 4. preservation of 

the Tunisian flag.... 5. privilege of bestowing 

decorations." on the other hand, the Beys would: 

ttl. Formally recognize the suzerainty of the Sultan. 

2. Apply for and receive their investi tur 3~1 3. Coin 

money, 4. and Say the E1riday prayer in the SuI tan's 

name. The question of the tribute (which had never 

been paid by the Husseini Beys) could be solved, Wood 

imagined, by a moderate subsidy which would be consi­

dered as a mere contribution to the defence of the 

Empire. If Baynes had been the first to give an 

accura te description ,of the status quo, Wood's memor­

andum'was the first British attempt clearly to define 
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the practical conditions of an eventual rapprochement 

between the Bey and the Sultan. l 

Wood had realized from the stal'lt that such an 

agreement required the a~probation of the Powers and 

particularly French assent. That very conviction may 

have been shared by the Foreign Office, and may have 

been the reason why Malmesbury instructed Cowley to 

inquire in Paris what the French government would do, 

should Britain take the course of action Wood had advo-

cated (August 1858). The Foreign Office may have 

considered that the policy Wood suggested could not be 

carried on without the knowledge of the French, as 

ultimately it would be impossible to do without French 

agreement. But if the Foreign Office expected any kind 

of success it showed an ingenuousness which was the 

less understandable as in 1856 and 1857 France had' 

refused to cooperate with Britain in Tunis for an object 

which threatened her traditional Tunisian policy much 

less than Wood's scheme was :J.ikely to do. Malmesbury 

may also have thought that the occasion was favourable 

for making a final effort to bring the Imperial Govern-

ment to the much-desired cooperation, and, in case they 

refused,to oblige them to reveal their real objects in TuniS~ 

1. ]1() 102 55. Wood to Malmesbtiry. ,July 31, 1858. 
2. Fe 27 1238. Malmesbury to Cowley. August 25,1858. 
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If such was the case the Foreign Office was acquainted 

quickly and clearly with French views: Cowley reported 

that Walewski "not only evinced no disposition to join 

in such an attempt, but gave to understand that an 

attempt of the kind, made by any other power, would be 

viewed with extreme jealousy by the Imperial Government." 

French policy tlwhetller right or wrong, Walewski added, 

had been to discourage any more ap~roximation than 

existed at present between the Bey of Tunis and the 

Sultantt ; cowley was not surprised by an answer which 

hehad anticipated. l But Malmesbury seemed to be 

unexpectedly taken aback, and he er~ressed a dissatis­

faction which perhaps reveals the ingenuousness of the 

proposal he had made to Walewslci. 

Be that as it may, the Foreign Office informed Wood 

that his scheme offered "many difficulties" and 

acquainted him with Walewski's answer. For the Consul 

it was a further confirmation of the apprehensions which 

he was already entertaining with regard to French policy 

in Tunis. France, he reported, clearly aimed at 

tlfacilitating the annexation of this country to her 

African possessions by its progres sive but eventual 

sel'erance f11 0m Turkey". Wood added to these traditional 

1. FO 27 1260. Cowley to Ma lmesbury, October G, 1858. 
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considerations a suggestion which would have deserved 

to be acted upon: he suggested asking Walewski what was 

the status QUo which, he asserted, France upheld in 

Tunis. perhaps the French would feel greatly embarrassed 

and fail to set forth a coherent doctrine about a ques-

tion which they prefer'red to leave ttundefined and 

uneX'~lainedlt. 1 B~;Lt the Foreign Office did not deem it 

necessary to carryon the discussion: Malmesbury was 

certainly not eager to raise fresh difficulty with the 

Imperial Government, in addition to the numerous prob-

lems which were disturbing Franco-British relations 

in 1858. 2 On the other hand, the relations of the 

Powers with the porte were so strained after the 

Montenegro and Djedda affairslf that the moment was 

rather inauspicious for entering into delicate negocia.­

tions with the ottoman GbVernment about Tunis. 3 It 

was unfortunate that such a conjuncture of circumstances 

should again prevent the Foreign Office from taking a 

positive course of action in Tunis. 

14. .t\fter this episode Wood ceased to set his hopes 

in an eventual Franco English cooperation in Tunis: 

twenty years' experience in the Near East did not 

1. FO 102 55. Wood to Malmesbury, Notamber 5, 1858. 
2. seton-watson, pp. 376-377. 
3. Engelhardt, I, pp. 155-157. 
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encourage him to think that such cooperation could last. 

But even if he had sincerely believed it ~ossible in 

1856 and 1857, he was soon ind,uced to cons:Lder that 

everywhere French policy hindered the execution of his 

programme. The French Government were opposed to a 

settlement of the relations between Tunis and the porte, 

they did not sincerely' a.Jprove the reforms which Roches 

had helped to bring about, they openly obstructed 

Bri tish economic undertakings in rrunis. As in Wood's 

mind British interests had become identified with the 

interest of the Regency, he was gradually brought to 

show distrust, if not hostility with regard to French 

policy, in the name of the welfare of Tunis. 

The winter of 1858-59 saw the growth of an antag­

onism which was but a resumption of the traditional 

Anglo-French struggle for influence in Tunis, and which 

accounts for the memorandum which Wood wrote in July 

1859 for the Foreign Office. Wood attacked the whole 

Mediterranean French policy and remarked that France 

stood in the way of the .:l.ntroduction of allY' permanent 

i~rovement in the administration of Tunis with a view 

to tanng advantage of its disorganisation and ulti­

mately annexatingthe Regency; the French endeavoured to 

prevent a Tuniso Turkish settlement with the same 

object in view. In order to counteract these dangerous 
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designs Wood suggested the adoption of an active policy 

aiming at strengthening British influence in Tunis. 1 

The death of Mohammed Bey (September 22 1859) and Sadok 

Bey's . accession to the throne were immediately followed 

by a convention which gave the concession of the 

'runisian Telegraphs to France (October 24, 1859), an 
",r.."J-

hasty ~ecisioniseemed to entirely justify Wood's 

appre hensi ons. 

15. It is difficult to describe Sadok Bey's true per-

sonality: the disastrous events of his last years have 

cast a shadow over his whole reign and justify the un-

favourable opinions which are generally expressed about 

him. Yet Sadok Bey did not lack talent or capacity 

and the beginnings of his reign were promising. But, 

from s .British point of view, Sadok Bey's attitude 

with regard to Tunisian relations with Turkey was very 

alarming: he leant towards a policy which Ahmed Bey had 

followed before him and he appeared quite soon eager 

to assert his independence, whether he merely desired 

to strengthen his prestige, or acted on Roches' advice. 2 

1. 

2. 

The Memorandum was printed for the use of Diplomatic 
Agents.(FO 102 58. Wood to Russell, July 30, 1859). 
Ben Dhiaf (Sadok Be{, p.9-l0) comments rather severely 
on Sadok's policy: On eut dit ~u'i1 cherchait a 
traiter d'ega1 a ega1 avec les Chefs d'Etat et c'est 
18 1e cas de tous les faibles souverains du regime 
absolu quand leur etat est atteint de la rna1adie de 
la decrepitude - Certes le Bey n'a tenu ce 1angage que 
parce que Leon Roches lui avait fait entrevoir des 
reyeS irrealisables et il a voulu construire des 
chateaux sur le sable." 
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Wood endeavoured to combat the Bey's prejudices and 

tried to convince him to "lay aside personal consider­

ations of ambition and frankly acknowledge the Suzerainty 

of the Sultan"; such a l)olicy, Wood assured the Bey, 

would not lessen his authority, but would on the con­

trary give more stability and security to his position. 

Although he had been deeply impressed by Roches' argu­

ments, and was afraid of being reduced to the rank of 

the Khedive of Egypt or of being involved in the exter­

nal difficulties of the Empire, the Bey finally agreed 

to take advantage of the Mission he was to send to Con­

stantinople on the occasion of his accession, and to 

entl"ust Khaireddin with a secret mission. In case the 

Porte should show a dis~osition to enter into negotiat­

ions with Wood '8 memoranduln of July 31, 1858 as a basis, 

Khaireddin would suggest that, by a note to the 

ambassadors of the Great Powers, it should "invite 

them to assist with their counsel and advice in the 

definition of the matter". Wood expected Russell and 

Bulwer to induce the porte to seize an op~ortunity 

which perhaps would never vecur, even if the Porte were 

to malee some sacrifices to obtain that end. l'he settle­

ment he suggested originated in a realistic concep-

tion of the status quo and took account of the necessity 

of giving to that Status quo "an official value by a 
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Diplomatic act". The new plan seemed more likely to 

succeed than any previous attempt. 1 

Clearly the Foreign Office did not share Wood's 

op tirai SW. In 1858 it had already shown some reluc-

tance to acton Wood's suggestions. The British GGvern-

ment were now well aware of the French hostility to the 
- I 

scheme; they had to weigh the advantages which would 

accrue from a vigorous action at the Porte, against 

the difficulties which would necessarily arise with the 

Imperial Government, at a moment when Italian affairs 

were reaching a climax . and when Russell and Palmerston 

were contemplating a rapprochement or even an alliance 

wi th ~'rance. 2 On the other hand Napoleon was in good 

faith trying to cooperate with Great Britain in Syria, 

in China and in Mexico, and the conclusion of the 

Commercial treaty (January 23, 1860) was giving a 

further proof of his friendly dispositions. Was the 

Foreign Office to rouse a diplomatic storm by trying to 

settle the differences between the Bey and the Sultan 

when the Sultan had just received the Memorandum of 

the 5th of October 1859 in which the European Powers 

expressed their regret for Ottoman dilatoriness in 

1. FO 102 58. Wood to Russell,- November 24, 1859. 
2. Seton-watson, pp. 403-404. 
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implementing the promised reforms, and which Vias to be 

completed shortly afterwards by severe British remon-
1 strances? - From the ~itish point of view it would 

have been difficult to find a moment more inappropriate 

to the action Wood had contemplated. As for the porte, 

she was certainly not eager to increase her difficulties 

with a new burden; and it was most desirable that she 

could make up for her strained relations with the Powers 

by her friendship with France which the proposed nego-

tiations was likely to seriously impair. 

IDlaireddin's negotiations in Constantinople 

(November and December 1859) had indeed little chance 

of success. 2 The porte readily granted the Firman of 

investitute and the usual honours; the ottoman Ministers 

assured Khaireddin that the porte had no intention 

"to interfere with the established state of things or 

to disturb the hereditary rights" in Tunis but wished 

on the contrary to "consolidate the relations between 

the two countries"; none of the proposals written down 

in the memorandwn seemed to arouse opgosition in 

1. Engelhardt, I, p. 161 and 168. 
2. Khaireddin's negotiation of 1859 is actually badly 

Imov:n: Ben Dhiaf makes no allusion to IDlaireddin t s 
secret mission and to the ensuing discussions in 
constantinople; the correspondence bet'ween Bulwer 
and Russel gives no information whatever. 
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constantinople. But the porte did not show any inten­
:( 

tion of entering into more precise conversations; the 

Bey was even advised to act "in a conciliatory manner 

tmvards F:r.a,nce". Bulwer, when consul ted by Khaireddin, 

J'expressed an apprehension tha t the settlement of' the 

question would meet with formidable opposition". 

Khaired,din had to be satisfied Vii th the promise that at 

"the very first favourable opportunity" the porte would 

bring forward the question of' "the re(:ognition by the 

Great Powers of the connection of the Regency with 

Turlcey as an integral part of the Empire". 1 The promise 

was rather vague: Wood could not ignore the fact that 

the policy, the necessity of which he had impressed upon 

the Bey, had run up against the pl"obable oPPosition of' 

France; neither the porte nor Great Britain had dis-

played much energy in overcoming it. Wood was of 

course sorely disappointed. As for the Bey he could 

not but 4raw his own conclusions from the failure of a 

policy which he had reluctantly pursued; it contradicted 

Wood's assurances and justified ROChe's advise; in any 

case it revealed so clearly the weakness of the ottoman 

Government that the Bey would have been imprudent to rely 

entirely on the support of the Porte in case of need. 2 

1. FO 102 60. Wood to Russel, January 28,1860. 
2. Ibid. september 29, 1860. 
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The Tunisian Constitution (1860). 

1 " o. If the reforms had begun in 1857 and 1858 at a 

satisfactory rate, the Bey had afterwards slacl-cened the 

pace so much that at the beginning of 1859 Wood, on the 

eve of going on leave, had deemed it necessary to, 

strengthn the Bey's determination. The drawing up of 

the reforms by the Commission met, of course, with 

numerous technical difficulties; but Wood was princi-

pally disquieted by the development of an opposition to 

the reforms. Some European residents in Tunis were 

beginning to state openly that the course of action 

the Consuls had pursued in 1857 "was a political error" 

which threatened to impair their interests; they 

suggested, that the government should not be encGuraged to 

persist in a policy of improving a country "which ought 
I 

~ be kept according to their opinion 'dans son etat 

normal'". 1 That attitude was calculated to stiffen 

the resistance of these Tunisians who had always been 

averse to the reforms and had accepted them only as a 

temporary expedient. In March 1859 Wood had an inter-

view with the Bey and reminded him of the promises he 

had made in 1857: he impressed upon him the expediency 

1. Wood does not specify the nationality of the adver­
saries of the reforms but the quotation refers 
obviously to the French residents. 
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of accelerating the work and asked him to enforce as soon 

as possible sevel'al measures which aimed at giving more 

efficiency to the administration (Creation of a Council 

of state; direct and personal responsibility of the 

Ministers and officers). The Bey promised to "shortly 

carry out the Organic Laws"l but his death happened 

before he could fulfil his pledge. On the very day of 

his accession to the throne Sadok Bey solemnly swore 

to abide by the Ahd el Aman; a few weelcs later he con­

firmed his engagement in an interview with Wood: "He 

would not only carry out the improvements that his 

late Brother had commenced but he hoped ••• to introduce 

further ameliorations tending to the welfare of his 

people. ,,2 A few days after that interview he instruc-

ted the Commission of Reforms to accelerate the com-

pletion of the Civil· and Penal Codes and of the project 

of political organisation which the Commission had ' 

been preparing for more than a year. 3 

.A second series of Reforms was indeed completed 

by the beginning of 1860. The creation of an official 

Newspaper which was decided in the first weeks of 1860, 

bore the mark of Woodis direct influence. The government 

1. ~'O 102 58. Wood to hlalmesbury, March 19,1859. 
2. Ibid. Wood to Russel, November 12, 1859. 
3. Ben Dhiaf, Sadok Bey, p. 7-8. 
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had long hesitated and were rather reluctant to authorise 

the installation of a printing pre-ss for fear that this 

innovation should raise difficulties with the Powers. 

Wood at last succeeded in convincing Sadok Bey to allow 

Holt, a British sub ject, to establish a printing press 

in Tunis and to publish a newspaper. It was to be 

written in Italian and Arabic; it would be the official 

organ of the governrrlent and placed tfunder its protection 

and censorship" wrlich, it was hoped, woulcl avoid the 

possibility of difficulties with the Europeans. l The 

"Ra'id et 'l'unisi" was published for the first time on 

the 23rd of July 1860. It would be di f ficult to over-

rate the impor·tance of that innovation. The Ra' id was 

to become a tribune for tl1.e expression and defence of 

the reform movement: this was clear enough in the very 

first issue in \vhich liberal and moclernist ideas expressed 

themselves in laudatory references to the British example 

(such open aruniration for the British system of govern-

ment did not fail to offend some touchy European 

Oonsuls).2 Other im) ortant decrees of Reform were 

issued at the begi:nning of 1860: the Oonscri:ptlon Law 

(FebruarY-March 1860) established compulsory and uni ver'sal 

-_._--
1. FO 102 60. Wood to Russell. January 14, 1860. 
2. Ibid., Au~~st 24, 1860. 
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enrolment; the annuc::11 contingent was to be drawn by 

lot fr'om amongst the l'ecrui ts who could however buy 

themselves out. l Two decrees (February 27 and April 

11 1860) reorganized the ministries on the lines 

sug6ested by Wood one year before. 2 

l? In spite of these successes, Wood could not but 

notice a gradual stl'lengthening of prench influence since 

Sadok Bey's accession, and more particularly since the 

failure of liliaireddints mission. The veiled hostility 

between the Fl'lench and British Consuls gave l~ise to a 

struggle in which Wood was not in a position to have 

the last Viord: by clinging to the policy which had 

failed in Constantinople and by refusing to gratify 

the Bey's vanity and desire for independence, the 

Foreign Office could not fail to needlessly irritate 

Sadok Bey. The affair of the Throne, though rather 

Gilbertian, provides a good example of the suspicious 

relations between Wood and the Bey. At the beginning 

of 1860 sadok Bey had decided to avail himself of the 

congratulations he had received from Paris for his 

, '" "avenement au trone" to give "plus de prestige et de 

" grandeur a son rang". During the official ceremony of 

_____ • _____ ,0" __ _ 

1. FO 102 60. Wood to Russell, April 14, 1860. 
2. Ibid. May 26, 1860. 
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investiture he made use of a throne instead of the more 

modest seat of his predecessor s. It was ehough to rouse 

Wood's concern: fearing lest the change should indicate 

the Bey's intention "to assume sovereign rank and 

dignity", he assured sadok Bey that "the occupation of 

a throne by the Bey LalteredJ the status quo. ttl The 

Bey, for his part, was afraid to give cause for ridi­

cule and to lose his prestige if he was to withdraw 

from his initiative: diplomatic skirmishes occurred 

with regard to the piece of furniture which Wood called 

a throne, the Bey a chair and the Prench Ministre des 
.... 

Affaires Etrangeres "a kind of ornament". Wood's 

pugnacious attitude was at last rewarded: to the utter 

astonishraent of the Tunisians he persuaded Roches to 

join in a note to be sent to the Bey with regard to 

the ttlrone, and the Bey officially answered that the 

change of the shape of the chair could be of' no political 

consequence. This put an end to the incident. Three 

months later a change in the Pl"otocul of the Beiram 

reception was similarly inte~preted by Wood as an 

attempt (inspired by Hoches) to weaken his own position 

and to assert the Bey's sovereignty. In this case as 

in the affair of the throne, it Vias the Bey's vanity 

1. FO 102 60. Wood to Russell, February 11, 1860. 
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which had to bear the blame rather than a desire to 

change the political situation of the Regency. 

In August, however, Wood had better reasons for 

apprehension: Napoleon III having decided to go to 

Algiers, Roches suggested to the Bey that he should 

avail himself of that opportunity to meet the Emperor. 

French policy could not fail to take advantage of that 

manifestation of Pl'Jench prestige in Tunis: for the same 

reason, and because he remembered the incidents which 

had followed a similar journey in 1846, Wood thought 

it expedient to dissuade the Bey from accepting the 

invitation. But none of Wood's arguments (the main 

one being ttlat It the Sultan and perhaps some of his 

allies would view such a proceeding with little satis-

faction") could convince the Bey, who never missed an 

o.p~jortunity to strengthen his prestige or to assert his 
1 

autonomy. Wood then tried to interfere with the 

French gar"-le, and assured the Bey that the reception he 

would have in Algiers would not correspond to his rank; 

he even went so far as to say that the Imperial Govern-

ment were so anxious to pl"eserve the status quo in 

Tunis that they desired to avoid in Algiers "the incon-

venience of receiving His Highness either as a Royal 

1. FO 102 60. Wood to Russell, August ~O, 1860. 
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Personage or an independent Sovereign".l All in vain: 

on the 15th of September, the Bey left Tunis for Algiers. 

His short absence had none of the consequences Wood had 

feared but it demonstrated openly the strength of It'rench 

influence in Tunis: though the Bey had received flattering 

marl-CS of consideration, his visit could not but be looked 

upon as that of a vassal to his suzerain. 

18. During his meeting with Napoleon, Sadok Bey 

presented to the Emperor a copy of the Tunisian Consti­

tution which had just been completed by the Commission 

of Reforms and was the outcome of the Reform movement 

initiated in 1857. The Constitution transformed the 

Tunisian absolute Monarchy into a parliamentary monarchy. 

The legislative power was given to a Supreme Council 

composed of sixty Councillors appointed by the Bey 

(twenty from amongst the Higher Officials and forty 

from amongst the notables) and renewable by a system 

which combined co-optation and nomination. Between 

the sessions of the Supelme Council a Permanent Section 

of twelve members exercised the legislative power. The 

Ministers were responsible to the Supreme Council which 

shared the initiative in legislative matters with the 

Bey, particularly for the establishment of the budget 

1. lt~ 102 60. Wood to Russell, September 8, 1860. 



-288-

and for the creation of new taxes. The judicial power 

was completely reorganized: the Courts of Justice 

(courts of First instance, of Appeal and supreme Court 

of Appeal) were to be entirely independent from the 

executive power; the laws and customs would be revised 

and new codes edicted which would apply to all citizens. 

The Constitution reasserted the rights of the Tunisians 

which had already been written down in the Ahd el Aman; 

foreigners were to enjoy the same rights (including the 

right to practise trade and industry, and to acquire 

landed and imnovable property).l 

The text of the Constitution had been submitted to 

Wood's inspection before its proclamation. The Consul 

could not but rejoice at the libera;L character of the 

document, though he expressed serious doubts "as to the 

prudence of granting to a people hitherto unaccustomed 

to the exercise of any power ••• so large a share in the 

administration'!, so large indeed that many civilized 

countries would have been "satisfied with an administra-

tion and institutions based upon the same principles." 

The only possible alternative, however, was the contin­

uation of the abol~tiem and Wood was bound to approve 

the undertaking "with all its perlexities and dangers. tfZ 

1. Fitoussi et Benazet, p. 68-90. 
2. FO 102 60. Wood to Russell, August 22, 1860. 
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Wood tried at least to dissuade the Bey from keeping 

a provision which was likely to create future embarrass-

ment: Roches had suggested the inser~ion of a clause 

subjecting Foreigners to the Local Criminal tribunals, 

perhaps with a view to encouraging the Bey to go to 

Algiers and secure Napoleon's approval. Wood proposed 

that only the mixed causes in which the Tunisian was 

defendent should be brought before the native criminal 

Courts: that prudent advice was ignored and the 

dangerous clause inserted. Actually Napoleon III, 

when consulted by Sadok Bey in Algiers, gave a "courteous 

but evasive" answer: the Bey had thus obtained none of 

the benefits he had e~pected, and he was to reap an 

abundant crop of difficulties. l 

It seemed that the Constitution brought the period 

of Reforms to its conclusion and fulfilled the promises 

made by Mohammed Bey in 1857 and by Sadok Bey in 1859. 

At this stage Sadok Bey reminded Wood of the importance 

of the part Britain had taken in the whole process. The 

implementing of the Constitution was due ,t to Her Ma jesty's 

Consulate General which first took the initiative in 

the matter" and its ultimate success would largely 

1. Ibid. November 15, 1860. (woQd suggests that Roch~s 
had been prompted to make his proposal by the des~re 
to place future difficulties in the Bey's way: see 
also Fa 102 65. Wood to Russell July 30, 1862.) 
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depend on "the encouragement and support Her Majesty may 

give us. Our people confide in the wisdom of Her Govern-

ment, and if we can convince them ••• our success will 

become certain. ttl 

19. In so far as British .policy had contributed to 

the success of the reforms, one must give Wood full 

credi t for it. He had brought with him a programme 

of political reforms which took its pattern from the 

reforms already promulgated in the ottoman Empire and 

had successively overcome all the obstacles which were 

in his way. External events had sometimes helped him, 

but he had made the best of the opportunities, and he 

had cleverly taken advantage of the support he could 

find in 'runis. The promulgation of the Constitution 

was a personal success, more than the result of 8 

clearly defined policy of the Foreign Office. The 

Foreign Secretaries had been more or less neutralized 

by the ]'rench reluctance 'to co-opera te in Tunis with 

Great Britain; their only merit had been to approve 

and support a policy which was in strict conformity 

with the course they followed in Constantinople. Their 

intervention had never been decisive; but it is never­

theless obvious that without their support, and above 

1. FO 102 60. Wood to Russell, November 15, 1860. 
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all wi tllout the.irnpre~sion which prevailed in 1.'unis 

that Wood acted on precise instructions from his govern­

ment, the Reform movement would not have met with a 

success unparalleled in the ottoman Empire. 

Wood had been less successful with the second half 

of his programme. From the start, indeed, he had under­

stood the urgency of' bringing about a solution to the 

problem of the Bey's international position; he had 

suggested various approaches to the problem, some of 

Which were in harmony with the traditional British 

policy, while others would have involved a change in 

it. But his endeavours had been obstructed by the 

French Government which after a period of indecision 

had scrupulously followed the traditional French policy. 

The Foreign Office had been unable either to implement 

Wood's suggestions within the framework of the tradi­

tional British policy, because of French OPPOSition 

and of Turkish weakness, or to look for a new policy, 

because of its own reluctance to depart from the 

principles which palmerston had fixed twenty years 

before. Whatever reason had prevented the Poreign Office 

from acting, fear of French opposition or reluctance to 

change the status quo and irritate the Turks - the 

inaction of the Foreign Office showed that the Tunisian 

problem still depended on the general problem of British 
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relations with Prance and the porte; a fact which resulted 

in the lack of a precise policy in,Tunis. 

In 1860 the future prospects of the Regency 

remained uncertain: the Constitution solved only some 

of the problems which conrronted the Tunisian Government. 

Arter Sadok Bey's return in Tunis, Wood remarked that 

although he proressed a sincere attachment to Britain, 

the Bey's conduct with regard to France wes less concil­

iatory and prudent than unnecessarily subservient. 

Discouraged by the porte's incapacity to take the ini­

tiative in 1859 the Bey seemed to contemplate a politi-

ca.l rapprochement with France. The status quo had lost 

its meaning . . and its effect: the Bey hed no longer confi­

dence in it and his resistance to foreign pressure was, 

accordingly weakening. Under these conditions Wood 

again brought forward the idea that Great Britain should 

"look to some other combination ror securing ~this country-1 

against absorptiontt • l 

As for the Constitution itself Wood was under no 

illusion regarding the difficulty of implementing a 

liberal regime after centuries of absolutism and irres­

ponsibility. Not to mention the problem of jurisdiction 

over foreigners, which threatened to raise serious difficultu£ 

1. FO 102 60. Wood to Russell, September 29, 1860. 
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between the Tunisian and the European Governments, Wood 

wondered whether the Tunisian Government could hold out 

against the pressure of the "universal and overwhelming 

fanaticism of their subjects" and whether tolerant 

institutions brought about by European action could be 

substi tuted for despotism without gi vintg rise to the 

strenuous and unflinching oP.posi tion of those riioslems who 

did not accept the Reforms. l However, Wood concluded, 

there was no choice but between the continuation of an 

absolutism which had degraded the Moslem Countries and 

its replacement by a milder form of governrnent. "With 

all its perplexities and dangers" the experiment which 

was just beginning was to be pursued with nearly 

balanced chances of success and failure. 2 

1. ~"1Q 102 60. Wood to Russell, Septeriiber IS, 1860. 
2. Ibid, August 22, 1860. 



-294-

VI. The Defence of the Reforms (1861-1864) 

1 The ultimate success of the reforms depended 

largely on the capacity of the Tunisians to ensure the 

working of the institutions which had been created in 

1860. There is no ground for supposing that the Bey, in 

the first years of his Reign, was not sincerely deter­

mined to implement the reforms. The new institutions 

deprived him of some of his powers; but they also 

relieved him of the constant pressure which the Consuls 

had brought to bear upon his predecessors. Instead of 

having to deal with a single man who was amenable to 

their advice or threats, 'the Consuls had now to cope 

with a Ministry and Councils which would be less easily 

intimidated and would base their policy upon principles 

which had been forced upon them by the Europeans, to 

resist undue European demands. The high officials· who 

composed the Ministries, supreme Council and Justice 

Courts, were mainly Mamelulces: some of them were very 

remarkable men, as for instance }~aireddin, president 

of the supreme Council, General Mohammed, Governor of 

the Sahel, and General Hussein, president of the Muni­

cipal Council of Tunis. The 'l'unisians were less numer­

ous, but Ben Dhiaf, whom the Bey had appointed a member 
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of the supreme Council, was one of the most prominent 

"reformists". Mamelukes and Tunisians alike showed 

ability and public spirit in the achievement of a very 

difficult task: the new institutions were viewed with 

suspicion or hostility by many Tunisians because they 

ran counter to their traditions, and were sometimes 

opposed to their interests; the economic difficulties 

were even more appalling: the country was backward and 

the Beys' inconsequent and sometimes extravagant, fin­

ancial policy had also contributed to weaken its economy. 

The second condition for the success of the Reforms 

was discretion and moderation on the part of the European 

Powers. They had demanded reforms; would they wait 

with patience for them to take effect and accept the 

limits which the end of absolutism would set to their 

activity in Tunis? Great Britain was bound to support 

the reforms for which Wood's activity was largely 

responsible and which were in harmony with Britain's 

general policy in the ottoman Empire. France had also 

taken an important part in the reforms and had offic­

ially expressed her satisfaction: but there were people 

both in Paris and in Algiers (where French officials 

generally held that sooner or later Tunis would be 

merged with the French possessions) who openly regretted 

a policy which seemed to prohibit any further intervention 
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intervention in the Regency. The situation was to be 

complicated still more by a new factor: The Italian 

llingdom, recently unified, was soon to discover its 

'.L'unisian vocation and to break tumultuously on to the 

Tunisian stage • 

.More decisive however than the attitude of the 

Governments towards reforms was that of the European 

residents and Consuls in Tunis. As early as 1860 Wood 

remarked that the Europeans, "accustomed to live under 

the protection of their respe~tive flags and to enjoy 

exclusive privileges do not wish to see those privi­

leges extended to others, and pretend alarm and apprehen-

sion lest the Natives should abuse the freedom granted 
1 

to them. If To what extent were the Europeans ready to 

give up privileges which the action of their Consuls had 

secured for them; and to what extent were the Consuls 

themselves ready to refrain from making use of more or 

less justifiable claims, for attacking the reforms? 

They still had to justify the flattering opinion Ben 

Dhiaf held of them: "Les Europe.ens sont naturellement 

portes vers la drmiture et l'eQuite", which however he 

immediately qualified: "Peut etre ulira-t-on qu'ils se 

conduisent ainsi dans leur pays et non ailleurs?"2 

------"---
1. ~~ 102 60. Wood to Russell, August 22, 1860. 
2. Ben Dhiaf, Sadok Bey, p. 74. 
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Beginnings of the Constitutional Reforms (1861) 

2. ',j."he principles proclaimed in 1857 and 1860 were 

put into application at the beginning of 1861. ±n 

March, Wood received a copy of the Civil and criminal 

Codes which had just been completed. They combined 

Moslem law with the principles of European law: although 

they could not be expected to attain perfection, Wood 

considered that they were a. very important improvement 

in a counDry where a Code had not previously existed. l 

A few weeks ~ater (APril 23 and 24, 1861) the Bey 

inaugurated the supreme eouncil and the Courts of 

Justice and swore to "follow the laws 1i:hich emerge 

f'rom the Constitution"; the Members of his Family, the 

Ministers, the Ulema, the members of the Council and 

'l'ribuna1s, then took the same oath, amid genera,l 

emotion and enthusiasm.
2 

The new institutions had hardly begun to be 1mple-

mented when a first dif'ficulty arose from the provision 

which the government had decided to insert in the Con­

stitution, aga~nst Wood's adVice, which subjected 

-----_ .. _------
1. Fa 102 63. 'v'iood to Russell March 13, 1861. It is 

difficult to say what part Wood played in the drawing 
up of these texts, as the sources give little inform­
ation on that pOint. We may however remark that in 
1863 Wood was to "lend" Santillana, the Chanc.llor 
of the Oonsulate, to help the Tunisians in the 
draf'tingof the commercial Code. 

2. FO 102 63. Werry to Russell, April 29, 1861. 
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foreigners to Tunisian Courts. In theory the problem 

of jurisdiction, over foreigners was clear enough in 

Tunis: the treaties which had been concluded during the 

XVIlth, XVIlIth and XIXth centuries between the Bey 

and the EUropean Powers provided that mixed cases should 

be settled by the Bey himself (generally in the presence 

of the consul) whether the cases were commercial, Civil 

or criminal, and whether the EUropean was defendent or 

plaintiff (cases involving two Europeans were judged by 
1 

the Consular courts). In the 1856 Treaty with Austria 

the Bey had for the first time agreed that cases of 

criminal offences cormnitted by Austrian nationals 

should be brought before the Consul, with the Bey's 

concurrence for fixing and executing the sentence 

(commercial and civil cases still fell within the com­

petence of the Bey's tribunal).2 The new legislation 

posed a delicate problem, that of the transfer of the 

Bey's jurisdiction to a Tunisian court, which the Bey 

could not expect to solve by himself. But the situation 

was complicated also by the recent assumption by the 

Consuls of rights which had previously belonged to the 

1. Rousseau: Treaties of 1662 and 1716 with Great 
Britain (PP. 431 and 433), of 1665 and 1685 with 
France (pp. 479 and 485), of 1816 with the Two 
Sicilies (p.539). 

2. Rousseau, p. 453. 
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Beys. Not only had they adopted the ·more favourable 

provisions of the Austrian Treaty (which concerned 

criminal affairs only) but they had also endeavoured to 

extend their jurisdiction to all the civil cases in 

which their nationals were involved. 

Wood deplored these encroachments upon Tunisian 

jurisdiction, which had greatly irritated the '£unisians 

and which partly explained the clumsy attempt made by 

them in their constitution, to recover their full con-

trol of jUr1sdiction. l As soon as the Constitution was 

published Wood had made strong reservations: the attempt, 

he said, was dangerous, as it would create unfavourable 

reactions among the Consuls and their Goverbmentsj and 

it was premature, as it was not likely that the Powers 

would at once readily give up their privileges, whether 

rightful (criminal jurisdiction) or usurped. The 

Foreign Office had approved of these reservations and 

remarked that Italthough Her Majesty's Government will 

rejoice when the time arrives for the Christian Powers 

to renounce the special vrivileges enjoyed by their 

sub jects in the 'l'unisian Terri tory, Great Britain 

cannot for herself forego those privileges until 

1. Wood saia bluntly: "'l'he first material infringement 
of Treaty stipulations is directly traceable ••• to 
the action of the foreign Representatives." (FO. 
102 68. Wooo to Russell, JUly 7, 1863). 
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experience shall have shown that British subjects can 

there safely be left without that special protection 

for theil~ versons and their propex·ties.,.l Wood never-

theless carefully abstained from ta lcing any II inexpedient 

and premature" stel) against the constitutional provision 

'which was thus questioned, and left it to others to 

s how their hostility. In tIlls way he avoided appearing 

to obstruct the reforms, while knO\ving that he could rely 

on the other Consuls to raise the mat-c,er wi th the Bey. 

3. In fact the European elements of Tunis (and parti­

cularly the French residents) were not long in showing 

their reluctance to accept the jurisdiction of native 

courts; the intervention of their Consuls followed 

immediately. '1'he Bey then realised the difficulties 

which his hasty decision of 1860 was likely to arouse; 

when the inauguration of ~he Courts of Justice took 

:Jlace (on the 24th of April 1861) he declar'ed ttlat 

negotiations would be entered into with the Friendly 

Powers about jurisdiction over foreigners, and he made 

it clear that the Europeans should. accept the local 

Tribunals as the counterpal~t of the adVantages which 

they had gained under the Constitution. 2 Some Consuls 

---_._.--------
1. }?O 102 60. Russell to Wood, December 24, 1860. 
2. FO 102 63. werry to Russell, April 29, 1861. 
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desired trlst the .Bey should keep his direct right of 

jurisdict~on, which had made it easier for them to 

exert their pressure and allowed them to turn a mere 

judicial affair into an international difference: the 

Bey had. wished to put an end to that situation, and it 

was one of the main reasons for the institution of 

Tribunals. On the other hand if he yielded to foreign 

pressure it would be all the more difficult to make the 

new Tribunals work among the Tunisians. After having 

consulted Werry, who ran the Consulate in Woodts 

absence (he had been sent to Syria on a secret mission), 

the Bey decided to create a "provisional Council" 

which was to judge cases in w11ich Europeans were plain­

tiffs, pending the solution of the problem of juris-

dictLon over foreigners. l Werry was very severe 

towards the Consuls' ,: policy of systematic crpposi tion 

against the native COU1.,tS: they had been It carrying into 

the matter more heat than was perhaps necessary, and 

giving greater publicity to their feelings than was 

certainly prudent. tt On the contrary, Werry remarked, 

the r:J.1unisian Government had readily acknowledged ttthe 

necessi ty of malcing a change whenever such a. necessity 

1. FO 102 63. Werry to Russell, October 5, 1861, and 
Wood, July 15 1862. Ben Dhiaf, pp. 52-53. Ben 
Dhiaf had been apPOinted president of that Provis­
ional r:J.'ribunal. 
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LhadJ been calmly and clearly shewn to them." l 

The Bey was later to give a further proof of his 

sincere desire to apply the Refol~s. A considerable 

proportion of the Tunisian population opposed the reforms 
? 

on various grounds;'J one of the main grievances being 

the slowness of the new Tribunals. The scarcity of 

grain Which occurred in 1861 provided another pretext 

for agi tation. On the first of October 1861, a demon-

stration took place in Tunis and a delegation went to 

the Bardo and asked the Bey to prohibit the export of 

olive oil and grain, and to resume his judicial audiences 

in his Palace; "they would rather have their heads cut 

off by his order, they said, than be graced by fellow 

citizens like themselvest'. The Bey answered that by 

his granting a Constitution he had done more "for their 

benefit and that of the country than any of his Prede-

cessors". Because of the agi ta tion before tile delega-

tion had been sent to him, the Bey decided to hand over 

29 of the rJ..ng leaders to the regular tribunal: after a 

fair trial they were sentenced to relatively light 

punishments (especially if one thinks of the summary 

procedure which would have been their fate before the 

1. 
2. 

:B'10 102 63. Wer'ry to Russell, October 5, 1861. 
tiThe Ultra fanatical party" Werry says; and Ben 
Dhiaf "Certains insenses appartenant a la lie du 
du peuple tl • 
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constitution), and they were actually reprieved some 

weeks after, on Wood's advice. l Whatever may have been 

the Bey's secret thoughts,2 his attitude in the matter 

showed the change which had occurred in Tunis, and 

justified the hopes which Wood pinned on the Reforms. 

Wood's subordinates, asked by the Consul to give inform­

ation about the working of the Reforms, were obviously 

less confident: If stevens, the Vice-Consul in Sousse, 

remarked that the population, at first I'rather astonished", 

seemed to be tfsatisfied" on the whole, the Vice-Consuls 

in Bizerte and Sfax answered that the new order of things 

had rather lessened the internal security, and echoed 

the complaints of the natives and the Europeans against 

the working of the new Tribunals. 3 Wood, however, 

abstained from transmitting these unfavourable comments 

to the Foreign Office, probably with the idea that it 

was premature to pass judgement on an experiment which 

had just begun. 

Wood and the Turkish solution (1861-1863). 

4. Wood had not been in the least discouraged by the 

failure of Khaireddin's mission and he remained convinced 

1. 
2. 

3. 

FO~~63:--~erry to Russell, October 5, 1861. 
Ben Dhiaf (p.80) reports that a notable had convinced 
the demonstrators ttqu'en protestant contre le nouvel 
etat de choses ils repondraient au voeu secret du BeY" 
and seems to share that interpretation of the facts. 
FO 335 112/6 stevens (November 25) Spizzichino 
(November 14), Carleton (November 25 1861) to Wood. 
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that it was urgent that the problem should be solved. 

While on a secret mission in Syria (1861), Wood availed 

himself of several meetings with ~\lad Basha in Damascus 

to re-examine the question. The Turkish statesman 

reasserted that the porte desired that "these 'distant 

Dominions instead of being severed from her, should by 

their closer union add to the general strength of the 

Empire"; the porte wished to reach an agreement which 

would prove satisfactory for the Bey, and it did not 

intend "to encroach u1?on his established and recognized 

Rights and privileges or to intervene in his affairs" • 

In order to overcome French oPPosition, ~~ad Pasha 

suggested a kind of bargain: The porte would acknowledge 

French domination in Algeria, but in compensation It' rance 

and Turkey would conclude an agreement about the frontier 

which would amount to a "de facto" recognition of 

ottoman Suzerainty over Tunis. l 

Wood thought that this suggestion might provide a 

basis for resuming the negociations about Tunis. The 

occasion was provided by Roches' return to Tunis in 

November 1861, which gave the signal for a new prench 

attempt to solve the long-standing frontier question in 

Algeria's favour. strong pressure was brought to bear 

---.--.-. .. . - . , .. , 

1. FO 102 63. Wood to Russell, November 18, 1861. 
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upon the Bey to obtain his agreement to the creation of 

a mixed Commission for the delimination of the frontier. 

Sadok's predecessors had persistently refused to enter 

into "tete a tete" negociations with a partner so power-

ful that she was likely to force her own views upon them. 

Sadok, perhaps because Khaireddin's failure had con-

vinced him that the porte was unable to support him in 

case of danger, seemed to be more prepaI'ed to fall in 

with the French request. l 

Wood feared lest the Bey should be compelled to 

accept unconditionally the ]'rench demands, and he 

accordingly proposed to the Foreign Office that the 

Porte should be encouraged to insist It tha t the li'rench 

Government should recognize her Suzerain rights by 

allowing her to take part in the adjustment of the 

Boundaries tf •
2 In the meantime he persuaded Sadok Bey 

to send a miSSion to Constantinople, with the ostensible 

object of congratulating the Sultan on his accession; 

but the envoy would be instr'ucted "to listen to any 

overtures which ]~ad Pasha •••• might have to make" with 

regard to the Frontier question. 3 Wood was thus paving 

the way for the agreement :ruad Pasha had suggested 

---------_ ..... 

1. FO 102 63. Wood to Russell, November 18, 1861. 
2. FO 102 65. Wood to Russell, January 3, 1862. 
3. Ibid, January 10, 1862. 
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making about Tunis. The Consul moreover laid the 

emphasis on the importance of settling the frontier 

question: it was in itself a very serious problem; 

furthermore, should the Bey feel that he was completely 

isolated and that the porte was unable or unwilling to 

protect him, his discouragement might bring about 

serious political consequences. l But the matter now 

exceeded Wood's powers and it remained for the Foreign 

Office and the Porte to make the best possible use of 

his suggestions. 

5. As in 1859, and for very similar reasons, the 

'runisian Envoy came back with empty hands from Constan-

tinople. The circumstances were as unfavourable as two 

years earlier to the negociation which Wood had suggested; 

the porte showed the same relUctance to worsen its 

relations with France at a moment when the Syrian Crisis 

had strained its relations with the European powers 

nearly to brealcing pOint. France was taking so great 
-------.-... - •... . -
1. Campenon (then Chief of the French military Mission 

in Tunis) gives suggestive indications about the 
possibility of using the confusion of the Algero­
Tunisian frontier: "on a voulu delimiter une fron­
ti~re entre la R~gence et l'Alg~rie," he wrote in 
1862 to the ]lrench War Office. "11 faut ••• cue la 
frontiere reste vague. N'engageons pas Ie -present, 
reservons nous l'avenir et n'elevons pas de barriere 
entre la riche vallee de 1a Medjerda, les gisements 
metallurgiques et la foret de liege I du ma~sif de 
Tabarque." (quoted by Granchamps " Revolut~on de 1864" 
I, xvi). 
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a part in the Syrian affair, and her influence was so 

strong in Constantinople that Aali Pasha was deterred 

from confronting her for the sake of the Bey of Tunis, 

a distant, and recalcitrant vassal. l As Bulwer wrote 

to Wood as early as February 1862" the Porte feared 

lest prance might "not only oppose her intervention 

but ••• might even refuse to recognize the Suzerain 

rights of the Sultan over this Regency.,,2 The Foreign 

Office admitted that these fears were well grounded. 

On the other hand it was difficult to encourage the 

Porte to interfere wi th l'unisian affairs and involve 

itself in more trouble at a moment when, referring to 

the recent occurences in Syria, Russell was solemnly 

warning the Sultan that "the public opinion of Europe 

would not approve of a protection accorded to the 

Porte in order to prevent the signal punishment of a 

Government which should per~mit such atrocities to 

continue. u3 

Russell's answer to Wood's suggestion made it 

Quite clear that the Foreign Office was not surprised 

by "the reluctance of the 'llurkish Government to exer-

cise itE rights of suzerainty over the Regency of 

1. Driau1t, pp. 186-187, and 195-197. Debidour, 
Histoire diplomatioue, II: , p. 238. 

2. ]'0 102, 65. Wood to Bu1wer, May 10, 1862. 
3. Marriott, p. 321. 
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Tunis. " Obviously Russell had not deemed it necessary 

to put pressure upon the Porte, as had been proposed 

by the Consul: "It is useless to expect that the Porte 

will vigorously assert a supremacy which she has vir­

tually abandoned for half a century, nor is it 

probable that Aali Pasha or the Grand Vizir will affend 

Turlcish pre judices by making what will a~pear to be 

a needless concession." That discouragement is easily 

accounted for by the previous failures; it is more 

difficult to ex-plain how Russell could nevertheless 

assert that "the present status quo must be maintained."l 

As Wood remarked, the portels policy of successive 

renunciation could not but weaken if not destroy 

her Suzerain rights in the long run. For fear of 

meeting :B'rance IS oPPosition the porte had gradually 

reduced its suzerainty over Tunis nearly to nothing. 

l'he 1'unisian Govermllent had reason to believe that 

"either the porte is grown indifferent to the possession 

of this Province or that she is too weak and unable 

directly or indirectly to vindicate his rights and 

afford its protection". The only l ogical policy, Wood 

concluded, since Great Britain refused to aclOlowledge 

the independence of Tunis, was to tttake action in the 

1. FO 102 65. Russell to Wood, May 26, 1862. 
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matter" to draw the Regency from its "present undefined 

position" inetead of leaving it to "drift out of its 

connexion with the porte".l 

6. Wood's argument was logical but the Foreign Office, 

being unable to carry out its policy and reluctant to 

change it, was content with the reassertion of a 

meaningless ttstatus quo". Nothing was more signifmcant 

of that policy than the insistence of the Foreign 

Office on maintaining the semblance of Turkish Suzerainty 

in Tunis: That attitude was likely to rouse minor 

di f ficulties with the Bey and to hinder Wood's action 

in Tunis without really benefitting British Policy. The 

proclamation of the Constitution occasioned an overflow 

of decor'ations from every court in Europe: Great 

Bri tain alone failed publicly to expl"ess her satisfac­

tion. In January Wood was even obliged to remind the 

Foreign Office of the Bey's letter which accompanied 

the text of the Constitution; the Boreign Office had 

actually forgotten to acknowledge receipt of the letter 

and of the Constitution, and to reply with the usual 

official letter of congratulations. 'rhere was appar-

ently no reason for that omission except carelessness, 

and it was immediately rectified, but the delay could 

1. Fa 102 65. Wood to Bulwer, May 10, 1862. 
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not but cause "personal mortif'ication and disa.ppoint-
1 ment to the Bey." In 1862 the Bey agreed that Tunis 

should be represented in the London Exhibition: but the 

Turkish Ambassador demanded that the Tunisian stand 

should be merged into the Turkish exhibition; the 

British of1'icials supported that demand and the Bey, 

remembering the precedent of the Exhibition of 1851 

(when Tunis had a separate stand), decided to give up 

the whole scheme. The incident created "a very 

painf'ul sensation in Tunis tl •
2 Similarly, when acquainted 

in December 1862 with the project for an Anglo-Tunisian 

Convention, the Foreign Office took care to write 

consistently "Regency of Tunis" in the place of the 

words "Kingdom of' Tunis". which had been used everywhere 

by the Tunisian Government. 3 

A little later the Foreign Office had an oppor­

tunity to reassert British policy in TuniS. Wood had 

reported that the !t'rench and Spanish Consuls laid claim 

to the title of "Charge d'Affaire" and asked for 

advice, as their pretensions weakened his own position. 

Russell replied that this nomenclature was tantamount 

to ua recognition in the person of the Bey of some 

1. Fa 102 63. Wood to Rus~; ell, January 12, 1861. 
2. Fa 102 65 Wood to Russell, March 12, 1862. 
3. Ibid. Note dated December 22, 1862. 
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species of independent sovereignty", but that the 

British government were not prepared to change their 

views concerning that problem "whatever other Powers 

may do". Russell, however, did not deem it necessary 

to start discussions "as to the position which those 

Powers may think fit to consider that the Bey of Tunis 

holds towards the porte. ttl It is not necessary to 

call attention again to the inconsisten~ly of some of 

the principles of British policy in Tunis; but it is 

not superfluous to remark that by refusing to discuss 

the French conception of the Bey's "independence" 

Russell was in danger of allowing it to become law in 

Tunis; the "Turkish solution" thereby became more 

chimerical than ever. Campenon clearly indicated how 

the French policy could take advantage of that confused 

·si tuation: "On a voulu faire de 'llunis un petit royaurne 

independent," he wr(J)te in 1862, "notre interet est 

qu'il conserve sa pOSition ambilue, qu'il reste, en 

droit, vassal de la porte; en fait independant grace a 
notre protection: entout temps sous le coup de la 

I 
... 

crainte du Turc, le jour ou la main de la France 

s'eloignerait de lui.,,2 

1. FO 102 68. Russell to Wood, July 10, 1863. 
2. Grandchamps, I, XYI, Campenon to the llI4inistre 

de 1a Guerre, May 31, 1862. 
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The first threats against the Reforms (1862-1863) 

7. British inf~uence would most likely have suffered 

from these difficulties if the Tunisian government, and 

particularly the "Reform party" had not been obliged 

to 1001::: for Wood's support against the increasingly 

critical attitude of Italy and France to the Reforms. 

After two years' working of the Reforms the French 

element was beginning to realise that the administra­

tive and judicial improvements had created a situation 

much less favourable for the intervention of their 

Consuls than the previous absolute regime, a result 

which Wood had foreseen and wished for. As Constant, 

the most authoritative exponent of French policy, was 

to say of the Constitution: "C'est la ruine de nos 

privileges, la fin de notre preponderance •••• La Con­

stitution fonctionne a peine et deja nous regrettons 

de l'avoir imposee au Beyff.l As early as 1861 and 1862 

the question of the provisional Commission and of the 

jurisdiction over foreigners brought about a lengthy 

exchange of notes between Roches and the Bey, which 

revealed basic differences of opinion. 2 

While the relations between the French Consul and 

the Bey were becoming embittered, Roches was nevertheless 

1. Constant, p. 34. 
2. Ben Dhiaf, pp. 50-64. 
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unable openly to express his disappointment regarding 

the fruits of the policy which he had warmly advocated 

from 1857 to 1860 and which remained the policy of his 

government. But Colonel Campenon,l had full liberty to 

give his opinion and to launch an offensive against 

the Reforms. The political power, he wrote in May 1862, 

had passed out of the Bey's hands into the hands of 

irresponsible Mamelukes; dissatisfaction was increasing 

in the country against the Reforms. Campenon then 

severely criticized the policy of the European Agents 

from 1857 to 1860: "On ne s'explique guere comment les 

Consuls Europeens ••• ont pu se rendre complices de la 

creation monstrue.use de ce Conseil Supreme, ou tous les 

pouvoirs sont confondus et qui n'est qu'une reminis-

cence des anciens Divans Turcs lt • r.che Consuls had lost 

their influence: "Aujourd'hui Itintervention directe 

des Consuls sur le Bey n I existe plus .: .. hli sque le Eey 

ne gouverne l)lus. Leurs conseils ne sont plus demandes, 

leurs rel)resentations guere ecoutees". Campenon 

advocated a gradual action: "S'il ne parait guere 

possible de forcer le Bey a dechirer le pacte qutil 

----- .. - -

1. Campenon, then captain, had been entrusted witll the 
organisation of the Bey's army from 1850 to 1854. 
He returned to Tunis in 1862, as a Colonel and Chief 
of the :b'rench r,l-ili tary Mission, and remained in 
fl1unis until 1864. He was to be Minister of War 
in Gambetta's Cabinet in 1881. 
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a jure, il y a a ~eine une annee, forgone au moins son 
... / /' 

gouvel:'nement a marcher avec moderation et equite dans 

l'application de reformes aussi radicaJes". The French 

Consul should speak "haut et feI'me" and rally the 

b'ol~eign Agents around him with of course the exception 

of Wood, who would not have been sorry to change the 

Regency into 'fune sorte de Belgique sur le flanc droit 

de nos possessions Afr'icaines".l On the French side 

the Tunisian Government could not henceforward expect 

more than a neutrality which was becoming less and 

less benevolent. 

The feelings of the Italian government and -Consul 

were undergoing the same changes: as early as October 

1861 the arrival in 'runis of Nigra (then Directeur du 

Departernent des Affaires Etrangeres) and of General 

Della Rocca, to investigate the claims of Italian 

subjects against the Tunisian Government, had shown 

that the newly created Kingdom of Italy intended to 

have an active Tunisian policy, a pretension which was 

justified by the importance of Italian interests in 

Tunis: one third of the traffic at the Goulette in 1865 

was Italian.,. and in 1860 out of 10,000 Europeans at 

least 3,000 were Italians. 2 

1. 

2. 

Grandchamps I, XII to XVI: Carnpenon to Randon, 
Ma y 31, 1862. 
cuhiso1, La Regence ,de Tun. is (1867) p.'i!9, and V. 
Guerin, VOJage a!Ch801og1qae (186?l. 



The Italian nationals in Tunis were among the first 

and most resolute opponents of the Reforms: their Consul 

had to be prudent in his dealings with them and more or 

less to support their most questionable claims for fear 

of being recalled by his goverrunent as a result of 

their representations. l 

8. Under these conditions Wood's task was very diffi­

cult: he had to advise and encourage the 'l'unisian 

Government in the way of }/.eforms, and at the same time 

it was incumbent on him to moderate the '£unisian 

feelings of irritation towards Europeans who were 

hostile to the Reforms. On the other hand Wood had to 

struggle with the other Consuls, to try to overcome 

their suspicion and to remove the obst'acles which 

hindered the development of the improvements. ' li1inally 

Wood had to endeavour to awaken the remote interest 

which the Foreign Office took in the problem of Reforms: 

none of his appeals for the backing of his Government 

was ever left unanswered; but the punctual approval of 

the Foreign Offuce revealed a dispassionate and rather 

unimaginative approach to the 'runisian question. 2 

1. Ben Dhiaf, p. 65. Wood (FO 102 65 July 30 1862) 
comes to the same conclusion. 

2. PO 102 65. Wood to Russell, July 30,1862, october 
30, 1862. 

_ ... __ .-: 



-316-

His patience was, however, severely tried by the 

strange behaviour of tile European residents: "It is a 

singular phenomenon," he wrote on JUly 30, 1862, "that 

whilst the foreigners in the Levant should complain 

that the Concessions made in virtue of Hatti Houmayoum 

remain inoperative, the Europeans in Tunis should com-

plain that the Bey is too serious in carrying out his 

promise of organic reforms". And Wood then expounded 

the reasons of that attitude: before the hef'orms the 

excessive pressure of their Consuls enabled the 

Europeans to do business tfin a manner that would never 

have been tolerated in a more civilized state of 

society"; that behaviour was no longer consistent 

with the existence of' new Courts of' Justice, "unin­

fluenced by political motives and unmoved by threats. ttl 

And the very consequences of' the Reforms which deeply 

annoyed the Consuls f'illed Wood with satisf'action: 

"The Bey being now bound to act with and by the advice 

of the Council of state, is placed in a better position 

to resist the pressure and importunities to which here­

to fore he was individually subjected." 2 

Wood considered that as a whole, the Tunisian 

judges did not deserve the accusations which were 

1. PO 102 65. Wood to Russell, July 30, 1862, N.23. 
2. Ibid, N. 24. 
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brought against them: IIrrhe Provisional Commission is 

discharging its duties to the best of its power". The 

Consul gave whole-hearted support to the Commission 

and Ben Dhiaf, as the president of the Commission, 

deeply appreciated that sympathetic attitude:"L'impart­

ialite du Consul Anglais Richard Wood au ~ge du Trib­

unal Provisoire merite d'etre citee par tout homme 

juste •••• Ainsi les Tunisiens purent se rendre cowpte 

de visu que les Anglais etaient justes et malgre 

leur amour de la liberte s'inclinaient devant les 

decisions du juge tt • Wood carefully avoided exasper­

ating the difficulties in which he sometimes happened 

to be involved with the 'funisian authorities, a policy 

which induced Campenon to say that Wood "faisait fort 

bon marche" of the interests of the Maltese population. 

Indeed he dealt with British interests in Tunis in a 

manner which was characteristic of his policy: when the 

complaints of the British Merchants had led him to ask 

the Bey to speed up the judicial procedure against 

ind,ebted Tunisians, Wood tried to overcome the Bey's 

reluctance without giving to his intervention a comm­

inatory character. And when full satisfaction had been 

given by the Bey to his requests, Wood recommended the 

1. Ben Dhiaf, p. 75. 
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British Agents to show the utmost prudence: "Instead 

of making it appear that these arrangements are the 

fruit of pressure and remonstrance, you will testify 

to the ••• local authorities the gratitude of British 

Community for this fresh evidence of the interest 

wh.l..ch His Highness takes in their pros-peri ty".l 

Owing to that moderation Wood was able at one 

time to encourage the Bey to resist Foreign Pressure 

and to receive from him the renewal of his pledge 

"that he would never abandon the Organic Laws he had 

solemnly sworn to maintainu2 ; at another time he 

advocated patience when, irritated by the refusal of 

the Europeans to accept local laws, the Bey conten~lated 

the withdrawing of the advantages which the constitu-

tion gave to them: Wood then would represent to him 

that the institution of a double system of administra-

tion (one for the Eur'opeans and the ot!1er for the 

Tunisians), would certainly lead to the restoration 

of the "old arbitrary system" to the entire satisfac-

tion of some Europeans. 3 Wood could also exercise a 

kind of arbitration between the OPPOSite tendencies 

which co-existed in the Tunisian Government. In 

1. FO 102 65. Wood to Russell, July 19, 1862. 
2. Ibid. July 30, 1862. 
3. Ibid. August 9, 1862. 
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November 1862 Khaireddin had tendered his resignation 

from his functions of Minister of Marine and of presi-

dent of the Supreme Council on accouht of his disagree-

ment with the Bey about the Constitutional responsi­

bility of the Ministers before the Supreme council. l 

That Constitutional crisis indicated a serious change 

in the political customs in Tunis in so far as it was 

the first time that a governmental crisis had ever 

occurred in a country where the tiiinis ters generally 

left their pOSition only when they died or fell out 

of favour (in the latter case they normally lost their 

properties and ended their career in priEon or on the 

scaffold) • Wood, however, deemed it necessary to 

recommend to Khaireddin (who was thus becoming "leader 

of the opposition" in the supreme oouncil) to avoid 

"rendering the Bey averse to the new order' of things 

by an indiscrete and perhaps impolitic attempt to weaken 
2 

and curtail the Bey's prerogatives and rights". 

9. Wood was not fully satisfied with a purely de-

fensive attitude: apart from his daily struggle against 

1. Khaireddin thought t llSt the Bey could not accept 
the resigna tion of one of his ll'linisters without 
the previous assent of the Supreme Council, the 
Bey that the Oonstitution allowed him to dismiss 
a Minis t er who had no longer his confidence. 

2. Fe 102 65. Wood to Russell, December 3, 1862. 
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the obstacles which existed in the path of the Reforms, 

he never stopped thinking of extend.ing the results 

previously obtained. It was partly with that object 

in view that he seized upon an overture made by 

Khaireddin and suggested to the Foreign Office, in 

August 1862, that it should negociate with the Bey an 

agreement defining the conditions lIupon which British 

subjects should be entitled to hold property in this 

countr'y according to the provisions of the Organic 
1 

Laws." wood's views in the matter coincided but 

partly with Khaireddin's: one can notice here (and it 

will not be the last time) that the Consul succeeded 

very cleverly indeed in tacking the development of 

Bri tisll interests in Tunis on to the cause of the 

R(; forms. It is unnecessary to dwell upon the material 

benefit which the British residents could reap from an 

agreement which was the necessary starting-point of 

the creation of European agricultural and industrial 

undertakings in the Regency: from that point of view 

the proposed convention was in full conformity with the 

policy of economic penetration which Wood had advocated 

as early as 1857 but which had not been in the least 

successful. The other side of the project, while 

undoubtedly appealing more to Kb.aireddin's imagination 

-------._-----
1. FO 102 65. Wood to Russell, August 23, 1862. 
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had quite as much interest for Wood: it went without 

saying that as a preliminary condition for the agree­

ment, the Bey insisted that the foreigners who would 

profit by it should be brought before the local courts, 

in accordance with the local laws; the project suggested 

to London in October 1862 was very clear on this pOint. 

Wood had shown since 1860 that he did not fear the 

application of l'unisian jurisdiction to his Nationals; 

but the other Europeans refused it and this problem 

was one of the most serious difficulties in the way 

of the J:.~eforrns. There was, however, no doubt that 

were the British to obtain the right of holding 

immovable property in Tunis, the other Powers would 

ask for the extension of that privilege and would be 

therefore obliged to accept the jurisdiction of the 

local courts under the local law. In this way the 

Powers would be led. by concern for "leur interet bien 

entendu" to accept conditions which two years' discuss­

ions could not induce them to contemplate. A decisive 

step would at last be taken towards the consolidation 

of the Reforms. l 

i. FO 102 60. Wood to Russell, August 23, 1862, and 
October 18, 1862. It was of course not a mere 
coincidence that Wood's project in Tunis was 
nearly similar to the project brought forward in 
constantinople 1>y the Ambassadors (1862). The 
matter was, however, to fail in constantinople 
(until 1867) owing to the problem of the application 
of local jurisdiction to Foreigners (Engelhardt 
I, pp. 211-213). 
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Italian Offensive against the Reforms (1863-1864) 

10. . It was the more urgent to escape from the dead­

lock with regard to the problem of the jurisdiction 

over foreigners, because Italy was seizing upon that 

question for launching the first full-scale offensive 

against the Reforms. 

A series of trifling difficulties had put a strain 

upon Italo-Tunisian relations in 1863 and had given 

an im:pression tr1at Italy was looking for a pretext for 

ta,king up a more active policy in Tunis. Wood had 

tried to bring about an amicable settlement of these 

difficulties either by bringing pressure to bear upon 

the Italian Consul, or by advising the Bey to make 

seasonable concessions. But the problem of the com­

petence of the Provisional Commission was a very 

serious one, which led very quickly to the intervention 

of the Italian Government. Wood had expressed more 

than once his satisfaction at the working of the 

Comrnission. on the other hand many Europeans, and 

particularly the French and Italian Consuls, openly 

questioned the impartiality of the Tunisian judges. 

The Tunisians were of course irritated and bore uneasily 

"les proc~des>vexatoires et humiliants tl to which they 

were subjected. l They felt that their resentment 
------.. .. . ,_._--._ . ..... _-
1. Ben Dhiaf, p. 64. 
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was the more legitimate as it had been agreed from the 

start that the provisional Commission would have its 

competence limited to those cases in which Tunisians 

were defendents. It did not at all follow from this 

concession that the 'runisians gave up asserting that 

Tunisian jurisdiction applied to all mixed cases, civil 

or commercial: they were undoubtedly in the right 

according to the letter of the treaties, but the 

}'rench and Italian Consuls were reluctant to admit it. 

Lengthy discussions ensued between the Government and 

the two Consuls in 1861 and 1862. 1 The Provisional 

Commission was or course strongly tempted to settle 

the problem by itself and to call before it cases in 

which foreigners were defendents. Wood had perSistently 

rejected such a scheme: while refusing to discuss the 

justice of the Tunisian ... , .. e-rguments, he thought that 

such an attempt could. not but lead to serious diffi-

culties. He had, however, shown his conciliatory 

spirit by authorizing British subjects, when defendants, 

to go before the Commission in order to determine 

whether the case was ~orth being. brought ~p before 

the Consular Court. Though Roches had accepted the 

same arrangement the Italian Consul had refused to 

1. Ben Dhiaf, pp. 53-68. 
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accept any kind of compromise, even temporarily.l and 

in April 1863 an attenwt of the Commission to summon 

Italian defendants before it resulted in an appeal of 

the Cohsul to his government: Wood had tried, without 

success, to dissuade his colleague from a decision 

which was hurried and out of proportion to the impor­

tance of the incident. 2 

'rhe Italian Government turned to the li'oreign 

Office. In May 1863 D'Azeglio, the Italian Foreign 

l'1'Iinister, indicated the points which the Italian 

Government thought should entail the criticism of the 

Great Powers with regard to the Constitutional provi­

sions of 1860: the right given to foreigners to hold 

immovable property on condition that they should 

accept the relevant local laws (article 113); the 

application of the jurisdiction of local Courts to 

foreigners:; whether plaintiffs or defendants (article 

114).3 The problem, important as it was for foreig-

ners, did not seem to justify the appeal to interbat­

ional action which the Italian Government were con-

templating, the more so as they were still negociating 

directly with the Bey. It seems logical to interpret 

1. FO 102 68. Wood to Russell, July 7, 1863. 
2. Ibid, APril 18, 1863. 
3. FO 4551. D'Azeglio, May 9, 1863. , 
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the Italian demarche in London as aiming at isolating 

Wood and depriving him of the support of his govern­

ment in order to facilitate direct attacks on the 

keforms. 

The Foreign Office could not but notice from the 

beginning that d'Azegliots views were exaggerated. As 

early as the 12th of May Hammond, the permanent Under­

Secretary, remarked, with regard to the policy of the 

Tunisian Government: ttl do not see that we can object 

to this as contrary to the treaty". Wood was immed­

iately consulted and his reply was a firm defence pf 

the keforms and a vigorous criticism of the behaviour 

of some European agents and residents in Tunis. To 

begin with, he annihilated D'Azeglio's legal argwnents 

by a close examination of the legal status of the 

Europeans as justifiee. by Treaties, and of the subse­

quent distortions brought about by the activity of the 

Consuls: the "ancient customs and Consular prerogatives" 

alluded to by D'Azeglio, appeared doubtful, unless 

he meant by them "those contraventions and deviations 

from cur Treaties which .the Foreign representatives 

have forced upon the 'llunisian Government by the 

employment of moral coercion and a pressure beyond 

the power of the Bey to resist". Wood admitted that 

the Bey, in ~ite of his advice, had tried to go too 
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far: but the princi~les written down in the Constitu­

tion had remained inoperative and Wood had onee more 

endeavoured to dissuade the Bey from claiming direct 

jurisdiction. The Bey ha.d promised to be patient and 

he had undertaken to communicate a project for a 

Commercial Code and Court which would provide a definite 

settlement of the problem. With regard to the Bey's 

refusal to grant the right to hold imrnovable property 

to Europeans unless they gave him reliable e>""Uarantees, 

Wood remarked that his cautious attitude was entirely 

justified by the present attitude of the foreigners: 

those who held (illegally) immovable properties 

eluded the laws and local regulations so that the 

government feared lest "they should, as in other 

instances accept the boon but reject the obligations 

attached to it". The projected Convention was the 

only answer to these difficulties. D' ,. Azeglio' s demand, 

Wood concluded, was part of the attempt made by the 

majority of the foreign residents to bring about the 

abrogation of the organic laws: they "have manifested 

a spirit as factious as it is intolerable ••• they have 

avowed themselves the enemies of the establisbment of 

regularity in the system of administration because 

such regularity shuts the door to acts which must be 

passed in silenceu • As the British consul was the main 
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obstacle to their action by the support he gave to the 

Reforms, they were now trying to paralyse him and to 

induce the British Government, "on pretence of preser­

ving intact Treaties from which we have so largely 

deviated ourselves, to cooperate with them by its 

passive attitude, to destroy wt~t has been so humanely 

accomplished". 1 

Wood's reasoning was convincing. The Foreign 

Office gave the Florence government to understand that 

it regretted the attitude of excessive intransigence 

which they had assumed in Tunis. The Italian Government 

then perhaps tempered their action in Tunis: it appeared 

at least that for a short time the Italian Consul 

adopted more conciliatory manners in his dealings with 

the Government of the Bey, and that a lull followed 

Russell's clear endorsement of Wood's action in Tunis. 

11. While he was trying to avert the eventuality of 

an Italian intervention, Wood was quickening ttle pace 

of the negociations for the Anglo-Tunisian Convention. 

As was to be expected, the difficulties which the 

European Residents in Tunis were raising with regard 

to the jurisdiction problem, made the Tunisian govern­

ment uneasy and dubious whether they should. facilitate 

1. Fa 102 68. Wood to Russell, July 7, 1863, N.20 
and 21. 



-:318-

European penetration: the most responsible Tunisian 

statesmen were at least strengthened in thei~ desire 

to obtain reliable guarantees for the future. Some of 

them remarked with bitterness that they did not endure 

easily the fact that "notwithstanding the progress 

they had made in Tunisian affairs they were still 

treated as corsairs and Pirates by Foreign Agents". 

Wi th a view to gaining their support, Wood insisted 

upon the argument which was the most likely to convince 

them: that the Convention would bring about a solution 

of the problem of jurisdiction over foreigners. l 

The last objections were ultimately overcome and 

the Convention concluded (October 1863) when Wood, 

accol"'ding to the suggestion of' the Prime Minister and 

the "most advanced members of the Council", agreed to 

insert in the dra1~t convention a new provision which 

read a s follows: I1l1'he right of Bri tish sub jects to 

hold irmnovable property being derived from enactments 

founded upon the organic laws •••• it has been further 

agreed that they shall be maintained as a greater 

security for the due performance of the conditions 

of the present conventionll • 2 The avowed aim of that 

addition was to give an international character to the 

1. FO 102 68. Wood to Russell, July 16, 1863. 
2. FO 102 68. Ibid. August 1, 1863. 
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organic laws and trius place them under British guarantee 

and su:pervi sioh. It suited Wood's policy so well 

that it is hardly credible that the Consul should have 

been purely passive in the matter (some weeks later 

Wood similarly persuaded the Bey to create a Privy 

Council to ensure the continuance of the Reforms and 

to protect the Regency "against the possibility of 

future misgovernment"). 1 

Wood did not ~o$e sight of the economical advan-

tages the Convention Vias bound to bl"ing about. He 

was negociating actively for a project of a Railway 

from Tunis to the Goulette but the government had had 

so little cause "to be satisfied with the manner its 

contracts and concessions ~had-1 been carried out by 

Foreigners" that they showed the utmost caution. On 

the other hand a mining scheme was under consideration 

and in December 1863 the Bey had d.ecided to have a 

Survey of the Mines, forests, and other natural 

resources of the country execmted at his own expense, 

as a prelude to the economic exploitation of the 

country. 2 It seemed as if the Convention was ful-

filling the purposes Wood had in view at the beginning. 

1. 
2. 

~u 102 68. Wood to Russell, october 8,1863. 
Fa 335 116/2. Wood to Pearson, September 12,1866. 
Lindo to Wood, October 10, 1863. Wood to Jump, 
February 20, 1864. 
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It so happened, however, that it came too late to save 

the Reforms, and that, by opening 'llunis to European 

undertakings, it was to contribute to the ultimate ruin 

of the Regency, a nearly . j~neluctable consequence which 

Wood had not foreseen. 

12. The lull which followed the failure of the first 

Italian offensive against the reforms was very short 

lived. At the end of the summer of 1863 a new Italian 

Consul arrived in Tunis. Gambarotta was well knovm 

to be intransigent; as a matter of fact he again took 

up the discussion of the jurisdiction problem, and 

warned the Bey "that his government was averse to the 

new administrative system and would wish to see a 

return to the old order of things".l The Quai dtorsay 

too sent a new Consul in Roches' place in November. 

De Beauval was a man "nerveux, orgueilleux, de langage 

brutal" who was perhaps entrusted with a secret mission, 

unknown to the very French Ministre des Affaires 

Etrangeres: Napoleon III himself would. have charged 

him with the task of paving the way for his project 

of a "Reyaume Arabe" in which Algiers and Tunis would 

have been merged. 2 The very existence of the scheme 

1. 
2. 

]1() 102 68. Wood to Russell, septembel" 28, 1863. 
Emerit, La Revolution Tunisienne de 1864 (Revue 
Tunisienne 1939, pp. 222-225)_ 
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is uncertain, but De Beauva1 appears to have been in 

indirect relations with the Emperor outside the official 

channels. lie had no sooner arrived in 'l'unis than he 

sent very hostile reports about the Reforms: he resumed 

Carrrpenon' s main arguments (failure of the Constitution, 

domination of the Mamelukes and.Wood's intrigues) and 

suggested a policy of active opposition to the It.eforms. 

Drouyn de Lhuys advised him to be prudent .but actually 

gave him free scope of action: "8i nous devons tenir la 
, / / 

main a ce Que nos nationaux ne seient yas leses dans 

leurs droits seculaires, nous ne saurions etre trop 
I / / 

reserves en ce qui concerne l'saministration interieure 

du pays, dans laquelle nou.s n' avons aucun ti tre a 
intervenir, a moins que les interets de nos nationaux 

ne s'en trouvent particulierement atteints".l To 

begin with, de Beauval tried to induce the Bey to can-

cel the Convention of 1863 as favouring British inter-

ests toornuch: his demand did not meet with success. 

De Beauval perhaps went 80 far as to demand the dis-

missal of the prime Minister, Mustapha Khaznadar, whom 

he held responsible for the situation in Tunis. 2 Things 

were obviously heading for a crisis. 

1. Grandchamps I, p. XV-XIX and p.4: De Beauva1 
November 21, 1863. nrouyn de Lhuys December 23,1863. 

2. Felix Julie.l.l, Tunis et Carthage, p. 7. 
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In the meantime Wood did not remain idle: he 

endeavoured to allay Gambarottats hostility to the 

Refobms and to convince him Itof the fallacy of any 

attempt to compel the Tunisian government to abandon 

the present administrative system based upon European 

In'sti tutions for an autocracy of the most despotic 

description". He advised him "to act with moderationtt 

with a government whose difficult task entitled them 

Uto patient forbearance".l As soon as the Convention 

had been concluded Wood had suggested its adoption by 

the Italian Government: but neither the Italian cabinet, 

which demanded the upholding of the CapitUlation (as 

improved by the encroachments of Europeans), nor the 

Italian residents who took advantage of the lack of 

agreement to ask for the support of their Consul at 

every turn, were eager to answer Woodts proposal. At 

the end of 1863, while the French and Italian Consuls 

were pressing the Beyts government hard and were 

asking for the settlewent of several hundreds of claims 

which had remained in obeyance for years, Wood seized 

every opportunity to act as a mediator or to advise 

the Bey and hiseounsellors to show a conciliatory 

spirit with regard to these demands. Wood himself 

1. FO 102 68. Wood to Russell, september 28,186S. 
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hed similar claims to bring forward, but, he wrote to 

Russell, he was "deterred by prudence and reasons that 

require no explanation, fl"om uniting his action with 

that of the other Foreign authorities" whose ultimate 

objects he did not approve Of. l At the beginning of 

1$64 many French and Italian claims had been thus 

settled and the danger of a French or Italian inter-

vention seemed to be averted for the moment. 

lB. 1864 seemed to begin under favourable auspices. 

Wood indeed admitted that the obstacles remained 

formidable: the open hostility of the majority of the 

Europeans (an influential portion of the colonists, 

Wood remarked, wished to bring about the overthrow 

and subversion of the Constitutional Laws; and he con­

clUded that they had Ulost all sense of justice in 

the pursuit of gaa:ntt )2; the support given by the French 

and Italian Consuls to that opposition; the distrust 

of a strong body of Tunisians and the weariness of 

some partisans of the reforms (who were sometimes 

discouraged by the apparent indifference of the 

British goverrunent, now their sole external support -

or irritated by the concessions they were obliged to 

1. 
2. 

Fa 102 68. 
FO 102 71. 

Wood to Russell, Detember 1~,1863. 
Wood to Russell, February 16, 1864. 
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make to unjustified Foreign claims for the sake of 

peace) • on the other hand Wood looked at what had 

been achieved with legitimate satisfaction: the provi-

sional Commission had worked rather satisfactorily and 

the impending creation of a Mixed Commercial Court 

(composed of an equal number of Tunisians and Foreigners)l 

would settle the problem of the jurisdiction over 

Foreigners. The Convention of 1863 would soon bring 

about the economic advantages which Wood had hoped for, 

and it was likely ttlat the Powers would ultimately 

decide to share in its advantages. 

In March and April 1864, while visiting the Sahel, 

Wood ex~ressed publicly his confidence and optimism, 

and, according to the French Vice-Consul in Sfax, 

engaged in "pr<?pagande en faveur des Medje1es LJudicial 

courtsJ et de 1a Convention" and tried to convince 

the Europeans of the "grands benefices Qu'il en est 

/ !}- J2 resulte de nes institutions ~ sic On his return 

to Tunis Wood reported his favourable impressions to 

Russell: this country, he wrote, was "at present 

ra:pidly progressing under a mild system of admini-

stration. tt3 On the same day Wood informed the 

1. PO 102 71. Wood to Russell, February 16,1864 
2. Grandchanlps, I, 10~ Mattei to De Beauval, March 

28, 1864. 
3. PO 102 71. VJood to Russell,'.i'unis, April 16,1864 
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Foreign Office of the outbreak of the internal troubles 

which were to bring about the ruin of the reforms and 

endanger the very existence of the Country. 
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VII. The Revolution of 1864. 

1. It would be necessary to describe the whole process 

of the economical and financial decay of the Regency 

to account for the financial decision of Djurnada II 

1280 (November-December 1864) from which originated the 

Revolution of 1864. To the already existing causes of 

financial embarrassments the Europeans had added new 

ones by advocating public works which proved ruinous 

and useless - the AQueduct of Zaghouan was the first 

example of that policy - and then by offering their 

financial "help" at an exorbitant rate of interest. The 

local debt swelled from 12 million francs in 1861 to 

28 million in 1862. Continental bankers began to feel 

some interest in Tunisian finances: a first attempt to 

raise a loan of 35 million on which the Bey would have had 

to repay 120 million in 25 years, failed in 1860; a 

second proposal was re jected in 1862 by the supl~eme 

Council who were "strongly opposed to contracting 

pecuniary obligations towards European Nations not to 

increase their influence or afford them hereafter the 

means of injuring the Tunisian Government. ttl These 

1. FO 102 65. Wood to Russel, May 9, 1862. 
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apprehensions were wholly justified but the government 

were running so short of money that they ultimately 

accepted in 1863 d'Erlanger's offer: it sounded quite 

reasonable (35 million francs at 7%) but the Bank appro­

priated 9 million; several millions more were lost on 

the way (to the very great benefit of the Khaznadar) and 

the Bey ultimately received 5,600,000 for which he was 

to pay 65 million in 15 years.l In the words of 
/ 

Constant, that loan was "un lacet que des speculateurs 

ont passe au cou du Bey sans qu'il s'en doute, un lacet 
/ 2 qui l'etranglera tt • The Erlanger Bank was prussian 

but had interests in Paris and London: which explains 

why neither Roches nor Wood deemed it expedient to 

express reservations. The loan had hardly been con-

tracted (May 1863) when the government were already 

looking for money in order to pay the interest (4,200,000 

francs, i.e., one third of the Tunisian budget). They 

borrowed in Tunis, sold the export permits of olive 

oil to be delivered in May 1865, and decided to increase 

the taxes. In Djumada 11, 1280 (November 13-December 12 

1863) the Bey, in spite of the opposition of the Supreme 

Council (and particularly of Khaireddin) decided to 

1. FO 102 114. Wood to Stanley, June 23, 1868. 
2. Constant, pp. 35-36. 
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double the rate of the mejba (poll tax) from 36 to 72 

. t 1 
p~as ers. The fate of the Reforms was sealed by that 

decision, but the troubles which occurred in 1864 were 

only the belated symptom of serious internal difficulties. 

Main features of the Revolution of 1864. 

2. The revolution of 1864 was a very complex movement 

and the protagonists of the drama added to its obscurity 

and confusion by their bias. 2 One fact seems at least 

to be unquestionable: the immediate cause of the 

troubles was the doubling of the mejba. The great 

nomadic tribes who lived in the mountainous regions of 

the centre of the country (Fl~aishish, Ma jeurs, Ouled 

bou Ghanem) refused in March 1864 to pay the mejba at 

its new rate of 72 piasters and rose in a body to obtain 

a reduction of the taxes, which overburdened them. 3 

Such revolts were not unusual in the Regency, especially 

in the mountainous regions of the north (Kroumirie) or 

in the subdesert regions of the south: two had occurred 

yery recently, one in 1861 in the Djerid, and another in 

1862 in the Kroumiriej in both cases the origin of the 

-------_ ... ,. --
1. 
2. 

3. 

Ben Dhiaf, Revolution of 1864, pp. 3-6. 
The documents (of French origin) which Grandchamps 
has published in his tJRllvolution de 1864" are to be 
used with prudence: the events as De Beauval and 
his subordinates describe them, often have but a 
remote cOID1ection with the reality. 
Grandchamps II 305. !if 64. Ali ben Ghedahem to 
Sadok Bey (1866?). 
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movement was the refusal of the tribes to pay the taxes 

which were demanded by the Bey. The movement had all 

the characters of these previous Bedouin uprisings: 

"Nous sommes des Bedouins, Ali ben Ghedahem wrote in 

1866, et nous ne reflechissons pas aux consequences de 
, , " 

nos actes - Hous sommes jeunes et nous avons ete entraines 

par les trib¥es. ,,1 But the situation was complicated rtJ;lis 

time by elements which greatly embarrassed the government. 

The French Consul, de Beauval, persistently endea­

voured to give colour to his own theory that the origin 

of the difficulties was to be found in the hostility of 
, 

the Arabs to the Constitution and to the domination of 

the Mamelukes (especially of M.ustapha Khaznadar). 

Besides this movement (with which he was in sympathy) 

he thought he discovered an Anglo Turkish intrigue at 

work in the Sahel for the reestablishment of the Sultan's 

direct authority. on the contrary Ben Dgiaf and Wood 

were prone rather to minimize the hostility of the 

Arabs to some provisions or consequences of the Consti-

tution: "Tout homrne clairvoyant et religieuxtl , the 

Tunisian chronicler wrote, "se rend parfaitement compte 

qu'il est impossible de pretendre que la promulgation de 

la Constitution est la cause du malaise qui regnait. tt2 

1. Grandchamps II, p. 307. 
2. Ben Dhiaf, Revolution of 1864, p. 16. 
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There seems to be no doubt, however, that on the whole 

the Arabs complained that the regular tribunals dispensed 

justice much too slowly, and wished for the reestablish­

rnent of the Bey's direct jurisdiction. l The Bedouins 

unanimously wanted Tunisian Kaids instead of the lvlame-

lukes who had been generally appointed by the Beys since 

Ahmed. r.ey; they demanded that they should be consul ted 

on the ;' choice of their Kaids, and that the Governors 

should remain in their Pl"ovinces instead of administering 

them from Tunis. These universal grievances explain 

why the revolt spread to nearly all the tribes of the 

Regency. On the other hand, the movement found a leader 

and an organiser, Ali ben Ghedahem, a notable of the 

Majeurs, who was able to discipline and unite the pre-

viously unruly tribes. The situation of the government 

was the \rveaker as they had no money and no troops at 

their disposal: the greater part of the army had been 

disbanded by Moharrnnea and S8dok Bey in order to save 

money. The action of the Bey was also hindered by the 

rivalry between the Powers, their unceasing intervention 

in the internal affairs of the Regency, and especially 

by the intrigues of the Consuls of France and Italy, 

1. Ben Dhiaf, however, denies that such a demand was 
ever presented by the insurgents and deems it 
"invraisemblablett • 
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particularly the former, who was to take advantage of 

the revolution to obtain the suspension of the Consti-

tution. 

Threat of European intervention (April-May 1864) 

3. The first troubles occurred at the beginning of 

April 1864: on April 16 8i Ferhat, Governor of the Kef 

was attacked and killed by Arabs. The movement then 
t.:.u 

spread then{wildfire: all the tribes of the centre and 

south-west of the Regency joined the insurrection. l As 

soon as it received Wood's alarming reports, the Foreign 

Office ass umecl an attituce which closely followed the 

traditional British policy of protecting the Regency 

from the dangers involved in EU1"opean intervention. Wood 

was instructec by telegra.ph to "protect the persons and 

l,) roperty of British subjects", to refrain from inter-

fering "on any account" in the internal affairs of the 

country, and to act as far as possible in concert with 
C) 

the French agent, "" and later with the Italian agent 

and the Turlcish Commissioner. The despatch of May 10 

1864 was typical of this preoccupation: Russell can­

celled a phrase in the first craft which alluded to 

Wood's possible intervention "to assist the Bey in 

1. 
2. 

----_._._-
FO 102 71. 
FO 102 70. 

Wood to Russell, April 21, 1864 . 
Russell to Wood, APril 25, 1864. 
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SU1"ypressing the LinsurrectionJ", and specifieo once 

more that Wood should avoid interfering "in the internal 

disputes of the Bey and his subjects".l It was thus 

Quite clear that at this stage of the Revolution, the 

Foreig-rl Office was more anzious to -keep the Powers out 

of the Tunisian imbroglio than to help the Bey to restore 

his authority and save the reforms. But that policy of 

complete non-intervention was quickly to prove unwork­

able, as the other interested Powers (and particularly 

France) were interfering with Tunsian affairs. 

As soon as he was informed of the troubles De 

Beauval demanded the abrogation of the Constitution and 

the dismissal of the Prime l£iniEter (as being respon­

sible for the Revolution), and the cancellation of the 

Convention of 1863 "as prejuoicial to French and 

Tunisian interests.,,2 As the Bey refused to comply 

with demands which he had already rejected in 1863, de 

Beauval repeated them in April and Ma y in an increasingly 

threatening tone. As might have been expected, de 

Beauval hoped that the situation would so develop as 

to malee it easier for him to apply pressure successfully: 

very early he got into touch with the insurgents with a 

1. FO 102 70. Russell to Wood, May 10, 1864. 
2. FO 102 71. Wood to Russell, April 21, 1864 N13 

and 15. Ben Dhiaf, :pp. 45-53. 
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view to utilizing their action to break down the bey's 

resistance to his suggestions. l As early as April 19 

Colonel Campenon bluntly sug[:ested the countering of 

an eventual British landing (an event which was very 

" unlikely to occur) "en appuyant carrement le mouvement 

arabe qui est la negation de la politique Anglaise dans 
, 2 . la Regence. tI 

De Beauval could not express his own feelings with 

Colonel Carrrpenon' s soldier-like candour : but it is in-

credible that Drouyn de Lhuys should have been com~lete-

ly unaware of the activities of his impetuous subordinate 

in 'l'uni s. 3 If he was, the strong representations made 

by the Foreign Office were calculated to open his eyes. 

However, when confronted with de Beauval's actual policy 

in Tunis, Drouyn de Lhuys was content with the answer 

that he was not aware of these facts. If he made some 

observations to de Beauval, he showed such restraint in 

his reprimands that there was some excuse for de Beauval's 

believing that his Minister tacitly approved of his 

d " 4 procee longs. Drouyn de Lhuys was unable openly to 

1. De Beauval first came into conta ct with the insur­
gents on the 21st of April through Mattei (French 
Vice-Coneul in Sfax). (Grandchamps I, p. 27. Mattei 
April 21, 1864. 

2. Grandchamps II, 318. Campenon to Randon,April 19,1864. 
3. Emerit (p.238-9), however, holds that view. 
4. When Drouyn de Lhuys communicated to Cowley in 

Decenilier 1864, extracts from his correspondence with 
de Beauval, the Ambassador could not refrain from 
remarking "that he had a very lenient mode of con­
veying severe blame". Drouyn answered.(but failed 
to convince cowley) that these expressloons were 
usually used in the Quai a'orsay "to express displea­
sure"(FO 27 1537 Cowley to Russell,December 20,1864) 
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support de Beauval's intervention for fear of "une 

immixion possible des autres puissances" - But he 

actually gave de Beauval a free hand, and one is indeed 

led to think that he criticised de Beauval's clumsy 

methods and ultimate failul"e more than his actual ini-

tiative. That conclusion emerges for instance from 

Drouyn's despatch of May 11: the Minister first indi­

cated that de Beauval's demands (which had been sharply 

criticized by the Foreign Office) could not receive 

tlun assentiment explicite" from the Quai d'orsay. Direct 

demands "aussi compromettantestt should have been avoided, 

Drouyn added., and de Beauval ttaurai t pu venir en aide a 
, 

l'irresolution du Bey ••• par une action d'un autre 

genre conduite avec prudence et discr~tiontt. Drouyn's 

despatch of November 15 was even more explicit: "Ainsi 

~ue j'ai eu l'Occasion plusieurs fois de vous le faire 

remal"'quer, d.e semblab~es demarches LDrouyn here alluded 

to the incidents which had followed Khaireddin's de­

parture for constantinople~ qui seraient ~peine justi­

fiees par le succes, Lrisquent-l, surtout quand elles 

ne reussiraient pas de compromettre le gouvernement de 

1'Empereur. ttl De Beauval could not but be encouraged 

1. FO 27 1537 enclosures in Cowley, December 20,1864: 
Drouyn to de Beauval, May 11, 1864 and November 
15, 1864. 
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to go ahead and to put a , very free interpretation on 

his instructions. But on the other hand, the Quai 

d'orsay was bound to be accused of duplicity by the 

Foreign Office. 

4. From the very beginning of the kevolution Wood 

gave the Tunisien Government a measure of assistance 

which went beyond the limits which Russell had intended 

to set t o his action. Even if he had been sincerely 

desirous of carrying out the policy of non-intervention 

which his government advocated, he would have been 

forced into action by de Beauval's intrigues. But 

Wood obviously considered that "non-intervention" did 

not mean refraining from helping the government to 

overcome their difficulties - ttIVLY utmost efforts will 

be employed •••• to aid the Bey in averting events which 

might necessitate foreign intervention or the temporary 

occupation of the Regencylf he wrote on April 22.1 Wood 

displayed unremitting efforts with that object in view: 

he advised the government to malee "reasonable concessions" 

to the rebels, and particularly "to remit the heavy 

capitation tax"; he put a British ship at the Bey's 

disposal to carry urgent despatches, and helped the 

Tunisians to charter a ship in Malta for carrying troops 

1. FO 102 71. Wood to Russell, April 22 1864, N.14. 
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to and from the Sahel; he suggested the expediency of 

replacing the "old and feeble" Governor of Sousse by a 

"younger and a more energetic officer"l; he proposed that 

the wishes of the population should be satisfied by 

the nomination of Governors chosen from the great Tunis­

ian familes (a Djelluli in Sfax, a Ben Ayad in Djerba, 

etc.). In Sousse, at the beginning of May 1864, Vice-

Consul stevens even went so far as to get in touch with 

the chiefs of&Arab tribes who were putting forward their 

demands; the re-establishment of the ancient system of 

taxation, the nomination of l~ids chosen from the tribes, 

and a general amnesty; and to advise them to make their 

submission to the Bey.2 That action entirely justified 
.. 

the apprehensions which de Beauval ex-pressed "a propos 

du pro jet attribu~ a M. Wood de vouloir compromettre 

la revolution actuelle. u3 

Wood's action was particularly aimed at checking 

the manoeuvres of the :£"rench Consul against the Cons ti-

tution and the prime Minister by putting an equally 

strong pressure upon the Bey. Sadok actually refused 

to dismiss his Ministers: "Ce n'est pas leBey" de 

1. FO 102 71. Wood to Russell, Malt ro::,1864, N.38. 
2. Ibid., May 14 and 17, 1864. 
3. Grandchamps I, p.61, N.61. De Beauval to Drouyn 

April 30, 1864. 
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Beauval wrote on the 24th of May, nce n'est pas un 
,-

favori sans courage, un mameluk Grec qui nous resiste ••• 

C'est de fait l~.Angleterre contre laquelle nous luttons. ttl 

But Wood was unable to save the Constitution: at the same 

time as he reduced the mejba to its previous rate, the 

Bey decided to suspend the working of the judicial 

organi~ation and of the Constitution (April 22, 1864). 

Undoubtedly the Bey had not displayed the same energy 

in the defence of the Reforms that he had shown when 

his IW:inisters had been threatened by de Beauval. Wood 

was unable to act sternly, however, as he was afraid of 

a&;:Lrava ting the Bey's posi tion. On AP1"il 29 he resorted 

to a last expedient: while protesting against an unilat-

eral abrogation of the Constitution promulgated in 1860 

with French and British assent, which, he said, "would 

constitute an act of official diplomatic discourtesytl 

and particularly a disloyal act towards Great Britain, 

Wood asked the Bey for tithe immediate formation of the 

long promised mixed Commercial Tribunal" and sue.;;gested 

that de Beauval should join in an intervention to that 
2 effect. Wood was trying to play for time and to 

oblige d.e Beauval to show his hand. The offer was of 

course rejected - Wood then tried to obtain safeguards 

1. Grandchamps I, p. 138, N. 155. 
2. FO 102 71. Wood to Russell, April 30, 1864. 
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for the future. On May 2 he asked the Bey to make it 

clear "to what extent the Constitutional laws of the 

Regency have been temporarily suspended to meet an 

emergency", and for how long. The Fundamental law, he 

reminded the :bey, was the basis of the Convention of 

1863; as such it had become "one of the rights of the 

British Government" and should continue in force "in 

all its integrity".l The Bey was not eager to rep~y 

to these embarrassing questions: it needed. a second 

injunction (July 22, 1864) to induce him to adopt a 

o.efini te posi tion regaroing Wood t s questions: the Ahd 

el Aman, he wrote to the Consul, "is respected and 

honoured by us and we shall make suitable arrangements 

for carrying it out in accordance with the policy of 

the country.II2 Lip-service having thus been duly 

paid to the Reforms (and Wood was obliged to appear to 

be content with it), they fell into the sleep of death. 

5. Events were taking such a threatening course in 

Tunis that Wood had no time to dwell on the ruin of 

eight years' efforts. At the beginning of May the 

situation in Tunis was aggravated by the simultaneous 

arrival of English, Italian, and French ships in the 

1. FO 102 71. Wood to Russell May 3, 1864 (Ben Dhiaf 
gives a more complete version of Wood's letter: 
p. 70). 

2. FO 102 72. Wood, August 12, 1864. 



-349-

Goulette. vVhile the Italian government were preparing 

an expedition of 4,500 men and were thinking of landing 
. 1 

800 men at once, the Italian and French Consuls in 

'l.'unis contemplated landing troops for ,the protection 

of the European residents. 'llhe thr'ee Admirals had held 

a meeting and Albini and Herbinghem had proposed con­

sidering the possibility of such a step. Wood, however, 

firmly refused to discuss so dangerous a matter and to 

anticipate that "any emergency would occur to render 

necessary the landing of men". ;· But events in Tunis 

were moving out of Wood's control: in the night of May 6, 

French sailors were nearly landed. De Beauval affirmed 

that there had been an error of transmission2; but 

after that rather obscure incident the French Admiral 

demanded that the chain which closed the Gmaette port 

should be left permanently open at night. There could 

be no mistake about the serious consequences to which 

these nocturnal activities were likely to lead: Wood 

deemed it prudent to reconsider his views about the 

problem of intervention. Since a French or Italian 

landing was impending it appeared wiser to define before­

hand the conditions of an eventual intervention of the 

1. Grandchamps II, p. 268-273. 

2. FO 102 71. Wood to Russell, May 11, 1864, N 31. 
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three Powers, as a combined action involved less danger 

than the initiative of one isolated Power. On May 9, 

Wood proposed to his two colleagues "to come to an 

understanding together as to the measures to be adopted 

in case of urgent necessity."l Wood suggested a def-

inition of the circumstances which would justify a com-

bined landing: cessation of the Bey's authority, immi-

nence of a massacre of the Europeans, formal demand by 

the Bey. In any case, the Bey's consent and the agree­

ment of the three Consuls should precede any such action. 

De Beauval showed. little enthusiasm for a proposal 

which lessened the J;>rospects of intervention: "Ce bon 
, 

M. Wood," he wrote on May 15, "pretendait que lorsque 

le couteau serait sur notre gorge nous devrions aller 
, , 

dire au Bey 'Estimez vous qu'il y ait danger et necessite 

de faire descendre nos forces?,,,2 The Consuls agreed 

to have another meeting; but the arrival of a Turlcish 

Comissioner, Hayder Effendi (on May 11), changed the 

problem fundamentally. 

The Commissioner had been sent by the porte "to 

enquire into the state of affairs in Tunis". His coming 

seemed to be calculated to complicate matters further 
..J 

in the Regency; it actually led to their disentanglement. 

1. 
2. 

FO 102 71. Wood to RusfJell, May 11,1864, N.31. 
Emerit, p. 229. De Beauval to Mme. cornu, May 15,1864. 
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Taken by surprise the French Consul and Admiral thought 

of preventing Hayder Effendi's landing, if necessary 

by force. But their astonishment went beyond all bounds 

when they learned from Paris that the French Govermnent 

had been ke.Qt informed of Hayder's departure, and in-

structed de Beauval to co-operate with him: Hayder's 

arrival, de Beauval wrote on May 15, "a paru comme une 

sorte d'attentat contre la Franceul , and he added three 

days later: "Je crains bien que Ie 'l'urc n'ait g~te nos 

affaires." The problem of the landing indeed aSeumed 

a new complexion with Hayder's arrival: if French 

troops landed in Tunis not only England and Italy, but 

also Turkey would be likely to intervene likewise: 

"C'~tait renoncer ~ jamais ~ notre pr~ponderance en 

l'unisie".2 The impending threat of an armed inter-

vention suddenly vanished: the second meeting of the 

three Consuls was postponed sine die at de Beauval's 

request; the French Consul explained that there was now 

no ground for thinking that a landing could be necessary.3 

----_. __ .. _--- ---
1. Emerit, p. 229-230: De Beauval to Madame cornu, May 

15. Emerit thinks that the French government had 
thought that in return for their' good will in Tunis 
the porte could. be led to recognize the French dom­
ination in Algiers (p. 228). French policy was then 
wavering with regard to Tunis. 

2. Julien, p. 9. 
3. FO 102 71. Wood to Russell, May 18, 1864. 
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6. Meanwhile the Foreign Office focussed its activity 

on the aspect of the question which it deemed to be 

essential. The energy which it displayed in limiting the 

international implications of the Tunisian Revolution 

shows up the better the relative indifference with which 

it received the news of the suspension of the Consti­

tution. With the exception of Palmerstonts note 

suggesting a protest in Paris against de Beauvalts 

endeavour to "undo all the good which the English and 

French governments have effected in TUnis" and proposing 

to encourage the Bey "to hold firm to his Constij;ution", 

the brutal ending of the Reforms gave rise to no note­

worthy reaction in London. The Foreign Office easily 

resigned itself to a change which had no repercussions 

outside Tunis. On the contrary a foreign intervention 

in Tunis was likely to give rise to interhational diffi­

culties which the Foreign Office wanted to avert. The 

European diplomatic situation was indeed of 8 kind to 

make the settlement of the Tunisian difficulties easier. 

The Danish crieis was then at its height and neither 

the French nor the British government could be expected 

to turn their full attention to a problem which, by 

con~arison, was unimportant. l On the other hand 

Napoleon III was negotiating the settlement of the Roman 

1. Constant, p. II. 



-353-

question with Italy (these conversations were to result 

in the Convention of September 1864), and seemed to be 

ready to abandon Tunis to the Italisns, if they would 

make concessions in Italy. That attitude indicated at 

least that Napoleon III had not decided to push the 

Tunisian matter to the very end; but one must also take 

account of the frequent discrepancies which existed 

between Napoleon Ill's secret policy and the official 

policy of his government. l 

As soon as he was informed of de Beauval's inter-

ventions in Tunis, Russell pressed the Quai d'Qrsay to 

explain the Consul's attitude, and exposed the incon­

sistency of his proceedings with Drouyn de Lhuys' 

assurances that France sup~orted a policy of non-inter-

vention: "Has the French Consul acted without instructions?" 

(May 5). Would it not be desirable "to ascertain by 

direct enquiry from M. Beauvsl whether he had obeyed his 

instructions?" (May 26). Drouyn replied that de Beauval 

did not mention the facts which Russell was referring to, 

complained of Wood's proceedings, and reasserted his 

desire to abstain from interfering in the internal affairs 

of the Regency. 'rhese rather unconvincing protestations 

1. With regard to Napoleon's offers and Italian hesi­
tations see: Cowley to Russell April 28,1865 (Fa 
27 1570); Chiala, Pagine di storia contemporanea I~ 
223 (pepoli's declaration in 1880) and Chabod.stor1~ 
della politica estera italiana (p.54l-542): V1scont1 
Venosta May 29,1894. 
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fotuld Russell very scep;tiical indeed: "It would not be 

safe for Her Majesty's Goverlnnent to order British 

Consuls on similar occasions to act in concert with 

their French colleagues, tulless they can feel sure that 

the latter will carry out the instructions of the French 

government", Russell wrote to Cowley.l In the end, 

however, partly on account of British representations, 

and partly for fear of the international intervention 

which De Beauval's initiative threatened to bring about, 

Drouyn de Lhuys changed his attitude and sent instructions 

advising moderation to the Consul. There was a sharp 

contrast between Drouyn' s d.espatch of May 18 (in which 

he alluded to military preparations in Algiers and em­

phasized French determination to oppose the intervention 

of any Foreign Power in Tunis) and his instructions of 

J"tule 7: The 'l'tulisian crisis requires Itbeaucoup de 

prudence, de calme et de sang froid ••• Vous devez ••• 

eviter tout ce qui, dans votre attitude ou vos d~marches 
/ ,. 

tendrait a faire supposer que le Consulat General est 

favorable ~ l'insurrection".2 The arrival of Afuniral 

Bottet Willaumez with two more French vessels before 

Tunis (May 24) indicated the French fear lest the other 

1. FO 27 1518. Russell to Cowley, May 26, 1864. 
2. Grandchamps I, p. 118, N. 136 and p. 164 N 183. 
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Powers should try to intervene in the Regency, rather 

than an intention to land troops should an op .,;...iortuni ty 

present itself. l 

The Foreign Office was also keeping a close watch 

on Italian politics. Napoleon Ill's hints had undoubt-

edly encouraged the Tunisian ambitions of the F~enee 

Cabinet, and Wood had been aware, from the beginning, 

of Italian impatience. When Wood reported allegations 

that the Italian Consul intended to utilize the presence 

of Italian warships to press some claims upon the Bey 

and that military preparations were going on in Italy, 

Russell intimated clearly to the Italian Government that 

"the time LBppeareg? very ill chosen and that the only 

object ought to be the restoration of tranquillity by 

the Bey's own means" and asked for explanations about 

the reported preparations for a naval expedition2• The 

Italian government affirmed that there was no foundation 

whatsoever for reports regarding their hostile inten­

tions and the expedition, although the preparation of 

an expeditionary force in the Italian ports is -altogether 

beyond doubt. 3 It is possible that Visconti Venosta 

then thought of occupying Tunis with a mixed Ang10-

1. 
2. 

3. 

F. Julien, p. 9. 
FO 45 55. RUEsell to Elliot, May 30, 1864 and Ibid 
June 3, 1864. 
Grandchamps II, pp. 268-273. 
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Franco-Italian force, in order to prevent an isolated 

French action: but that project received so little 

encouragement in London that Visconti Venosta ultimately 

gave up the idea. The Italian Government in their turn 

ceased to contemplate the eventuality of military 

intervention in Tunis. 

Russell completed his diplomatic survey of the 

Tunisian question in Constantinople: the porte was asked 

for an assurance that she would not take advantage of the 

circumstances to attempt to strengthen her authority 

in Tunis or even depose the Bey.l The ottoman Govern-

ment immediately denied that they had "the slightest 

idea of attempting any great change in 'funis". That 

pledge did not, however, prevent them from setting some 

hopes on Hayder Effendi's mission, as we shall see later. 

But on the whole the activity of the Foreign Office had 

been successful: there is no doubt that its immediate 

and firm oPPosition to any kind of European intervention 

in 'l'unis had greatly helped to restrain the venturesome 

impulses of the French and Italian Governments, or at 

least of their Consuls. The suspicions which the Powers 

entertained about their respective secret intentions 

had done the rest: a kind of safety thus arose from the 

very multiplicity of the dangers. 

-------_._-_.-
1. FO 78 1798. Russell to Bulwer, lvlay 19, 1864. 
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The Powers neutralize one another in TUnis (June-July 1864) 

7. Towards the end of May the situation in Tunis had 

seemed to improve: there had been but little change in 

the attitude of the Arab Tribes, and Wood's hope that a 

meeting of their Sheikhs in Kairouan might prove decisive 

for the restoration of peace had been disappointed. But 

the insurgents, while still commanding the interior of 

the country, refrained from engaging in open hostilities 

with the government so long as no offensive was launched 

against them. In Tunis Hayder Effendi had been careful 

not to commit himself to the insurgents, and De Beauval, 

while keeping his prejudices against the government, 

showed in his relations with the Bey "an unusual polite­

ness and courtesytf which seemed to indicate that he was 

at last convinced that the complexity of the situation 

called for a prudent reserve in his proceedings. At 

this stage the revolutionary movement reached the Sshel 

(end of May 1864). 

The population of the Sahel had reafons for dissat­

isfaction which were roughly similar to those which had 

given rise to the insurrection of the tribes: incidents 

had already occurred in Sousse, Sfax and Moknine. But 

the seriousness of the movement in Sfax (May 23) ahd 

Sousse (May 31) was largely the result of the feeling 
try was threatened with 

which then prevailed, that the coun 
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foreign intervention: this accounts for the national 

and pro-Turk character of the revolt in the Sahel. 

Beauval's indiscreet activity was mainly responsible 

for that feeling. The demands he had repeatedly brought 

forward, his suspected relations with the rebels,l his 

threats when Hayder Effendi had arrived in Tunis, fitted 

in with some very ambiguous public utterances which 

seemed to forebode military intervention. A short 

raid of Italian marines in Sousse (May 9), and the 

arrival of Bouet Willaumez helped to confirm fears which 

were so deeply rooted in the Sahel that the Governor of 

Monastir publicly declared at the end of May "Retenez 

bien que nous n'avons pas peur des Arabes, mais bien 

de 1a mer qui fume et qui brule.,,2 

In Sfax, on May 23, the inhabitants rose with 

shouts of "Down with the mamelukes" and "Long live the 

Su1 tan" and set up a kind of Provisional Government. lnrst 

of all they hoisted the Tunisian flag on the fortifica­

tions and loaded the guns in the expecta;tion of a 

landing.~ The French Vice-Consul in Sfax telegraphed on 

May 25 that public opinion was "en faveur des Anglais 

et du Sultan, contre 1e Bey et la France".~ In Sousse 

-----_ . .... __ .... .. _.-
1. Ben Dhiaf, p. 54-60. 
2. urandcharnps I, p. 141. 

3. FO ~oa 71.,Wood 1;;(5 ltusse11, May 30 N.48 
4. Grandchamps I, p. 139. 
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the situation was perfectly clear: On May 31 the inhab­

itants "as they had received intelligence that the ~'rench 

were coming to occupy their country" demanded the keys 
.-

of the town and of the Kasba: "Vous avez livre notre pays 

aux chretiens" they said to the Governor. l During the 

following days they busied themselves "erecting and 

mounting the ~ .. uns of the two ... dismantlec <.: batteries which 

lie on the sea side".2 
/ ' 

"Nous sommes li 'toter'alement 

execres par tous les indigenes", the French Vice-Consul 

wrote to de Beauval. 3 The movement quickly subsided 

in Sousse, but as it had been rumoured in Sfax that a 

French landing had been made there, the Sfaxis increased 

the guard and :.)bought gun powder with the full and det-

ermined intention to impede any landing there. The rising 

was now universal in the Sahel. 

8. De Beauva~ did not try to hide the satisfaction 

which he felt as the situation deteriorated in the interior 

but was more reserved with regard to the incidents of the 

Sahel which, he thought, confirmed his first suspicions 

regarding an Anglo-Turkish plot. These apprehensions 

and his realization that armed intervention was altogether 

i~possible, led de Beauval to think of utilizing the Arab 

1. Ben Dhiaf, p. 42. 
2. .H'O 102 71. Wood to Russell, June 4 1864, N 50. 
3. Grandchamps I, 160. 

. .~ 
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revolt as a means of pressure upon the Bey, to whom he 

would have appeared as a mediator: "Cette race Larabi}, 
/ , 

he wrote on June 11 to Drouyn, "est la nation l"'evoltee ••• 

qui rnalgre ses moeurs primitives et ses antipathies 

religieuses, vaut d'etre recherchee pour amie". In 

actual fact he had established direct communication with 

Ali ben Ghedahem at the beginning of June: his letters 

to the ring-leader of the Revolt reveal a singular con-

ception of his duties as a Consul accredited to the Bey, 

as well as some naivety regarding the charscter of the 

Bedouin movement. The first letter (June 2 1864) 

promised the Arabs French support: "The arrival of our 

ships ••• is with the object of forcing your government 

to accede to your demands". De Beauval continued with 

a Violent attack upon ~ritish ambitions in Tunis, as 

revealed by the Convention of 1863 whose cancellation 

the French goverrunent tried to obtain by the dismissal 

of the Ministers and the abrloga tion of the or£;anic Laws. 

De Beauval concluded with an offer to communicate the 

demands of the Tribes to the Bey.l But in spite of this 

offer and those which followed in June, Ali ben Ghedahem 

refused to commit himself with the ConsuL: he obviously 

shared the suspicions of his fellow countrymen about the 

secret motives of French policy in Tunis. 

1. FO 102 72. Enclosure in Wood to Russell, September 
3, 1864. 
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De Beauval nevertheless tried to force his mediation 

upon tl1.e Bey: he hinted that he was able "to put a stop 

to the revolt in twenty four hours", an affirmation which 

was obvi'ously an over-s ta tement. "Le gouvernement de 

l'Empereur et ses agents," he wrote on June 13, "n'ont 

ici d'autre pensee que de servir au besoin de lien entre 

Ie Bey et ses 1 sujetslt • A few days later he again 

(unsuccessfully) offered to favour a rapprochement 

between the Arabs and the Bey. It would be difficult 

to show more disregard for the instructions which he was 

then receiving from Paris. 

9. Wood of course was not yet aware of the exact extent 

to which de Beauval had compromised with the rebels but 

he Y~ew enough to warn the Foreign Office of de Beauval's 

intrigues. 2 It is not easy to follow the day to day 

action by which Wood tried, to use his own words, "to 

act with prudence and discretion •••• in favour of peace 

and conciliationlf • There is no doubt that Wood's 

encouragement, and British support, counted for much in 

the resistance with which the Bey opposed de Beauval's 

pressure; on May 27 Wood emphasized the good effects 

of Russell's instructions and assured him that the Bey 

1. 
2. 

,randchamps, I, p. 171, N 190. 
The whole story was only revealed at the beginning 
of September 1864 by Ali ben Ghedahem himself. 
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had been higbJ.y gratiried by them and that a "magical 

change" had been wrought "in his hitherto passive and 

dejected countenance. u Wood :was sometimes more directly 

concerned with the efforts to restore order. In Sfax 

the revolutionary movement had shown open pro-Turkish 

and pro-English proclivities, mainly because it was 

directed against French policy. Wood had hardly been 

informed of that rather embarrassing patronage when he 

made it quite clear to the Sraxian authorities that, 

should they ~ersist in their rebellion, Vice-Consul 

Oarleton would "quit a town which has thrown off its 

allegiance and has ceased to aclmowledge the only con­

stzituted authorities recognized by Great Britain".l 

The threat made an impression which reveals the strength 

of British influence and prestige in the country: the 

inhabitants sent a delegation to inform Carleton that 

"as neither Great Britain nor the Sultan would ever 

sanction the subversion 'or the Bey's authority ••• they 

~returned-1 to their allegiance to His Highness tt (June 

19,1864).2 

Wood endeavoured, less successfully, to put forward 

a positive scheme to bring the revolt to an end. Towards 

June 15, the Tunisian Government was preparing a column 

1. FO 102 71. Wood to Russell, June 10, 1864. 
2. Ibid, June 27,1864, N 66. 
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of 5,000 or 6,000 soldiers, with a view to crushing the 

movement in the interior. Contemplating the possibility 

of a failure, which would leave the Bey defenceless, Wood 

remarked that, as the intervention of European troops 

was impossible on account of the divisions of the Powers 

and the probable ' hostility of the population, he recom-

mended "the intervention of ottoman troops". The util-

ization of Mahomedan Troops seemed to be "of a more 

practicable and less dangerous character"; and if France, 

he added some days later, persisted in her opposition to 

a Turkisll intervention, even if it was limited and asked 

for by the Bey, one could call upon the help of Egyptian 

troops. 1 'l'he suggestion attracted Russell: he immed-

iately instructed Cowley to urge upon'France that "if 

intervention in the af'fairs of l'unis L wereJ to take 

place it should be by Turkish rather than by christian 

forces".2 As was to be expected, Drouyn de Lhuys did 

not appear ready to contemplate the landing of any 

Turkish troops in any circumstances, and he showed the 

same reluctance with regard to Egyptian troops. In 

explanation of his refusal, Drouyn expressed a rather 

optimistic view of the situation in TuniS, which did 

not fit in well with the alarming reports he was then 

1. 
2. 

FO 102 71. Wood to Russell June 14 and June 20. 
FO 27 1519. Russell to Cowley, June 25. 
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The Foreign Office did its best at least to neu-

tralize de Beauval's dangerous activity. Drouyn de Lhuys 

gave repeated assurances in answer to Russell's inquiries 

that France intended to pursue a policy of strict non-

intervention in Tunis; these would have been satisfactory, 

if Russell had felt that Drouyn did not approve of, and 

even censured, de Beauval's policy. But obviously the 

Imperial policy was not quite straightforward: on August 

3, Drouyn a.l!proved of de Beauval's "interet bienveillant lt 

for the tribes, and did not object to his eventually 

giving his support to their grievances. 2 It is not 

surprising that these proceedings should have given 

rise to Palmerston's outbursts of anger, which Russell 

tried subsequently to translate into more diplomatic 

language: "Lord Cowley should ask Monsieur Drouyn,1t 

Palmerston remarked on August 21, "to consider what 

confidence can be placed in the political action of the 

French government with regard to their relations with 

Foreign Governments, when their agents abroad are per­

mitted to act in direct contradiction with the formal 

instructions which the French government alleges it has 

given them. u3 On the other hand, the Foreign Office 

1. FO 27 1531 Cowley to Russell, June 30, July 7. 
2. Fe 27 1537, in Cowley, December 20. 
3. FO 102 72. 
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gave unremitting support to Wood, whos'e policy had gained 

him the sympa~hy of the Tunisians but had cut him off 

from the majority of his Europesn colleagues. In the 

end Russell gave full approval to Wood's endeavours to 

"maintain the authority of the Bey of Tunis" and the 

advice and support he had given the Bey in order that 

"the political relations of Tunis should remain as they 

are and that the Regency should be tranquil and pros­

perous"; by 80 doing he implicitly adrni tted that his 

first instructions had restricted Wood's action within 

much too narrow limits, and that Wood's broad interpre­

tation of his duties was justified. l 

~he Revolution comes to an end (August-October 1864) 

10. ~hough the rivalry of the Powers partly neutralized 

their action in ~unis, it was no remedy for the difficul­

ties which assailed the Tunisian Government. But the 

Bey took advantage of the respite with which he was thus 

provided and tried to put an end to the revolution. He 

undertook first to pacify the Arab tribes, which were more 

dangerous to his authority than the insurgents of the 

Sahel. As early as June signs of disintegration appeared 

in the movement: the approach of harvest time incited 

the cultivators to go back to their fields; the old 

1. FO 102 70. Russell to Wood, July 15, 1864. 
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rivalries were again dividing the tribes which Ali ben 

Ghedahem had kept · united for some time,; the prime .I.tl.inister 

skilfully fostered these divisions and bribed the most 

influential chiefs. In the Sahel itself, the towns
J 

t1..a. 
under~threat of being looted by the nomadic tribes, con-

templated a rapprochement with the government. Everywhere 

the feeling that a prolongation of the insurrection was 

likely to bring about a Foreign intervention induced 

people to lean towards conciliation. 

The Government acted with moderation, promised a 

complete amnesty, reduced the taxes, and hastily pre­

pared troops for all eventualities. At the end of June 

the Camp began to move slowly towards the western regions 

of the Regency. Its object was obviously more to nego­

tiate the submission of the tribes than to fight against 

them. At the end of July de Beauval was stilJ. sceptical 

wi th regard to its chances of success, and daily re:ported 

its dissolution or . its destruction by the Arabs, but 

at that very moment Ali ben Ghedahem was negotiating 

with General Ismael Sunni the submission of the Arabs. 

Ali ben Ghedahemts conditions (a general amnesty, the 

reduction of taxes and some advantages for his family 

and himself) were accepted and the pacification was 

brought about in the interior on July 26. 1 The Revolt 

1. FO 102 72. 
Wood to Russell, July 30, 1864. 
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now continued only in the Sahel where the villages led 

by the inhabitants of Msaken refused to yield. Stevens, 

the British Vice-Consul in Sousse, had vainly attempted 

at the beginning of August to negotiate with their 

leaders and to induce them to accept the Bey's authority.l 

But it was now a de. spera te struggle. De Beauval, however, 

refused to admit that his policy had failed, and reported 

to Drouyn de Lhuys that the revolt was going on "plus 

unanime que jamaisll • 2 

11. In spite of the improvement of the internal situa­

tion, the presence of Foreign ships at the Goulette was 

a serious danger for the Tunisian government in so far 

as the possibility of an intervention was not completely 

averted. Not to mention de Beauval's intrigues (his 

corres~ondence with Ali ben Ghadahem was disclosed by 

the rebel after his submission), many Italian residents 

were prompting their Consul "to avail himself of the 

presence of the fleet to press their claims against the 

Tunisian goverrunent".3 The departure of the Foreign 

squadrons 'j,as absolutely necessary for the restoration 

of a normal state of affairs in Tunis. The Virtual end 

of the troubles, the complete safety which the Europeans 

1. 
2. 
3. 

FO 102 72. Wood to Russell, Aug~st 10, 1864. 
Grandcharrrps II, p. 6. De Beauval, August 20,1864. 
FO 102 72. Wood to Russell, August 17, 1864. 



-368-

had not ceased to enjoy, the approach of the bad season 

were further inducements to a general departure which was 

only delayed by the mutual suspicions of the Powers. 

Wood was well aware of the embarrassments which the 

prolongation of that awkward situation threatened to 

bring about; he also realized that, while the departure 

of the fleets must be simultaneous, the Porte ought to 

make the first move. It was clear enough that the French 

government was primarily concerned about the eventuality 

of a Turkish intervention in Tunis. 'rhus the key to 

the whole problem was in Constantinople. As early as 

AuguEt 13 Wood. wrote to Bulwer and suggested that the 

Ambassador should advise the porte to recall Hayder 

Effendi: since the Revolution had been brought to an 

end, and his mission thus accomplished, his presence 

was no longer necessary in Tunis and could only delay 

the departure of the French Fleet. l A few days later 

Admiral Yelverton, who commanded the British squadron 

impressed upon Sadok Bey the necessity of obtaining 

the departure of the Porte's Envoy. Wood then succeeded 

in persuading Hayder Effendi to ask permission of the 

ottoman Government to leave Tunis: as the Consul pointed 

1. ]:1'0 195 792A. Wood to Bulwer, August 13. 'llhe documents 
belie Julien's (and de Beauvalts) assertion that 
Wood was op~osed to the departure of the squadron 
and that it was decided by the Admirals. 
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out to Hayder, since in any case he would shortly have 

to quit Tunis, "it was desirable that he should make 

his own departure the occasion for that of the Vice-

Admirals. III In addition, Wood now entertained friendly 

relations wi th the ~'rench Admiral Bouet Willaumez who 

was dissatisfied with de Beauval's personal policy, and 

was anxious to leave Tunis as soon as possible. Drouyn 

de Lhuys had reached the same conclusions and had informed 

the Porte, the Foreign Office, and de Beauval tn the 

first days of September that he would accept a simul­

taneous departure of the fleets. 

When Hayder Effendi, received the Porte's authori­

zation to leave Tunis "simultaneously with the Foreign 

squadrons" it only remained for the Admirals to solve 

a technical problem which involved delicate considera­

tions of prestige. Albini, Bouet Willaumez, and Hayder 

Effendi decided that the simultaneous departure would 

take place on September 23, according to a programme 

whose complication and minuteness of detail gave a 

perfect example of the mutual distrust of the Powers in 

Tunis. Some days later Adrniral Yelverton, who had 

remained behind (a mark of confidence which was tanta­

mount to admitting that Great Britain had no political 

1. FO 102 72. Wood to Russell, August 25 1864, N 95. 
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ambitions in Tunis) left the Goulette in his turn. 

The Foreign Office tried to take advantage of the 

withdrawal of the foreign warships to obtain a pledge 

binding on the Fr ench government for the future. Russell 

sugge sted tha t the Consuls of l!'rance, Italy and Great 

.britain should hand over one common note or three sep-

ate notes, to the Bey, to the effect that their respec-

tive governments had "no wish or intention to interfere 

in the inte~nal government of Tunis". 1 Drouyn de Lhuys 

showed tlwi th some irl'i ta tion of manner" that the proposal 

was distasteful to him: such a declaration, he replied 

to Grey, was "ill-timed" as the Powers were just proving, 

by the departure of theil' fleets, that they did not 

intend to intervene in Tunis; it was also "dangerous" 

as it seemed to imply that undue interference had actually 

occurred. "It would be irnpd:llitic, he added, to give 

the Bey an assurance that, whatever he might choose to 

do, nobody would interfere with him"; France "could not 

give him any assurance of the kindtl • Drouyn's attitude, 

although not unexpected, was in no way reassuring for 

the future of Tunis.2 

1. FO 27 1520 Russell to Grey, September 21, 1864. 
2. FO 27 1534 Grey to Russell, september 23 and 30, 

1864. 
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12. At the end of August 1864 a second column of 4,600 

soldiers, under General Ahraed Zarruk t s command, began to 

move slowly towards the Sahel: once more tele government 

were relying upon negotiations with the rebels rather 

than upon the hazards of war to put an end to the in­

surrection. The great nomadic tribes were now supporting 

the government, or were fighting one against another 

and were neutralized. In the great towns the "conser­

vative" party of the middle-class men, the notables, 

end the landed proprietors rallied to the government 

(as in Sousse and Sfax) or kept a prudent neutrality 

for fear of reprisals by the rebels (as in Monastir and 

Mahdiya).l The "revolutionaries" (the soldiers or the 

lower Classes) were still in control of the villages of 

the Sagel, under the leaderShip of the village of Msaken. 

The stubborn Msekenis had rejected a last offer of 

mediation and were getting ready for a desperate resis­

tance. Ultimately the two armies met at Kalaa Kebira 

(near sousse), and the rebels were completely defeated. 

In the meanwhile Ali ben Ghedahem, who entertained fears 

regarding the intention of the Government to break 

their promise towards him, had -taken up arms again: a 

third expedition was sent against him and he was ulti­

mately obliged to seek refuge in Algeria (January 1865). 

1. Grandchamps II, N 324, 326, 346, 349. 
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The revolution was now crushed everywhere: a violent 

repression began, especially in the Sahel. While Zarruk 

arrested the rebels, executed the ring-leaders, inflicted 

very heavy fines on the country (20 million piasters in 

Sousse, Monastir and Mahdiya, 6 million in Sfax, 5 in 

Djerba), the Bey took savage reprisals, arresting and 

cudgelling hundreds of notlllbles to whom he had often 

given the "aman" (guarantee of safety). Wood did not 

allude to these unfortunate occurrences in his despatches: 

it is unlikely that he approved of them but he must have 

thought that he had to support the Tunisian Government 

to the bitter end in the restoration of order. This con-

sideration accounts for the euphemistic way in which he 

reported Zarrwc's extortions in the Sahel: the war 

contribution, he wrote, would not exceed £300,000, "a 

sum that will fall short of half the value of this year's 

oil crops and consequently will not be much felt by the 

people. ,,1 It is interesting to compare that assertion 

with Ben Dhiaf's striking description: "Les villes du 

Sahel," he wrote,"devinrent desertes et le region veuve 

de ses habitants. cette province qui etait la plus peuplee 

de la Regence est retournee a l'etat primitif et il n'y 

entre plus que ceux qui enviaient le sort des morts. 

Souhai ter le mort POU1" soi est p1.re que]a mort. n2 

1. FO 102 72. Wood to Russell, December 24, 1864. 
2. Ben Dhiaf, p. 84. 
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13. One may consider tl'lat this decay maus the limit of 

the success of British diplomacy in Tunis during the Revo­

lution. The energetic action of the Foreign Office had 

probably played a large part in averting European inter­

vention which would most likely have given rise to serious 

consequences. Wood's acti vi ty on the spot d.id much to 

help the Tunisian Govermnent to overcome their difficulties 

and to neutralize the interference of the other Eur'opean 

Consuls. British prestige had been greatly enhanced, 

the more so as de Beauval's venturesome policy had been 

responsible for the eclipse of French influence. l The 

Prime Minister had been naturally led to side completely 

with the British, and in December 1864, full of misgivings 

about French policy towards him, he had even secretly 

asked for the protection of the British consulate if the 

Bey should ultimately decide to dismiss him. But on the 

Whole British policy had paid dearly for that success: 

the French consul had finally obtained the repeal of the 

reforms, and the Bey had not offered the stout resistance 

which might have been expected from him. His assurances 

that it was only a suspension had but little value when 

1. It seems that in the end the French Goverl1ffient had 
become aware of de Beauval's errors: in December 1864 
Napoleon III said to Cowley that the Consul was "a 
most honorable man ••• hot headed and clearly unfit for 
the post which he had been occupying. His conduct has 
been absurd (stupide)." (FO 27 1537. Cowley to Russell 
December 18). 
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confronted with the actual re-establishment of an auto­

cra:tic and irrefponsible system of government. It was 

the more disquieting as the nearly exhausted country 

badly needed an administration which would restore 

internal peace and prosperity and so avoid the impending 

financial and political collapse. Wood had been quite 

justified in trying first to preserve the Regency from 

an internal disruption; but the protests against admin­

istrative abuses were largely justified; the revolution 

once crushed, the defects which had given rise to the 

discontent still remained to be remedied. l 

What had been done could not be undone, but at 

least the Foreign Office and Wood had an opportunity 

to come to useful conclusions about the 1unisian Question. 

The crisis had revealed the internal weakness of the 

Regency: but it was not to be expected that any quick 

remedy could. be found to cure the defects and abuses 

from which the country was suffering. On the contrary 

the Imperial policy was an immediate danger to Tunis: 

Palmerston and Russell had criticized it very severely 

indeed: tiThe conduct of the Emperor and of Drouyn de 

Lhuys" Palmerston wrote on September 26, tlhas been a 

compound of the grossest injustice and the most disgraceful 

1. Ben Dhiaf, .9. 90. 
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duplicity_"l The first thing to do was obviously to 

try to strengthen Tunis against tbatexternal danger: 

Once more Wood was faced with the problem of the settle­

ment of the international position of the Regency which 

British diplomacy had tried to solve from 1835 to 1855 

and which had constantly exercised Wood's mind since 

his arrival in Tunis. 

1. FO 102 72_ 
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VIII. Khaireddin's mission to Constantinople 

The preliminaries (summer of 1864). 

1. The revolution of 1864 had. in some way helped to 

clarify the problem of the international position of 

Tunis: De Beauval's actions and Italian dreams had 

revealed afresh the difficult situation of the Regency. 

De Beauval had indeed given a personal interpretation 

of French policy, but Drouyn's tolerance (to say the 

least) during the crisis, and his refusal to give the 

pledge asked for by the Foreign Office, seemed to 

justify Wood's sta tement that It''rance wanted "to establish 

her supremacy in the Regency over which she already 

assumes a protectorate", and his conclusion that "the 

political status of the Regency is ••• at this moment :.tn 
danger of being irretrievably subverted. ttl There was 

no doubt that French policy ignored what Great Britain 

regarded as Turl{ish rights in 'l'unis. The Quai d' orsay 

had (rather unexpectedly) accepted Hayd.er Effendi's 

coming to Tunis but under such conditions as seemed to 

reverse the relative positions of France and Turkey 

with regard to Tunis: from Aali Pasha's assurances, 

1. FO 102 72. Wood to Russell, August 30,1864. N.97. 
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Drouyn wrote to Moustier on Iviay 13, "nous devons conclure 
, I A 

qu'il n'est pas dans la pensee de la porte de meconna~tre 

les engagements qutelle a pris d'ancienne date envers 

nous a l'egard de Tunis, et Qu'elle ~ reconnait que les 

interets speciaux resultant pour nous de la possession 

de l'Algerie ne nous permettraient pas de laisser porter 

atteinte dans la Regence au status quo".l Wood consi­

dered these assertions and the similar position taken 

by de Beauval in Tunis to be very alarming: "The ques­

tion ire, too important to remain any longer in abeyance 

without producing hereafter much embarrassment," he 

wrote on July 9. "The rights of the porte, of whatever 

nature they may be have been gradually weakened by being 

directly disputed if not altogether rejected." His 

conclusion struck a nmv familiar note: "Unless the 

Turkish Government should avail themselves of the very 

events •••• to reconfirm their Rights •••• it would be a 

wiser and a safer policy •••• ·that the neutrali ty of this 

Regency should be secured.,,!2 

The circumstances seemed to be favourable for a 

new effort. Convinced at last of the urgency of reaching 

an agreement, even at the cost of some concessions, the 

1. Documents Diplomatiques, 1864, p. 141. Drouyn to 
de Moustier, May 13. 

2. FO 102 72. Wood to Russell, July 9, 1864. N 72. 
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Porte had sent Hayder Effendi with a view to taking 'ad-
• 

vantage of the events in Tunis and settling its relations 

with the Bey "without altering the existing conditions 

of Tunis."l The relations between Hayder Effendi and 

the Bey had ref::ted on a basis of mutual confidence. Sadok 

Bey could not but contrast the Porte's friendly attitude 

with de Beauva1's hostility. In ac"'.dition the revolution­

ary events (particularly in the Sahel) had shown that 

the discontented populations could eventually turn 

towards the Sultan for redress: such a consideration 

was likely to induce the Bey to reach a settlement with 

the Porte. Lastly, the Foreign Office had constantly 

reasserted the porte's rights of suzerainty over Tunis 

during the crisis, and had clearly perceived the dangers 

which were inherent in the Bey's isolation. Under these 

condi tions it could be assumed tllat it would support 

Wood's policy with more energy than in 1860 and 1862. 

2. When informed of the secret object of Hayder's 

mission, Wood deemed it advisable to act with the utmost 

prudence, in order to avoid another failure. He first 

communicated the conditions of a better understanding 

between the Bey and the Porte to Hayder Effendi: they 

were roughly similar to the principles he had defined 

1. 1<'0 78 1798. Bu1wer to Russell, May 30, 1864. 
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in 1858 (hereditary succession, administrative autonomy, 

free external relations, no tribute). Hayder Effendi 

replied with his own suggestions: the Bey would go to 

Constantinople to receive his investiture, he would pay 

an annual tribute of 3,000,000 piasters, and the treaties 

concluded by the Bey would be submitted to the Sultan's 

approval. Wood remarked that these last two points 

seemed to be wholly unacceptable to the Bey. In any 

case the Consul emphasized the necessity of obtaining 

the sanction of the Great Powers to whatever arrangement 

should be concluded between the Bey and the Sultan. l 

The porte was kept informed of the negotiations 

by Hayder Effendi and by Bulwer who exerted strong pres-

sure in favour of Wood's argWllents and tried to impress 

upon it Itthe danger of postponing the settlement of an 

important question and that any sacrifice would be pre­

ferable to the eventual loss of all its Rights. H2 The 

negotiations went on during the summer bet'ween Wood, 

Sadok Bey, and Hayder Effendi and resulted in a Memor-

endum (ltproposed bases of arrangement between Turkey 

and the Regency of Tunis") which was to be given to 

Khaireddin and submitted by him to the Porte in November 

1864. 'rhe arrangement It strictly in conformity with the 

1. FO 102 71. Wood to Russell, May 26, 1864. 
2. FO 195 792A. Wood to Bulwer, July 4. 
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existing state of things", vYood remarlred, was to be 

presented as a mere "confirmation by the Sultan of the 

existing Rights ana. Privileges" of the Bey in order to 

avoid giving rise to the opposition of the Powers. In 

sUbstance it confirmed the provisions of the memorandum 

of 1858 with greater precision: confirmation of the 

right of hereditary succession (articles I and VI); 

administrative autonomy (II and III); "faculte LPour 

le BeyJ de maintenir ses relations exterieures" (IV) 

(however, the Treaties which were likely to "affecter 

1 / . t/ " 1 d l' . t 1 1 T . t' a secur~ e genera e e \ Emp~re, e s que es r8~ es 

d'aliiance ••• cession de territoire, d~marcation des 

frontieres" would require the Sultan's agreement (V); 

the right of the Bey to keep his distinctive flag (IX) 

and to give decorations (X). On his side the Bey Ylould 

ask for investiture by the Sultan (VI); coinage would 

be struck and prayers said in the Sultan's name (XI and 

XII). The memorandum did not explicitly mention the 

Sultan's suzerainty over Tunis (unlike the memorandum 

of 1858) but, Wood remarked, the sixth clause (as well 

as the fifth) clearly indicated that the Regency was 

an i~tegral part of the ottoman Empire. As for the 

tribute (the problem had been left without solution 

in 1858), the memorandum sULbested replacing it by an 
, I 

annual contribution "a titre d'aide pour la defense 
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g~nerale de l' Empire." ('411) 1 

Khaireddin t S negotiations in constantiple.' 

3. It had been agreed between Wood and the Bey that 

the object of Khaireddin's mission would remain secret 

until an agreement should be reached with the porte, in 

order to avoid giving rise to premature opposition. ' The 

Porte would then send a Firman embodying the agreement 

and would adopt whatever course it might deem most con-

venient and op.Qortune "for bringing the imperial confirm-

ation of the status quo to the knowledge of the Great 

Powers, with the view to invest it with the character 

of a European Diplomatic act, without which it would lose 

much of its validity and importance. IIZ The precaution 

was not superfluous. No sooner had De Beauval heard of 

llliaireddin's departure for constantinople than he tried 

to discourage the Bey from making a demarche which his 

government would look upon "with great dissatisfaction". 

The Tunisian government decided to go ahead and hastened 

Khaireddin's departure in order to avoid any further 

discussion. De Beauval then lost his head: he ordered 

the French warship, which was stationed before the 

Goulette, to prevent Kb.aireddints ship from standing 

1. FO 10Z 72. Wood, November 26, 1864. 
2. Ibid, and FO 195 792 A Wood to Bulwer, 

November 28, 1864. 
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out to sea, by use of force if necessary. 'fhe "Bechir" 

was eventually able to escape pursuit (November 13 1864) 

but the incident, which might have given rise to serious 

consequences, wholly confirmed Wood's opinion that the 

Porte had to chose between the acceptance of the Bey's 

proposals and the "complete separation and final absorp­

tion of Tunis by its powerful neighbour". If Khaireddin's 

misSion failed., Wood added, the only solution left would 

be "the recognition of its neutrality under the guarantee 

of Europe".l 

The gleeful notes which palmerston and Russell sent 

to one another when they received Wood's despatch 

announcing Khaireddin's mission show clearly the satis­

f action of the Foreign Office: "The proposal of the Bey," 

Russell wrote, "seems to me a very good one" and Pal-

merston answel"ed "Mr Wood has shewn much abili ty in 

bringing the matter so far to bear, and much sagacity 

and foresight in his memorandum.,,2 However, the two 

statesmen, by common conEent, decided not to take into 

account Wood's suggestion, and communicated the matter 

immediately to Paris. It is not likely that Palmerston 

or Russell still entertained illusions about the 

1. 
2. 

PO 102 72. Wood to Russell, November 26,1864. N.122 
FO 27 1521. Russell December 9, Palmerston, December 
10, 1864. 
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possibility of obtaining French co-operation, as the pre-

cedent of 1858 and French policy during the last crisis 

left no doubt about that pOint. But they must have 

thought that since French consent would have to be 

sought ultimately in order to give an international 

value to the agreement, it was tI -". ise" and "honest" to 

inform Paris of what was going on. 

On December 13 1864 Russell accordingly instructed 

Cowley to inform Drouyn that the British Goverrunent 

considered the Bey's propositions "very well suited to 

his present position as regards France and the porte" 

and contemplated co-operating with the French and Italian 

Governments in recommencling the Sultan to adopt the 

course suggested by the Bey; such interference was, how­

ever, likely to be useless as the Sultan would undoubt-

edly eagerly adopt "a course the advantages of which 

LwereJ so obvious."l 

4. It does not appear that Khaireddin's negotiations 

were in the least affected by the attitude which the 

Powers adopted towards his Mission. The powers were 

informed too late to react in good time. The secret, 

too, was so well kept in Constantinople (in accordance 

1. FO 27 1521. Russell to Cowley, December 13,1864. 
The Italian Ambassador Vias informed on the same 
day by Russell. 
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with Khaireddin's instructions) that confusion prevailed 

there, and that I~aireddin was able to pursue his nego­

tiation successfully.l 

But Russell was under some ap~rehensions regarding 

the view which the French Government was taking of the 

project. Napoleon III and Drouyn, at first surprised 

by the news, had given rather va gue answers to Cowley's 

communications and had emphasized that France was anxious 

for the continuation of the status QUo in Tunis. 2 French 

opposition was soon stated more precisely: on December 

19 Drouyn wrote to la Tour d'Auvergne (the French Ambass­

ador in London) that France was determined to "errrpecher 

tout ce qui tendrait a alterer les conditions d'auton­

ornie dans lesquelles se trouve aujourdhui la Regence" and 

concluded: "Nous sommes trop les amis de la Porte pour 

vouloir devenir ses voisins".3 Meanwhile the Quai 

d'orsay endeavoured, with some success, to obtain 

Italian support for that policy. But it seems that the 

Quai d'Qrsay was ultimately misled by the secrecy of 

Khaireddin's proceedings at the porte. Moustier having 

asked for and easily obtained Aali Pasha's assurance 

that the porte did not intend to change the status quo 

1. 

2. 
3. 

The secrecy of the negotiations partly accounts for 
the lack of precision in the reports: Ben Dhiaf 
himself gives no information. 
FO 27 1537. Cowley to Russell, December 15 and 18,1864 
Documents diplomatiques, 1864, Drouyn de Lhuys, 
December 19, p. 143. 
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in Tunis and the Bey strongly denying that anything of 

the kind was conter~lated, Drouyn de Lhuys drew the 

conclusion in January that if proposals had ever been 

contemplated they had not been actually discussed in 

Constantinople. 1 Russell, however, had already inter-

vened vigorously in Paris, Turin and constantinople 

to encourage the Bey and the SuI ta-in in their project 

and to prevent the Powel"S from praetising obstruction: 

but Khaireddin had already left Constantinople on 

December 24 with the porte's answer. 

Khaireddin brought back very satisfactory news for 

the Bey. A letter from the ~rand Vizier confirmed the 

SUltan's desire of "strengthening the ancient privileges 

by way of official renewal" and preserv.l.ng the "old 

connection and distinguished Dependence" of the Province 

of Tunis upon the porte. The Grand Vizier then enu-

merated the provisions of the A1emorandum which the 

Porte had end.orsed. The problem of the tribute (article 

8) had not been touched, Wood commented,"to obviate 

inopportune opposition" and the question of the Treaties 

(article 5) -had been "left unnoticed by the Grand Vizier".2 

1. 

2. 

FO 27 1564. Cowley to Russell, January 10,1865. 
Documents diplomatiques 1864. Drouyn de Lhuys to 
hloustier, January 6, 1865. 
Wood refers to a following separate despatch for 
comments about the porte's answer but it does not 
appear to be in ~~ 102 nor in FO 335 (Archives of 
the Consulate). 
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The provision refering to the Bey's internal autonomy 

provided that the Bey should abide by ttthe Sheraa ••• as 

well as such administrative laws as are sufficiently 

efficacious to protect individuals, security,property 

and honour as circumstances aad time may require."(This 

formula seemed to reintroduce the question of reforms). 

On the whole the .... emorandum had been accepted by the 

ottoman Government as the basis of their future relations 

with the Regency. It had nevertheless been decided in 

Constantinople that the Porte wou~d not immediately 

issue a Firman, but that the Bey should officially ask 

for it. It is possible that by this somewhat complicated 

procedure the porte intended to create an opportunity 

for negotiating with the Powers. However. that may be, 

the Bey expressed to Wood his "unbounded satisfaction" 

and assured the Cunsul that he was resolved to ask for 

the l!'irman ttwi thout unnecessary delay. ,,1 

The Powers and the Firman. 

5. After Khaireddin's return the secret of the nego­

tiation was d~s¢losed and the Bey could not postpone 

explanations any longer, the more so as France and Italy 

were showing much bitterness about having been kept in 

1. FO 102 75. Wood to Russell, January 12, 1865. 
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ignorance of the negotiation. Their Consuls tried to 

dissuade the Bey from asking for the Firman and de 

Bellecourt, the new French Consul, was partly successful 

in his attempt to frighten the Bey with the idea that in 

case of war between T~rkey and one European Power, Tunis 

would be involved in the conflict. l 

Towards the end of January 1865 the Bey appeared so 

hesitant that Wood decided to precipitate matters. 

During an interview with Sadok Bey the Consul noted that 

the formula used for the investiture of the Beys referred 

to an "election" and he reminded Sadok of Ali ben 

Ghedahem's "election" by the tribes. As long as there 

was no forlnal recognition by the Porte of the hereditary 

rights of the Husseini family, Wood concluded, the Bey's 

pOSition would remain unsettled. Under these conditions 

Wooel. irrrpressed on the Bey the urgency of having his 

rights uformellement reconnus pal" ls Sublime Porte ••• et 

par l'Europe", and of putting an end to "des usages 

surannes" about the election by the Divan and the people. 2 

WOOd's plan was to make the Bey uneasy enough to induce 

him to overcome French and Italian op~osition, and to 

look for an agreement with the porte. In addition the 

1. FO 102 75. Wood to Russell January 12, 1865 
2. Ibid, January 31, 1865, N. 11 and 12. 
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Consul hoped that b'rance, which wished to maintain the 

quasi inde~endent reigning dynasty in Tunis, would con­

template cooperating for the recognition of the heredi­

tary right of the Husseinis by the porte, and would thus 

accept the proclamation of Tunis as a part of the Turkish 

Empire which was also in the Firman. l The manoeuvre 

was apparently sl-cilful and. it met wi th immediate success 

but gave rise to unexpected consequences. The bey felt 

so uneasy indeed that he immediately consulted the re­

presentatives of the Powers, to obtain assurances about 

the hereditary character of his authority, an assurance 

which France was for her part ready to give. As for 

Russell, he thought the step rathel'" clumsy as his whole 

attitude towards the projected Firrnan was based upon 

the assum9tion that it merely defined the existing status 

quo, while Wood. was apparently sugc.8sting an improvement 

of that status quo. The propOSitions, he wrote to the 

Consul, tended to al tel'" al tOt;;ether the existing relations 

between the Sultan and the Bey and to confer upon the 

Bey through the influence of Great Britain an independent 

title. Wood was accordingly instructed "to restrain 

from taking any pl"'oceedings of a nature to cause change 

in the relations between the Sultan and the Bey unless 

1. fO 102 75. Wood to Russell, March 6, 1865. 
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L-he received~ positive instructions authorizing ~him~ 

to do so." British diplomacy went forward along the 

classical highway, which Wood had thought of abandoning 

in order to take an adventurous byway. 

French op.}osition to the issue of the Firman was 

gradually stiffening: the It'irman,de Bellecourt assured 

the Bey, was useless "as neither the Porte nor any of 

the Great Powers disputed the quasi independence or the. 

hereditary rights of the Bey"; it was dangerous because 

the Porte might try to take advantage of the Firman to 

make demands which would modify the status quo. l The 

French government disputed the allegation in the Firman 

that the Regency formed an integral part of the ottoman 

Dominions, and endeavoured to intimidate the Bey: did 

the Tunisian government, de Bellecourt asked, wish to 

bring about a EUl"opean war by ttleir persistence?2 The 

Bey decided to send I\haireddin to Paris in order to 

try to overcome the opposition of the Quai d'orsay. 

Russell made a new attempt to dissuade the French 

government from opi!osing the Firman: "As the Firman in 

question would •••• confirm the present status quo •••• Rer 

Majesty's Government are desirous that the Sultan should 

1. FO 102 75. 
t. FO 102 75. 

Wood to Russell, February 25, 1865. 
WDod to Russell, March 2~, 1865. 
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1 grant i til he wrote to Cowley. But neither Cowley's 

demarche nor Khaireddin's efforts could lessen Drouyn's 

opposi tion to the Firman. Cowley and IUlaired.din were 

however under the in~ression that if the porte chose to 

grant the Firman no positive opposition would be made 

by France; that impression seemed to be confirmed by 

Drouyn's despatch to de Bellecourt (April 26) in. which 

the Minister endeavoured to re duce the significance of 

the Firman to the mere reassertion of the Sultan's 

religious suzerainty over Tunis. 2 Wood made use of 

the dangers which this theory involved to bring pressure 

to bear anew upon the Bey, who ultimately decided to 

apply for the Firman (July 1865). The success or 

failure of the undertaking now depended on the Porte's 

attitude: at this critical stage Wood once more empha-

sized the importance of encouraging the ottoman govern­

ment to give a favourable answer to the Bey's demand. 3 

The issue of the Firman is delayed. 

6. The summer of 1865 was somewhat troubled: while the 

Foreign Office was encouraging the Porte to send the 

Firman and trying to overcome French hostility, the 

1. PO 27 1557. Russell to Cowley, April 25, 1865. 
2. FO 102 75. Wood to Russell, July 10, 1865. 
3. Ibid. July 11, 1865. 



-391-

Tunisian government were embroiled in a series of diffi­

culties with Italy and France which were not without 

connection with the problem of Tunisian relations with 

the Sultan. The French Goverbment indeed were not 

sorry to make the Bey feel their irritation at the 

weakening of their prestige in Tunis since 1864: their 

sudden stiffness indicated that they had decided to 

strengthen their grip on the Tunisian government and 

to counteract the progress of British influence. On 

the other hand, their high-handed proceedings with the 

Bey conveyed a clear lesson to the Porte: The Ottoman 

Government were invited to ponder carefully over the 

dangers which they would incur should they go ahead in 

the question of the Firman and assume responsibility 

for Tunisian affairs. 

The Italians had taken the initiative and were 

keeping alive some trifling difficulties which had 

been pending for a very long time. Ultimately, in 

August 1865, a scuffle of sailors in Bizerta provided 

an opportunity for a naval demonstration accompanying 

demands which, Wood remarked, were out of all proportion 

to the original incident: "I could not see the utility 

of humiliating the Tunisian Government by making it a 

party in an affray between Foreign sailors and its subject~ 

1. FO 102 75. Wood to Russell, August 19, 1865. 



-392-

Russell kept a close watch on Italian proceedings in 

Tunis and he had advised the FlDrence Cabinet at the end 

of August "to deal with the Bey •••• in a spirit of mod­

eration", a piece of advice which was also a warning. l 

At the same time some incidents of little importance 

were increasing the tension between the b'rench consulate 

and the Tunisian government. At the end of August things 

at last came to a crisis: Several Algerians who had been 

long established in Tunis, had entered the Tunisian 

service and were considered Tunisians by the government, 

had been imprisoned by the Tunisian authorities and 

beaten with cudgels as the result of a minor offence. 

'fhe Fl~ench Vice-Consul considered it his duty to protest 

officially and to claim reparation under the pretext 

that these Algerians were French proteges. Drouyn 

approved of this action and assured Cowley that the 

incident was of the most serious nature and likely to 

provoke very grave consequences should the Bey refuse 

to give the satisfaction which was demanded of him. 2 

The Bey, on the other hand, had good reasons for refusing 

to yield, as one such concession would have given weight 

to the protection which the French Consul claimed to 

1. FO 45 69. Russell, August 28, 1865. 
2. FO 24 1575. Cowley to Russell, August 29, 1865. 
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exercise over s~ veral thousands of Algerian Zouaves who 

were serving in the Bey's army and had completely cut 

off their ties with Algeria. Drouyn informed Oowley in 

September that the Imveiiial Govel"nment were "determined 

not to put up with the indignity of finding their just 

demands uncomplied with." Baron Saillard was sent to 

Tunis and instructed. to obtain reparation, sanctions 

against the responsible authorities, official explana­

tions presented by the Prime Minister, and the recog­

nition of the Algerians as French proteges; otherwise 

these demands would be enforced. l The threat was not 

exaggerated, for in the meanwhile the Governor of Algeria 

was instructed to prepare an expedition against the 

Regency, in case Saillard's demands should not be com­

plied with.2 Russell thought that it was essential to 

avoid the military action which the French Government 

seemed resolved upon, and which would be likely to end 

in a French quasi-protectorate over Tunis. He immed­

iately instructed Wood by telegram to "advise the Bey 

to comply with French demands. ,,3 Wood had already 

arrived at the same conclusions: overcoming his own 

misgivings about the justice of the French case he 

1. 
2. 

3. 

FO 27 1576. 
FO 27 1611. 
1866. 
FO 102 75. 

oowley to Russell, September 19,1865. 
oolbnel Olaremont to oowley,January 30, 

Russell to Wood, September 25, 1865. 
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advised the government "by a reasonable compliance with 

~the French Government's~demands to neutralize any 

ulterior measures in contemplation for enforcing them." 

The Bey reluctantly decided to yield: the prime ~inister 

went to the French Consulate and publicly expressed 

"the regret of the Tunisian government. ,,1 It is diffi­

cult to think that this humiliation was not regarded in 

France as a revenge for the events of 1864. 

7. While the French Government were thus energetically 

affirming their unique si tua tion in 'l'unis at the expense 

of the Bey's prestige, the discussion was going on with 

the Porte about the Firman. The position of the otto-

man Government, between the contradictory advice given 

by France and Great Britain, was a very awkward one: 

while the porte conten~lated favourably the strengthening 

of its ties with the Regency of Tunis, the prospect of 

a quarrel with France was dish~artening. As French 

influence remained very strong in Constantinople and 

was felt as a moderating inf ~uence on the whole, the 

ri~ks were too momentous to be faced lightly.2 The 

1. FO 102 75. Wood to Russell, Septenilier 25, 1865. 
2. Engelhardt, I, pp. 216-218. 
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Foreign Office put very strong pressure on the Porte to 

counterbalance its fears of French resentment: at the 

beginning of August 1864 Russell put the case clearly 

before Aali Pasha and once more described the problems 

and alternatives with which Turlcish policy was confronted 

in 'funis, as reported by Wood. 1 Aali Pa sha' s answer 

to Bulwer was far from enthusiastic: he affirmed however 

that the Porte considered that it was "bound by- verbal 

and written promises to comply with the renewed demand 

of the Bey of Tunis". But the Ottoman Government, Aali 

Pasha added, wished to consult the French Government 

firf:;t, a very imprudent procedure indeed, if the Porte 

really intended to issue the Firman, in consideration 

of Drouyn's overt opposition to the scheme. 2 The otto-

man Ambassador in Paris was so reluctant to communicate 

the projected Firman to Drouyn that Cowley was obliged 

to call his attention once more to Aali Pasha's instruc-

tions (September 1865).3 

Drouyn's answer was such as could have been easily 

foreseen. In addition to his previous arguments against 

the Firman, which he deemed to be useless (if it did not 

modify the status quo) or alternatively unacceptable to 

1. :&'0 78 1854. 
2. FO 78 1861-
3. FO 27 1576. 

Russell to Bulwer. August 3, 1865. 
Bu1wer to Russell, September 4, 1865. 
Cowley to Russell, September 22, 1865. 
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France, the Minister made rather ominous comments, in 

the light of recent happenings in Tunis. France would 

regard the issue of the ~'irman as an act of hostility 

and would be induced to show "greater watchfulness over 

French interests in the interior of the Regency and 

less dispositions to pass over cases of insult or injury." 

Should new difficulties occur in Tunis, the Porte would 

be more directly involved in their settlement: the issue 

of the Firman, Drouyn concluded, would "not improve the 

£'"porte'sJrelations with the French Government". As 

Cowley tried to have recourse to purely "legalistic" 

arguments, Drouyn admitted readily that the Bey had a 

right to ask for the Firman and the Sultan an equal right 

to grant it and even that the Firman contained nothing 

"to which he could not himself subscribe", but considered 

that it would involve too many dangers for French rule 

in Algiers for the French Govermnent to accept it.l 

Drouyn's considerations could not but damp the 

already lukewarm enthusiasm of the ottoman Government. 

On Lyons' arrival in constantinople as Ambassador, a last 

effort was, however, made to convince the porte that it 

should go ahead: Lyons tried to reassure Aali Pasha with 

regard to threats which were so violent "that they could 

1. FO 27, 1576. Cowley to Russell, september 29, and 
october 9, 1865. 
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hardly be serious"; the AmbassE)dor then advised the Porte 

to issue the Firman at once rather theb to tlcontinue 

negotiations which had for only effect to lead the French 

to make strong declarations against it.1f It was a very 

sound piece of advice: Aali Pasha admitted it but Lyons 

entertained no illusion about the succees of his sugges-

tion as the ottoman Government made no secret of their 

apprehensions regarding the French attitude, should they 

proceed farther. The matter was dro.9,Ped QUietly during 

the winter of 1865. 1 The last echo came of course from 

'l'unis: in I'vlarch 1866 the tenacious Wood alluded to .buad 

Pasha's courteous but not explicit answer to the Bey, 

and asked Lyons whether the Bey was justified in enter-

taining some hope of confirming and consolidating his 

relations and connexion with Turkey, or whether he was 

to remain "contented with the precarious position 

assil-ned to him by the requirements of the policy of 

his powerful neighbour. ,,2 A significant silence was 

the only answer to that anxious interrogation. 

8. The ottoman Government had shrunk frolll rislcing 

French opvosition to the settlement of the long-pending 

1. It'O 78 1861. Lyons to Rm:,sell, November 7, 1865. 
2. FO 195 792 A. Wood to Lyons. March 1, 1865. 
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question of the relations between the Sultan and the Bey. 

That indisputable failure should be examined in the light 

of Wood's unceasing warnings about the necessity for the 

Porte to enforce her claims to Suzerainty over Tunis as 

otherwise her rights would gradually fall into disuse. 

The affair of the Firman had shown that the French veto 

had been enough to prevent a definitive solution Qf the 

problem. The Regency remained in the ambiguous position 

which de Beauval and Compenon thought conducive to the 

progress of French influence; it did not benefit from 

the international protection which a clear recognition 

of its belonging to the ottoman Empire 'would have ensured 

to it; at the same time its independence was neither 

recognized nor guaranteed by the Powers. 

British influence and prestige could not but be 

affected by this disap~ointing conclusion of the policy 

which the Forei g,"Il Off.Lce had advocated in Tunis and the 

advantages of which Wood had been instructed to impress 

upon the Bey. Nothing could be clearer by 1865 than 

Turkish and English inability to overcome the French 

opposi tion. 'rhe moment might 11.ave been deemed favour­

able for having recourse to the "alternative" policy 

which Wood had recommended on several occasions should 

the "TUrl{ish solution" ultimately fail. It appears 

that after 1864 the Khaznadar had thought of neutralizing 
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the Re gency and of giving her a statute of quasi-

independence which, several European publicists sugLested, 

was the only solution left. l But the eventual success 

of the enterprise depended on an international agreement: 

it is difficult to see how the Foreign Office, anxious 

as it was to maintain a coherent policy with regard to 

the ottoman Empire, and more snd more reluctant to 

meddle in European difficulties, could have suggested er 

indeed desired that alternative policy. 

1. constant, p. 46. Some of the publicists who 
suggested recognizing the independence of Tunis -
prevost "La Tunisie devant l'Europe" (1862), "Des 
ra" orts de la Tunisie avec l'Eura elf (1865), 
"La Tunisie et 18 Civilisation" 1867), Albert 
Fran90is: "Tunis et la Regence" 1867) - obviously 
drew-their inspiration from the Palace of the Bardo. 
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IX. 'fhe financial problem comes to the forefront 
(1865-1867) 

The Regency after the revolution of 1864. 

1. The revolution of 1864 had disastrous consequences 

for the Regency in the economic as well as in the poli-

tical field. After the suspension of the constitution 

and of the Judicial organization, the Bey had created a 

Consultative Committee which was meant to give him advice 

and, in a limited way, take the place of the Supreme 

Council: but sadok ceased very soon to consult the 

Committee, which fell into disuse towards the end of 

1864. 1 Wood's efforts to induce the Bey to maintain 

the reforms were utterly unsuccessful, and it was a 

bitter irony of fate that the British Government should 

at that very moment have decided at last to bestow upon 

the Bey a distinction which ViaS now meaningless. On 

July 27 1865 Admiral yelverton solemnly conferred the 

Order of Bath on the Bey. Wood extolled Anglo-Tunisian 

friendship and praised the Bey's past achievements, 

perhaps with a view to encouraging him to go on in the 

same way: the Bey, he said, "nous a r~serve la joie de 

donner les bases solides a la civilisation dans lea 

1. Ben Dhiaf, pp. 80-81. 
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, / / 

regions africaina, de faire regner la justice et l'equite 

•••• le Gouvernement Anglais souhaite ardemment que 

votre action bienfaisante soit couronnee par la complete 

realisation des voeux de vos sujets". The Bey was 

deeply moved and highly gratified, but gave no answer to 

Wood's suggestions. The Tunisian government fell back 
• 

into the bad ·old ways of absolute and arbitrary rule 

which Ben Dhiaf and Khaireddin, the protagonists of the 

Reform movement, deeply resented and sharply criticized. 

The re-establishment of the Bey's absolute power, 

which perhaps satisfied his inmCl)st preferences, did not 

increase his actual authority in external or internal 

affairs. The incidents of 1865 had shown the weal<:::ening 

of his position in his relations with the Powers. Inside 

the country the Bey had been unable to re-establish 

confidence and ~eace: the severity of the repeession 

amd the continued mismanagement of the administration 

fostered the discontent and agitation. In November 1865 

Ali ben Ghedahem came back to the Regency, perhaps in 

consequence of letters inviting him to return to ~unis. 

After several weeks of apprehension regarding a possible 

rising of the tribes, Ali ben Ghedahem surrendered and 

was i~prisoned (March 1866): he was to die in Ius prison 

in October 1867, in somewhat suspect circumstances. 

The economic and financial situotion~ bad as it 
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was before 1864, was made even more critical by the revo-

lution. The events of 1864 undermined the economy of 

the Regency and impaired its finances. The war-indemnities 

which were levied in the revolted areas (and specially 

in the Sahel) were so heavy that many villages had 

recourse to foreign merchants who advanced them the 

necessary funds against their produce of olive pil, at 

a fixed price, with their property being mortgaged as 

security: as the crops were insufficient to meet their 

liabilities, the Tunisians renewed their engagements, 

and their debts increased accordint... ly: "in some instances, 

Wood reported in 1870, the produce J f a whole village 

is insufficient to pay the interest upon its debt".l 

At the same time the government had to meet the expenses 

incurred during the insurrection with the usual exped­

ients (anticipatory sale of olive oil and local loans), 

and ultimately resorted to a new loan in France. In 

1865 the Bey borrowed 25,900,000 francs from d'Erlanger; 

he was to reimburse 60,000,000 in 15 years and received 

only 7,500,000 francs in cash. 

A loan contracted in these conditions could not but 

aggravate the Bey's difficulties: his liabilities now 

reached 11,800,000 francs year~y, (8,200,000 for the 

1. },i'0 102 120. Wood to Clarendon, March 16, 1870. 
Ben Dhlaf, p. 84. 
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French debt and 3,600,000 in Tunis), and he had to ask 

for more money from the population, but the resources 

of the country appeared to be exhausted. The Summer 
• 

Camp of 1865 in the region of Beja led to dreadful 

extortions. The crops of 1865 and 1866 were a complete 

failure: the Camp of the Arad (March-July 1866) collected 

only insignificant sums, less than its expenditure, and 

the Camp of the Djerid (April - August 1866) was equally 

unsuccessful. It visited also the region of Beja but 

tlil n'y avait rien a recouvrer - Tout etait ruin~tI and 

Ali Bey returned empty-handed. l The Bey was unable to 

deliver the oil which he had sold in anticipation or to 

pay for it: his obligations were renewed, with the 

addition of the interest (12 per cent yearly). Sadok 

t hen resorted to the very dubiou~ expedient of coining 

copper money (May 1866) which lost half of its value 

ana had to be devalued in December 1866. In the mean-

while the agriculturists had shovm such reluctance to 

receive it in payment that the scarcity of corn was 

considerably aggravated, so that to financial difficul­

ties were added famine and epidemics. 2 The Tunisian 

government were threatened with bankruptcy if some drastic 

action was not taken to remedy their financial difficulties. 

1. Ben Dhiaf, pp.169 and 172: FO 102 77. Wood to 
stanley, September 2, 1866. 

2. Ben Dhiaf, pp. 172 to 189. 
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The consolidation of the debt (1867) 

2. In April 1866 Wood sent a rather disheartening 

report about the Tunisian financial situation; the gov-

ernment, he added, were endeavouring to find money 

(about 110,000,000 francs) in Europe, but it appeared 

highly improbable that they would be able to raise money 

upon more favoura ble terms than 10 per cent. l Meanwhile 

the foreign merchants who held Government bonds were 

protesting against the Government's failure to meet 

their liabilities. The Consuls besieged the Bey with 

their claims, but Wood showed a reserve· which he just­

ified by political considerations:"by superadding to 

the pecuniary difficulties of the government ~the protest-1 

dogged its action whilst it tended to precipitate a 

financial ~ollap$e which we were all anxious to avert. 1t2 

The ultimata of the French and Italian Consuls indi-

cated that the financial problem would soon take a 

political aspect: under these conditions Wood felt 

bound to help the Government to the utmost of his power 

in order to avoid forei~~ intervention. On the one 

hand he advised the government Uto submit to any sacri­

fice rather than to draw upon itself coercive measures". 

1. 
2. 

FO 102 77. 
FO 102 77. 

Wood to Clarendon, April 14, 1866. 
Wood to Russell, July 12, 1866. 
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On the other, he tried to persuade the Bey's creditors 

"in their own interests" to "use moderation and accept 

a temporary accommodation" pending the conclusion of 

a loan. l 

The negotiations for that loen proved long and ulti­

mately unsuccessful. The Bey needed too much money, 

and was reluctant to accept the veI'Y harsh terms which 

he was offered, especially after the two disastrous 

experiences of 1863 and 1865. At the beginning of 

September 1866 the prospects, however, seemed more 

favourable, and a Tunisian Envoy, Mussali concluded a 

preliminary agreement with a British bank. In order to 

obtain the quotation of the loan in the London money 

market, and also to encourage subscriptions, the con­

tractors and the Bey hoped that the British government 

would grant to that loan "the same favour and privileges 

which are accorded to other Foreign loans". Wood un­

reservedly sUP1?orted that demand as, in the event of 

financial collapse, the goverrunents of the creditors 

were likely to use coercive measures to enforce payment. 

Wood even went so far as to place Santillana, the 

chancellor of the Consulate, at the disposal of the 

Tunisian government, in order to help lv'lusalli in his 

1. FO 102 77. Wood to Russell, August 28, 1866. 
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negotiations. This last step was deemed "questionable" 

by Stanley,and the Foreign Office replied to Wood that 

although his compliance with the Beyts request was not 

6isap:Jroved of under the circumstances, he must under-

stand that the Brltish Government had "no desire to be 

mixed up with the financial difficulties of the Bey".l 

The ultimate failure of the loan - the 'Dunisian govern-

rnent consldered that the terms were too heavy for the 

resources of the Regency - removed the grounds for the 

anxieties of the Foreign Office. The reluctance of the 

Tunisian govermnent was undoubtedly justified but their 

credit was now at its lowest ebb. 

3. At the beginning of 1867 matters had come to a 

standstill: the Government had not been able to pay 

the bonds which had fallen due since June 1866; the 

negotiations for a loan were interrupted. The detractors 

of the government accused them of only trying to gain 

time: though Wood did not look upon the situation "in 

the same point of view", he was bound to understand 

the exasperation of the creditors, many of whom were 

Bri tish. They were of course trying to get the support 

1. FO 102 '77. Wood to stanley, October 13, 1866 - Note 
Hammond, october 23, Stanley to Wood, october 24, 
Wood to Stanley, November 24, 1866. 
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of theil~ respe:cti ve Consuls and Governments, a course 

of action which was pregnant with momentous consequences 

for the political status of the Re gency, if some of the 

Foreign Governments should "consider themselves called 

upon to intervene for the protection of the interests 

and fortunes of their subjects. ttl 

Under these conditions Wood was led to suggest a 

local consolidation of the debt redeemable in a stated 

number of years, the annuities to be paid out of certain 

revenues, under the supervision of representatives of 

the local creditors. Should the government refuse to 

liquidate their debt, Wood argued with the Bey, the 

European governments might consider themselves obliged 

to adopt adequate measures "not per'haps by the presence 

of s [lips of war but by deputing Commissioners charged 

to enquire into the l~eceipts and expenditure of the 

Tunisian Government, fOI' the purpose of allotting a 

portion of the public revenue towards the liquidation 

of its obligation ••• ". In such a case, Wood added, the 

government would experience the gradual loss of their 

freedom of action in matters of internal administration. 2 

The adoption of his proposals, Wood believed, would avert 

1. FO 102 79. Wooo to Russell, January 12, 1867. 
2. Ibid., February 21, 1867. 
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the impending crisis. on the other hand the organiza­

tion of the control on a private basis would not involve 

the political dangers which the official intervention 

of the Powers was likely to bring about. Last and not 

least the arrangement sUi;;gested by Wood was particularly 

favourable to British interests as British debt claims 

were invested in the local loans (11,000,000 francs) 

and only :to a minor extent in the "French loans" of 

1863 and 1865 (1,000,000 francs).l The Bey was so 

depressed by the situation that he was ready to accept 

any reasonable offer; the Prime Minister accordingly 

approved Wood's suggestion that :parts of the revenues 

should henceforward be assigned for the progressive 

payment of a portion of the local debt. (Bebruary 1867) 

4. Woodts initiative seemed at fir'st to meet with 

complete success, technical as well as political. In 

March 1867 an agreement was concluded between the 

Tunisian government a'nd six Frencll, Italian and English 

residents under the auspices of the English and Italian 

Consuls (the French Consul later aslced the two !t'renchmen 

to withdraw from the Commission but several French claims 

remained involved in the agreement). 'l'he government 

1. lt~ 102 114. Wood to Stanley, June 20, 1868, N 32. 
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deposited as securities, with the representatives of 

its creditors, permits for the export of olive oil, wool, 

dates and soap within five years, the proceeds being 

used for the repayment of 8,000,000 piasters. The 

agreement was later extended by contract to the payment 

of additional sums of 4,000,000 (March 17) and 8,000,000 

(Apri18).1 This first conversion (of a total amOWlt 

of 20,000,000 piaster~ relieved the governrnent of the 

pressure which had been brought to bear upon them and 

restored some kind of confidence among the creditors. 

The creation of stamp duty allowed a second conversion 

of 10,000,000 francs (August 1,1867): th~ stamp duty, 

and various export duties were to be administered by 

6 mel~chants (3 Frenchmen, 2 Italians, and one British), 

the interest and pr~ncipa1 of the converted debt being 

extinguished in the course of six years.2 As, however, 

tb.e amoWlt of tb.e local debt appeared to be greater than 

had been at first supposed, two further contracts of 

conversions were concluded, the first of 10,0.00,000 

francs (september 1) and the second of 8,000,000 francs 

(in January 1868). The Tunisian government seemed to 

be proceeding peacefully towards tb.e gradual liq.uidation 

1. 

2. 

FO 102 79. Wood to Russell, March 7 and 23, 
1867, and FO 102 114. Wood to Stanley, June 
FO 102 79. Wood to Stanley August 19 , 1867. 
114. Wood to Stanley, May 1, 1868. 

April 20 
23, 1868. 
,b"'o 102 
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of their debts. 

Some kind of settlement was urgently needed: there 

were disquieting signs that in Italy and France impat-

ience was increasing. In March Wood had passed on 

rumours of naval preparations in Brindisi and Cagliari. l 

At the beginning of April Baron Castelnuovo was sent to 

Tunis by the Italian government to urge the settlement 

of the Italian claims, before the government "saw 

itself compelled by the Chambers as well as by public 

opinion to have recourse to coercive measures for their 

adjustment" • Wood intervened. and aCQuainted Castelnuova 

with the first agreements for a conversion which "super-

sedec1 the necessity of any coercive action". At Castel-

nuova's departure, Wood was able to express the hope 

that the Italian government would be satisfied with the 

settlements already affected and would therefore cease 

to entertain unfriendly feelings towards the Bey's 

government. 2 The French Consul had shown a marked 

hostility to the conversion scheme and had made it 

quite clear that French subjects could not form part 

of an International Connnission "especially in Tunis where 

France had special and separate interests, which, for 

1. FO 102 79. Wood. to Stanley, March 9, 1867. 
2. FO 102 79. Wood to Stanley, April 3 and 20,1867. 
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political objects must be kept distinct from those of 

other nations. ,,1 But French merchants had nevertheless 

taken part in the arrangement and their representatives 

were even members of the Board of AdJninistration of the 

second and third conversions. De Botmiliau had never-

theless sent very alarming reports to Paris about the 

Tunisian situation and, according to Wood, the French 

Government had contemplated sending an expedition to 

Tunis, perhaps with Italian co-operation. 

The affairs of Italy had, however, led the French 

to suspend the expedition, and on the b'rench side also 

the situation seemed to imppove during the summer of 

1867. Wood himself had to deal with the impatience of 

the British creditors who'were of course less prone than 

Wood to further British political interests in preference 

to their own material interests. The Chambel~ of Commerce 

of Malta besieged the Governor of Ivialta with complaints 

against the Tunisian Government and 'WJod's alleged 

inefficiency: "We regret to observe that lylal tese inter­

ests in the Regency of Tunis are not protected in the 

same manner as the interests of subjects of other 

countries" the Maltese merchants wrote on June 27.2 

--------' , . ,'--"", -

1. 
2. 

FO 102 79. Wood to Russell, March 7, 1867. 
Fe 102 79. Chamber of Commerce to Governor of Malta: 
March 13, May 23, JUly 4, November 2. 
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The Foreign Office transmitted these complaints to Wood 

but, it seems, without pressing him too hard. Wood, 

however, recommended moderation to British subjects and 

tried to settle their claims fairly and amicably with 

the government, with an obvious desire not to complicate 

their situation too much. Wood's experiment justified 

thirt - rays of hope but the restoration of Tunisian 

finances was a long and exacting labour, and many diffi­

culties were still ahead. 

The crisis of the Autumn of 1867. 

5. Famine and misery combined in 1867 with epidemics 

created in the Regency a state of unrest which found 

expression in a series of troubles. In May 1867 Arab 

tribes approached Beja in the hope of being able to 

procure food, and various reports referred to the dis­

affection of the Arab tribes in the Kairovan and 

Djerid districts. l In September 1867 Adel Bey, the 

Bey's youngest brother, left the Bardo secretly and 

went over to the Rebels in the mountains near Beja. In 

the state of exasperation of the population a general 

rising of the tribes was to be feared. The prince, 

however, was soon tired of his nomadic existence, and 

1. FO 102 79. Werry to stanley, May 14, 1867. 



-413-

the Bey of the Camp, Ali Bey, had no sooner offered him 

an amnesty than Adel Bey surrendered with his compan-

ions (october 4, 1867). The Bey hastily proceeded to a 

repression out of proportion to the importance of the 

rising: two well-known generals, General Reshid and 

Ismael Sahib et Tabaa, who were involved in Adelts 

departure were summarily executed, while many other 

officers were arrested, and Adel put in prison where he 

died on November 5. 1 

The event provoked a simultaneous protest by the 

French and English consulates. While the French Consul 

expres sed his concern a t It 1 t eVEmement tragique qui vient 

de souiller de sang le palais du Bardou2 , Vice-Consul 

Werry (who was in charge of the Consulate during Woodts 

leave of absence) was more precise in his criticism 

and related the affair to the. broader question of 

Reforms. After having described the double summary 

execution as "lamentable and arbitrary proceedings", 

Werry remarked that it would have been better to submit 

the affair to a trial before a Court Martial: the Bey 

had sworn to his subjects to abide by the Constitution 

and the Ahd el Aman which gave guarantees of personal 

1. FO 102 79. Werry to Stanley, September 17 and 21, 
october 5, 1867, Ben Dhiaf, pp. 198-200. 

2. Ben Dhiaf, p p . 201-202. 
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security which the Powers "would never consent to see 

destroyed". And in a written note Werry insisted: Illes 

lois, quoique suspendues par la force regrettable de 

circonstances exceptionnelles, existent et ne peuvent 

cesser dtexister".l 

6. As soon as he returned to Tunis, Wood seized upon 

Adel Bey's case and linked it with the threat of French 

intervention. The internal disorganization which the 

uprisings of 1867 had revealed, as well as the pos8i-

bility of the Powers taking the intereLts of their nation-

als in their hands if no remedy was given to the admini-

strative and financial defects, gave Wood weighty argu-

ments in favour of immediate reforms. 

The Consul had a very dramatic intervievv with the 

Bey in the last days of November. After having empha-

sized the injustice of the sWl1mary execution of Reshid 

and Ismael, Wood reminded the Bey of his repeated demands 

that the Bey should comply with the written assurances 

given to Wood in 1864 "that the Peete Fondamental ••• 

should be maintained in all i tsintegri ty". 'rhe dis­

affection in TuniS, Wood continued, was directly attribu~ 

to the present situation which the French Consul reported 

1. FO 102 7 9 . Werry to Stanley, october 12, 1867. 
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as "tantamount to a com.Qlete disorganisation of the 

Regency". De Botmiliau's cornJ,)laints 'were undoubtedly 

over-stated but there was no denying that there existed 

much room for com.Qlaint and for serious reflection. Under 

these conditions Wood pressed the Bey to adopt at once 

"ameliorations in the administrative system •••• before 

they were forced upon him by foreign intervention". If' 

the Bey refused to make seasonable changes France would 

present her ultimatum which would lead to the establish­

ment of her control over the finances and ultimately to 

the loss of the Bey' s intern~l autonomy. "The time had. 

now come," Wood concluded, "when fa cts and not mere Vlol'ds 

would satisfy LFranceJas well as the other European 

PovJers that the 'runisian Governlilent had sincerely entered 

into a wiser system of administration". The Bey promised 

Wood to f'ollmN his advice and as}ced him to come to an 

understanding with the Pr ime t\':inister lIas to what should 

be done under existing cireumstsnces."l 

Wood endeavoured to talee advantage of the internal 

discontent and of the external dangers to start the 

movement of reforms ane'w: the cireumstances, and Wood's 

tactics were similar indeed to those of 1857. Such a 

move, Wood thought, could only avel't ti1.e impending French 

-----------_._-
1. PO 102 79. 'Wood to S't-;anley, November 30, 1867. 
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menace and, by giving satisfaction to their most legiti­

mate cOmlJlaints, molte a furt rwr intel'vention by the 

:ti'rench governrnent useless. One can interpret in this 

light the interview which Wood had some days later 

wi th de Botmiliau. By infol" ming him of his .9l'Oce edings 

with the Bey and of the Bey's p romises, Wood wa f: able to 

break down the dangerous isolation of t he French Consul, 

and to induce him to accept discussion and reforms 

instead of resorting to force. De Botmiliau, although 

he s:lOvled some astoni slll:jent at Wood's attitude, could 

not but promise to give "his best advice" and "the 

assista::lce in his power ••• for a s a tisfactory s ettlelflent 

of the present difficulties". Negotiations actually 

be gan between the French Consul, the Government, and 

Wood for the reorganization of the Iifinistry and the co-

o:Qel"ation of "two or three qualified Europ eans •••• wi til 

the Minister of Finances for the organisa tion of the 

finances". Wood, however, entertained but moderate 

hop es for lasting reconciliation between the Bey and 

Prench Consul: French .901icy in TuniS, he commented 

gloomily, "has now assumed a more defined and determined 

character and consequently SUSCelJ tible of easier execu­

tion at any opportune moment".l 

1. FO 102 79. Wood to stanley, Decerdber 23, 1867. Wood t s 
audacious diplomacy met with only the half-hearted 
a ooroval of stanley, who comments: "You v'{ould have 
a~ted more prudently if you had llOt told the ]'rench 
Consul General that you had stated to the Bey that 
if His Highness did not adopt a system of reform 
he would see Tunis occupied by Foreign Troops" 
(F.O.I02 82. Stanley to Wood, J anuary 8,1868) 
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1868 began in an atmosphere of drama wa ich justified . . 
all misgiv:J..ngs about the future of the Regency. 1!'amine 

and epid,emics had set the nomadic tribes and the a&;1"i-

cu1turists in movement towards the towns. The situation 

as described by Wood and Ben Dhi af was drea l.lful during 

the winter of 1867-1868. "Nurnbel~ of corpses L a1"eJfound 

on the roads in the immediate neighbourhood of this city 

alone •••• The deaths from starvation, cold and disease 

have reached the appalling number of 8000 within a few 

weeks •••• No descril.Jtion can depict the horror of seeing 

emalll.ci~ted children devouring the J;lutrid offal ••• in the 

streets •••• No conception can be formed of the accurnu-

lation of offal, of the exhalations that emanate from a 

blaclc mass of liquid mud mixed up 'with it, ••• of the 

nauseous odours fl~om the bUl'ial grounds as well as from 

the poor famished and diseased . , ~rabs lying atou t in all 

the "l,ihoroughfares. til It was against this background 

of misery and insolvency that a new attempt fOI' reforms 

was to begin, 'wi th the foreign creditors waiting at 

Tunis's door. 

7. Wood's last bid for reform closed a period which 

had begun in 1856 with the highest hopes. The 

1. FO 102 83. Wood to Stanley, January 4 and June 6,1868 
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personalities of Wood and of palmerston had dominated 

Bri tish policy during these ten yeax's. Whoever had been 

Foreign Secretary, the "Palmerstoni8n spirit" had con­

tinued to inspire the action of the Fo.l'eign Office. 

Palmerston had even intervened personally at critical 

junctures and played a decisive part in maintaining a 

policy which retained the main features he had defined 

earlier as a Foreign Secretary: fear of a French occu­

pation of T l~mis, desire to effect a rapprochement between 

the Bey and the Sultan. The policy of Reforms was only 

a Variation which had precedents in Palmerston's policy 

towards tile porte. Anxiety to maintain the diplomatic 

tradition, and the reluctance to contemplate any change 

liable to effect British policy towards the Porte were 

of course the weak points of Palmerston's doctrine: 

that yms already obvious in 1856. In 'l'unis Wood had 

played the essential part in advocating a policy of 

Reforms which he had brought with him in Tunis and for 

which he was indebted to Palmerston and Stratford Canning. 

The action of the Foreign Office had hardly been posi-

tive and the British Goverrunent had very often been 

content with approving WOOd's proceedings, which on the 

whole fitted into the general framework of British policy 

towal~ds the ottoman Empire. On the other hand, Wood Vias un­

able to make a success of his Turkish policy because 
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the obstacles which had prevented the "Turlcish solution" 

from 1835 to 1856 still l~emained in his 1;'lay, and because 

the Foreign Office refused t 8 contemplate accepting a 

modification in the status of Tunis which Wood thought 

necessary and had proposed more than once. 

The ultimate failure of the policy of Reforms was 

a hard blow for wood's policy. It is not very easy to 

make a fair diVision of the responsibility. The French 

commentators have laid the emphasis upon the errors of 

the Tunisians themselves and the fact that the new 

institutions were ill adapted to the situation of the 

Regency: "The attempt to introduce civilization by 

instituting Organic laws was unreasonable, since the 

natives were mere agriculturists", de Beauval remarked 

in 1664 " •••• It wa s to the increa se of this sour:ce of 

prosper:i ty that -the energies of the goveJ'runent should 

be directed."l The Constitution was perhaps too 

liberal and in some ways impracticable: it did not 

really establish a parliamentary regime, there remained 

religious difficulties to solve, and the conditions of 

SOCial life in the Regency were most unfavourable: 

"What the population clamoured for above all was justice 

and peace, and these two essentials were absent.,,2 

1. FO 102 72. Wood to Russell, August 30,1864. 
2. Safwat i 'il ' Tunis and the Great Powers, pp. 21-26. 
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The Tunisian reformers stressed the evil deeds of 

the foreigners, sometimes with great vigour. There is 

no doubt that the new institutions could not last if 

the Europeans were reluctant to play a straightfo~lard 

game an6. refused to accept the consequences of the 

reforms which they had themselves forced upon the Bey. 

The events of the years 1861 to 1864, and particularly 

the crisis of 1864, showed that most of the Europeans 

in Tunis were indeed ready to sabotage the Reforms. 

"Certains gouvernements europe.ens," Khaireddin remarked 

in 1868, "ont chel'che et cherchent enCOl"'e a soulever 

les sujets d,e Quelques Eta ts musulmans contre I' accep-

tation des institutions poli tiques et administra'i:·ives 

que leurs souverains voudraient octroyer."l 

It is, hOVievel'" , necessary to remark that ultimately 

the economic and financial collapse of the Regency 

was bound to cause the experiment of political refor~s 

to fail. The mismanagement of public affairs, the in-

capaCity, the corruption existed before 1830; the increas-

ing backwardness of the Regency when comps red to the 

European countries, which were then progressing by leaps 

and bounds, qUicl{ened the decay which the proxirni ty of 

Algiers made particularly dangerous. But the Europeans 

1. Khaireddin, Reformes n~cessaires aux Etats Musulmans 
p. 46. 
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appeared very skilful at taking advantage of the defects 

they found in the Regency, when they did not create for 

themselves the oP.901''tuni ties for frui tful bargains: from 

the Aqueduct of Zaghouan, to the loans of 1863 and 1865, 

and the extortions of the local creditors, the Tunisian 

government climbed a calvary 'which was to end only in 

foreign control over their administration. From that 

point of view Wood was confronted with a dilemma which 

he was unable to solve: the opening of the Regency to 

European capital which was one of the main points of 

his programme in 1856 and was made possible by the Anglo­

Tunisian Convention of 1863, could not fail to worsen 

the Tunisian difficulties and ultimately embitter the 

rivalries of the European Powers. 

Confronted with the Tunisian collapse the Foreign 

Office clung to its tradi tional policy and vias content 

with limiting the diplomatic implications of the 

revolution of 1864 without trying very hard to prevent 

the total wreckage of the political institutions which 

Wood had so largely contributed to build up. It is not 

improbable that, in London, confidence in the Tunisian 

reforms was less strong than in Tunis. The discouraging 

experiences of the ottoman Empire were of course such 

as to justify some scepticism about the success of the 

Constitution of 1859. The Bey's decision was of course 
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called "temporary suspension", but ex-perience la tel" 

showed that the suspension was to be definitive, and 

Wood's hopes in this matter were utterly disai)pointed. 

'II he financial and economic problems which had already 

underlain the political history of the Regency for ten 

years, began to monopolize attention: unhappily Wood's 

interest came too late and the steps he took in 1867 

were palliatives likely only to delay the crisis, not 

to avert it. British policy seemed to be one move 

behind with the Tunisian problem. 



III. The Policy of Economic Penetration 

{1868-l877) 

" ••• Those foreign pe:cuniary specu­
lations which have invariably been 
the harbingers of evil both to 
Egypt and Tunis." 

( Wood, 1871) 
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x. The International Financial Commission (1868-1870) 

From the French Commission to the InternatiaAal Commission 
(March to May 1868) 

1. The four conversions had been a political success 

for Wood t s policy and a defeat for :[i'rance' s: but they did 

not really solve the financial problems. The debt was 

much more important than Wood had at first thought: in 

all it reached some 160 million frances (66 for the loans 

of 1863-1865, 40 for the conversions and 55 for the local 

floating debt) with an annual interest of 19,500,000 

francs, which exceeded the total resouces of the budget. l 

Even with the relief brought by the conversions the Tun-

isian Government were utterly unable to meet their liab-

ilities: in order to satisfy their local creditors they 

had given themiEecurities which had already been assigned 

to the French loans; the French creditors who held the 

main part of the debt in their hands were not long in 

protesting against tnis situation and against the advan-

tageous position which the commissionsI' of the conver-

sions assured to the local creditors. When the Tunisian 

1. Constant, p. 55 and f. 
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Government failed to pay the coupon which had just fallen 

due the French creditors turned to their government for 

support. 

Although the Quai d'orsay later endeavoured to 

present the suggestion as coming from the Bey himself, 

~here is no doubt that it was de Botmiliau who first 

proposed the creation of a Mixed Commission for the ad­

ministration of the revenues of the Regency.l A first 

prOject was rejected by the Bey and modified to take 

more account of his prerogatives: the Financial.commission 

was to be composed of two Tunisian officials, two repres-

entatives of the foreign merchants, two representatives 

of the French hond-holders, the first deputy of the 

French nation, and "a person learned in the Administration 

of Finances who LshouldJ be brought from Paris". The 

COJ;,mission would attend to the revenue of the goverrunent 

and annual expenditure, and would employ one part of the 

revenue for the expenditure of the government and the 

other for the payment of the debt (APril 4, 1868).2 By 

the creation of a commission which would obviously be 

dominated by its :prench members, the French government 

took revenge for the conversions of 1867 and obtained a 

double advantage: the~/ received absolute control over 

1. 
2. 

Ben Dhiaf', p. 222. 
FO 102 113. Wood to stanley, March 28, April 7,1868 
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the finances of the Regency for the benefit of French 

cred~tors and of French economic enterprises; they took 

over the political initiative which they had lost in 

1867. The success was so decisive indeed that it was 

likely to provoke a reac~ion from the other Powers 

interested in the Tunisian question. 

2. Wood's objections to Botmiliau's scheme were strongly 

formulated from the very beginning. Serious dangers, he 

remarked as early as March 28, would accrUe 'from the 

project which required considerable modifications, not 

only in regard to the protection of the Bey's right to 

administer the revenues of his own country, but also to 

the protection of the material interests of the subjects 

of other Governments. Italy and Great Britain could not 

agree that the interests of their nationals should be 

dealt with by a Commission dominated by :B'rance, and in 

which they were not represented. l The consul asked the 

Bey to suspend any further negotiations pending the con­

sultation of their respective governments by the Italian 

and British Consuls. Should the Bey persist, Wood added, 

he would perhaps have to suspend relations with him until 

he should receive instructions. 2 In all this Wood was 

1. Ii'O 102 113. Wood to Stanley, March 28, 1868 
2. Ibid., April 6, 1868. 
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acting in complete agreement with the Italian Consul. 

The first result of his opposition was t hat de Botmiliau 

was obliged to agree, at the Bey's request, that nothing 

further should be done until the British and Italian 

Governments should come to a friendly understanding with 

the French cabinet. l The discussion was to continue 

on a higher level: but whatever its outcome might be, 

the establishment of some kind of tutelage over the 

government of tne kegency was now inevitable. 

The attitude of the Foreign Office in the Tunisian 

crisis corresponded with its European policy. Since the 

Danish affair the Conservatives were as anxious as the 

Liberals to avoid continental complications and, as a 

reaction against palmerston's policy of interference, 

non-intervention had become the fundamental creed of 

both parties. The importance of internal problems also 

helped to put foreign policy into the s hade f or some 

years.2 One can infer that under these conditions 

stanley had no desire to get mixed up in the Tunisian 
~ 

imbroglio and to pick a quarrel~with France. Stanley 

was indeed ready to recognize that French influence and 

vicinity justified their strong interest in the Regency, 

but at the same time was convinced that France did not 

1. 
2. 

FO 102 113. 
Seton~Watson, 

Wood to Stanley, April 11, 1868 
pp. 474 and 485. 
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think of annexing Tunis. It did not, however, follow 

that Stanley was in anyway ready to accept a French 

protectorate over Tunis, or to sacrifice British interests 

there. l . On the contrary, the French move in Tunis was 

bound to give rise to serious reserves in London. vThile 

limiting the scope of his intervention to obtaining "for 

~ritish subjects an equal measure of justice with those 

of other Powers", Stanley at once defined his objections 

to the French scheme: England and Italy should be assoc-

iated in the Commission on equal footing wi th J:i1rance; 

the operations of the commission should be "pros.l.Jective" 

and should not affect the arrangements already entered 

into by the Bey with forei gn creditors. 2 In the mean-

time, Stanley kept the Italian Government informed of 

what was happening in Tunis and received promises of 

complete smpport. As a further measure of precaution 

the views of the British Government were also 

communicated to Bismarclc. 3 
~he diplomauic encircling 

of France was thus completed. 

3. The French Government, however, offered fierce 

resistance. While assuring Lyons of his anxiety to "act 

1. FO 102 115. Stanley to Herries, october 19,1868. 
Newton, Lord Lyons I, 221. Newton's assumption that 
"the French Government therefore obtained, as far as 
we were concerned, a free hand" seems to be exa.ggerated. 

2. Fa 102 113. Stanley to Wood and to Lyons,Aprll 8,1868. 
3. Ibid, Stanley to Loftus, April 22, 1868. 
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entirely in concert with Her Majesty's Government", 

!vloustier, the Prench Foreign Minister, tried to give 

colour to his theory that the Bey hed "spontenement" 

proposed the institution of the Commission: the French 

Government had not yet come to any decision regarding the 

Bey's proposal which, however, they could not disregard; 

Prance had only to "open her mouth to swallow up Tunis 

whEinever she pleased"; but she did not pursue any exclusive 

advantage in Tunis and was acting for the interest of all 

parties. France desired to settle the matter amicably 

with the British and Italian Governments. The intervention 

of the Italian and British consuls had been unfortunate: 

France, Moustier concluded, asked the Foreign Office not 

to take any step which would "interfere with the French 

position at Tunis" and to instruct Wood "not to create 

embarrassment and confusion by treating the matter with 

the Bey's government, and not to place himself in antag­

onism to his French colleague."l 

This attempt to neutralize Wood was combined with 

fresh endeavours to bully the Bey and to force the 

acceptance of the proposed commission upon him. It is 

not surprising that in these circumstances stanley replied 

that Moustier's explanations were not sufficient to remove 

1. FO 102 113. Lyons to Stanley, Aprii 10, 17 and 23, 
1868. 
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British objections: "If 11. de Moustier,"Stanley wrote 

to Lyons on April 20, umeans that while Mr. Wood's hands 

are to be tied up by his Government the French agent is 

to be left unfettered to exercise whatever pressure he 

thinks proper on the Bey, Her Majesty's Government cannot 

subscribe to any such one sided engagement. ttl Stanley 

was, however, ready to come to an understanding at Paris 

with the French and Italian Governments about the plan 

of placing the administration of the finances of Tunis 

in the hands of a mixed commission, on the two conditions 

whib he had already expressed. 2 

The British position being thus firmly stated, there 

was no alternative left to France but to come to an 

agreement. De Youstier tried at least to retire in good 

order: he demanded that, as a satisfaction to French 

dignity, the Bey should seal the decree on the co~nission, 

merely as a matter of form. The Foreign Office did not 

feel inclined to object to this demand provided it 

obtained from France "satisfactory assurances as to the 

constitution and powers · of the commission.,,3 Lyons 

accordingly suggested to Moustier that, in order to avoid 

future misunderstanding, he should confirm in writing 

------------ - ---

1. 
2. 
3. 

FO 102 113. Stanley to Lyons, April 20,1868 
Ibid, April 27, 1868 
FO 102 114. Stanley to Lyons, May 16, 1868 
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the explanations he had already given verbally that the 

French Government would not act on the Bey's decree until 

the two governments of England and France should have come 

to an understanding as to the modifications to be made 

in it. As soon as the assurance was given, Stanley 

instructed Wood to cease his opposition to the promul-

gation of the decree (May 23). The Italian Government 

was less confident about French intentions in iunis and 

had repeatedly warned the :B'Ol'eign Office that France 

"had a political object •••• to make TUnis a dependency 

of France", but in spite of his misgivings Menabrea 

could not but conform to the British attitude. l As for 

Wood, his suspicions were not lulled and as late as May 

27 he still expressed the hope that some stringent pro-

visions would be made to render the decree inoperative in 

any future contingency. But there was of course no dis-

regarding stanley's instructions. 

organisation of the International Commission. 

4. France had experienced a check which the ultimate 

sealing of the decree by the Bey (May 29, 1868) barely 

concealed. 2 The negotiations were now tranferred to 

1. 

2. 

FO 102 113, paget to Stanley, April 25, +868. 
FO 102 114, Paget, May 19, 1868. . 
constant, p. 53 comments: "cet arran~ementihonsacra~ t " 
l'abdication forcee de notre preponderance en Tunisie. 
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Paris and London, a change which did not make them easier, 

as the diff' icul ties of April and May had aroused the sus-

ceptibilities and suspicions of the negotiators. In 
W'V\& 

addition the three governments/somewhat embarrassed, 

as the proposed Commission was the first experiment of 

international cooperation in the administration of the 

finances of a Foreign state. l 

The French and English governments were inclined ,each 

to suspect the other of trying to solve the financial 

problems of Tunis to its own advantage: indeed opportun-

ities were not lacking on each side. During the SUl1nner, 

two British contractors, Blacbnore and Hope tried to work 

out a profitable operation of consolidation and unifi-

cation of the Tunisian debt, and endeavoured to secure 

the support of the Foreifn Office for their scheme under 

the pretence of maintaining the independence of Tunis 

"threatened at present by the French". From the start 

Hammond did not show much enthusiasm: "It is the old story 

of private advantage sought under the disguise of enligh­

tened philanthropy", he remarked on July 14, 1868. 2 Ulti-

mately Hammond's first impression prevailed that the 

Foreign Office could not "conSistently with its under-

1. The Egyptian "Caisse de la Dette" was established in 
1876; the International financial control of the 
Turkish , debt was decided at Berlin (1878) but was 
carried into effect only in 1881. 

2. FO 102 114. LJ'ons to Stanley, June 18, Blackmore 
to Stanley, July 13, 1868. 
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standings wi th lc'rance further this separate undertaking. ,,1 

On the other hand the "credit Lyonnais't was proposing a 

contract to the Bey for the Conversion of the debt. It 

is not very clear whether the Quai d'orsay favoured the 

scheme: de Botmiliau appears to have supported it in 

Tunis; Moustier, however, assured Lyons that he would 

"most decidedly" object to the Bey's incurring any fresh 

liabilities until the establishment of the commission; 

but the mission of capitaine Bonfils, prince Napoleon's 

Aide de Camp, was related to the scheme and had obviously 
2 a semi-official character. 

Lastly the negotiations were pursued amid the recrim­

inations of the Bey's creditors, who complained of the 

insolvency of the Tunisian Government and asked for firm 

action on the part of their Governments: "Indeed but for 

considerations of more importance than the settlement of 

these claims," Moustier told Lyons in September, "CIJ 
should have been disposed to send a squadron of ships of 

3 war to bring the Bey to reason." And Wood dwelt' ·~on 

the awkwardness of his situation, as the British subjects 

1. FO 102 115. Note on Blackmore's letter of November 
18, 1868. 

2. b'O 102 115. Wood to Stanley, July 14, Lyons to 
stanley, July 17, Wood to Stanley, september 7,1868 

3. Ibid, Lyons to Stanley, September 4, 1868. 
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were besieging him with complaints while he felt the 

necessity of acting"with much circumspection and forbearance* 

The simultaneous changes of Ministers in Great Britain, 

where Clarendon became Foreign secretary in December 

1868, and in France, where La Valette took Moustier's 

place, also contributed to hinder a speedy conclusion of 

the negotiations. 

5. As early as the end of July 1868 Moustier proposed 

a scheme which was to provide the basis for the final 

settlement. The Commission would be divided into- two 

sections: the Executive section ,vould be 8'ppointed by 

the Bey and if the Bey could not find three competent 

persons among his own subjects, "he might place a for-

eigner well versed in financial administration in this 

section"; the section of cont :"-'ol would be composed of 

representatives of all the interests concerned. 2 AS, in 

l,loustier's mind, the foreign tecrmician would obviously 

be French, the scheme met two essential requirements: 

it preserved the French control which the Decree of 

April 4 had instituted, and it gave Stanley satisfaction 

about the equal representation of the Powers. 

When consulted by Stanley, Wood did not conceal his 

rwstility to the scheme. He disliked the diVision of 

1. 
<') ,..) . FO 102 115. Wood to stanley, september 26. 

Ibid,. Lyons to stanley, July 31, 1868. 
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the commission into two sections for the reason, which he 

did not state explicitly, that he feared that the Exe­

cutive Section would be dominated by the European - very 

likely French - member, and would in its turn dominate 

the Section of control. The Executive Section, he suggested 

should be com~osed of three l'unisisns, snd form ua com-

pact working body" with the four European members of the 

Commission (one Frenchman, one Englishman, one prussian 

and one Italian). Wood's main preoccupation was obviously 

to avert the establksmnent of too close European control 

in 'l'unis, end under cover of that control the strengthen-

ing of French preponderance. l The internal problems 

(dissolution of Parliament by Disraeli and preparation 

for the elections) probably diverted Stanley's attention 

from the Tunisian question, for de Moustier was obliged 

to reopen the discussion in October and to ask Lyons 

whether the Foreign Office accepted his scheme as prop­

osed in July, with the precise condition this time that 

the third member of the Executive Section should be French. 

In the meantime de Botmiliau resorted in Tunis to the 

well worn tactics of the 'fait accompli' and tried to 

persuade the Bey to sign the Contract for a conversion of 

1. FO 102 115. Wood to Stanley, August 26, 1868. 
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the Debt, and appoint a French Civil Servant as a Fin­

ancial adviser. 

This time, however, the settlement seemed to be 

very near indeed. On October 13 Stanley replied to 

Moustier that he saw no objection to the proposed div­

ision of the Financial Commis sion into two distinct 

bodies. Stanley's slight hesitation about the European 

adviser (he would be glad to be informed "on what grounds 

it is considered necessary that the Administrative Section 

should include a foreign member,,)l Vias dispelled by de 

Moustier: the presence of a European was necessary to 

make sure that a real improvement would be effected; 

de Moustier suggested that he should be French because 

France could supply a financier specially sui ted. for the 

post more easily than Italy or Great Britain, and because 

he would have "more weight" in Tunis; Prance, de Moustier 

concluded, had no idea "of exel'lcising a predominant 

influence. ,,2 stanley chose to trust de Moustier's 

assurances, and brushed aside wood's misgivings and the 

objections expressed by the Italian Ambassador: He would 

not oppose the presence of a French financier, on the 

understanding that the "controlling section ••• should be 

invested with real powers of suspension and control." 

1. FO 102 115. stanley to Lyons, october 13. 
2. Ibid., Lyons to Stanley, October 18. 
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If' the powers were unable to reach an agreement, all the 

creditors would equally be losers. Moreover, after the 

"complete failure" of the colonization of' Algiers, Stanley 

did not believe that France was likely to desire to extend 

the ~irench dominions in North Africa. "I looked therefore," 

Stanley concluded, "to the financial rather than the 

poli tical a::,pect of the question. ,,1 The Italian Govern­

ment again ,; reSigned themselves to a concession which they 

did not ap- rove of in their' heart of hearts, and they 

were incli ed to re gard Stanley's "understanding" as a 

mere accep ance of French views on Tunis. 

6. A con 'unction of circumstances, however, delayed 

the ive settlement of the 'l'unisian financial 

question a d merely brought it to nought. In Great 

Britain formation of Gladstone's administratlion 

created e uncertainty regarding Tunisian affairs. 

Clarendon ad to be informed of the progress achieved 

in respect of the Commission. At the same time the new 

Foreign Secretary proceeded to a careful study of the 

Tunisian problem: "Does the Porte still claim Tunis as 

a dependency? If so what authority does it exercise 

there? Is that authority recognized by the Bey? Does 

1. FO 102 115. stanley to Herries, october 19,1868 
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not France trea t 'l'unis as .Lndependent?" he asked on 

January 21, 1869. Hertslet's answers were imbued with 

the traditional principles of British policy in Tunis 

since 1835: "Within the last few years," he concluded, 

tithe British Government have laid down distinctly that 

the Bey is not an independent Sovereign, but that he 

governs under the Suzerainty of the Sultan."l 

During the winter l!'rance appeared less anxious to 

conclude the negotiations. Tne Quai d'orsay felt in­

creasingly nervous about the Bey's attitude and Moustier 

was inclined to tlshow his teeth or (to speak more plainly) 

his cannons.,,2 Britain's insistence that Prussia 

should be associated with or at ~east kept informed of, 

the negotiations also gave rise to obvious displeasure 

in Paris. It is possible that the Foreign Office thought 

of strengthening its hand in the negotiation by the 

addition of a prussian partner: but it seems more likely 

t i' ~at the British feared lest de Moustier's stubbornness 

should create a serious misunder; tanding between France 

and Prussia. Prussian interests involved in Tunis were 

trifling indeed, but Bismarck appeared inclined to 

defend German rights in the Regency, probably to embarrass 

the French and to stir up a Franco-Italian riva.lry in 

the Mediterranean. 3 When La Valette took de Moustier's 

1. 
2. 
3. 

FO 102 8'1. Memorandum. February 6, 1869. 
PO 102 115. Lyon~, oct9ber 8 t 1868. () p. 345 
ehiala, pa~ine d~ stor~a eon~emporanea II 
Newton 1, • 221. 
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place, at the close of the year, French reluctance seemed 

to increase: de Moustier's plan sanctioned the establish­

ment of an international tutelage over Tunis which ran 

counter to French claim for predominant pos ition in the 

Regency. In April 1869 La Valette told Lyons that"he 

was unable to anticipate any practical benefit from M. 

de Moustier's plan of administering the Finances of 

'l'unis by means of an international Commission, It and he 

concluded rather ominously that "he had not been able to 

come to any decisiontt •
l 

We have already remarked that I taly had never shown 

mUch enthusiasm about de lvloustier's scheme. She took 

advantage of the lull which occurred in the negotiations 

during the winter to sta te the grounds of her opposition 

to the presence of a French Administrator in the Comm­

ission and to try to obtain Britain's.agreement for a 

joint refusal of the French scheme (January 2, 1869). 

Lyons gave a lukewarm recep tion to the Italian proposal: 

"I should at all times be reluctant to enter into any 

separate understanding with a third government," he 

wrote to Clarendon, tI ••• I think t hat it will be diffi-

cult to recede now from CtheJ arrangement" already 

concluded with Moustier. 2 On the whole the Foreign 

1. FO 102 116. Lyons to Clarendon, April 8, 1869. 
2. Ibid., Lyons to Clarendon, January 9th~· 

- ' -- -- ,.' - --..• _, .. - " .,- , .. - . .. _---_ . - ,._ ----,_. -_._--. .... _----_.- '.,----_ .. 



-439-

Office rather shared the Arnbassador's viei:vs, but a dead-

l ock had apparently been reached in April, and Lyons and 

Clarendon were induced to think that that Italian pro-

posals might perhaps provide a basis for renewing the 

negotiations. 

creation of the International Commission. 

7. At this juncture the Quai d.' OI'say again took the 

initiative: hesitant as he was about the advantages of 

de lvloustier' s scheme, 1a Valet te CQuld not help seeing 

that, if it were to be abandoned, the Itali~ or any 

other plan, was likely to be even less favourable to 

French interests. Un April 12 La Valette proposed to 

Lyons "that the t wo governments Lshould...! complete the 

t f tt · . f t th . . 1 .. ,,1 engagemen s or se ~ng OIl 00 e F~nanc~a Comm~ ss~on. 

Al thougg Clarendon \vas not sorry to bring the matter to 

an end, he reminde d the French of the princil)les which 

his government wanted to take as a basis for the proposed 

agreement: the action of the Commission shoulld be 

"p rospective, not retrospective", the authority of the 

controlling section should be real and effective, and 

all parties should be equally represented in it. 2 A 

1. FO 102 116. Lyons to StalueYt April 13, 1869. 
2 . Ibid., Clarendon to Lyons, April 21, 1869 . 



-440-

last incident, however, threatened to impede an immed-

iate settlement: On April 18 the Bey yielded to the 

pressure which had been brought to bear upon him and 

signed a contract of unification and conversion with 

the "Comptoir d'Escompte". It is not at all unlikely 

that the Quai d'orsay had been kept informed of the 

negotiation, but the British reaction was so energetic i 

"any arbitrary arrangement at variance with those now 

existing in behalf of British creditors, will neither 

be accepted nor acquiesced in by the British Government" 

Clarendon telegraphed to Wood on April 24Tl that La 

Valette assured Clarendon that Botmiliau had been 

"completement etranger" to the Conversion scheme. De 

Botmiliau was later instructed to refuse to acguiesu in 

the Bey's decree, and La valette even argued from the 

incident about the urgency of "hater la constitution 

de la commission tt •
2 

Of this the Foreign Office had long been convinced. 

Consequently the Italian counter project, which was 

communicated to Clarendon on April 24, and which 

provided a temporary CommiSSion for an enquiry into 

1. FO 102 116, Clarendon to Wood, April 24. 1869. 
2. Ibid, La Vglette to la Tour d'Avvergne, April 28, 

1869. 
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the Bey's finances, was coldly received in London. On 

April 29, Clarendon wrote to Paget that the Commission 

which had for sometime been under consideration, "embody-

ing an administrative and a controlling section, would 

be a preferable course of proceeding". 1 The disappoint­

ment of the Italians found an expression in Baron 

Castelnuovo's bitter comment that the Foreign Office 

had declared that Great Britain "had no longer the same 

interest in the Financial question of Tunis and that 

Italy therefore could. not count any longer upon her 

jOint action and cooperationu • 2 Castelnuovo's state­

ment was probably untrue, but Clarendon expres~ed a 

significant satisfaction at Loftus' report that the 

Prussian Government were not likely to insist on being 

concerned in the affair of the Commission. 3 

8. It only remained for France and Great Britain to 

have the agreement officially sanctioned by the Bey. 

Although the Bey was the one whom it primarily concerned 

------ . _. - -- -.. ---

1. FO 102 116. Clarendon to Pa6et, APril 29, 1869. 
2. FO 102 117. Wood to Clarendon, May 25, 1869. Castel­

nuova appears to have been entrusted with a semi­
official mission in Tunis. 

3. FO 64 657. clarendon to Loftus, May 11, 1869. 
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he had not been invited to take any part in the nego­

tiation, but he was not expected to offer resistance 

to any scheme the Powers should "propose". The only 

difficulty which arose regarding the formal issue of 

the decree came from a problem of procedure. With a 

view to concealing their set-back the French Government 

suggested that it should be a confirmation of the 

decree of April 4, 1868, embodying the modifications 

whi ch met the req.uirements of the Powers. Lyons fel t 

no enthusiasm about a procedure which he deemed am­

biguous and Clarendon shared his misgivings, "Inconven­

ience may result from the coexistence of the two 

decrees •••• The preferable course would be that the 

original Decree would be absolutely revoked, and that 

so much of its provisions as it may be necessary to 

retain should be incorporated in the new Decree". But, 

Clarendon added , if the French Minister stuck to his 

first proposal, Lyons should give British acquiescenae. l 

In the event, the French did not yield with regard to 

procedure, and in the end they had their way: Clarendon 

was averse to OPPOSing on a po~nt of mere form, an 

agreement which on the whole he deemed satisfactory to 

British interests. 

----,----_._ ...• ," - " 

1., FO 102 117. Clarendon to Lyons, May 22, 1869. 
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No attention was paid to the reticence of the 

Italians: to the formal protest of the Italian Govern-

ment against the presence of a French commissioner in 

the executive section and some secondary points ttl 

consider no weight could be attached" Clarendon answered 

on June 15, "I did not conceal from Count Maffei my 

dissatisfaction at LhisJ communication: and I said 

that as far as Her Majesty's goverrunent were concerned 

the arrangement had been concluded, and that Count 

Menabrea must take his own course. ttl The only course 

open to the Italian Government was to accept the 

decree. 

Wooo. entertained more than misgivings about the 

projected Decree but as the Bey expressed his fears lest 

the agreement should deprive him of his autonomy, he 

remarked with a severity which revealed his own uneas1-

ness: "NO blame could be attached to those who had not 

only foreseen and predicted the disastrous consequences 

that would ensue but had exhausted every argusment and 

had exerted their utmost efforts to dissuade him and his 

ministers from persevering in a course of policy that 

could not but alter his position, sooner or later, by 

putting a limitation to the freedom of the action of his 

Government. tt2 ~t was no doubt in order to placate the 

1. FO 102 117. Clarendon to Lyons,Ju~ ~S, 1869. 
2. Fa 102 118. Wood to Clarendon, June 1, 1869. 



irritable Consul that Lyons accompanied the sending of 

the project of Decree with a clear warning: "It does 

not fall within our province to give opinions on the 

merit of the plan •••• ~It-1 is the result of communi-

cations between Her Majesty's Government and the Govern-

ment of the Emperor, and our duty is to use our best 

endeavours to make it worle satisfactorily. ttl Wood, 

however, ignored the hint and sent back some suggestions 

which aimed at improving a text which, he said, had 

aroused the consternation of the British, Italian and 

French creditors (Wood proposed to strengthen more 

explicitly the securities already given to some cate-

gories of creditors, and to make "more absolute" the 
2 

functions of the Oommission of Control~. This time 

Clarendon's answer came quick and sharp: "The draft 

decree having been finally agreed by the French Govern-

ment," he telegraphed to Wood on July 4, "it is not 

necessary to criticize it. You will do your best to 

get it promulgated as it stands and to make it work • .,3 

9. The "limited tasl-ctt which Olarendon was thus assig-

ning to Wood was in no way easy. After one year's 

1. FO 102 118. Lyons to Wood, June 8, 1869. 
2. Ibid. Wood to Olarendon, June 26, 1869. 
3. Ibid. Olarendon to Wood, July 4, 1869. 
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protracted and animated negotiations the actual working 

of the Commission was likely to offer serious difficul-

ties. Clarendon was perfectly aware of the problem and 

had sent conciliatory instructions to Wood with a view 

to making in0ernational co-operation possible in Tunis: 

lilt is very important that the Commission should proceed 

on the principle of effecting a fair and eQ.uitable 

arrangement as regards the interests of all parties con-

cerned and should not seek to promote, those of one party 

in preference of those of another •••• The best practical 

security for the English and Italian creditors will be 

found in making their interests identical with those of 

France and Lthe governmentJ deprecate the idea of any 

one Power acting independently of the others."l 

This message of good will was not heard in Tunis, 

where the struggle for infLuence went on between the 

Consuls more fiercely "chan ever before. An unfortunate 

act of initiative by the French Representative caused a 

new explosion at the beginning of July 1869: although 

it had been suggested by Wood and pinna that the three 

Consuls should see the Bey together, de Botmiliau managed 

to meet the Bey alone on July 5 and came to an agreement 

with him about some modifications to be introduced into 

the text which had been submitted to the Bey by the 

1. FO 102 118. Clarendon to Wood, June 4, 1869. 
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three powers: the new preamble discarded the sentence 

which referred to the intervention of Ital;'l and Great 

Britain ("considerant que des difficultes se sont 

elevees sur la composition de cette COffiffiission, desirant 

y faire droit •• :); and a twelfth article was added 

("Notre premier Ministre est charge cce l' execution du 

contenu des 11 articles Q.ui precedent") which was more 

satisfactory for the Bey's sovereignty, just as the 

modification in the preamble was intended to soothe 

French susceptibilities. l Wood, of course, was infur-

iated and remarked that de Botmiliau's manoeuvre justi-

fied the apprehensions he had expressed about the whole 

agreement. 

Clarendon judged de Botmiliau's action rather 

severely: the British Government, he wrote to Lyons, had 

learned with extreme regret of the proceedings of the 

French Charge d'Affaires. They were convinced that La 

Valette would lose no time in repudiating M. Botmiliau: 

"if a course of conduct so contrary to all that is fair 

and just ••• is not disapproved, it WiLl be better at 

once to renounce the prospect of that joint action which 

was the only hope of equal justice being done to the 

subjects of the three Powers. tt2 La Valette's position 

1. FO 102 118. Wood to Clarendon, July 6 and 8, 1869. 
2. Ibid. Clarendon to Lyons, July 19, 1869. 
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was one of embarrassment and confusion: while admitting 

that de Botmiliau had acted "very wrongly", he pointed 

oy.t that the modifications wel'1e "unimportant" and rather 

"disadvantageous" to the position of France; and in spite 

of Lyons' logical remark that the conduct of Botmiliau, 

in making "any alterations important or unimportant, ad-

vantageous or disadvantageous to French views, without 

consulting his two colleagues, was wholly indefensible", 

the Quai d'orsay was obviously reluctant to go back on 
1 the accomplished fact. Ultimately Clarend.on gave up 

the discussion and was content with the "positive 

instructions"w h ich were sent to Botmiliau to act ' in 

entire concert with his English and Italian colleagues. 

But, as Lyons observed, "the instructions seemed to be 

very good, but the essential point was to secure their 

bein&; obeyed. ,,2 

10. The Commission began to work in an atmosphere of 

recrimination and of suspicion. While Wood was keeping 

a sharp eye on Botmiliau, Pinna, on the Italian side, 

drew a very dark picture of the situation in Tunis: 

Anglo-Italian efforts were tI thwarted by the b'rench agents"; 

French policy was to accelerate disso~ution and to pre­

pare for the actual seizure of the Regency. ~he Italians 

1. FO 102 118. LYons to Clarendon, July 19,20,21, 1869. 
2. Ibid, July 27. 
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were the more uneasy as they thought that the interest 

talcen by Great Britain in Tunis "had latterly become 

less strong than formerly".l In Paris the Quai dtorsay 

multiplied thel.r accusations against Wood who was trp:ing 

"to impede the success of the Commission", and regretted 

"that the French and English Agents at Tunis should have 

so little confidence in each other. H2 The struggle for 

influence, Lyons admitted, was unhappily only too frequent 

and too violent in 'l'unis and Wood "was a man likely to 

contend largely for victory". A new attempt was made to 

remeCly a situation which endangered the good worlcing 

of the Commission. While La Tour d'Auvergne sent in-

structions to this end to Botmiliau, Clarendon expressed 

his confidence that Wood's relations with the French 

Consul would be more cordial than they had hitherto 

been, and that both of them would earnestly co-operate 

in carrying out the Financial arrangement (September 20, 

1869).3 

In the meantime the Commission had been progress-

ively built up: On the Beyts demand the French Govern-

ment had appointed M. Villet, Inspecteur des Finances, 

who with Khaired.din (presiClent) and Si Mohamed :Khaznadar4 

-----_ .. _-_ ..... -
1. FO 102 119. Herries to Clarendon, September 23,1869 
2. Ibi<.l ., Lyons to Clarendon, Septeri1ber 14, 1869. 
3. Ibid., Clarenoon to Wood, September 20, 1869. 
4. Minister of the Bey, Governor of tl1e Sahel, to be 

6istinguished from Si Mustapha Khaznadar, Prime 
M.inister. 
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was to compose the Executive Section. The two British 

and Italian members of the Section of Control were 

electecl during the summer in 'l'unis. It only remaineo 

for the French bondholoers to elect their representa­

tives to complete the COlilmission. At this stage, the 

first measure tal(en by the Commission [:ave rise to a 

new crisis: the Executive Section had hardly been com­

pleteo when, on September 15, it invi teeT the bondholders 

to register their claims within two months. Although 

the decision was in conformity with the Bey's Decree 

of July 5 and of a pressing necessity,it was perhaps 

hasty, as the section of Control was still incomplete 

and might be interpreted as indicating a disregard of 

the Section of Control which was ominous for the future 

working of the Commission. such was of' course the con­

struction Wood put on the event. Wood and Pinna in vain 

invi teo_ de Botmiliau to join in a cornmon protest addressed 

to the Bey: his refusal, Wood considered, indicated the 

existence of' a policy "tha t has for special object the 

total exclusion of Great Britain and Italy from any 

participation in '£unisian affairs. til Sadok Bey having, 

however, refused to take the successive notes into 

considerayion, Wood concluded with the obvious over-

------ .. - ---- _.--

1. FO 102 119. Wood to Clarendon, October 4, 1869. 
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E·tatement that the 'l'unisian Government aimed at "the 

spoliation of its foreign creoitors" and suggested that 

the three governments should address a "peremptory and 

conclusive"note to the Bey pressing for the execution of 

his promises. l 

A controversy began between Paris and London, the 

Quai d'orsay holding that the actual measure was legal 

and complaining of Wood and Pinna's isolated action, 

while Clarendon, deeply dissatisfied with the Gourse of 

the events in Tunis, laid the emphasis upon the unity of 

the Commission which, he alleged, prevented the ItExecu-

ti ve sub-ConllTIi t tee" from doing anything till the other 
(") 

sub-committee was duly constituted.':" Clarendon actually 

proposed that the three Powers should present to the Bey 

a note calling upon him to varry out loyally and unre-

servedly the provisions of the Decree, but E1rance, not 

unexpectedly, refused. Ultimately commonsense triumphed: 

Clarendon urged the Quai d'orsay to hasten as much as 

possible the election of the French menfuers of the 

Commission, while la Tour d'Auvergne advised the Bey to 

suspend the execution of the }Tote of the Commission 

until the completion of the Section of Control (November 

10, 1869). But it had needed one month's bitter contention 

1. FO 102 119. Wood .to Clarendon, October 19, 1869. 
2. Ibid. Clarendon to contades, October 19, 1869. 
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their arguments. 'Ithe stubbornness as well as the irri-

itability of both parties, their conviction that their 

partner - or rather their opponent - had political 

ob jects in v.J..ew in 'runis, presaged ill indeed for the 

future of the Commission. 

11. To a certain extent the creation of the Internat-

ional Commission was a B~itish diplomatic success: it 

was a major obstacle in the .... vay of the exclusive influence 

which the French Government had tried to acquire with 

the first financial scheme in April 1868. But the 

experimen~ was not void. of danger, as the international-

isation of the 'l'unisian financial problems was to multiply 

the oP.Jortunities for foreign intervention in the 

Regency. It is true t hat the governments were not 

represented as such in the Commission, as they were to 

be later in Egy-pt and Turkey, but they could not ignore 

it, as, from the beginning, it had become a battle 

ground for their rivalries. 

From Wood's point of view, the spirit in which the 

Foreign Office had conducted the negotiations seemed 

open to criticism: Clarendon's moderation and prudence, 

his desire to avoid useless discussions had allowed 

France to have her way more than once in matters which, 

Wood thought, involved questions of principle. While 
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Wood had a deep distrust of French policy and wished to 

thwart it at every opportunity, Clarendon, and before 

him Stanley, expres sed a confidence which was not always 

justified by the actual proceedings of the Quai d'orsay 

or of the French Consul, and was contradicted by the 

ultimate objects of French policy in Tunis. This atti­

tude accounted for the impression that England was less 

interested in Tunisian affairs, and even that she had 

given France a free hand there. 

The French semi-failure was, however, partly coun­

terbalanced by the presence of a ]'renchman in the very 

heart of the Tunisian Government. In addition it so 

happened t hat the creation of the Commission turned out 

to the political advantage of France. The disaster of 

1870 threatened to ruin the infl uence of France in the 

Regency and to open the country to her competitors; the 

existence of the Commission helped to check their 

manoeuvres until France recovered: ttCette Commission 

Internationale qui devait soustraire la Regence a notre 

influence exclusive," Constant commented, "arrive au 

contraire juste a point pour faire taire les ambitions 

eveillees chez nos rivaux par les premieres nouvelles de 

nos d~sastres en Europe. ttl 

1. Constant, p. 54 . 
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XI. The Consequences of the Defeat of France (1870-1871) 

The French defea t of 18'70-1871 provecl itself to be 

a decisive event for the Regency of Tunis. Confronted 

wi th the manifold. consequences of the decline of their 

influence in Tunis and at the Porte; obscure German 

intrigues in Tunis during the summer of 1870, Italian 

aggressiveness dur~ng thevanter, Turkish renewed interest 

in the fate of the Regency; the French Government con­

fined themselves to a defensive policy, the aim of which 

was the maintelilance of the status quo in the Regency. 

li'or the first time since 1835 ]'rance's immed.iate inter­

ests in Tunis happened to coincide with the traditional 

British Policy: a complete reversal of alliances was 

thus made possible. The forty-years-old Anglo-French 

rivalry in Tunis seemed to vanish, and Anglo-French 

co-operation began - but only for a time. 

Italian designs on Tunis (1870-1871) 

Italian ambitions in Tunis went back to the begin­

ning of the sixties, when the estab1isr~ent of an 

Italian Kingd.om had given a new impetus to deSigns which 

before 1860 had existed only confusedly. The new trends 

of Italian Policy had appeared in the open in 1863 and 

1864, and the attitude of the Italian Cabinet during 
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the negotiations for the International Commission had 

clearly indicated that Italy was setting herself up as a 

rival to France in Tunis. The French military disasters 

provided the opportunity of asserting an active Italian 

policy: France was out of action; Great Britain had 

apparently shown little concern for 'l'unisian affairs 

in 1868 and 1869; the Italians thought they could go 

ahead in 'l'unis. 

1. A first sl{irmish occurred in December 1870 about 

several Italian c,J..aims which Wood judged to be unimpor­

tant but which gave rise to energetic instructions by 

the Italian Government. l The affair of Djedeida was 

soon to provide a better pretext for action: The 

es t ate of Djedeida, which covered 1,800 acres and belonged 

to the Prime l'1iinister, had been rented for 30 years to 

Baron Castelnuovo, who had founded a society for its 

exploitation, with a Capital of 500,000 francs. The 

results were, however, disapPointing, and incidents 

oc'curred which, Wood suspected, aimed at obtaining 

financial compensation. rrhe last one, the arrest of 

native labourers by the Bey's agents inside the estate, 

gave rise to a protest by the Mana ger of the Estate, 

1. Fa 102 88. Wood to Granville. December 2, 1870. 



-455 

and ultimately the Italian Consul demanded immediate 

redress. Without even waiting for the er~iry of the 

t v, enty-four hours' notice he had given the Bey for a 

satisfactory answer, Pinna suspended his relations 

with the '.i.'unisian Government (January 13, 1871). 

Wood was well aware of the consequences which the 

inCident, trifling as it was,l could lead to and when 

asked by the Bey to intervene officially for the ami-

cable settlement of the misunderstanding he agreed to 

act as a mediator. At his earnest request the Bey 

consented to make concessions to Pinna: the Wakil who 

was responsible for the incident was to be moved and 

official erplanations were to be given to Pinna. The 

Italian Consul accepted the proposal "at referendwn". 

The character of the affair, however, changed completely 

when it was known that the Italian Government asked 

a d.ditional "guaranteeE" amounting to the Consul's juris-

diction over the landed property which the Italians 

possessed in 'runis, and joint jurisdiction over the 

Bey's subjects in their service. 'l'he Italian Government 

were obviously trying to reap a pol~tical advantage from 

a purely private incident. The Bey replied that if such 

a concession wa s given to the Italians, the other 

1. 
""~ An ItaL)-Tunisian commission of arbi tra:bion,(to recog-

nize later that Castelnuovo's accusations and claims 
were groundless. 
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foreigners would expect to benefit by it, and that ulti­

mately he would lose his .territorial Sovereign rights 

over a considerable part of his Dominions. 1 Wood 

shared the bey's views: his answer, he re:yorted on 

February 4, 1871, was based "upon grounds the fairness 

and soundness of which cannot be disputed". Acceptance 

of the Italian demands would soon reduce the Government 

to "complete impotency" end lead to the occupation of 

the Regency by some Powers desirous to procure a Colony.2 

As Pinna had ultimately broken off his relations ~ith 

the Bey, Wood encouraged Sadol;: to send an Envoy to 

Florence in order to settle the matter directly with the 

Italian Government (February 7). 

The irritation of Visconti Venosta found expression 

in complaints against Wood snd de Botmiliau·s action in 

1'unis and the threat to send ships of war if the Bey 

resisted the Italian demands. On the other hand, the 

Porte proposed its good offices and warned the Italian 

Government that the adoption of measures of coercion 

'would be an infringement of the suI tan t s sovereign 

rights, while B"lrance complained of Pinna's hasty decisions 

and suggested ]'ranco-Bri tish co-,operation in order to 

bring about a conciliation. In the meanwhile Granville 
----_ .. _--_._.-
1. FO 102 90. Wood to Granville, 3anuary 28, 1871. 
2. Ibid. February 4, 1871. 
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instructed Paget to try to temper Visconti Venostats 

feelings and conclud~d energetically by expressing "the 

regret felt b;;l Her Majesty's Government that the Italian 

Government have thought it necesssry to put a pressure 

upon the Government of the Bey which does not appear to 

I be warranted by the circumstances of the case." On 

further consideration 9ranville's formula was deemed 

too haxeh r;md another amended. despatch was p~epared but 

not sent, as Herries, who had ap~arently had the same 

feeling, had decided not to mention GranVille's last 

paragra.;?h. The failure of the Bey's envoy, General 

Hussein, however, decided Herries to act upon the whole 

despatch. The Italians expressed "not a little surprise 

and vexation,,2; and cadorna later bitterly complained of 

Gr2nville's observation; but eventually toned down their 

demands so that a protocol was signed on March 5 by 

Hussein and Visconti Venosta which embodied the main 

Italian reQuirements with a stronger proviso securing the 

Bey's jurisdiction. 

2. When the Bey ViaS acqu'ainted with the two protocols, 

he offered determined OPPOSition to the one which gave 

the Italians privileges of jurisdiction "which interfered 

1. FO 45 178. 
2. FO 45 180. 

Granville to Paget, February 13, 1871 
Herries to Granville, February 20, 1871. 
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'II'li th vested rights as well as with the rights of himself 

and people. II- Wood's hostility to the Italian demands 

had not wea ~cened since February and he could rely upon 

the complete sup.:)ort of his French colleague. It was 

then opportunely discovered that certain articles of the 

protocols signed in Florence alienated from the British 

and other creditors the pleoges which had been given to 

them: Wood and de Botmiliau ·conjointly requested the 

Bey to suspend the ratification of these articles and 

reported to their Governments (March 15). At the same 

time the Executive Section was mobilized against the 

protocols, and Villet and Kh8ireddin threatened to 

resign if the Bey accepted the articles in dispute. 

Wooo_ stated "distinctly" that their retirement from the 

Financial Commission would "inevitably lead to its 

dissolution" and strongly SU1)J)orted them. l 

The question whether the disputed protocol was 

really in contradiction with the rights of the creditors 

is an idle one. Visconti Venosta denied it emphati­

cally,2 but the point is t i18t, confronted with Italian 

designs of a political nature, Wood had seized upon the 

arguments which were best sui ted to check them. 'rhe 

high-handed proceedings of the Italian Goverrunent in 

1. 
2. 

FO 102 120. Wood to Granville, April 12, 1871. . 
And Jules Favre admitted later that the appreh~ns~ons 
exoressed by Villet "were somewhat exaggerated 
(Lyons to Granville, Ivl8Y 13). 
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in Tunis gave rise to the same uneasiness in London and 

the Foreign Office was prompted to give up its somewhat 

passive attitude and to intervene with more energy in 

the Italo-f£unisian difference. Granville instructed 

Paget to obtain a suspension of the negotiations until 

he could "form an opinion on the l)oint" (March 16)1. 

Visconti Venosta was adamant on that point: any postpone-

ment of the ratification, he asserted, would place Italy 

"in a false position at Tunis", but,at Paget's earnest 

request, strongly supported by the French Ambassador, 

V_sconti Venosta agreed to give a formal declaration 

"tha t none of the stipulations ~shoul£7affect prejudic­

ially the interests of British subjects or the action of 

the International CmTllllis sion.,,2 Granville was not com-

pletely pleased with the procedure: on March 18 he still 

insisted that it would be better to suspend the ratifica-

tion, as "any objection which may occur ••• will be much 

more easily obviated. if put forward before the ratifi-

cation, but if urged and admitted after the ratification 

they may embarrass the Italian Government in its relations 

with the Beytf;. but he nevertheless agreed to cease 

objecting to the ratification of the protocols. 3 

At this juncture the Italian Government tried to 

----,._----
1. Fa 45 1'78 Granville to Paget, Msrch 16 , 1871. 

2. FO 45 181 Pa get to Granville, March 17, 1871. 
to paget Ma rch 18, 1871. 

3. Fa 45 178.Granville 
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play the game of the "fait accompli". Un March 23 

paget was informed to his "utter amazement" that the 

ratification had ta l-~en place in 'l'unis without the 

declaration which Visconti Venosta had promised to mal-ce. 

Although Visconti assured him that the "omission" was 

t~ matter of little importance" Paget replied that it 

was highly desirable that it should be clearly known in 

Tunis on what grounds British o.9J)osi tion to the protocols 

had ceased, and asked Visconti Venosta to give "positive 

instructions" to Pinna. Visconti Venosta YJas of course 

reluctant to give much publicity in 'l'unis to the limits 

France and Great Britain had set to his success, but, 

as Paget put it "we had a right to require that a special 

protocol should be signed".l Granville thoroughly 

endorsed Paget's energetic attitude with the full 

support of the ~Irench Government, who were feeling very 

uneasy about Italian proceedings in TWlis: Visconti 

Venosta's attitude, Favre told Lyons on March 31, could 

hal~dly be looked upon "as consistent with good faith".2 

The Italian declaration was signed in Tunis on March 30 

and in Florence on April 10. 

The Italian Government had scored a success in 

TuniS, but it was short-lived and rather detrimental to 

their interests, as the pressure they had brought to 

1. 
2. 

J?O L15 181. Paget to Gr8nville, riiarch 24, 1871. 
FO 27 1859 Lyons to Granville, March 31, 18'71. 
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bear upon the Bey for a trifling incident, and their 

singular methods of negotiation aftel"wards, had drawn 

the attention of the li'rench and Bri ti::::.h G-overrunents to 

t;he.~r political designs in '.I.'unis. 'i'he vigorous reaction 

of the Foreign Office prevented them from exploiting 

their initial advantage. At the same time the French 

Government were now fully aware of the "Italian danger tt , 

and, unable to counteract it alone, turned to Great 

Britain for co-operation in maintaining the egisting 

situat~on in the Regency: France hoped, de Broglie said 

to Granville on April 29, "that the Consuls of the two 

Countries would receive orders to act together and 

watchfully against any intrigues having in view the 

change of our present financial relations with Tunis".l 

The Firman of 1871. 

3. It was the weal~ening of French influence in Tunis 

which had made the Italian attempt possible. Bor the 

same reason the Tunisian Government showed some anxiety 

about a possible Turkish operation against the liegency 

at the end of 1870. to a certain extent the temporary 

disappearance of France as a d~plomatic factor accentuated 

--------_._--
1. FO 27 1851. Granville to Lyons, April 29, 1871. 



-462-

the dangerous isolation of the Regency. But on the 

other hand, France had for some time lost the means of 

op~osing the policy of rapprochement between the Porte 

and the Regency, as she had done so successfully in 

1865. As early as November 1870 the Tunisian Government 

had perhaps thought of reaching an understanding with 

the Porte "to reconfirm and renew in a formal manner, her 

suzerainty over the l{ebency": Wood of course deemed 

that policy to be very solind but was unable to ascertain 

whether negotiations had actually taken place. l The 

incidents with Italy showed that a second competitor 

had entered the lists and that it was a matter of 

urgency to take advantage of the favourable circumstances 

ftto place the Regency, through Turkey, under the safe­

guard of the Treaty of Paris, l856 ft • At the beginning 

of May 1871 the Bey decided to reouest the Porte to 

fulfil ijrs .Long-delayed promise of a Firman confirming 

the status of the Hegency as a part of the ottoman Empire. 

Wood warmly approved of a decision which fitted in 

so well with his Tunisian policy that it is hard to 

believe that he was only a passive spectator in the 

whole action. His letter of May 10 to Granville and 

Elliot resumed the arguments he had had many opportunities 

1. FO 27 1851. Granville to Lyons, November 26, 1870. 
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to set forth since 1856: circwnstances rendered it more 

ex-pedient than ever for the 'l'urkish Government to adopt 

some decisive line of action in the matter; "their 

irresolution had greatly weakened the Suzerainty of the 

Sul tan". '1'he 8i tua tion of the Regency, its geographical 

position, the necessity of preserving equilibrium in the 

Mediterranean, had induced Great Britain constantly ~o 

favour the 'rapprochement'. It was hopeless to expect 

"that so wea l\: a government L couldJlong resist foreign 

moral pressure, much less aggression, unless they Lwere-l 

SU1)ported by the Power to which they L ovved...lallegiance. " 

Wood expected therefol~e that Granville VlQulo. encourage 

the porte to grant the Firman. Should the Porte Itfor 

f'easons unknown disregard the Bey's aPiJlication for the 

third time, it L-woulo.J produce a sentiment of discour­

agement", and lead ultimately to the destruction of the 

independence of the Regency.l 

4. As soon as Granville was acquainted with the bey's 

demarche, he "authorized" Elliot - "if you shall deem 

it advisable to do so" - to support it. 2 The apparent 

lukewarmness of the formula might sUbgest that Granville 

1. FO 102 90. Wooe to Granville, and FO 102 120, Wood 
to Elliot, May 10, 1871. 

2. FO 78 2171. Granville to Elliot, May 28, 1871. 
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was not willing to take the initiative. It seems more 

likely that, reluctant as he was to engage in qua r rels 

abroad, Gr' anville did not desire to be mixed up unnel!- · 

essarily in the negotiation of the Firman if everything 

was going to go smoothly. The story of the negotiations 

shows that actually British diplomacy did not cease 

interfering in the matter during the swnmer of 1871, 

and that the Forei .f!,"D Office's prudent but constant 1n­

ter'est largely accounts for the ultimate success of 

the enterprise. 

As it had been decided that the negotiations should 

remain secret until their conclusion, their first phase 

was limited, from the British point of view, to a double 

action in Tunis and Constantinople. It was Wood's duty 

repes teelly to ois:oel the Bey's appr.ehensions regarding 

the intentions cf the Porte and to. encourage him to 

persist in his endeavour. In the meanwhile Elliot used 

his influence over the ot toman Governrl1ent to dis suade 

tilem from making excessive demands: 'l'he preliminal"Y 

cona_i tion of the Bey's demand had b een that the li'irman 

"should simply embody the conditions of the connection 

between the Re gency and the l"est of the Empir'e as 

agreed up on by the ottoman Ministers and General liliaire­

ddintf (in 1864). The Bey was unlikely to accept any 

depBl"tures from the status quo and if the Porte should 
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try to force them upon him, the Powers (at least .l!'rance 

and Italy) would seize the opportunity for intervening 

and opposing the settlement. But the Ottoman Government 

were of course tempted to take advantage of the circum­

stances and'Elliot had to redouble his warnings: to do 

more than make the It'irman a recox'd of the l.)rinci1,)les 

agreed u;pon in 1864 'would be "a most undesirable course" 

he told Server Pasha in August; the condition of the 

agreement was ottoman willingness "scrupulously to 

respect the :privileges which had been granted to the 

semi independent rulers".l And after Khaireddin had been 

sent to Constantinople for the final negotiation, it 

was again incumbent on Elliot to impress upon Server 

Pasha that "the best and most prudent course for the 

Porte to adopt would be simply to issue the Firman in 

accordance with the engagements of the lTiztirial letter."2 

The porte was, however, hard to convince, aDD Wood, 

~ the beginning of October, sent an anxious telegram to 

GranVille: the porte was fmrmulating demands - Sovereignty 

instead of Suzerainty, cessation of direct diplomatic 

intercourse with the Powers, annual tribute - which were 

likely to discourage the Bey and provoke France ' s in­

tervention. 3 Granville's reaction was energetic: he 

1. 
e) 
I.J. 

3. 

FO 78 2176. Elliot to Granville, August 2 and 3. 
FO 78 2177 Wlliot to Granville, September 23. 
FO 102 90. Wood to Granville, october 3 and 10. 
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immediately instructed Elliot to point out to the 

Turkish Minister "the inexpediency of attempting to 

introduce any alteration in the relation now existing 

between the Porte and the Bey •••• as any attempt of 

the kind. •••• may lead to complications with Foreign 

Powers and give rise to questions which may involve much 

trouble to the Porte."l Elliot's intervention a})pears 

to have 'proved. decisive: the IJorte gave up the disputed 

clauses and on October 23 an agreement WBS reached 

between Khaireddin Bnd the Porte. 

The Firman was proclaimed in Tunis on November 18 

"to the inexpressible satisfaction of the Mussulrnan 

inhabitants", Wood reported. It stated that the Vilayet 

of Tunis" qui fait partie des Etats composants notre 

Empil"e" was "confie Lau BeyJ avec le l)rivil~ge de 

l'heredite" under certain conditions - investiture by 

the Sultan, prayers and coining in the Sultan's name -, 

and with privileges - internal autonomy and foreign 

relations, - which merely reproduced the Stipulations 

of the memorandum of 1864-. It made it clear, however, 

that "le stjlpulation de traites politiQues et militaires, 

modifications de frontieres ou autres actes pareils ••• 

sont au ressort de nos Lthe Sultan'sJ droits souver­

ains et sacr~stt; in the event of war the Bey VJould send 

1. FO 27 2172. Granville to Elliot, october 11, 1871. 
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a military contingent "en proportion de ses moyens". 

It was also clearly undel~stood that the Bey's internal 

adminL'tration should be "conforme aux prescriptions 

du Charaa glorieux, et aux lois de justice dont les 
, 

exigences des circonstances et de l'epoQue feraient 

reconna1tre la necessit~ et qui seraient propres ~ 
" , 

garantir la securite individuelle des habitants, leur 

fortune et leur honneur." 
1 

5. Long before the actual conclusion of the agreement 

in Constantinople, Great Britain had had to deal with 

French misgivings about Turco-Tunisian relations. As 

the Bey and the Porte had carefully l~ept the secret of 

the negotiation, the French vliere only vaguely infol"'med 

about what was going on but their uneasiness was the 

grea tel" for tila t very reason. Their recent misfortunes 

in Europe increased theil~ irri tabili ty about the East, 

as Granville remarked in Octobel"', and they were prone 
2 to suspect that "el1er'ybody wished to encroach upon them." 

The British, when Questioned by French officials in Lon-, 

d.on, Paris or Constantinople, were, however, careful 

not to give the slightest hint about the negotiations, 

and at the end of october Granville still assured the 

1. FO 102 90. Wood to Granville, November 25, 1871. 
2. Granvi~le Papers, PRO 30 89 116. GranVille to Elliot 

october 26, 1871. 



-468-

French Charge d'Affaires that "Sir Henry Elliot had rec-

eived no instructions from Her Majesty's Government 

who had not been infoI' :""ed that the Question was likely 

to be ra ised. ,,1 

It be came, ijowever, increas ingly difficult to hio.e 

the facts, specially after Khaireo_din's departure for 

Constantinople. The British then endeavoured_ to soothe 

French displeasure with assurances that no change was 

contemplated in the status QUo in Tunis. At last the 

news l roke out and was followed by an outburst of anger 

in Paris: tiLe firman," Engelhardt asserted some years 
~, I 

later, "tendait a aneantir l'independance souveraine de 
;' I ' la Regence et a placer son chef hereditaire au rang d'un 

~ I 2 " simple gouverneur general." The French Charge d'Affaires 

in London appealed to Granville, orawing his inspiration 

from the moving accents of de Remusat's instruction to 

the Duc de Broglie: "Quant 
, 
a nous ••• ce role de gardiens 

vigilants de l'independance politigue de la Tunisie est 
I 

le seul que nous ayons jusqu'ici recherche et le seul 

qui nous convienne encore aujourd'hui ••• Nous ne 
A 

voulons nullement toucher nous memes au status quo; 

1. FO 27 1853. Granville to West, October 25,1871. It 
was very likely in order to corroborate this official 
version of the f acts t hat Elliot's despatch of Sept­
ember 23 was slightly amended in the F.O.: Khaireodin 
"who is charged with a mie-E,ion from the Ley to the 
Porte" instead of "whose dep al"tul"e from Tunis charged 
wi th a mission ••• has been reported to YOU1' Lordship 
by M. Wood." (FO ?8 2177). 

2. Engelhardt II, p. 95. 
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(Dais nous ne pouvons pas non plus adm~ttre qu'on y porte 
, f 

atteinte ••• Nous aimons a esperer Que Ie Cabinet de 

Londres n'encouragera pas un dessein manifestement con-
, I A 1 

traire a nos interess." Granville was not convinced by 

by the French arguments and replied with a complete 

statement of the British doctrine about Tunis. The 

British Government . were likewise desirous that the 

status QUo shouilid be maintained in 'l'unis; they consi-

dered Tunis, however, as a dependency of Turl;:ey, subject 

to the suzerainty of the Sultan; consequently it 

appeared "difficult for the French Government to resist 

the issue of a Firrdan by the Suzerain to his vassal, 

when both desired it". The news of the i s sue of the 

Firman 'liaS not "improbable" but Elliot had advised the 

Porte to i s sue it in accordance with the Vizierial letter 

of 1864, advice which seemed to Granville "moderate and 

judicious". As the French had expressed misgivings 

about the ambitious views of Italy regarding Tunis, the 

strengt~ening of the Bey's authority would benefit 

their interests and it would likewise be advantageous 

for t he secur ity of Algeria. Even if the French views 

of the relations between the Porte and the Bey were more 

accurate than Granville's, "what objection could be made 

to two independent Sovereigns arriving at a voluntary 

arrangement?,,2 

1. 

2. 

Documents l?i~}.q!11_a_tiqu_es ~ran~ais, prenli~re Serie, De 
Remusat to "tne DUCCIe l3r'ogI~e, october ':1,1871. 
}~ 27 1853 Gra nville to West, October 25 and 26. 



-4·70-

The French position was indeed difficult. As 

Elliot remarked "'wha t they dislike is ra ther the Firrilan 

itself than whe t it contains. ttl '1'heir legal arguments 

, were not very strong and a policy of intimidation was 

i mpossible. Under these circumstances the discussion 

with the Forei gn Office stopped short. A strong i1"ri-

tation prevailed in Paris and was expressed with some 

bitterness in Tunis but t he French Government refused 

to contemi,Jlate establishing a French p rotectorate in 

~unis as de Botmiliau' then suggested: the Consul was 

instructed. to avoid "avec grand soin tout ce qui pourrai t 

,. • I I " etre ~nterprete comr:le une menace pour 1 etat de choses 

actuel , 
, 
a Tunis tt , and to keep to a waiting policy, 

seizing u:pon ttles occasions d'un rapprochement, s'il est 

possible, avec l'Agent d'Angleterre.,,2 But the French 

Government mad.e it clear that they would not recognise the 

Firman3 and would continue to carryon their relations 

with Tunis upon the same footing as before. The Italian 

Gove'rnment adopted the same attitude but were more 

prudent in their comments about the Firman. 4 

1. G.P. 116. Elliot to Granville, November 14 , 1871 
· 2. D.D.F. I, Remusat to de Botmiliau, J s nuary 10, 1872. 

3. ttobtenu a l'ombre de nos malheurs tt Barthelemy st 
Hilaire wrote in 1881. 

4. In 1~74 Visconti Venosta remarked that he was not 
enthusiastic about the Firman but t hat "if he had 
to chuse (sic) between the French and the Turks at 
TuniS, he could of course have no hesitation in 

. accep ting the latter" (FO. 45 239. Paget to Granville 
J anuary 6 1874). 
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6. "I respectfully venture to hope that Your Lorcl ship 

wi~l be pleased to view with satisfaction the successful 

accomplishment, after many years of patient and unre­

mitting perseverance, of the policy of lier Ma jestyt s 

Government with reference to TuniS and. Turkey."l It 

was with these triumphant words that Wood greeted a 

political achievement which brought to a happy conclu­

sion 35 years of British diplomacy about Tunis. This 

settlement had b een regarded from the start of the 

"Tunisian question" as the fundamental condition for 

the strengthening of the Re gency, when exposed to 

French and later Italian ambitions. It is in reference 

to this aspect of the problem that one must assess the 

importance of the :&'irman of 1871 and of its consequences. 

From this point of vievv the agreement reached in 

1871 had two serious shortcomings. Firstly, although 

Wood had always considered t hat the Tunisian question 

needed an international solution, which meant an inter-

national guarantee, the two Powers whose policy was the 

most dangerous for Tunis, Italy and France, refused to 

recognise the Firman as an international ant, binding 

upon them. TLis attitude seriously affected the prac­

tical significance of the Firman. At the same time it 

1. FO 102 90. 'Wood to Gr anville, November 18, 1871. 
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reruained to be seen whether 'rurkey was in a position to 

serve as a protectress for Tunis; this assumption,which 

had underlain British policy towards Tunis for 35 years, 

was not warranted by the political decline of the 

ottoman Empire. If so the "Turkish solutiontt came too 

late, at a time when the opening of Tunis to European 

competition made any kind of external guarantee 

illusory. 
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XII. British economic penetration (1871-1874) 

The Powers and the Financial Commission. 

Considerea as a financial body, the Commission 

gave the European Powers the supreme control over the 

finances, the economy, and the internal administration 

of the Re c;,ency, through the creditors and the Consuls 

who supported them: this situation was bound to bring 

about an increase of the economic and financial pene-

tration which had slowly begun before 1868. FlIom a 

political point of view the creation of the Commission 
, 

had only- been the outcome of an unstable equilibrium 

between the antagonlstic policies of the Powers; there 

had been nothing like international co-operation and it 

appeared unlikely that the Commission, once constituted, 

would be able' to work on purely technical bases. 

1. The position of the ' Executive section of the 

Commission was, from the start, a very difficult one. As 

agents of the Tunisian Government its members were bound 

to come into conflict with the creditors who composed 

the Controlling section, and the consuls, who were 

pushed fo'rward by the European residents. l The divergence 

1. constant, p. 55. 
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between the interests involved in the Commission a.Qpeared 

as soon as a general settlement of the debts was con-

templated, the Executive Corl1mis:=:ion trying to rec:uce 

the Government's liabili ties while 1jhe cred.i tors demanded 

the complete fulfilment of the Bey's obligations (January 

1870). Another source of conflict arose from the fact 

that the Executive Section, faithful trustee of the 

Bey's interests that it was, was to show an increasing 

host~lity to the policy of concessions which the 

Europe an residents advocated but which had been obviously 

detrimental to the ReGency, from the Aqueduct of 

Za ghouan to the Concession of Djed.eida. In this respect 

the Executive Section was in some way to play the part 

which the supreme Council had played from 1860 to 1 864: 

Wi th liliaireddin as .~Jresident of the COlnrnission the Party 

of Reform was aga in in pOYier. l 

The Commission suffered from a heavy handicap: 
, 

French influence was very strong in that body and, 

although the French Inspectors appeared to be generally 

inclined to put their duties of Tunisian public servants 
-----_ .• .. ,. . ..• .. . .. 

1. KhaireucLin had become "Directing Minister" wi th the 
suprerne control of the Interior Foreign and Finan­
cial departments in J anuary 1870 with Wood's whole­
hearted sD:p)ort. For Villet's position with regard 
to the concessions see his declaration during Roche­
fort's trial (December 1881) "J'ai toujours tente de 
protegeI' Tunis. Les sp~gulations priv~es soutenues 
par M. Roustan ont fourni une excuse pour notre 
~tablissement l~-bas" (Broadley I, 260). 
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in front of the requirements of French policy in ;.L'unis,l 

the Oonsuls,especially the Italian representative,never 

concealed their jealousy of the dominant position the 

French Inspector had acquired in the Executive Section. 

l'hat atti tude was in conformity wi ttl the principles 

·uhich guided the oonsuls in Tunis: they considered tha t 

they represented their governments not so much for the 

maintenance of amicable relations with the Regency, as 

for the development of their national interests. They 

made unending claims, "threatening conQ_uests and destruc-

tion if they were not satisfactorily recognized". The 

oonsuls were generally unable to admit trlat there might 

be a Tunisian interest which was not in exact confmrmity 

with the interests of the Power they represented. For 

that reason their reports generally tended to exagger-

ate the facts, and the same Minister who was described 

as tIle l)lus vorace des OI)iJreSSeurs" by the }'rench party 

because he was a partisan of Great Britain, becsijle for 

this same reason an "honest gentleman" in Woodts 

~orrespondance.2 

The French attitude towards the Oommission was 
----_ .• _. __ ._ .. - . 

1. The French inspectors, Vlood remarked in 1879, acted 
"with an independence and an impartiality which have 
secured for them the entire confidence of the Tunis­
ian Government and of its creditors" (FO 102 124 
Wooo. to Salisbury, February 12, 1879. 

2. safwat, Tunis ~nd _~~ill:~~t povi~' pp. 64-66. 
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somewhat contradictory. The part which France had 

played in its establishrnent, the part which Villet 

played in the Executive Section induced the French 

Government to support the Cormnission. But as Constant 
I 

rightly remarked, between Botmiliau "protecteur attitre 
I 

de nos nationaux" and Villet "executeur impitoyable des 

d~cisions de son comit~", difficulties were bound to 

arise: "Leurs missions sont contradictoires, l' uns'attach-

" , ant a conserver a ses nationaux des privileges que 

l'autre arrive .pr~cisement pour faire cesser".l But 

the"Italian offensive" and Wood's policy contributed to 

delay the explosion of these contradictlons. 

2. On the whole the British Government had shown a 

conciliatory attitude towards the commission, and, in 

their dealings with Wood and the French, a sincere 

anxiety t:o ensure its peaceful working. l'he Foreign 

Office had eX'pressed more than once its desire to 

promote a friendly understanding betvveen the three 

governments and its fear lest the consuls at Tunis should 

transform the Commission into a new battle-field for the 

rivalries of the Powers. But 'Wood quite soon had ado.Qted 

1. Constant, p. 59. 
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a very different attitude t(i)wards the Commission: he 

was unable to reconcile himself to it because he 

conSidered that it was an instrument for French pene-

tration into the Regency. He had constantly criticised 

its organisation; he showed the same hostility to its 

actio~ The commission was being used by the Bey for 

obtaining "the virtual abrogation of his contrabts with 

his local credit6rs", Wood remarked in 1869 after the 

incident of the registration of the bonds. l And again 

after the signature of the Act of Settlement of Tunisian 

Debts (March 23 1870): "We cannot divert ourselves from 

the impression that the Tunisian Goverrunent would see 

with pleasure the disapi.Jearance of the Commission now 

that it has attained ••• the diminution of the annuities 
o 

upon its debts". '-' In lviay 1870, in connection with the 

creation of a Board of Ma nagement of the debt, Wood 

involved the Executive Section as well in his suspicions: 

the creation of the Board superseded "the action and 

attributions which were expressly assigned to the Section 

of Control" and prepared its ext!tnetton. 3 

Wood was thus heading for a condemnation of the 
'. 

Tunisian Government, the Executive Section, and French 

policy, "en bloc". The Tunisian Governraent, he wrote on 

1. FO 102 119. Wood to Clarendon, November 25, 1869. 
2. FO 102 120. Wood to Clarendon, March 31, 1870. 
3. Ibid, May 13, 1870. 
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July 9, 1870, were trying to avail themselves of the 

concessions made by the creditors to withhold the sec­

urities which they had given to obtain those conce Lsions; 

the French Inspecteur des Finances had "coalesced with 

the Government" and had "become the advocate of tile views 

and policy of the 'l'unisian Governmen ttt; since the signa­

ture of the contract the French Government appeared 

"less disposed •••• to assist in maintaining the 

Commission •••• in all its integrity". 'rhe only solution, 

Wood suggested, was direct diplomatic action by the three 

Governments, by means of 8n "identical but stringent 

note". Wood concluded with arguments of violence which 

struck a new note in his correspondence: "Asiatic and 

African Governments cannot a_Jpreciate forbearance; they 

attribute it to other thati friendly motives and are 

encouraged thereby to place themselves and others in an 

embarrassing pOSition, which can only be averted in their 

own inter'est by a timely checlc and admoni tion. ttl Wood 

did not show more understanding for the difficult 

poeition of the Tunisian Government than his colleagues. 

1. FO 102 120. Wood to Hammond, July 9, 1870. 
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3. The solution of the Questions which were thus 

arising in 'funis was, however, delayed by the l!'ranco-

German war. We have already remar1ced that in 1'Wlis the 

Djedeida affair brought about a temporary rapprochement, 

between Wood and the Commission, on the ground of common 

British and Tunisian interests and of common fear of 

Italian encroachments. The Consul likewise backed 

liliaireddin t s policy towards the porte during the summer 

of 18'11: The Bey could not find tla more intelligent and 

a fitter agent", he wrote to Elliot, when Khaireddin 

was sent to the Porte in September. l But at that time 

the rupture betvveen \Vood and the Executive Section was 

already an accomplished fact. 

The occasion for the outbreak of -the antagonism was 

the somewhat obscure affair of the Tunisian Mi.nt, which 

was very significant of the new tendencies of Wood's 

policy in Tunis. The Concession for'_ the Mint had been 

~ranted by the Bey to Si Hamida ben Ayad who was a 

British prot~g~2 and at the same time a partisan of the 

Khaznadar. some irregularities in the working of the 

----- --- ------ -- .-

1. FO 102 120. Wood to Elliot, September 6, 1871. 
2. Si Hamida ben Ayad was the nephew of the famous 

Mahmud ben Ayad and had been granted British pro­
tection in 1846-1847 when family Quarrels had set 
the j;)ro-French lviahmud ben Ayad in opposition to his 
pro-British father, !viohaHlLled ben Ayad. 
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Iviint were seized upon by Villet and Khaireddin as a 

pretext for the abrogation of the Decree of concession. 

Wood alleged that Villet and Khaireddin were actually 

moved by ~olitical motives and were trying to eliminate 

the personal friend.s of the prime Minister in order to 

isolate and weaken him, and ultimately to put Khaireddin 

in his ~lace. Thms was no doubt true but it is only 

fair to remark that the accusations of corruption brought 

against the liliaznadar and his partisans by Villet and 

IDlaireddin were wholly justified; in addition the prin­

ciple which had set the Execmtive Section in action - that 

concessions involving financial probleG1S came under its 

jurisdiction - appeared to be indisputable, and in the 

light of the events of the ten previous years it was 

undoubtedly prudent to restrict the bey's freed.-)l11 in 

that field. l 

Although the Bey ultimately maintained Ben Ayad's 

Concession, Wood drew serious political conclusions 

from the incident. The Executive Section, he reported, 

was endeavouring "to create itself with an authority 

superior to .that of the Bey and his government." Villet 

was trying "to substitute his personal authority for 

that of the Government" although the Executive Section 

1. FO 102 120. Wood to Granville, August 21, 1871. 
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was nothing more than a governmental department. l The 

first obje ct sought by Villet was to overthrow the 

I~aznadar and to put in his place Khaireddin who poss-

essed "great intelligence" but was a man of "inordinate 

ambition" and was an instrument in the hands of the 

French. Should they succeed, France would virtually 

administer the Regency and p rovoke the "subVersion of 

the sup remacy of the Tunisian Governmant". 2 The affair 

of the Mint Vias t hus giving rise to an international 

conflict for the seizure of political power in Tunis: 

in this conflict Wood sided. with t he Bey an6 the Khaz-

na dar, while Khaireddin was supported by Vi .l.let and the 

French Governl11ent. wood's choice wa s rather unfortunate 

and was inconsistent with the policy he had pursued in 

Tunis for 15 years and which aimed at strengthening the 

Regency internally as well as externally. His prefer-

ence for corrupt and wea k - but amenable-partners, would 

be incomp rehensible indeed, if one did not take into 

account t he very peculiar outlook of the Consuls in 

Tunis, to which we have already called attention. 

This incident of the Mint had been brought before 

the :£;1orei gn Off ice by Fovre in June 1871 before Wood 

had even sent a report about it, and although Granville 

endorsed the attitude ~ f the Consul, he entirely agreed 

1. FO 102 120. Wood to Gr anVil le, July 31, 1871. 
2. Ibid , August 3, 1871. 
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in Favre's remark "as to the i mpor tance of discouraging 

rivalry between the Representatives of the European 

POYierS at '.l.'unis. ,,1 It wa s dec l ded that instructions 

should be sent by France and Engl and (and later It8ly) to 

their respective Consuls to the effect ttlat harmony 

should prevail among the members of t he Pinancial 

Commis sion and among the .n.epresentatives of the Powers. 

Granville's de sj)s tch conformed to the pattern suggested 

by the Quai d'orsay: he dwelt more particularly, however, 

on the necessity "that no action on the part of His 

Hi ghness should be submitted to by the Commission or 

countenanced by the ~epresentatives which is in any way 

calculated to defeat the object for which the COL;mission 

was estab1ishedu •
2 That insistence perhaps indicated 

that the Foreign Secretary was not entirely pleased with 

Wood's attituoe in the affair of the Mint and with the 

encouragement he had. given to the Bey's growing hostility 

to the Executive Section. HoweVer that may be, Wood 

ignored the hint and the struggle between Wood and the 

Executive section waE. soon to gain in intensity. 

Wood and the policy of economic penetration. 

Under the shadow of the affair of the Mint another 

problem, much more important and pregnant with incalculable 

1. FO 102 1"20''-' ' "Granville to Lyons, July 6, 1871. 
2. Ibid. Granville to Wood, october 3, 18'71. 
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consequences, was taking shape, that of the "concessions"; 

and that consideration no doubt explains Wood's sharp-

ness in def end.ing Ben Ayad' s 11ights. What Wood resented 

lUOSt in the denial of justice which Ben Ayad had suffered 

was "the intolerable inconvenience of seeing the favour-

sble 6.ecisions of the Bey in British affairs set aside 

b ,. If " V' -, -1 -1-11 1 y n1mse ana M. 1L e~ • 

Ll- . The i(;e8 of d.evelo.ping the economic resources of 

the country by the introduction of foreign (that is to 

s ay British) cap ital and enterprise had been one of the 

key-concevtions of Wood right from the time of his 

arrival in Tunis. The Consul haCl not only strugf,led 

to obtain concessions for British contractors but had 

taken a personal part in some of them. These first 

8 ttempts had, howe ve 2.' , met vd th failure, owing to the 

difficulties which the social and economical state of 

the country put in the iHay of such enoeavours, and to 

lacl\: of sUj:j:..)ort in the money market of Great Britain. 

The Convention of 1863 had removec1 some of these ob-

stacles but the r evolution of 18 64 had again hinc1ered 

WOOd's initiative. The creation of the Commission of 

the debt gave a new lease of life to the policy Wood ha~ 

1. FO 102 120. Wood to Granville, August 3, 18'71. 



so long advocated: the Europeans now had the central 

government W1del" their control; the credi tOl"S regarded 

the COIIlmiBsion as an instrument which vvas to be used 

for the developrnent of their interests in the Regency; 

tee aesistance the Bey and the Kl1.aznadar of fered VIas 

someVrhat weak because t,ley feared international compli-

ca tions, and oecause their all1enaE~~t.ss WAS a way of a ssel"ting 

their independence towards the Executive Section, whose 

attitude was very critical towards the policy of the 

concessions. As Italy (1868) and France (1871) now 

enjoyed the benefits of the Convention of 1863, every-

thing was ready in Tunis for the development of an 

economic influence which the overflow of European capi-

tal made possible after 18'10. 

'rhe attitude of the British Govel"nrnent hardly kept 

pace with the vast expansion of British capital overseas 

after 1870 - ~he liberals pursued a ~olicy of disinter-

estedness wi ttl l"egard to colonial problems which led 

them to abstain, as far as possible, from aCQuiring new 

lands: "The lust and love of territory," Gladstone had 

said as early as 1855, "have been among the greatest 

curses of mankind".l It was indeed true that the 

initiative of frontiersmen, missionaries, traders, 

diplomatic representatives set at nought Gladstone's 

1. Knap1unc1, Glads~..on~ __ ~.nd Br.i.t_~i_n~...s_,}.!npe.ria1 policy 
p. 81. 
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wish to check imperial expans ion, but on the whole the 

liberal statesman remainect fBi thful to his princi:ples. 

With reg;ard to investments abroad, the liberal Admini­

stration tried to maintain the traditional attitude of 

the British Goverrunents before 1870: there was to be as 

little official interference as possible in these 

matters, the intervention of the government being often 

felt through informal channels. In spite of the in­

creasing pressure which the interested parties brought 

to bear upon the government, the resolut ion not to 

intervene was maintained during the decade of the 

seventies, excep t in places where political interests 

were at stake ( a s in Turkey and in Egypt) - and they 

were not at stake in Tunis. 1 

Wood's concep tions and action went much farther 

than the rather timid outlook of the liberal admini-

stration. With a view to solving the lasting financial 

diff iculties of the Regency, Wood persistently suggested 

a policy of economic development to the Bey and the 

Foreign Office: the country was already overloaded with 

taxes, Wood remarked in 1872, and the only solution 

was to increase its "rich but o.orrnant resources" by the 

"introduction of Foreign capital and energy". 'l'he con­

str'uct i on of public works and particularly of railroads 

----------_ ... _ --
1. Herbert Feis, Europe t he world's Banker, p. 105. 

- -_._---- _ . . --_._-_ ._ --
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would open up the interior of the Regency and bring 

about the improvement of agriculture and the development 

of mining exploitation. l In the meantime Wood perse-

veringly applied himself to improving the bases of 

economic penetration. He proposed in 1871 to negotiate 

a new Commercial treaty with the Bey, avowedly to 

"benefit the Regency by the removal of restrictions 

and abuses which impeded the development of its 

resources" and permit of "the introduction of the 

European element and., wi ttl it, the germs of a nascent 

civilisation". The 'projected Treaty which Wood submitted 

to the Foreign Office embodied the main clauses of the 

Comvention of 1863: The people of the contracting 

parties shoula have the right "to establish in each 

other's country commercial, industrial and banking 

companies" (Article 11), "to exercise in each other's 

country any art, profession ana industry; to establish 

manufactories and factories ana to introduce steam 

machinery or machinery moved by any other power" (Art-

icle 12).2 At the same time Wood favoured the creation 

of a Mixed commercial Tribunal 'which had been proj;losed 

by the rrunisian Government in 1871, because the in-

creasing importance of European enterprise and population 

in Tunis made such an institution more and more necessary. 

1. 

2. 

FO 102 12I~- Wood to Granville, september 5, 1872 -
FO 102 94, Wood, November 19 - FO 102 93. Dec.10,1872 
J?O 102 103. Wood to Granville, septerilber'1'1871. 
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5. Wood was the first to realize the economic benefits 

which might be drawn from the creation of the Internat-

ional Commission, and his initiative gave Great Britain 

the lead in the international race for concessions in 

Tunis. As early as October 31, 1868 Wood obtained the 

concession for the lead mines of Djebel Ressas for a 

British contractor, Lindo, who had long tried, with 

Wood's help, to secure mineral concessions in the 

Regency. 1 In April 1869 Wood reported that "British 

capi talists and others" weI'e negotiating for the con-

struction of a Railway from Tunis to Bona (in Algeria); 

but it was not until August 18?1 that Wood could obtain 

a grant from the Bey for the construction of a railway 

joining 'l'unis to the port of the Goulette and the Bardo. 

The Pickering concession, the first of its kind in the 

Regency was Ita commencement in the right direction", 

Wood concluded, and would eventually lead to "other 

enterprises 'with Bri tish capital of equal public utility ... 2 

In A~ril 1872, Pickering's concession was extended to 

the Marsa, and indeed Wood was so keenly interested in 

the affair that the Company asked Granville to authorize 

the Consul to accept the office of Director, a sug~estion 

Which was rejected by the Foreign Office: "I should 

decidedly refuse; our agent in Tunis should have nothing 

1. 
2. 

-------_ ... ---
FO 102 82. 
:b'0 102 90. 

W)od to Stanley, October 31, 1868 
Wood to Granville, August 1871. 
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to do with a trading Company with reference to which 

he may have occasion officially to interfere" Hammond 

commented. 1 Again in April 1872, Wood obtained~f'ifty 

years' concession for William Lef'evre on behalf of' a 

Company for "Ghe construction of Gas works in Tunis, a 

success which a~pears to have given rise to less satis­

faction' in London than in 1'unis: "HOW far such a con-

ceSSion," the Foreign Office inquired, "might be 

objected to by other Foreign Powers on t£le grounds of 
. 2 

its establishing a monopoly?" Lastly in November 1872 

Wood obtsined from the Bey the grant of the Concession 

for the constl:\uction of a Railway joining Tunis to 

Bizerta, Mateur, Beja, the Kef', Bousse, and Kairouan; 

the concession given to Pic~{ering was to remain valid 

for one year, and would be cancelled if it was not acted 

upon within the required time. 3 It is not necessary to 

dwell upon the importance of' a Conce~: sion which gave a 

Bri tish Company the quasi-monopoly of' the Railr'oads in 

the Regency. 

At this stage wood's policy of economic penetration 

had already come up against the Executive Section of 

the Commission. 'rhe Bey, the prime blinister, and lithe 

great majority of his Government" were favourable to 

1. 
2. 
3. 

FO 102 94. Wood to Granville, April 16, 1872. 
Ibid, April 27, 1872, Granville to Wood, May 16!1872 
FO 335 126 3 Decree of November 2, 1872. Noth~ng 
came of tClat concession. 
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British undertakings, Wood alleged; but he had now to 

fight against the influence of the Exec1i1tive Section 

which "on pretence of watching over the interests of 

the Tunisian Gover'nrnent intervenes to check the growth 

and aevelopment of those of Great Britain". 

The struggle for the direction of the Government. 

6. The cycle of Wood's policy since 1869 was now com­

plete. Political motives had first prompted him to 

oppose the Executive Section which he alleged to be an 

instrument of French policy in 'J.'unis. Now British 

econOiltic undertaltings 'were thI'eatened by Villet and 

Khaireddin - Political and Economic interests were 

involved in Questions which had internal as well as 

external aspects, and the key figure of the drama was 

MustaJ.Jha Khaznadar, the Pl'ime Mini:::ter. For the :B'l"ench, 

of course, the Khaznadar played the part of the villain: 

their accusations of robbery and malversation rested on 

the solid ground of the Minister's indisputable corrup-

tion and all their influence in 'l'unis was used in 

favour of Khaireodin whose qualities Wood could not 

easily deny but whose "French proclivities" he resented 

above any other consideration. The Khaznadar had long 

been Great Britain's friend and client, and, in order 

to consolidate a somewl:lat shaky poSition, he 'Vias bound 

to favour British interests even more. As the Bey 
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continued to support his I.'linistcr, largely because he 

resented the existence of the Financial Oommission and 

feared Kl1airedd.in's strong hand, Wood's stti tude \vas 

coloured. Yii th an s l.J,Pearance of legitimacy. But the 

eecisive point for Wood was that "the formation of a 

ministry virtually under the influence of a French 

Inspector Genera l of Finances •••• would greatly mili-

tate against the development of foreign interests, 

particularly against British interests. IIl 

WOOd's attitude in the mattel" seemed to give 

wei ght to the impres sion t C1St a Y} active policy of 

economic penetra tion was incompatible WitJ:l t he existence 

of an honest and watchful adminis t ration in t h e .t\.egency. 

The situation of 1859 - 1864 seemed to h El ve arisen again. 

But while at that ~ime Wood had bro:,(en wi til those of 

the Oonsuls who fough t aga inst the Sup rellle Council, on 

this occasion he depended on a statESman of Questionable 

honesty, but one more ITlan82;eable t han Khaireddin and 

the executive section. As for Khaireddin's "French 

.l:? roc l ivities", Wood himself helped to strengthen them 

b y his stub-worn hostili t ;/ to the 'l'uni s i a n r efor mer, viho 

coula only rely on French sup .. )ort to carry into effect 

the -o olicv he ha d lon" cont el~ji) lated and first of a l l • ~ u ~ 

c uestionable t hat t he ForeiLn Off ice's f irst coolness 

1. FO 102 1 21. Wood to Gl"' 5nville , o ctober 8 ,187 ~~ 
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with regard to Wood's policy of economic expansion and 

to his active intervention in the internal affairs of 

the Regency could not but increase. As soon as February 

1873 an indepenr:' ent and clear-sighted British observer 

A.M. Broadley, who had just established himself in 

Tunis as a barrister, and a journalist, expressed mis-

givings about the , s .on.Y).dness of Wood's policy: "At a 

moment I am striving to develop British Enterprise in 

this Regency," Wood complained in March 1873, "he has 

not only taken up cases against British interests ••• but 

he has likewise transmitted •••• articles against some 

of the members of the Tunisian Govel'nment". Broadley, 

Wood alleged, had proposed "to a prominent Tunisian 

Functionary the publication of a newspaper at JvIalta for 

the express purpose of attacking LhimJ, with a view 

to ~his-1 removal from Tunis in order to deprive the 

Prime Iviinister and others of LhisJ moral support and 

render thereby easier their' disgrace. ,. 1 

7. Wood's difficulties with the Executive Section 

began in cmnneetion with the conditions of the concession 

granted in 1871 to Pic~ering for the construction of a 

railroad from Tunis to the Goulette: the concession 

stated that all materials fOD tAe construction, working 

1. FO 102 95. Wood to Granville, March 10, 1873. 
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and maintenance of the Railway should be aruni tted into 

the country free of duty. The Executive section decided 

in December 1872 that as the Bey had given the customs 

duties to the Commission, as a guarantee for the payment 

of the debt, he was not allowed to exempt any produce 

from the import duties. 'rhe matter was one of great 

importance, as the Bey had just concluded an agreement 

with Pickering for the creation of a railway system in 

the Regency (November 2 1872). One can guess that, 

apart from the financial implications of the problem, 

the Executive Section was not sorry to set a limit to 

the Bey's hitherto absolute right of granting economic 

concessions. It was precisely that aspect of the question 

which provoked Wood's vigorous intervention in favour of 

the Bey's rights: "The most important question in the 

matter directly involves the free exercise by the Bey 

of his inherent right to grant concessions", Wood 

commented on December 10, 1872, "with such stipulations 

8S wtll operate as an inducement to capitalists to 

undertake them."l And some days later, when Khaireddin 

complained to the Bey of the prime Minister's activities, 

Wood made it quite clear to Sadok Bey that he did not 

approve of Khaireddin's personal ambition, and concluded 

unambiguously that he "saw no pe11 son better qualified 

1. 1!'"l() 102 121. Woo(1 to Granville, Decelilber 10,1872. 
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on account of his long eXi.-Jerience ••• than his Minister 

to be at the head of the adrninistration. ,,1 The British 

Government however, did not allow themselves to become 

involved in Tunisian internal politics. With regard to 

the question which Wood had raised, discussions with the 

.f!lrench Government led them to consider that "however 

much they might desire to facilitate the endeavours of 

the Bey to open out the resources of his Dominions", 

they were not inclined to dispute- the right of the Comm­

ission to oppose the remission of the import duties. 2 

'i'he affair of the import duties had. scarcely been 

concluded by a decision which was tantamount to advising 

Wood to use prudence, than t he Consul became involved in 

a second discussion, which raised much the same problems. 

The conflict between the Executive Section and the Bey 

originated from the grant of some mines in the region 

of Tabarka by the Bey to the ~rime Minister without the 

sanction of the Executive Section and from the Bey's 

assumption of the right of appointing the Farmers of 

the taxes independently of the Executive Section. '£he 

discussion again turned on the subjezt of the right of 

the Bey to grant concessions and "to issue such Decrees 

1. FO 102 93. Wood to Granville, December 23, 1872 
2. FO 102 121. Granville to Wood, April 15, 1873. 
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as he deemed useful in the exercise of his political and 

administrative functions". This time Wood was completely 

isolated, as de Botmiliau and Pinna were united in the 

defence of the Oommission's principles, an unfortunate 

symptom indeed: but, he explained to Granville, he could 

not join in any action to deprive the Bey "of his 

undoubted right to grant concessions, because ~he-l 

conceived that its surrender ordestruction would be most 

injurious to British interests and enterprise in this 
1 'Wooa 

country;" andlgave Granville to understand that the 

main issue of the discussion was a Franco-British compet-

ition for the mines of Tabarka. 

Whatever may have been the ulterior motives of 

Villet, the case of the Executive Section was again very 

strong. It was convincingly defended by the French 

Government; the Law Officers, when consulted by Granville, 

gave as their opinion that the Decree of 1869 was in-

tended to surrenaer into tile hands of the Oommission the 

vihole revenues of the Ki.ngdom for "Ghe purpose of admini-

stration, and that this object could hardly be obtained 

if the Bey had still the power of farming out any part 

of these revenues without the cont1101 of the Oommission. 2 

1. Fa 102 121. Wood to Granville, Apri.l 20,1873. 
2. Ibid, Law Officers to GI'anville, June 23, 1873. 
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Granville agreed with this opinion and despatched instruc-

tions accord.ine;ly to Wood. But nothing short of a clear 

rebuke could stop the action of the British Consul, as 

the struggle for economic penetration and political 

domination had now reached its last and most critical 

stage in 'l'unis. 

8, Negotiations had been entered into with the Bey for 

the crea tion of a Bank in 1872, Wood serving as an inter-

mediary between the 'l'u...Y1isian Government and a British 

Banker, Hanking. Ranlcing's first project was re jected 

by the Ley who was particularly reluctant to grant the 

exclusive privilege of issuing ba~-notes which were to 

be received as legal tender. The Prime Minister 

ultimately communicated the conditions under which 

Ranking was authorized to create "the London Bank of 

Tunis": the Bank was to be private, it was to receive 

!'.the assistance and the preference on the part of the 

Government, as much as it lays in its power" (Article 
':t 

III), and~wou1d be protected by the Tunisian authorities 

tI if necessary" (Article IV); t i'1e Government did not 

guarantee the bank-notes issued by the Bank (May 19,1873)1 

This new success in Wood's campaign for concessions 

provoked an irmned.iate and strong opposition in Tunis. 

1. FO 102 122. Wood to Granville, May 31, September 15 
November 10, 1873. 
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The French and Italian Consuls gathered the consular 

Body and proposed~ protest against the concession: 

Wood having withdrawn rrom the meeting, the roreign 

representatives, with the sole exception of the American 

Consul, agreed to make a collective demarche on the ground 

or the privileges w~ich the Act or Concession granted to 

Ranking's Bank. At the same time the Financial 

Commission expressed its opposition to the "prerogatives 

orricielles ou semi-officielles" of the Bank and to the 

right which it had been granted to issue ba~-notes as 

legal tender. l '.i.'he concession raised manifold problems: 

the Executive Section, as has been remarked already, was 

averse to leaving the Bey free to erant cOn£essions; in 

the particular case of the Bank this position met with 

the complete approval of the Section of Control which 

remembered the cUsastrous experiment of Ben Ayad ana. hao 

but li ttle confidence in the financial undertal\:ings 

of the Government. In addition, there is no doubt that 

Wood's repeated successes in the economic field had 

exci ted much jealousy, and t r1a t the rivalry between the 

Consuls largely accounted fo r the co-operation between 

the French and Italian Consuls against the scheme. 

Wood brought strong pressure to bear on the Bey 

for the confirmation of the Concession, on the ground 

that since the Bank was private and unconnected with the 

1. FO 102 122. Wood, May 31, 1873, and November 10. 
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government, it was a matter purely of British interest. 

At first the Bey held out against the representati~ns 

with which he was besieged and asserted "his right to 

grant such concessions as he L mightJ deernconducive 

to the prosperity of the Regency_"l However, the dis-

cussion soon assumed a :political character and gave a new 

impetus to the struggle for power which set Khaireddin 

and Mustapha at loggerheads. 'rhe rumoured nomination in 

Tunis of a new French Consul, Vicomte d.e Vallat, as 

tt~inister plenipotentiary on an Extraordinary Mission", 

seemed to indicate that the French Government had decided 

to bring matters to a hes d in the Regency. At the same 

time Wood's attempt to bully the Bey into executing the 

Concession was not devoid of danger. It exposed the Bey 

to the almost unanimous protests of the Consuls, and 

strengthened the isolation of the Khaznadar at a moment 

when his prestige was being slowly sapped by Khaireddin 

Villet and de Botmiliau. The disclosure of the Kllaznadar's 

past extortions, and the growing influence of the new 

favourite, General 8i Mustapha ben Ismail, added to 

the difficulties which the Bey experienced in the matter 

of the Bank, justified the decline of Mustapha's influence 

and power. The bey, Wood reported. in September, was 

perplexed how to act", and the Prime Minister no longer 

1. FO 102 122, Wood to Granville, June 30, 1873. 
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enjoyed his entire confidence. 1'he 'l'uniaian officials 

were now divided into two camps and a crisis seemed 

unavoidable. Wood had unsuccessfully tried to bring 

about a reconciliation between Khaireddin and the 

Khacinadar and concluded gloomily: "I should see with 

apprehension any change in the Tunisian cabinet unfav-

ourable not only to the existing British interests but 
1 

also to their future development." 

In mid-September Wood's position became somewhat 

awkward, for the Khaznadar, who seemed about to fall into 

disfavour, intimated to the Consul that the authoriza-

tion given to Ranking in May would have to be confirmed 

by a Decree issued by the Bey. Wood replied that the 

concession was valid and encouraged the Bey "to defend 

~his-1 own incontestible and inherent rights against 

encroachment from whatever quarter it may come.,,2 But 

the Bey had obviously made up his mind: the new French 

Consul, Vallet, had scarcely arrived in Tunis (September 

1873) 'when he attacked the proposal for a Bank and asked 

the Bey to put a stop to it; the Bey shifted the respon­

sibility on to the Khaznadar. and, a few days later, 

yielded to French pressure: on September 30 he issued a 

circular Note prohibiting banks with limited liability. 

1. 
2. 

FO 102 95. 
FO 102 122. 

Wood to Granville, September 8,1873. 
Wood to Granville, September lLl, 18'73. 
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'l'he controversy between Wood and the Tunisian Government 

dragged on, becoming more bitter every day: Wood des­

cribed his "painful impressionlt , regretted that the Bey 

should have yielded to intimidation, and coml,)lained that 

he had been led "to the edge of a precipice where Lthe 

BeyJ has left ...ffiim..../ to the mercy of Lhi,iio,Pponents."l 

Ultimately, when the Khaznadar alluded to Wood's 

"defective memorit", the Consul replied sharply that 

"however defective it might have become from mental 

decrepitude consequent on a long residence in this 

country it (was) yet retentive enough not to easily 

forget the lamentable trea tment [:nt-had) experienced ••• 

at the hands of the Tunisian Government".2 Wood had 

had the last woro., for on October 21 the Bey dismissed 

the ~rime Minister. 

9. During the first stage of the Bank question, the 

Foreign Office had given Wood full support in what 

appeared, from Wood's some-what incomplete reports, to be 

a new b'rench attempt to impair the development of 

British interests in Tunis. "Unless it was intended that 

the Finance Commission should take the whole Government 

of Tunis into their own hands, Yihieh I much deprecated, 

1. FO 102 122. Wood to Granville, October 4,1873 
2. Ibid., october 20, 1873. 
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I saw no principle which could justify their intervention 

in this matter", Granville wrote to Lyons on July 29. 1 

1'he Bey had full competence to grant a concession which 

seemed "unobjectionable enough": the only serious objec-

tion about the third article of the conces;ion, seemed 

to be so well disposed of by Wood's comments that on 

October 1, after Viood's report about de Vallat's pro-

ceedings, Granville angrily remarked: ItI think it is a 

matter for consideration whether the time is not arrived 

for spea:'dng :plainly to the French Government about their 

pretension to interfere Y,i th a legi timate English 

enterprise. ,,2 

1'he a tti tude of the Foreign Office, however, under-

went a radical change at the beginning of October', when 

further reports by Wood showed that he was meeting with 

increasing difficulties from the 'l'unisian Government 

themselves. The Foreign Office was impressed, too, by 

the forcible arguments put forward by the French, par-

ticularly by the assertions that Wood had at first 

aslted for very extensive privileges for the Bank t and 

that the Ranking concession had met with the opposition 

of the wtlOle Consular Body and of the controlling 

Section (a circumstance which Wood had failed to report 

1. FO 102 122. Granville to Lyons, July 29,1873. 
2. Ibid. Note, October l..1873. 
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GO Granville). 'fhese arguments, 'fenterden remarked on 

October 18, gave "a different colour~to this transactiont1 • 

And although Granville still considered, Oll October 17, 

that It'rench arguments did not affect the question whether 

:B'rance "by something like menace", had a right to oppose 

a permission given by the Bey to Englisrunen to establish 

a Bank,l serious doubts were being raised in London 

about the soundness of the cause. On October 18 Glad-

stone expressed his "misgivings": Wood's language to the 

Bey savoured "as much of dictation and_ pressure, as 

anything we ~ of the French agents"; he was accused 

by De Broglie of having sought the concession originall~ 

for himself; the Consuls and the European traders had 

addressed unanimous remonstraces to the Bey; the stip-

ulation for "preference" was "strange ••• ominous and 

inauspicious". In conclusion, Gladstone asked for a 

thorough examination of the question: meanwhile it 

would be wise to refrain from "peremptory action of 

k ' d ,,2 any ~n. 

Bxplanations were immediately asked for from Wood: 

while the Consul empijatically denied having asked wither 

for the Concession for the Bank, or for any other 

Concession whatsoever, in his ovm name, his answers to 

1. FO 102 122. Granville to Tenterden, October 17,1873 
2. G.p. 62. Gladstone to Granville, October 18,1873. 
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the doubts raised by the French, were deemed "rather 

vague" and more information was asked for (November 

6, 1873). On November 10, 1873, Wood at last sent the 

first complete account of the affair: "M. Wood ought to 

have sent us these papers before and not left us to ask 

for them on an allusion in the Duc de Broglie's note 

verbale", Tenterden angrily commentec1 on November 21 ••• 

"By not letting us know the whole circumstances of the 

case originally (he) has placed Her Majesty's Government 

in a very false position." Under these circumstances 

~he Foreign Office appears to have been embarrassed 

concerning the adoption cDr a ~ine o~ conduct: "What is 

to be done next?" Tenierden asked on November 21. 

The .b'inance Commission was "far from having no valid 

ground for objecting ~o the Bank"; Wood asserted that 

they were wrong and that it was a French intrigue; 

nevertheless the fact remained, and very much weakened 

the British case against the French Government. l 

Granville and Tenterden ultimately concurred in the 

opinion which Gladstone had expressed as early as 

November 7: The third article of the COllcession ~vas 

"quite indefensible" and its withdrawal might provide 

a reasonable solution of the difficulties, with an 

explanatory statement on the part of the British 

1. FO 102 122. Tenterden, Novembel' 21,1873. 
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Government malting it Clear that they considered that the 

notes should have no s) ecial government protection. As 

far as the Foreign Office might have placed itself "in 

any false position in supporting Wood's remonstrances 

on the spot", the note of November 22 concluded, it 

could if necessary "fairly plead insufficiency of inform­

ation •••• if it (was) consldered desirable to retreat 

to any extent from (its) present position. ttl The ques-

tion was then transmitteC to the Law Off icers ' for advice 

and temporarily dropped. 

The position of the Foreign Office vii th re gard to 

the dismissal of the Khaznadar was of course affected 

by its increasing doubts about the soundnes s of Wood's 

policy of intervention in Tunis. At first Wood's sugges-

tion t t18 t he should give the ex-Prime Minist e r British 

protection provoked the comment t ha t the Khaznadar had 

ltof l a te b een of much service"and that the situation 

was very similar to the situation of 1864 and 1865 

(v.hen the Foreign Off ice had contemplated granting 

Bri ti sh prote ction to the Minister should the l!'rench 

ob t ain his dismissal.)2 But t he gr adua l di scovery of 

t he ent anglement of political and economic affairs in 

Tunis brought about a change in Granville's views on 

1. FO 102 1 ',~2 . Notes of November 21 and 22 1873 
2. FO 102 95. Wood to Gr anville, October 21 - Note 

October 22, 1873. 
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the matter: "I do not see what Her Majesty's Government 

• • • have to do with these Tunisian intrigues and specu-

lations". And in spite of Wood's moving picture of the 

fallen Khaznadar's misfol:,tunes Granvililie decided, at the 

end of November, t ilat the Government could not afford 

British protection to the ex-prime Minister; Wood was 

only allowed to join his colleagues in upging the Bey 

unofficially not to treat his late Minister unjustly. 

An(1 on December 6, granville significantly warned Wood 

not to let himself be drawn "into a pos.i..tion of rivalry 
1 

'wi th (his) French colleague." 

10. Quite une::cpectedly the London Bank of Tunis 'rvhich 

had been the occasion of the political storm of 1873, 

outlived the crisis: the ill f eelings cooled down during 

the winter; the polit~cal struggle had come to an end 

with the dismissal of the Khaznadar and the nomination 

of Khaireddin as prime Minister. In March 1874 Wood 

reported that the Bank continued its operations; the Law 

Officers had just given as their opinion that the 

concession was valid and did not infringe the Decree 

of 1869 (February 21 1874). But that belated justifica­

tion did not lessen in any way the extent of Wood's 

failure in his Tunisian Policy. 

1. FO 102 95. Wood to Granville, December 6, 1873. 
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In 'l'unis his defeat was complete: his main support 

in the government had been eliminated and political 

power had fallen into the hands of an hones t and able 

statesman, with whom Wood had once entertained friendly 

relations, but whom he had alienated by an incomprehen­

sible error of judglnent., Khaireddin had fallen back on 

]'rench support, and his accession to power seemed to be 

an overwhelming French ~olitical success. The dismissal 

of the Khaznadar, and the strengthening of the inflUence 

of the Commission on the Bey which ViaS likely to follow 

Khaireddin's and Villet's political success, were also 

of a lcind to affe r:; t British economic interests, as Wood 

had based his policy of penetration on the support which 

the Bey and the Khaznadar gave gim against the Commission. 

In London, although there had been no official 

expression of disayprobation on the part of the :B'oreign 

Office, Wood's activity had been implicitly disowned by 

his government. His methods of intimidation, his active 

support of economic and financial enterprises, his 

entanglement in the internal affairs of the Regency 

had met with the d.issatisfaction of a government which 

wanted their agents to confine themselves to a prudent 

reserve in these matters. But Wood had set a dangerous 

mechanism in motion by his politico-economic initia­

tive, and it was to be feared that other powers, more 
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interested in the fate of the Regency, would not hesi­

tate to pursue the policy which the :&'oreign Office was 

reluctant to endorse in Tunis. 
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XIII Wood and the Khaireddin Government (1874-1877) 

The reconciliation between Wood and Khaireddin 

1. The pmlitical change in Tunis provoked serious 

internal and external consequences which were to lead 

Wood to reverse his attitude towards Khaireddin. 

Khaireddin's accession to power could not but benefit 

the country, and it was not likely that the man who had 
I , 

wri tten the uReformef! _..!!e_C?e~saires a.u~ Etats Musulmans", . 

and negotiated the settlement of 1871, would be content 

to bea mere puppet in the hands of the French: as soon 

as Wood recognised his error, a political reconciliation 

was bound to take place between them. But his nomina-

tion as prime Minister could not but appear, for a time, 

to mean the establishment of a complete French control 

of the Tunisian Government. 

Not unexpectedly the Italian Government was the 

first to give the alarm. The Rome Cabinet was perhaps 

stirred, not only by the Khaznadar's dismissal, but by 

the mission of General Hussein, who was sent to Paris 

at the beginning of December 1873 with the official object 

of congratulating president MacMahon on the vote of the 

law of the septennate, but,it was rumoured in Tunis, 

with the secret object of obtaining the abolition of the 
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Finnan of 1871. However that may be Visconti Venosta 

acquainted Paget with his uneasiness: General Khaireddin 

was supposed to be a creature of France and even to be 

prepared to place the Regency under French protectorate 

and to cede one portion of the country to Algeria. l The 

Porte was likewise affected by the possible consequences 

of the political change in Tunis and Rashid Pasha assured 

Elliot that should the Bey's explanations prove unsat­

isfactory, "the matter would be looked upon by the porte 

in a very serious light".2 La.stly Bismarck seized upon 

the matter for reasons of his own: it does not appear 

that he really cared much for the affairs of the Medi-

terranean but his intervention may have been part of 

the policy of bullying which he was then following 

~owards France. 3 on December 29 the German Ambassador 

asked Tenterden whether there was anything in the 

rumoured French designs on Tunis. 

That the Foreign Office took the matter very seriously 

is attested by a memorandum of December 30 about "Tunis 

and France" which stated that it was "well known that 

the French had determined sooner or later to acquire, if 

not the whole of the Regency of Tunis, at any rate that 

1. FO 45 220. Paget to Granville, December 17, 1873. 
2. Fe 78 2273 Elliot to Granville, December 25 1873 
3. coolidge. The origins of the Triple Alliance p. 201 
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portion of it which lies between their frontier of 

Algeria and the Medjerdad river".l Re-assurances were 

immediately asked for in Tunis, where the Bey absolutely 

denied -any project of placing Tunis under the suzerainty 

of France, and in Paris:Decazes assured Lyons that no 

proposal had been made by the Bey and that there was 

"no question of any change in the political status of 
2 the Regency". Granville's suspicions, however, were 

not completely allayed: "The Duke only contradicted the 

rumour as to a French protectorate", he telegraphed to 

Lyons on December 31, "Try and clear this upu. 3 The 

alleged project of r~tification of the frontier was 

immediately denied in Paris in the most explicit manner. 

It is more than likely that there was no truth 

whatsoever in the reports which had given rise to the 

short crisis of December 1873 but Bismarck was determined 

to turn it to the best account: At the beginning of 

January 1874 count Arnim rather abruptly intimated to 

Duc Decazes that the German Government would not tolerate 

the assumption by France of the suzerainty or of a 

Protectorate over Tunis. 4 The vigour of the German 

1. 
2. 
3. 
4. 

FO 102 97. 
FO 102 95 
~'O 27 1976 
Newton, II, 

Lyons to Granville, December 28,1873 
Granville to ~yons December 31, 1873 
p. 60. 
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reaction was so obviously out of proportion to the 

incident, that the tension between France and Germa.ny 

gravely disquieted Granville and the Queen who made a 

personal a.t?pea1 to the Emperor's judgment and moderation. 

At the beginning o~ February the crisis was over: "In 

leaving office," Odo Russell wrote to Granville on 

February 24 -1874, "you have the satisfaction to know 

that you have calmed down Bismarck in regard to France. ,,1 

The development of the crisis and the formal pledges 

ultimately given by France to Great Britain and Germany, 

however, indicated that :&'l'ance 'Could not disregard the 

clearly expressed opposition of the Powers to an even-

tual French move in Tunis: that opposition was soon 

given a concrete expression by the somewhat ostentatious 

'visit of warships in Tunisian waters, prussian in 

February, British in April, Turkish in June and October 

1874. On the other hand, ,i.\:haireddin was now more at 

liberty to pursue an independent course of policy towards ' 

France in Tunis. 

2. Wood was wise enough to avoid clinging to his pre­

jUdices against Khaireddin: it was~ore urgent to make 

peace with Khaireddin as it was the only way to wean him 

from the exclusive influence of the French which Wood's 
... _-_ ... _ -. --

1. Fitzmaurice: Life of Granville II, pp. 114 to 116. 

___ ---i 
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own policy had contributed to strengthen. "some diver­

gence of opinion had formerly existed between us," Wood 

said to Khaireddin shortly after his promotion, " ••• But 

as our friendship was based on personal esteem, I had 

the conviction it would be lasting. ttl Khaireddin's 

straightforward attitude nlade the 'rapprochement t easier: 

while admitting that he had. been obliged by circumstances 

to side wi th Villet, he assure.d Wood that now tha t he 

was at the head of the Administration, Ithe would only 

act in conformity with his own views and opinions" 

(J~muary 1874.-).2 In the meanwhile the French Govern­

ment, by removing Villet from his post (February 1874) 

recognized that permanent French interests in Tunis and 

Villet's policy had coincided only for a time: "Les 

fonctions de m. Villet, " Constant states quite plainly, 
I 

,'t'devaient for cement mettre aux prises en lui deux senti-

ments qu'il avait rendus inconciliables, le ~atriotisme 

et le devoir professionel; il lui fallait opter entre 

sa nationali'te et son mandat". 3 The collaboration 

between Khaireddin and Villet, sincere as it had been, 

had been based upon a certain obscurity about the real 

aims of French policy in TuniS, which Villetts departure 

partly dispelled. 

1 •• FO 102 95. Wood to Granville, November 25, 1873 
2. FO 102 99. wood to Gramville, J anuary 20, 1874 
3. constant, p. 70. 
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The clumsiness of the new b'rench Consul, de Billing -

de Vallat had been recalled from Tunis in February, 

after the termination of his mission - quickened the , 

rapprochement between Khaireddin and Wood. De Billing, 

like the Italian Consul, but in contradiction to the 

instructions of the French Government, sided with the 

partisans of the ex-prime-Minister. Under these condi-

tions Khaireddin was ready to listen to Wood's warnmngs 

regarding the traditional policy of France and to his 

encouragements to act with independence, and could not 

disregard the support Wood could afford him. The Tunis-

ian prime Minister manifested ever greater independence 

towards, if not distrust of, French interests and on 

the contrary repeatedly emphasized hi.s good will towards 

those of Britain. FinallY,recognizing that the French 

and Italian Consuls "were averse to the introduction of 

improvements and ameliorations in the Regency", he 

assured Wood i ll september that the Bey "had resolved to 

lean on Great Britain for countenance and support. With 

this object in view (he) would adhere to the policy of 

Her W: jesty's Government and would encourage all English 

enter:Jrises and undertakings. ttl 

Wood's answer, that Khaireddin could count upon 

his services in case of necessity, was no exaggeration. 

1. FO 102 99. Wood to Derby, september 15, 1874. 
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The Consul had already taken into consideration the new 

direction of liliaireddin's feelings and had begun to 

support him efficiently against his oP2onents. OWing to 

Britain's long tradition of resistance to French en-

croachments in rrunis, the Foeeign Secretary was not 

unnaturally chosen as a confidant of the misgivings to 

which Khaireddin's accession to power had given rise. 

The hostility of the Italian Government to the new Mini-

ster had in no way been lessened since December 1873 and 

they repeatedly drew Derby's attention to French designs 

on Tunis, as well as to Khaireddin's secret desib~s: 

Khaireddin had "very strong French proclivities", and 

might be looked upon "as a creature of the b'rench Govern­

ment", Visconti Venosta asserted, according to Pinna's 

reports. l The Turks expressed exactly the same mis-

givings about the French undertakings, which were 

allegedly given full support by Khaireddin. 2 There was 

enough in these converging warnings to give rise again 

to serious uneasiness in London: the rumour of a pro-

jected French railway from Algeria to Bizerta, the proposed 

digging of the port of Carthage by a French Company, De 

Lesseps' proposal to create an interior sea in the south 

of the country had "reopened the long-standing question 

1. FO 45 242 Paget to Derby, December 3, 1874 
2. FO 102 106 Minister for l!'oreign Affairs to Musurus 

Pasha, August 25, 1874 
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of French designs on Tunis" Hertslet stated in a Memor­

andum of october 23 1874. 1 

Wood's answers to the Foreign Office's inquiries 

were, however, increasingly reassuring. VWhatever might 

have been Khaireddin's views when he had taken the 

Khaznadar's place, they had since "undergone a notable 

change" he wrote on October 12 18742• None of the pro­

jects attributed to the French was to be carried OUD: 

on the contrary the Tunisian Government ha.d positively 

assured Wood that it was their policy not to grant, as 

far as possible "any concession to Foreigners other 

than British capitalists, who gave no trouble".3 Wood 

vigorously criticised Italian policy in Tunis: the 

Italian Govermnent reE:arded Khaireddin as a warm partisan 

of the Turkish policy and consequently a serious obstacle 

to the execution of their own designs; it would have been 

wiser for Pinna to avail himself of Khaireddin's favour-

able disposition and to co-operate with him, in order 

to "withdraw the minister from his irksome position and 

place him in an independent one". There was no just 

cause to fear, Wood concluded, "that the proceedings of 

General Khaireddin tend to establish the predominant 

influence of France ••••• (He was) far too intelligent 

and far too patriotic to pursue such a policy.,,4 

-------- ----- - -- -. 
1. Gladstone Papers, 44622 
2. FO 102 106 Wood to Derby, October 12, 1874 
3. Ibid., August 31, 1874 
4. FO 102 101 Wood to Derby, .B'ebruary 6 ~, 18'75 
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3. Assurances had been.repeatedly given during the 

summer of 1874 that the Tunisian government would "give 

a decided preference to Kitish over other Foreign enter­

prises" because the "loyalty, integrity and good faith 

of Englishmen" contrasted with the unfriendly attitude 

of the other foreign Agents" .l The sincerity of these 

promises was soon confirmed by the granting of substan-

tial advantages to British contractors in Tunis. While 

the ambitious but, Wood alleged, politically dangerous 

French schemes failed to materialise, the British Consul 

actively negotiated the concession of a railway from 

the Goulette to Beja with the London Bank of Tunis and 

the Tunis Railway Company. At the end of November 1874 

Wood was able to announce that Ranking (already director 

of the London Bank) had been authorized to build a 

railroad from 'runis to Be ja; at the same time the 'J:unis­

ian government gave him til.e concession of the lead mine 

of Gebba. 2 

It is impossible to overrate the importance of the 

western railroad concessiOn: as Roustan was later to 

remark: "cette concession ~levait d'un cote entre 1'Unis 
, , 

et 1. frontiere une barriere infranchissable pour Ie 
, 

raccordell1ent de nos chemins de fer de l'Algerie, et 

mettait • • • entre les mains des Anglais toute la 1unisie 

1. FO 102 106. WJod to Derby, August 31, 1874 
2. Ibid, November 26, 1874. 
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, 
de l'ouest c'est a dire la partie la plus fertile du 

pays et la plus imvortante pour nous au point de vue 

politique. ttl It had the same value as an economic 

asset and a check on French penetration from Algeria. 

At the same time it completed the already important 

network of British economic interests in the Regency 

and raised it to its highest pitch of development. Towards 

the end of 1874 all the Companies existing in the 

~ncy were English, with the sole exception of the 

Italian concession of the lead mine of the Djebel Ressas 

(obtained in 1868), and British capital held all the 

existing or projected railroads, which were so important 

for the political and economic control of the country. 

This British paramount inflUence received unmistakable 

confirmation with the signing of the Anglo-Tunisian 

commercial Treaty in July 1875: on this occasion the 

Bey made the characteristic declaration tltl'lat he would 

sign blindfolded any Treaty with Her Majesty's government.~ 

The Upsetting of the Equilibrium in l'unis (1875-1876) 

4. The years 1874 and 1875 saw the establishment of a 

kind of ecuilibrium in Tunis. The internal situation of 

1. D.D.F. T.II. Roustan to Decazes, May 9, 1876 
2. FO 102 103. Wood to Derby september 27 1875. It is 

proper, however, to remark that this declaration 
came after two years' earnest discussion about the 
privileges of jurisdiction of the Foreigners. 
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the Regency was undoubtedly improved by the energetic 

(if dictatorial) activity of General Khaireddin: in 

April 1875, the European Residents pfL TUnis publicly 

expressed their satisfaction with and support of, his 
, , 

enlightened administration: "La justice et la regularite 

dans l'administration, l'agI'iculture, le commerce, 

l'instruction publique, les travaux utiles; toutes les 
/ " conditions du bon gouvernement se resEentent deja ••• de 

l'active energie de Votre Excellence."l The respective 

pressures of Brance, Great Britain and Italy had mean­

while cancelled each other, partly on account of the 

indisputable economic preponderance of the one of the 

three powers which did not entertain political designs 

on the Regency, a situation which had saved Tunis from 

the effects of too vigorous an economico-political 

ri valry. 

This equilibrium, however, was s oon in danger of 

being upset by radical changes in the relative attitudes 

of the Powers interested - Italy changed from an atti-

tude of passive distrust towards Khaireddin, to one of 

active hostility. France, after having maintained from 

1871 to 1874 an attitude of reserve, owing to her defeat 

in 1870 - 1871 and her diplomatic humiliation in 1873 and 

1. FO 102 101. Wood to Derby, May 5, 1875 
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1874, was contemplating pursuing a more active policy, 

which received Bismarck's encouragement as early as 

1874 and 1875.
1 

The recall of the inept de Billing and 

the nomination of Roustan underlined these new tendencies 

of French policy in Tunis. Roustan was young, active, 

and resourceful; he had made .his career in the Near East 

in Smyrna, Cairo, Alexandria, and Beyrut, and he was to 

endeavour to give back to France her lost dominant 

position in the Regency: the year 1875, Roustan's first 

year in Tunis, witnessed a great drive on the part of 

France for e£onomic and political dominance in Tunis. 2 

Lastly British predominance was seriously shaken, and 

the relative self-effacement of Great Britain provoked an 

intensification of Franco-Italian rivalry. At this 

critical juncture the beginning and development of the 

Oriental crisis weakened the international position of 

the Regency and seriously increased the difficulties 

of its government. 

1. Wood reported in 1874 that Bismarck had suggested to 
the French that they look for compensation (for 
Alsace-Lorraine) "in the annexation of the Regency 
of Tunis and even that of Tripoli" (FO 102 99 Wood 
to Derby August 11, 1874). And in January 1875 
Bismarck wrote to Hohenlohe: tfce n'est pas pour 
nous ••• un desavantage, ni une tendence a combattee, 
que la politique frangaise cherche da~s l'Afrique 
du Nord ••• un champ pour son activite. tf (Politique 
Exterieure d.e I' Allemagne, T. I, Bismarck to Hohenlohe 
January 10, 1875. 

2. safwat, pp. 110-115. 
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5. we have already rmmarked that the rapprochement 

between the traditionally antagonistic French and 

English points of view in Tunis was primarily due to the 

weakening of French influence after the war of 1870-1871; 

the necessity of keeping a door open for the future and 

the fear of immediate Italian designs led France tempor­

arily to share Britain's desire to maintain the status 

quo in Tunis, and to look for British support there. 

After Khaireddin's accession to power, the two Powers 

were again united in t he support which both of them 

gave to the new prime Minister, for quite o~posite 

reasons: France because she retained the hope that 

l~ireddin would serve French policy in Tunis, Great 

Britain because she expected and encouraged the gradual 

emancipation of the Tunisian statesman from exclusive 

~'rench influence. Roustan's arrival in Tunis did not 

affect that line of policy: the new Consul adopted a 

very prudent course of action and he made obvious efforts 

to conciliate Wood from the beginning. 1 The hope which 

Derby expressed on January 7 1875 that Wood's relations 

with the new French Consul might be "of the most cordial 

and friendly character" thus happened to be gratified 

to the full in 1875: this was so rare an occurrence in 

Tunis that it is worth mentioning. 

1. It was on "Roustan's sug[:estion that the functions 
of Doyen of the Consular Body were created, and 
attributed to Wood (wood, March 1, 1875). 
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Italian policy in Tunis soon provided a favourable 

field of action for this mutual good-will. Pinna con-

tinued to attack Khaireddin and to favour the re-establ-

ishment of the Khaznadar with a bewildering obstinacy, 

and the Italian Government continued to endorse Pinna's 

action with a perseverance which was the less under-

standable as Visconti Venosta recognized the short-

comings of his agent and assured Paget at intervals of 

his intention to recall him from Tunis. During a journey 

in the Sahel, in June 1875, Pinna's public utterances 

exceeded all bounds: he criticized the acts of the 

Government and of the Commission:~made it quite clear 

that he would refuse to recognize the Mixed Court which 

was then under discussion with the Powers: the French 

and English agreement on this point was, he said, "une 

cochonnerie" which he explained by the fact that Wood 

had to deal "with a set of Indians" - he meant the 

. . It 1 lVia ese. 

The hostility of the Italian Government had largely 

contributed to wreck the project of a mixed Tribunal 

which had been under consideration for more than four 

years. While France and Great Britain had ultimately 

accepted the formation of a "provisional Commission" 

with a View to paving the way for the future constitution 

1. FO 102 101. Wood to Derby. August 2, 1875. 

--' 
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of a regular Tribunal, and to lighten the burden which 

fell on the Foreign Representatives in Tunis (wood 

estimated the number ,of cases in which Englishmen were 

plaintiffs at 560 per year), l~aly remained adamant 

in her opposition (July 1874): the motives she put 

forward had been severely criticized by Wood who had 

ooncluded that the Italian government had "no sincere 

desire to see the intx'oduction of judicial reforms and 

improvements in the Regency", but preferred a system 

which allowed the consuls to turn private disputes into 

diplomatic conflicts. l At the beginning of 1875, the 

British made a new effort to allay Italian suspicions: 

In April Wood invited the Consuls to meet in order to 

elicit from them the nature of their instructions. 

While Roustan suggested to Ifproceed with celerity in 

the adoption of the proposed judicial Reforms lf , Pinna 

answered that the subject Ifrequired too much reflexion 

to be proceeded with lightlytl. 2 Derby then called the 

attention of the Powers interested to the matter in 

order to bring the question to an end. While a prudent 

answer came from Paris, Visconti Venosta again expressed 

his opposition (June 25 1875): the project had not been 

"sufficiently maturely studied", he said, and "the 

confusion of judicial questions with matters which are 

------- . . -.-.' ._ -_ . . . 

1. FO 102 106. Wood to Derby, september 22, 18~4 
2. Ibid, April 27, 1875 



-522-

treated diplomatically certainly offers inconveniences 

which may however be an inevitable consequence of the 

imperfection of the actual conditions of Tunis."l Wood 

reacted in a rather strong way and advised Khaireddin 

to take "a more direct action in the question" and to 

ask the Powers "either to respect (the Bey's territorial) 

rights and to reciprocally carry out tlte1..c Treaty stip-

ulat1.ons, or to come to an immediate understanding 

with him to remedy an intolerable state of things. u2 

But the deadlock admitted of no solution except waiting 

for more favourable circumstances. 

A trifling incident between the Tunisian author-

ities and an Italian subject, it amounted to the viola-

tion of an "Italian domicile", actually inhabited by a 

Tunisian trustee, b~ the sub Governor of Djerba, - and 

Pinna's attempt to make capital out of it (August 1875) 

reminded Wood and Roustan of the dangers to which 

Italian economic penetration ex-posed the Tunisian Govern-

mente The two Consuls agreed that the government would 

be well advtsed to limit the development of Italian 

concessions as far as possible "in order to remove every 

cause of fresh difficulties between the two governrnents". 

If there was one point upon which the French and English 

1. FO 102 106. Paget to Derby July 6, 1875 
2. Ibid. Wood to Derby, September 7, 1875 
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representatives could reach a complete agreement in Tunis, 

it was obviously on the dangers which were involved in 

the economic undertakings of the third Power - As a 

first step Khaireddin decided to redeem Baron Castel-

nuovo's Concession of the Tunny Fishery of Monastir, at 

great cost: but, Wood commented, "however great the 

sacrifice it will save the Tunisian Government from still 

greater ones."l The ulterior objects of Italian policy 

in Tunis appeared the more alarming as in October pinna 

incidentally referred in a conversation with Khaireddin 

to the possibilitt of recognizing the neutrality of the 

Regency. Roustan and Wood again agreed about the undes­

irability of any change in the ~olitical status of Tunis, 

and Wood pointed out that the guarantee the Regency 

enjoyed by the Firman of 1871 was "far more efficacious" 

than any it could hope to obtain from a neutral status. 2 

Whatever might have been the secret aims of the Itali.n~, 

they were so likely to meet with a resolute opposition of 

France and Great Britain that - as had been the case in 

regard to France in 1873 - no action could be contem­

plated at least for the time being. 

1. FO 102 101. Wood to Derby, August 24, 1875 
2. Ibid, october 12, 1875 



-524-

6. In the long run the hopes which Wood had set on 

the development of British enterprise in Tunis were 

partly disappointed, and that failure was to give rise 

to serious consequences. The difficulties met with by 

the Companies which Wood had spared no pains to create 

in Tunis had general as well as local origins. After a 

period of rapid expansion of financial investments from 

1870 to 1873, the persistent financial strd.ngeneu apd 

uneasiness which followed the world-wide crisis of 

1873 provoked a sudden cutting down of the export of 

British ca~ital: Herbert Feis estimates that while from 

1870 to 1874 British investments had reached the figure 

of £61,000,000, from 1875 to 1879 they fell to 
1 £1,700,000. In addition to this growing scarcity of 

capital in England serious difficulties presented them-

selves in Tunis. The explo~tation of TuniSian economic 

resources had given rise to excessive hopes, which the 

British consulate in Tunis had perhaps encouraged with 

obvious political motives; but the actual results of 

the exploitation were sometimes disappointing. As 

early as 1874, while Wood was negotiating for the 

concession of the Tunis - Beja Railway, Balfour, an 

English capitalist, endeavoured,after an enquiry on the 

1. H. Feis, p. 11. 
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spot, "to discourage the Tunisian Government from prose­

cuting Works of Public utility by representing that, as 

the resources of the Regency (were) insmfficient to render 

them remunerative, the Tunisian Government exposed them­

selves to the risk of claims being proferred against 

them •••• bY:.IlDnied men who were induced to undertake 
1 

bad speculations." The sometimes exaggerated risks 

taken by the concessionaires (the Tunis-Goulette had 

cost £80,000 and was sold in 1875 for only £40,000), 

and local mismanagement also contributed to the finan-

cial troubles which, after 1874, threatened the exist-

ence of the main British undertakings in Tunis. 

The "Foreign and Colonial Gas Company" created in 

1871 was unable to complete the works and was compelled 

to cede the concession to the New Gas Company and to 

liquidate (1876)2 The life span of the "London Bank 

of 'funis" was even shorter: as early as 1876, "owing to 

the failure of Mr. Rankingll the Directors decided to go 

into liquidation, after less than three years' working. 3 

The London Bank was unable to undertake the construction 

of the Tunis-to-Beja railroad and the explOitation of 

the Djebba lead mine: the concessionaires considered 

1. 

2. 
3. 

Balfour (Tunis Railway) reproached Wood with the 
failure of these excessive expectations (FO 102 100 
Wood to Derby, October 31, 1874 - Wilkinson to 
Wood, October 27, 1874). 
FO 102 105 Wood to Derby, April 10, 1876 
FO 102 123 wood to Derby July 31, 1875 
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that the project would not be remunerative except with 

a governmental subsidy of £100,000 which the Bey was 

of course unable to give; the concession granted in 

1874 (and renewed for 6 months in 1875) expired in 

May 1876 and, as we shall see, was transferred to a 
1 French Company. The '.1.'unisian Railway Company which 

exploited the Tunis - Goulette - Marsa railroad (T.G.M.) 

was much disapPointed by the scantiness of the traffic, 

and tried unsuccessfully to negotiate a new agreement 

with the government and then to obtain a subsidy: 

ultimately it seized on the prete~t of the construction 

of the ~unis - Beja line to protest against the alleged 

yiolation of its concession,siming, as Wood bluntly 

put it, "to establish a claim for consequential 

damages"(which it est:hmated at not less than £32,996)~ 

The attitude of the 'l'unlsian Railway Company and its 

sys cematic search for incidents with the government 

proved that in spite of the Bey's confidence in and 

support of British undertakings, they were in no way 

devoid of the dangers which, Wood had repeatedly re­

marked, were involved i n French and Italian enterprises.3 

1. FO 102 106. Wood to Derby, May 15, 1876 
2. FO 102 109 Wood to berby April 30, May 1, 1877 
3. Ibid, July 31, August 6, 14, 18, 31, 1877. 
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Wood and the Foreign Office, however, refused to 

intervene in the matter, and declined to give even the 

appearance of official support to the wholly indefensible 

claims of the Company. This attitude was in perfect 

agreement with the then prevailing policy of non-inter-

vention of the British Government, a.t Bst in the 

countries where there was no decisive political interest. 

But on the whole it appea eed that the success or failure 

of economic undertakings in Tunis largely rested on 

the amount of official or unofficial support which the 

European Governments decided to give to their nationals; 

the reserve of the Foreign Office was thus tantamount 

to resigning itself to the partial failure of British 

enterprises. British self-effacement opened the door 

wide to France and Italy, who had played a somewhat 

modest part in the economic penetration before 1875 

but who entertained very precise political ambitions in 

the Regency. The Concession to the London Bank had 

hardly come to an end when it was transferred upon 
~ I 

the same conditions to the Societe des Batignolles 

(May 1876): the French project was very comprehensive 

since beside the main line from Tunis to Beja, branch 

lines with Jenduba and the Kef, it contemplated connect-

" ing the Tunisian line with the "Chemin de fer de Bone" 

which was to reach Souk Ahras on the Algerian side of 

the frontier. The political and economic implications 
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of the pro ject were so obvious tha.t Wood strongly advised 

the Bey to refuse his sanction on the ground that "the 

prudence of increasing the means of a powerful neigh­

bour to exercise paramount influence was doubtful." The 

Bey complied with Wood's suggestion but the matter was 

of such importance for the French, and Roustan brought 

such pressure to bear upon the Bey, that the Tunisian 

resistance could not be expected to last very long. l 

Franze had now again taken the initiative in Tunis2 

and the affair of the Tunis - Beja railway foreshadowed 

the aggravation of the struggle for political influence 

in the Regency. 

7. The transfer of the Tunis-to-Beja railway to a 

French Company seemed to indicate a sudden change in 

Khaireddin's policy with regard to European invest­

ments: it was partly explained by the repercussions of 

Oriental events: "J'ai cru m'apercevoir," Roustan 

remarked, "que la situation actuelle de l'Ernpire Ottoman 

avait mOdifi~ sensiblement les id~es de Khereddine au 

sujet du lien de vassalite qu'il semblait se complaire 
, I 3 a reseI'l"er sous l'inspiration de l'Angleterre." At 

1. FO 102 106. Wood to Derby May 15, 1876, FO 102 104 
Wood June 29. 

2. With Bismarck's blessing; the concess~on, he wrote 
to the German Consul, TUlin, "lui paressait devoir 
produire d' excellents resultats l)Our les deux pays 
limitrophes". Tulin was accordingly instructed to 
"marquer son interet pour l'oeuvre qui va etre 
entreprise." (D.D.F. T.II. Roustan, June 6,1876) 

3. Ibid, Roustan to Decazes, May 9, lUtw 
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the same moment Wood reported that the Turkish diffi­

culties in the Balkans had "seriously impaired the 

prestige of the ottoman EmPire".l This new situation 

had perhaps led Khaireddin to look to France for 

sUp.port• According .. jo Roustan Khaireddin had gone very 

far indeed in the pledges which had accompanied the 

conclusion of the Concession of the Tunis - Beja 

Railway: "Je vais remetDre entre vos mains tout 

l'avenir industriel, commercial et meme politique de 

ce pays, car vous devez bien comprendre qu'iln~saurait 

plus etre question s~rieu:: sement aujourdhui d' Anglaie 

ni d'Italiens." Although there was some exaggeration 

due to bias in Roustan's statement, the grant of the 

Concession had a political sigJililficance which Wood could 

not overlook. Under the new conditions which were 

created by the Concession of the Beja Railway, Wood 

could not but re-examine the bases of his policy towards 

the Khaireddin Government. Already a victim of the 

Italian hostility, Khaireadin could no longer rely upmn 

the whole hearted support e: ,~: which Wood had. persistently 

given him for two years. 

Khaireddin~s position was also weakened by the 

internal consequences of the Turkish Revolution. The 

---------- _._ .. -
1. FO 102 104 Wood to Derby May 31 1876 
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Bey had only reluctantly agreed to a.9point Khaireddin 

as his Prime Minister in 1873; ever since he had resented 

the absolute control which his Minister had exercised 

in state Affairs. Khaireddin's very efforts to improve 

the working of administration and to suppress corrupt 

practices were such as to give "rise to conflicts with 

the Bey, particularly when the Minister's investigations 

were turned upon the acknowledged favourite Si Mustapha 

ben Ismail. l The Sultan Abd el Aziz' disposition 

could not fail to make a painful impression on the 

mind of the Bey: obviously, Wood l">emarked, it was a 

precedent dangerous for all Mohamedan princes. In June 

1876 sadok Bey openly complained of Khaireddin's 

"ambitions designs in connivance with Turkey and ••• 

with a leaning towards France. 1t and some weeks later 

acquainted Wood with his intention to "strike a great 

blow~ with a view to securing the moral support of 

Great Britain, should France interfere in the matter. 2 

Although the Consul was not wholly pleased with Khaire­

ddin's recent attitude he could not but observe that 

if Khaireddin were to be dismissed it would be difficult 

to find a successor for him: the accusations of "French 

proclivities" had "no reasonable ground" and a Minister 

1. FO 102 104 Wood to Derby June 26 1876 
2. Ibid July 31, 1876 
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less energetic and less independent than Khaireddin 

would have to conciliate France, more than Khaireddin, 

in order to gain her friendship and good will. 1 

In these circumstances Wood endeavoured to bring 

about a reconciliation between the Dey and his Minister: 

Khaireddints "unbending character" did not make Wood's 

efforts easier, and the 'Consul had to intervene several 

times during the summer to prevent a crisis and to 

dissuade the Minister from giving in his resignation. 

"I asked him," Wood reported on one occasion, "whether 

for personal considerations he deemed himself justified 

in betraying both the native and foreign interests which 

had been so readily and willingly conf~ded to him and 

v:L ... ich he had promised to protect". 2 '1 'he antagonism 

between the conceptions of the Bey and of the Minister, 

however, were so strong that Wood proposed a plan for 

reconciliation which, for the consul, offered the 

advantage of bringing forward the long-standing problem 

of the reforms. He proposed, in June 1876, Uto re-

establish the Council of state or National Meglis with a 

view to the renewal of the Ahd el .Aman.,,3 To the Bey 

Wood pointed out that the institution of the Council 

of state would ufree (him) from his utter dependency 

1. FO 102 104. Wood to Derby, August 12, 1876 
2. Ibid August 14 1876 
3. Ibid June 26 1876 
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upon a single individual whom he justly or unjustly 

mistrusted"; to Khaireddin that his dictatorial measures 

had disappointed those who expected that "he would have 

carried out the principles of Government he had so ably 

defined ••• in his remarkable Pamphlet instead of 

adhering to the system of his Predecessors", and that 

the div~sion of the political authority would help to 

settle his differences with ,the Bey.l Though he re­

mained silent on this poiht, it is very likely that 

Wood hoped also that the proposed Council would provide 

a barrier against eventual French encroachments in case 

Khaireddin had actually decided to side with France. 

As Roustan feared Khaireddin's dismissal he was 

not likely to oppose any schen~7;t a reconciliation 

with the Bey. With a view to forcing the reforms upon 

the Bey, Wood thought that the Porte could take advan­

tage of the provisions of the Firman of 1871 to send an 

Irade demanding the creation of the institution he 

suggested. This course' . . ' . . '1 was the more natural as 

these reforms were in accordance with the new spirit 

which seemed to inspire the Turkish revolution and had 

reached Tunis itself: The introduction of Arabic 

newspapers, Wood remarked, had greatly influenced the 

minds of the educated classes of Tunisians who were no 

1. FO 102 104. Wood to Derby, July 31, 1876 
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longer "biased by ideas belonging to a former period, 

but (were)in a position to form and to give a liberal 

tone to public opinion ... l Unfortunately the Porte was 

no longer able to take in hand T~nisian affairs at a 

time when it was faced with alarming internal and ex-

ternal developments: Serbia had declared war in June 

and Abd ul Hamid had taken Murad's place as Sultan in 

August 1876. Its answer was completely discouraging: 

the Porte, Safwet Pasha told Elliot in October, was 

"disinclined" to take the initiative suggested by Wood, 

as, in its opinion, it would be tl an infraction of the 

prOVisions of the Firman by which com}lete administrative 

independence had been guaranteed to the Beys.,,2 Under 

these conditions, this new, and last, 'avatar' of the 

idea of reform, was bound to prove a failure. This 

disapPointment, however, was only the first of the 

serious affects which the Oriental crisis was to have 

in Tunis. 

The oriental crisis and the fall of Khaired.din (1876-1877) 

Far from being in a position to give the Regency 

political assistance~ the Porte was about to require 

all the support Tunis was able to lend it if war should 

1. 
2. 

FO 102 104. 
FO 78 2466 

Wood to Derby 
Elliot to Derby 

June 26 1876 
October 31 1876 
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become general in the East. That situation was to force 

upon Khaireddin a difficult choice between contradictory 

French and British suggestions, and to place him into 

the position he had described to Wood as early as July 

1876: "Without the moral support of the foreign repre-

sentatives, he did not see how he could maintain his 
1 

posi tion. tt Once he was deprived of his external 

supports, nothing could save Khaired.din from the Bey's 

hostility. 

8. .Ln July 1876, when contemplating the probable 

Turkish demand for military a.ssistance in case of war, 

Ahaireddin and the Bey had decided (on Wood's advice) to 

offer a financial subSidy, to be raised by public sub-

scription. The problem however, still remained open to 

discussion. In spite of WOOd's unremitting efforts to 
l... I~, 

reassure them . .... t ttin the event of a war,'<Great Britain 

would experience no difficulty in enlisting 500,000 

Mahomedans in Ind.ia in support of the Su1 tan,,2-the Bey 

and Khaireddin showed an understandable anxiety about 

the fate of the ~npire. Besides their financial 

difficulties which precluded their active participation 

in the war, they feared lest if Turkey were partitioned, 

------_. _._-
1. 
2. 

Fe 102 104. 
FO 102 104 

Wood to Derby July 31, 1876 
Ibid, October 31, 1876 
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'l'unis should be involved in that operation as a result of 

its intervention. On the other hand they more or less 

shared, and had to take into account the wide-spread 

feeling of Moslem solidarity which led most Tunisians 

to consider that Turkish affairs "directly interested 

every Musulman" and that they were bouhd to defend the 

Sultan. 

The conflict~ng conceptions of the Consuls served 

to increase Khaire( din's hesitations. The rather mild 

compr.omise arrived at about the subscription had already 

provoked the displeasure of some Consuls, who accused 

Khaireddin of carrying out a "Turkish policy" with 

Wood's co-operation. During the winter the attitude of 

the Italian and French Consuls became more explicit: 

they alluded to the "neutrality" of the Regency and to 

the prudence of not exposing Tunis to an attack in the 

event of a war between Turkey and Russia. Wood replied 

that Roustan's attitude was in accordance with the 

traditional French policy of weakening the relations 

between the Bey and the Sultan; the future of the ottoman 

Dominions was of prime importance for the Regency; the 

Bey c ould not withhold the assistance he owed to the 

Sultan without rousing a strong feeling of indignation 

among the people; in conclusion Wood expressed his 

confidence that the Bey "would act as heretofore with 
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t T · 1 reference 0 urKey. Under these conditions Khaired.din's 

position soon became untenable. 

9. wood's energetic attitude and stubbornness in winning 

acceptance for the policy traditionally advocated by 

Great Britain without being encouraged to do so by his 

government, was partly responsible for the dismissal of 

Khaireddin, just as in 1873 he had involuntarily brought 

about the fall of the l\haznadar in very similar circum­

stances. The Russian declaration of war (April 24 1877) 

precipitated events in tbe Near East, at .the beginning 

of May the Bey's government were confronted with a 

formal invitation to send a contingent of troops to 

Turkey. The Government showed some perplexity; ultimately 

Khaireddin again resorted to a half-measure: it was 

decided to open a second vmluntary subscription in aid 

of the Turkish armies. While admitting the soundness 

of the excuses which the government were putting forward -

the utter penury of the Treasury, the persistent drought, 

the extreme weakness of the army - Wood strongly urged 

upon Khaireddin's attention "the necessit;v of assisting 

the Sultan by every means in the power of the government".2 

A close struggle then began between the Foreign Agents 

1. FO 102 108 Wood to Derby February 12, March 22,1877 
2. Ibid, May 7, 1877 
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who almost unanimously advised the Bey to maintain his 

neutrality in the war, Roustan being of course the most 

resolute, and Wood who harassed the Tunisian Government 

to obtain clear declarations of identification with and 

support of the Ottoman cause. Although Khaireddin 

endeavoured to formulate the Tunisian position with 

the utmost prudence,(in June 1877 he typically declared 

to Roustan "that the aid (Tunis) could furnish was so 

limited indeed that it could scarcely have been less 

had the Regency declared its neutrality"l)_ the mere 

assertion that Tunis felt bound to side with the otto-

man Empire was bound to rouse a great irritation in 

Paris against Khaireddin. At the same time Wood was 

deeply disappointed by the tergiversations of the 

Tunisian statesman. 

The Bey seized upon this opportunity to get rid of 

the Minister whose disgrace he had long meditated. On 

July 24, Khaireddin having presented a set of conditions 

upon "the acceptance or refusal of which his retention 

of office would. d.epend" the hey answered "that he was 

perfectly able to govern the country without his assis-

tance tt and appointed General Mohamed as Prime Minister.2 

1. Fe 102 108. Wood to Derby, June 21, 1877 
2. Ibid, July 24, 1877 

j 
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There was no reaction whatsoever on the French side: 
/ , 

"Comment soutenir (Khaireddin) avec energie au moment ou 
, 

sa manie turque l'entraine de nouveau contre notre gre?" 

Constant con~ented later. l The explanations which the 

Bey presented to Wood gave a different view of Anaireddin's 

dismissal, but were calculated to please the Consul in 

the extreme: Khaireddill was suspected, he said, "of 
/ 

having yielded to the exigences of the French Charge 

d'Affaires, by endeavouring to persuade His Highness 

to declare his neutrality in the vlar." 

.l..n truth Khaireddin Vias probably neither "TUrk", nor 

"anti-Turk", neither "French" nor "English" but his 

attempt to pursue a "Tunisian" policy had come up against 

the rival policies of the Powers. The occurrence 

inspired but little comment by Wood who had for some 

time found l\haireddin too lukewarm with regard to the 
, 

Turkish policy which he advocated, and too conciliatory 

towards French policy. The Consul only remarked that 

Ahaireddin "whatever his personal faults might be" was 

an able and intelligent minister and did not merit the 

allegations that had been preferred against him, 

"though he probably endeavoured recently, in the uncer-

tainty of the fate that awaited Turkey,] to conciliate 

~'rance by a not too overt opposition to her counsels. ,,2 

1. 
2. 

Consiant, p. 76 
FO 102 108. Wood to Derby July 24, 1877 
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His indifference is once more to be ascribed to the very 

peculiar way in which European Representatives viewed 

'funisian questions. In fact Khaireddin's dismissal 

was to prove a decisive event: to some extent he had 

been able by his unquestionelLauthori ty and obvious 

qualities of statesmanship to set limits to the conse­

quences of the competition between the Powers for 

supremacy in Tunis; no Tunisian statesman was able to 

take his place and the impotence of the Tunisian Govern­

ment could not but encourage these economic and politi­

cal enterprises which were to lead to the destruction 

of Tunisian independence. As early as January 1878 

the Tunisian Government authorized the junction of the 

Algerian and Tunisian railroads. Their resistance was 

weakening in front of an increased French and Italian 

pressure. 

10. After Khaireddin's fall, Wood pursued the realisa­

tion of his objective with a stubborn energy which arose 

from his persistent confidence in the destinies of the 

ottoman Empire as well as from his desire to check 

~\rench .l.nfluence by a clea.r assertion af'rurkish suzer­

ainty over the Regency: the latter consideration might 

ex:plain why, from October 18'77, Wood gives the Bey the 
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somewhat strange title of "Regent" in his correspondence. 

Blilt it a) peared that the reticence of the Government 

had not been lessened by l(haireddin's dismissal, and 

that the same objections remained against the project 

of a direct assistance to Turkey. In October 1877 

the Consul renewed his :'. esertions in favour of the 

sending of a contingent of troops, in reply to the 

Porte's reiterated demand. As the Bey was putting 

forward his usual excuses, Wood remarked that the Bey 

"should not allow it to be said hereafter that he had 

failed, in a moment of public danger, to support his 

suzerain" and concluded with an open threat: if the Bey · 

refused to carry out his obligations, and if the Sultan 

concluded an honorable peace "his position would not 

only become irksome towards the Porte, but the interests 

of his family might be seriously compromised. ttl This 

time the Bey yielded and decided to send 4,000 infantry 

to Turkey (beginning of November). 

As was to be expected, the French and Italian 

Consuls expressed very strong objections to a decision 

which, Roustan asserted, compromised the Bey's pOSition 

and exposed him to an attack by Russia. Diplomatic 

skirmishes followed in Tunis with the further complication 

1. FO 102 108. Wood to Derby October 15, 1877 
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of alleged movements of the Russian Fleet towards the 

Mediterranean which filled the Bey with apprehension and 

put him in a very awkward position: while notifying the 

breaking off of diplomatic relations to the Russian 

Consul, because lias a vassal Prince he was called upon 

to fulfil his obligations towards his Suzerain", the 

Bey expressed the hope that the Emperor would "continue 

to entertain for him the same friendly feelings as 

heretofore. ,,1 In the meantime the Foreign Office 

received French complaints against the decision taken 

by the Bey, and while it approved of Wood :. I. ,acivi sing the 

Bey to fulfil his obligations towards the sultan,it 

remarked that tae Consul had never been instructed "to 

take the decided line" he had adopted in the matter: "It 

will be better for you", Derby wrote to Wood on October 

29 (and again on November 23) lito refrain from 

recommending the particular form of material assistance 

to be rendered. 1I2 The signing of the peace treaty of 

San Stephano (March 3 1878), while maldng the Tunisian 

contingent useless, appeased French apprehensions and 

relieved the Foreign Office of the uneasiness to which 

Wood's high-handed diplomacy had given rise. 

1. FO 102 108. Wood to Derby. December 4, 1877 
2. Ibid., Derby to Wood, October 29, 1877 
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Conclusion. 

11. Though the situation of Tunis in 1877 showed some 

resemblance to that of 1855, since in both cases 

Turkish suzerainty had just been reasserted on the 

occasion of an Oriental crisis, the possibilities of 

action for British diplomacy were more narrowly limited 

on the eve of the Berlin Congress than twenty years 

before: the Foreign Office had successively failed in 

its attempt to create a rapprochement between the porte 

Bnd the Regency, and in tts policy of Reform; lastly 

Wood's endeavour to increase British economic influence 

in Tunis had not been more successful. 

The creation of the International Commission, far 

from preparing for international co-operation in TuniS, 

had given the Signal for a hard struggle between the 

Powers for economic predominance. Wood had been the 

initiator of that policy and his efforts had, at first, 

given Great Britain an undisputed supremacy in that 

field. But his triumph had been short-lived on account 

of the reluctance of his government to give British 

financial and economic undertakings in Tunis an active 

support which was not justified by any precise political 

ambitions in the Regency. British self-effacement did 

not, however, bring to an end the movement which Wood 

had launched: it left face-to-face the two other 

.J 
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competitors, who only considered the search for econpmic 

concessions as an aspect of the struggle for political 

domination and a means to attain it. To be sure, Wood 

had only preceded France and Italy in a process from 

which there seemed to be no escape: but the energy (to 

say the least) of the methods which a hitherto moderate 

Consul had used for the furtherance of the economic 

interests of a Power which was free from political 

ambitiOns, gave a general idea of the bitterness of 

the struggles which were to come after, 

In spite of the apparent success which had been 

achieved in 1871, the problem of the international 

position of the Regency was no nearer a satisfactory 

solution. Neither France nor Italy had acknowledged 

the Firman, and subsequent events were to show that 

Turkey was unable to assume the functions of protectress 

which the Firman of 1871, and British policy assigned to 

her. Wood was not responsible for a situation whose 

causes he had analysed as soon as he had arrived in 

Tunis: we have already seen that the alternative solut­

ions which he had more than once suggested had not been 

accepted and that the Foreign Office had stuck to the 

traditional policy of the "Turkish solution" in spite 

of its difficulties. On the other hand the Consul was 

wholly responsible for the energetiC diplomatic action 
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which had aimed at reasserting Turkish suzerainty over 

Tunis by the sending of a contingent to Turkey in 1877. 

That success, which had been obtained at the cost of 

very strong pressure had no more significance than the 

one of 1855 which had been obtained in somewhat similar 

circumstances. It had no practical consequences since 

the Tunisian contingent was not sent owing to the end 

of the war in the East, but its political consequences 

were momentous. By placing Khaireddin in a hopeless 

posi "ion between contradictory demands of France and 

Great Britain, Wood facilitated the dismissal of the 

Minister on whom rested the last hopes of internal 

reform. Secondly the irritation and uneasiness of the 

French Government were such that they were induced to 

strengthen their action in Tunis and in Europe to 

protect their positions and keep off their possible 

rivals in the Regency. Lastly at a moment when the 

Powers were preparing the settlement of the eastern 

difficulties by surgical methods, it was awlcward and 

inopportune to associate Tunis with the fate of the 

ottoman Empire. 

Apart from the negotiation about the International 

Commission which the Foreign Office had pursued without 

Wood's participation, and on the whole in opposition to 

his wishes, the Foreign Office had played only an 
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011 'in to too 1:101.1.07 of tt e\etua OlIO n the fleal' -,;;ost, 

refUsed to oonterDplate. In theeo cil'OumaUnoee. wh.:en"vel" 

Q teele~8e Pllt out In Berlin bout p ley of C~ 

8 t one, Dc1"b~ i.nv r1ob ., 2. .rod it. .1'o .. t f'1 t 

sex-lou, 9J'O,po 1 wa· made in Uovember 187 w 11 Sal 0 U 

pOBoe ttwoUg'b IlerlJ.uon h1 \'.itt to Clon tBnt1aoj)1 t· re 

tw tleo to Q ttenG t .i.nteJt'Mt10Ml OQnffU"tU'lGe abollt the 

.. "q B8 no contld nt f t e 

i. \l.Vkleb. Ettn e,omeo in 91ec~el Boem.a $ld t '*0 ll$rse 0,,1n 

tor Atlet.t'la; ~g¥Pt to!' w:I ) hulf$8t'1,apot'fllbly tor RWlSJ. "..,1 

Sollebury '~ne rO.JQndl. q\l(t !I r le a ' .,noo to:81 J .role' e 

1 Ae t~ Derby, he a above 1 r oec 

by the etteot 

havo in 1rance: ttl\ 10 evldentlN ueleee \0 as:! that wo 

d.on't "ant !ypt Qlld dont t 1ntcIld to take :1 .. no il'oto 

to Lord 140M on Deoe~t' a, la? • til Men (} t til t 

be t,<,l d t t ~ 

GWr-e. 80 onsll.P ... ng OUl' being on uncomf'()l"tQb e t l .. 8 l. h. 

Frenee till' G{)1 1'6 J"a to c 'a(h~ .,2 
.,., , . 
1. 
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it end b:.rl abou' an undef'et ud1nt t 1 But once mor 

the POP 1 n Oft · co did not . ~ .. ;}efH 10 ,tat n t 

tlo110: ,be deeps'" euaD Clon oollt1nuetl to IJ~evel1j,n 

Londoa fl , above 1 D1 raeU te red lost 

the 8to'iu .\10 1n ,'::U.i.)'t hould tHld to a 18 ' thy 

men' til :l :r.P0nae. ~3 

2. eanvhilet 'lth the f'B,lu.s;te of the 0 nElon' nov 

Conference, ttl. ~ too\lon by turf e ot 'tt ntton ,prot" 

01) (MaJtoh 31, 1'1), e t.lorna c'e tho Russ an c a-

tlQa of 'VIAl" on furlte3(~l"11 24). t.b,tj aJ.'uDtivD 1n tbe 

e et Ma gre tly rae ell. 'l'b,i 0\.1" 01" tl • \0 

B1 mGl'O&t , " e like Q ha tcn ttle co lap, f' 

the Qt,t 1'1 nwir f wiliet.!. .ou14 clear too wa . tsr '.t 
grogrs. t pal''tJ. 10n fl eb he reo arded t QlO 

sAt;Lstac.ot',J $OlutlGU of tfle entJ.r ~rabl 3 But.., 

the mOt nt it 1)'" YOked 0 tlf' emns or »1 rae l' f'> 

at tltude: t.he C b n t. 1n~}1te 0 .\. toe 1ntnrnIJ.l it 
_.a __ I ') ___ \~ _____ '_lt_r_. ______ __ 

1. J\1.11ano· •••• 
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the Strel\o Tree' eSt ho I"Q e to oyor4. 1 l'iut by tt..e 

endt 1877 all the el.e.m(m's m.J.ch WeI' lot l' to \ ,(~ to 

" he flO. ute! triQn or qIPf'tlS bod bee41 l,.ntrr.)duco . ~be tlnnl 

cool 'WO, t1 be e term1-n d • '::U, )lomatJ.o c . ..,nt'tl.der 1. n '. 

nnd by too deS.1re 'i) estnlill.eb a OGmillltlt'U"nc po£u.t on ,tl'to.n 

~ 
,~a tabed and gU8~dad. 

ul b 

VJhll:ie th.e 1dea of tb 1) 1108 of arm wee tbu.e e~1nJ..ng 

tltul.el- J41nlct.er, the tl.sa14 anti 1ooof,i.. DerbN"it SAl f!, ury 

brought w1th hill nC\'1 4onept1on which were sining 

Gt"o l.n t.be Oob $ t . '1'he coJ.. ap30 of Tur 1 e va 

lm::vl. t,able ~ "Tb.at tbe mtUlhine nore Ctift Ot,6ntl Vel'! ' lOll _ 

I be :i.e? t be 1'1lPof~elb th • he "rote 0 tel' t Co \3-

t1nople Cont~iVel'J'co. f~EVOft if' RU£iAie it aa ,not 1nv e, it. 

w111 cl'Umble of 1tselt . .. 3 ... Under theee olreuustBneeo 

Engl1 h 1. res by 8 ts n ne to otto{ n d .. as bs 

become lmpJ*aet1cobl.e" t he wrote to .i..ord lqtton OU ~ ~cb. 

9 lJW7 , .. I tnt · t t th.e to me hae (JOt" tlr d f 

.", If .. *-.... 

1. cf{lc, DJ.araol,1 to 
Ln7ar4, 
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or Pr nen • a t r t , 

to h t • 
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• Oecll II, p :5 • 





of annenntr !"t~:pt t be r marked that ttltn1.7 ould Be J. t 

til rea dent t'tntl ~ 3uet1t1cft tlon tor ee1 rig t 1111 ,1,· elan 

Q cl10 t t at n Dorb 
, tt reose cd n cr-

t. on 1 r sa ..... D . ott d 

not. to Jir !'J efl. • 
'1' ~ 't .. t.ages of tbe RllSPo . ...Ifurtd.eh war, tM ~8,t)ld 

ail tm of l<un81an troops towa~d the S,trcl , 'nd he 

) 

1B77 to maturity unav id .... 

on th OOllt nen 

• .In 

ere n do 0 Au tr ~f t re 

co, 1t berselt, ,nd \0 J'lrane .. '1b.e mornent 8e ill d t be 

6J Ppopr19t .. to·,. 3 moVa 18 IJ.9Jtls: tnt) nntaUl,'!e Oflb.-.not, 

formee 1n Dee I!lbe a~l'l . llnd b~ouz,ht. to the , u.s , d i rsay 

'b or t 

ad~ b 

t i.e" elgn 0t'fice 'tel CorM) t an :ggro~ .~t1t boa\ Or1e tal 

Q,ueet1o.nn me: , no ever, \'11 ttl. rC::U.loX'Ve in 1~nI'1B5. tbe 

i cneh gOV r ent ~ pt t e ttl' ~e of oeut 

beetl ut:.: lnt ""n.. (llnee t.he b ' in iJ.ng t be 
~ _ .. 1"1· ............. 



re1.1oe,ted dOl'l1al n Deof)mber 1617 nnd Janus,,)" 1078 ~M 

JJl' nch oovernnten.' t 11 fe t su .{;' 01 JUS bout Bri ish 

tl 

it tll.e 1(4 

of tho 

to oee .)'1 d1terra 

,pOUlt au. 8 

were H,yti.l.erte,. fWirtt enn (It Aore. 01~ A port OIl the 

Pe !'r.~lon Gulf." 1 

8 rQ ct of e •• . d 

$.~orlbed to Anstl'1a ane. F~ance 11\ J",nuar,-. "The cab1ne' 

wil.l lau.nch &b.c League t1 tti tnly SJlf.'i GPcece 8100 , 1f 

t. Ot4E'11' t d1 tet'1' nen Power-s tleelln(t° , 1) r .4.1 ro 

to Oueen V etop1a on W~~oh • \10 .. 

tel" 1nt 

1. bU(Ml.e VI, p . nS;3. 
2. Ib 1." p . ~.)5 .. 



Br taln tOI! the m 1nten ce ot "t sir C 1 1(U'·Cl. 1 ftfld 

pol1 tical 1ntersstG 1n the Wed i terl'oneon A 

were mn.inl.y j).i'eoo(nlp1ed 1lJ.\b tbeit' ola1ma north Qf tt c 

,t\drJ.~ttc liI 'lfl (Usli - fl the idoA of gett11lg ;lllto t:roll'ble 

offel'8 m t wi tb B I lJ!l 1 11i &0 • • 1'ht'!- Ital10 

Gov .. n"nment, Oort1 exp aln "- '0 paget, were "most 0nx;J.oue 

to ee' w1th, Her ~Aaj6&t~' * n vovernment as tgr FIe voa01b 

in eUl>,PO:'" 0'£ thOll" fautu 1 1nte.peetntf
• but tbt;3' wented 

... to vo .... d 1 90$ 1b 

end thezr '!,:goulc: not 

) ina m ... xe~ \'qJ in cOIt'll.iest :.-oml 

• .I._J.ing 'to bind 

e~;a4:.et: ent \ . hleh mleh.t . ) . J.~ l$£i let!ld them ;)., to wer. tlV 

l.'f.y t,n1anof;at1 e e.nnwe~ ltala' wlthc!rew trorn the 

d .fI. oma't.1c garue wn eb. l"JEU.! to 1"3 ad t ,i.) the parti ti.on Q~ 

the Turkish. t~yo1~8. In the me;::nwhtic, t· srnarck had 

n t'u'1"1'\rf'.d 9t th" ooneloolon tl~~:# ' it 'fl .. S 

1. PD 45 3::~. 
2. U101-1ttl , 
3. PO 45 ~3'1. 

1 a'? €:! 
Ot' ... api ,11. • 

678. 
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f1 ( En'la d wele U10 1 rl ~ 1 . con 

I nk1 6 de 

ell t~ 1'1 e n or ind.nc g t 

her tt. 1IUd _ ot .' eou n ... ct1V 

p rt n the c 01' uropcsn nu lti 
n '. 

ee1 lU) t- 8 burl·' to 

he liore ov. t.ll 1). a ern, nt 

o re 0 d ,.".J. U23 ti.e no ce 

much c or 1'jI 

G a rd , 

3 . 

eo 16 



5a11ebur7 'lM the p()lley of C'OOlL~nna t.J.u ~. 

4. Bollel.)ur;'l had tI'lctunlll oa-oper!'.lt.Od 1n the lr;.tvle~nt1nt, 

ot B,.l t ~h. f.'ore ern Pll11c,Y' tram th.o ber nnlt~g of' Jf b.r-n.ary 

1678 while- !iet"b4Y1 del}r~( ned b~' th.e develol1l00nt of a vol. ell 

bAd t)VOX'<hJrue hie :t1rr.;t. healt.Sttlml nne") g-1ven t"ullB~~Ot+t 

to 1)18%'0011 ' a e ergctle bJol.ley to'i1. ~ r"'o ItUf..,r,1 ; but 

the way tow rd an r.~c rr~nt with Run In. An Dlerse11' 

1"31 ttl in th~ lntegr1 ty of fj,1UJ" key !'l.nd been Bel" - 04lel.V 

Bh$lMn .. Salisbury aUe pe6teod not _ UEI'~ t1on1:ne: th.e "bol.e 

GtJn St.ofano 'tP aty but concentl'ntlu on t pl'obl ~mu 

whieh. \Jere ( 1' 4J.ret ooneern to G eat Dr. tSin: 1.1 tation 

of the Slav flt;~ uef!S to tile Bftlken '. Q1..Ul.ta" J troe cw.! of 

p8$nege through t.he Straits, ond l.H'f'u18itlon ot two 
J. 

navel statlQnn (Lemnosanfi. Cypru.) ... :a i1ollc;:,r wh ell on 

t. e whole not . v fa trora .Jle . 1$ ton '. \,,;1 th 

on tbe be t::: G wblab tind been repea tedl,y sU£.e£ted Y 

.81emalJcek s1neflt lt176 ood e\tCCf)M3 verly l"~ j(':!ot~o, by D61'by, 

we no lIoss.1ble. 

Fs 10 . r;, first r.olved t e . vrob:l.ol1l of 

of a fl "ll ce of lfrm .. " .'il len l:r\(} ()~u$ed DeX'b ~· 1'6$ ena 1 n. 

J.. 0 01.1., t I . p . '., 4 . S~"ll b • ...... ';:1. t o !)caca. ~fi. n,}jt reb. fJ , 
lB'18 

~" . Vlr.u;1 C r a .... 1916. P.}_ 22 to 30. 
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reg1:et ~ e ,r1ae d j(i),;..~ psl n ~~ 1co.£ ,u t' wb c we 

mod1fy 1t. l 

aa 1sbury· $ onoond fit top w~c: a de-oJ. j,:v on It V_ 

Aj)f'll 12 be met. iotUnster, tile Ver.oou .l'tt hasllt.h ... GJ." , soc l;'{."\;,l.ndea 

hlJr! ot B:t Sin 1"e .. t f s .ltrollo3s1 li'til&t :l'llg_,Jntl sboult6 .fl.r her 

campen tlQ 

"\i enOtl 0; .1. , or tit ny:oo te chie!' .. , r" · tbe boa mu: 01" 

bon in 'J:llnl(~ t he oncie. t Cart,be ." (e c) , u'I: €I 001'.-
~ 

Ver .. aiitm"t'Jo nO'\'" ptll'1lued' j Sf; 1B'bury ccmeJ.uded .... t t.tr~l'G 

< ttL G 'Nt) ~ the bj ,at of a 00 G OO~) er" il t ... , n 

" 

te 

on Ap,l" 1 16) . lUld "hut tho +>'rl!:!llcb" 1ntlec lt1cntl n l til,: d 

be c.(lotu'I&(t at t.he oX .. Jtrnu~ t tr.ne ooV of ~.l\lU),.S. 

1 . D. D.~. II, • .. ~drli~t!')n to dtRru'court, "PI' 1 8 
9 . t B 'tHJI'lih v(;mGrk 1 oI-bCl t tho l.{~C J or 1.alung E • .11; 

:1~ e Ci'H1'1!:nsst1on hea lll"(' a{l~ bel(~rt £lven tU in Elglond: 
SalJ.sbur~ \'fa ... " 0;1.i.. 1..: n '~~el'hIHHt \ Je 1i t i 1 , J< .. k 
"no :tor.> h .• s :>1J. t cantin' ed to O.r:ff~~· '~ftYPt 'bO·.UcJ.8- • 
,t)fill'} f.!!,Itl to f'Jml>r()1l rLEn d .. th Fl'r>n " (C:to i{lee • 1.97, 
on(1 t:. ~lJt:tQ t p.)!, ::ue_~·rtv). 

5. ~{J 54 8~.J. Sf.)~la:bur ~ to 000 HuntH!!,lJ. , .Apl';i.l l~J lb'/8 
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1:r .0. 1n C natant 

ad en alm-:I y to te y ~cont'f e.l , ! 

as p , t n 0 ~ t a ova -
n ant •• ,..1. ~, e a ' l'ooruen' .tt ell ~ :1 (~en Or.) Jt. 

"un t" OO:I1P.1." t d t.\.or " 

ex ec cd e Pre en .. tl e 

0 .I.E. n ) tt.l/! Eo or.e ':11~ c.h 1 s 

l' a\ ... '0 ti f. r -
be r rot.: 1 !j 

r 1" 4. t ~ ar even b f ; t 

of the U l 6 ~n n t (.I l c ~ t . '" ...... loI C 

13 ... 1611 • .e Ol" b c ncr t .es f the Jranch. 
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e e .. J Ie c1 • .1.' t e 
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oao:1o d.:;eumcmta !lPe ntill lfJck ng (oGicc11>1:"'? the . 1l.1n­

bury PO",)Ol'G) J ullJ..e the rVtl11sble t.e~\t1mon1es a't') ft(en 
r. 

'bJ.a::"6d ~)nd c.ont.l"f:u!1.etory . .. · 

mslJ.y tlu t !" fr~e hA.l1l'1 in 'J.'tlllis would 0 he:?, eneh. 'I.r-
a ,)onsut.t.Oll t , t· ItUfH lon, u tl'lrUl, e.nd !~r.l..t1,~h :.CNllf~ 1.1 na; 

1.,'Iood3' t gken in AJ)l'11 sn6 May. Oen.1sn 9E}l'COmeu,t, QS per­

hape r1ven dttr.1ng IJi.er.19rek &:u4 n1f.'l"'ael1' s :f'i:ra~ lnteJ."vJ..cw 

iIIow.· I 1M '11 ., .... ~,~-.. ',---

,1. In J;c't.' .. t 11 f:lct the I taJ. ... an C~}'NHTllh:(~Ll r c co.l 
0''.:)1;"'"' i to a'blf1E:, y the volle' of' t·cl~) . ~lr1n" nnt.t to 
l"ot"'rp In :rl". Bt'; c'anH aom,;)1J e ~ 'tl..\ml:\,,. f~}:¢a ... Jt..l..!;'\uetf>· a 
ebo11r .. 'l n~x .09Ilil!'l-H"r!le:.-·v ':"0" _ 

n. Trl.ie .t .~ :' ;.ccJ.nlly the C&t'10 vii. {·n the Ith l~ .n " tnl!~t:H; e. 
~ho :l..a.1 .. , t·trf'P olter'!lntel./ on th#'o QJ.I' .• r() lll" .,;1'1. Welte Cltldl 
t ..... hOiil 't "i3nd 11 .. he v1rtu:)tlC e ne'tot 0.1. the' Ital r-!ft 
dele '~at.i~n intone Berlin {;ai7ie 0$' Q~att. 

5. Langer. ~tJJ;;:;;,i)es AJ.11tmcea, 1l- 16G" 



_, ______ •. _ ..... ,. _It __ '_ ... ,.. .... -... _,.. ... . 

I:iUC}:lG '.1.t p. ;3A2. 1'uc:':le t a aeee t10n thot t'on 
t :,e SU, T, ~;:~t.·j..fJn .. 1tat Pl"anc,.. f!.h,~u.l~ t.,\9 fr f' 6(;0 
in 'ru.n1f~, ( .·101'·1l61i) OC~t ... ua to hil\VO heoitoteo', is 
COllt.t.'Dtl.i.ct;.acl by the i'acto_ '..Ph£" iies:i.t.~·t1. 011S. (it 
th€!t'e W01"fJ ru'lY) o~lIne bel"~r~ Eer-li L,. 

Daut1et ill 1,5 M1e;:.1.oD du CAite de t?;ei.nt Val..llo.r 
(p. (to ), .. n;:' l~Ott!,gG-;rB--;ru -i&t.:ei;-~ .. :;:T~}i:K.(F#j-
' bot view. 



b., reuark J .. hat \: II t ~" hed lB .. U£P ~o t ,c 

II C -: if 

fo .. 1 the ~ PI eh, .r l~ n.T 

~o e h(' (; 1} • t c Conven ... .' 1')11. 

l' t. C 

lm :..t 

13 ury 

h.e h d 

n 10 

I 

1 t tV lot .l·l~ oS •• 
,) 

p 

~hJ.c f1al' t 1:. '" tn a cr co + ... .. 

-.-- --... _ .... -... ... 

1 n .1' ; • 14- , t n- t !1,. 



geners dJ'1t\ of bla eU~Ui.eGt· tme to l1'addlngt t mlnua 

ti:lf.J f' .il£dl.es or ,ety:Le; ·V;1'~ .rcs.i~ot to 1imLe. I old 

t ,bat !lnil.~Hld wae wboL17 tU.elnt.er • ted limd bail nQ 1 ten­

'$; on to contest tho 1nt uenc " ch the t;eot;"fl ... oh.lc 

pOSit on 0 . rts nstW"Gl1y Cf. v t.o Franee. t It 

the ~}{leh t'lnplre rmre to tall. to 'pieM" Solle:bUJ' 

adde4 tt fle t,o TunJ.'ll...... ~ng,lt'lnd w()u;l<5 no' noltt l'lel' elf 

boUlld to interfere wJ.f,b any cour 0 hieh grace 1n eu h 

a.. or the 1 ter ·ewe. SIld 1 or s ' s .... 

burN" ltluguage.$ wall 0$ B.ter08~ok· fipeeted 8tlt,tU'­

anC(Ul tbat Qe.Pi.l$fi7 iSV bel" total acqU1ef.~cance in the 

prlpaevl, 8 V« tnO wOit;ht. to <1 C Bl'stl,)ne wh en roe 

. n thftmn J.v ' erfeetl¥ e.leal'.v n 

1ns ted 1. 'tar) oll.ua1a wezte lTiadt: n t.o tlle.r Jit e 

ol.!~.&.mB ot crther rOW6&'1S , ~~ ana Ital¥ eSVCOlnJ.J.:r".? 

WCd6111 ,rtOllf B t1re" eurpr1ee (and L>el"hllpo hes ta 0) 3 

2)a sea ort. 'the rfhl0h J}len1 . tcntlerieo deo1Cled {) 

01' lng nr lon befoH the 00 res 1 but . ne French. 

(lover ment o3q}PCGset1 tneU' 0l.liJO i. t10n to .10, st.e) 9 

o ·011 .. iX;-;;; -'33"2. 60 lebury to Ltl I'd. nc obeX' 107 

11 

:1 tOJ !I, p. lU8. a 11ebury to l4'Ono, Ju.ly .~ .• .1 76 
Ace I'd n to Fre (\ t (.o.~v~~,r. ;i, p. 34) Wac d on 
ref'UseO to lJ.eten t.o "cee denlonn tentateul't3'1l .. 
tte. 'tin . HJ. 'oiro de ;La Ji1rr nee on 
$111- at." aiiii !ea. · 1 - -- - ~ 



wae so obviously roas8U."a b1' 6al sbury'a doe~a~llt Mel 

that 1t B thero tt.e.r quite out of the Queot1an tOt 11m 

toanow Inl,. o.v~oGJ..t1on to, or even. to &,Ql"(tG refler e 

abou~f tr.e AllGl Tw"lUsh OO!lvot !:l 

wa still $n Italian ppobl 

but. tne Itollan (J,clegs\eB of)uld not but feel unaa 

about the 'UneX.;.,.< eted Cl'Pru Oo .. lvent on 'Of wh ell Oort 

lenl'nt 1n the net¥'B~a )e1'5 on July 8 " 3ntJ teor the 

rcaotloA of ItaJ.lan publ.ic o;p1niOD wben tolley returnol to 

R f! U th ol~nn bt temp iy nani1&. 1 twas :. rQbeblY \0 .;JU the 

this dlB01)vo1nttl18nttbat I~UlGw. the anoona Qel"'matl ,I..>lenl ... 

potent1srzr. aft.er t\lO publ entiat) of too Convent1o. , 

t Jld Oort1t '1/ jnelotel'l"o e Qb1p.:re, pourquo,i ne pre 1'"1ez 

VoW! pan TUnis e VOlle Gl':rongeant eveo 1 t Afl r.1. terre?" 

( .. TUJ..1 8) . 1 There 10 no eVidence ttmt Blnma.f>O fie 

lnfO!'f4ed t ,1\1.e otter «(Jotl aalow p. l"b8t~e dll1 not lm~ 

ot 'Ghe underst.andl . w betweo ;be Coo oe r ElI*' n1.1 U"3 

atout T.utli ) I tbe CnenceJ.l.ol' nllJ&ye BllJoerted tb,~t be lad 

,layed treittlitfClt:'\fsrd emne wlotb i'r~noe n \$1'11 

---.... ,_.... ... -.--,-.. -.~ ... ...-. 



ob iou$l.g 8 d, mons o'he.r thi ge, at cre~tlna frlot1on 

I'll th Ittl~, ond woUld bav.,. 'be n p'erf"octly cap 'Ole f 

ot't'erlng Tunls to tbe iil"encn and at the ~1.l 

po .tn, l' to Italy thro~lgh iilow, 

\01'1 bed 3t floret r ce1'feii sa1.1ebW"J·S otf Jt w t-h 1'oae1'Ve.2 

At all e·Yenta OOl"tl t anaV;ltlP W ncgo' 1"ffl , "\"ouo vc)\Uez 

(tOA" MU9 bl'oa11l.er avec a Fl'atloe?fl 

B.t"1 t..Lab otfers to tl e 1 tn .ion ,,'! . cnl ..... l'ote . ar1 s at' 

bJoouded tIl the fl8t. my tory_ AceOl'ttLna to 00' t 4& 

LaWlG¥, a oond Itellt'ul dele~ te, 'he Quol'tlon of the 

Cf!U'J1610n of '!~r1s.Jol.1 to Lta~ we vent11.ot.ed durJ.ng tl 

the O;VPJ'u ConventIon be-fore ,. to Dubllc{'ttl.on; So1.1e'b\lr'l t 

u.n y renortel1" n " 16 11i. til bAt to e!ltp fU.n til () r­

oum tsnoe, and sl.l.owea we to I.n:ferJ ~!l 

utteranoe , thot It 11 m1gbt dream of eXtJ nal. n 't.be 

• -Ii 0' ill 

~pl ' .!£...~ ter~ ,1;~~rt} ~be 136'1. f~ Ai ~J:l&l~" • 150 
001'1:.1 W39 eot'lvlncetl tue t Dlemarek waa 1t\.torme(ll of 
BUloy:t 8 'p~oJ.;o.oo1 (GWJ"tm ant! TUeltwBl i~§ ,;bHr.cot 
9h.fIll'lea n!~~. p_ 382). 'tbe Jlre: oh c ~OS rIQol Y 
li.e5Ied ilU'ft fltlg otfef' ned. been r de (1' ,yc. 0 
sal' • • 1 10,. 80, in D. n . p. 'III) . nser, Ear .,lO<'lUl 
PO el' • ,p_ 71. r u rkn aloo tl'Ult , B ~ r-if'ro'" onl 

. .)oi:te ~.:> iadd ton ebou:t 1,lunio . n JU.l), 13. In 
CQtlSc< \Ie ce atter l·iU.oW' of'f'er to 001-'1 and c.)rt·l t .. 

re; rueel, but. \bJ 1'"e bsli bean 0 "rellml11et'y ssreC\.ltmt 
bctw~cn salisbury and B1"uor~k about vr , co ana 
Tun.J.e. It ie dlf :i.oult to li'ef'cb. 0 cGncl 01 n for 
\vent or aai1stectot'y ev1.dfHlce. 
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.ttne rel In&tlgatoJ' of the 'tunis ex'p~ \100-t ,. but tor 

the Fl'enob Gove:rment lot, \fes the Bl'lt10h autho):'lieat1on 

wbioh "!I.ll,- mattel'0(i. o;l..nee btltnln. n!()t oermaU1. bad 

sueoeesf'UJ.l.y etQ'pIJtld thol.r &dVanee In tne f:.e.e:-euO¥ e1nee 

1630. 

f3"l 1. bu~)'" probb thoU,f;nt t1.retly tbai tblr> Wfa 

tbe pr10e of EUJ"openn penoll, 1\ Mil lmen B1t'M'lOl"Ck' ,$ 

the ,t '$ ' .. om, tM be,l,Qlng Qoil b.iG p .. ogr~ bad b()&n 

final '¥ 3do,Pted by the p(Were1• oe'condlJlthtlt u tJ:n,~ 

me EllPO eon .po .l" 1tC6 t o }3J."1t in·s n ~l"eD~ to 1:' p 

ati muoh pltact1of.ll pJI'l!>tLt ot~:t~onalble troam the lnevl tnb 

deatruct10n 01 ~\ll'l1e1!!.ul J, • .''lde,tl$ndenoo'" i,"', f~z;j)e".t.&nQo flAle 

t() show el eww;u:o (In Pert"iJl. and Obina tat: 1D'''t&nea) 

In no :t 1nevi 1>10 e thAt th' 

1'1Val.t'y of the POWOl'S OOt l.."1 give r1ae C) n·owe :'t1nd :)~ 

e~u.t.llbrlwn t}wo~b rJr.lcn the 1ndep$M~.m6c ot the ooun­

tl'j coneel'ne<i \'#$.8 Pf'fUHU"Vcd.Vtj.tb illtf111'Lll.',. bu., len\ ..... 

1ngly. By dcatroylng h.ater.ruillbrlum 1n 1"tuue Sa:U,obtU,"¥ 

ttu'e 'the b"bgeno)" 1n\0 B $1.'11 nlno. Wg to leGd. 

tet Uy, 1po her ,Poll :loa annJ.h~ lllt () 

1. Lantto"" ~~op'0~n), Al11uneee, L'Jif. 164 ... 166 
2 . ,Oool!dge. p.. l~nif 



~h.e ael" in J,,,romlMo are a t,. doml 111 Ti.l lug. 

1. t berlin 611,ifilll;etllCnte were ttl · leas omt:,.u un 

1n tbat they eorl~~90ud~d to a ohange Ln Brit! hQ 1 

and me' .. eo se tU, lomat. e l'leOoos1t1ea, ont 

outoome of vcr:/, cleo,. d,10C\l slons tb Ga 

the Ot bell b@ t:U& came W oontim tbem 

pu, .~ e on reoo%'d. the .i'OI'<U.gu ott 0 e 

etSl:,r .r-e'tioe lit. 

re tho 

., ~'8V 

6 d 0 

f"-

'1'h reno", ono '0 ttU) Oy,p,r-us g.l"o · n hb been veri 

on aoc \.tnt of the d rfloult 

__ " .ti ",IBr ) ,,-rT_1~ 

11' t 1 nel La , I, i)* 3.,. ' , QliO E. Li,!l)l Q CSl"J'O'.I., 

Jt:re.nq,n., ;;)\\l?t:J.~ •• OR;t)~lq,@. >. '11 
Af1C ruing Q 1 • not u.x. ( IV, II Sue) r .01 e to L", C. a\'l, n 
WDS p9i.rt1culal"ly Violent, l! 1;.18 eu,l.ent noU9 t: ••.•• 
1" I alit' .. ' J.< (1 .. " m:llnten 0 •••• Jr f~1 , ne 
OQlment.~:re;L.J j~ ne veux P6S q\lt on noun jet.t.o dana 
un nouv e q r.lle.~ 



Wo4dl:nct0l1 COtlald&l'cd thtlt t~ MJ,y we'3 ot detetul ns tilo 

pal10:, was to 8e~ 1uu$(1 .. ultel;y uPon 6sl1sbUJ"yt e <llromJ..sos 

and to b1nt! tbtl! l1ole.t.gn Qt"fice b~ an e~Jti£;:eff~nt U1!:)'1"e 

otticl€!l tbilll 'title lrd"ol'ftlel oonW~~flt1IlM or l3e'~ in.l. 

o4dln(d;1Hlnover-C3.1le \be 1"'6t1~nstJa ot h1 001.1.. 

ena pereuadod "b._ to l0 B4,v~U)tRge of tbe ·Otlrt 

bl.auCM" Given £.tt e~u'll1.nlll all .. rul:v 19M wl"'ote '0 li ' '8 
, , , 

tttet Fl'anec QO'<lld ne"l"$ ~nee uliS peu a aft1 . . !1 non 

ptoct;arf!t mll' t; ReI;OnC& 40 flnnie" antl th(rt nQtl til 

CO\.ud aOl· l.dOJi ftle C01\een.toe.m:ent. de l A ~let.erre e de 

'.\110 . 6 0 e • He: acqu1n" bu.t t.hat ttll f .1. att te if' 

cotngte du. :'~(H.Ul'():n eQCllt t1~ 1'1\81.,10 't 3 At he en 

tl.ae ~'ad.l1ngt~ tlet .Lord ~ona Qn the 16tht ,d nfQ.ru.~ 

a1tn of Gseur n.eas 1 ven bll' Sr!lJ.Elbtu" an¢} j; t'lconnf eld tb.:n 

U.N .. GOV Jtw..tent WQul<1 l1lKe· 1no obit"otl n what.e ~ if 

Tuns. nd ofPa11sbll1'-Y· -UUb stlon tthot t 

Bcek ompen stlon ·0 TJ"'J.1;lo11. -ton 1(;:. t 

an., dld flot 1n\end to take .. b$Olut pO' Oft t Tun.1 .. 

nIl ·,or8 t i'o,t'lt, por'91b1e ('{uc (~nnr tro e lao I) at 1e lee 
Anglo 1 le'l' CM. e fl' avis" \'f (!(·U.neton rot, to 
dtUarcou»\ on :ru.iy nl (P. · .£1'. II). 
:0 .. D .. F. I J wod,1 t { to I'(QUt' tar, JuJ.:.r l~, 876. 



{)j;>lnlon. wsdd1n,t,~ton i!tH!l enxi.oun to be able ft 'l.rO p.r'Qduoe 

thes ex,pln,ltl ions and 3EHluraneee in y.trJ.t'teu, ort-tel. 1 

end GO to speak bln'ilng ehB,jJE"ttl 

2. Waddin t\ln' atr ,b.tto.rnrd r ques ' pe ,ll· the 

91'1tlsh GoveJ'lUfl nt 1n an em.'bOl"I'OSf 1ll,!;. e,U~uat ->A. 011 th 

1t 

w1 t.b coldnefH3 , the ,Y.1"':)ses .de.n Berlin 'lie!'e e -

table, 8. d tiBll&bUJ. ,Vl'.:>\)Qbly (U,4 . not reG"." th~a. !ut 

ser!oue c.vl t,;tc.1a. t»ona the ov!lOsi t :;m 3 . fl"Ofn oem· 

o emt! lts of .Vu.bl14 opinlaIl" 1t 'f.ae ll~ .13 t,lst the 4i~ ...... 

0.1 l'e "'Jf t tt'j fJ OL;reemeut. o-u;.a t YO .1 'iff!l ~1ae 

'0 storm of jJrotostnl nflli~bUl'Y W$1, al.DotQQ woll sw~n"'e 

faee t.h~ t"t'W i. tiM fJlh,J.ob ab.1;;;e.j to 9v16 In I 317. 

not to ment.lo:n the rene 1088 Qf the 1'"01"t,o. 2 8$11o'tH.w,.' 

JIIe tlo1'1e w1 th 1"'l.'unae nd to .Ullke r..i'3 OWlI poroollal teok 

casler. Th.":' sub leo", 0'1 bie lntel"vlew ,1.. \'b .; . .1)1 Jll.G, t .... oli,av(ti'" 

we ttt,U.tt oult to (' a!c t.h.e aub jec' of bind1118: QSfiUr&:loe .,". 

> ' ]1 F .... ---.~ 

1. 0.1'. 43, LJ'onn t Oblllfl'bUl'Y, Sul.y 19, J..878 
2. eatVlat, p. 'n28 
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Of 1 131 11y cft r the con t tutiOtt ot til '" e) e ·1 

n ent 

in Tu be .n 

tel'lll 1th Rou t~n hen 

Sy 1 ) , hi!:' :¥. U! .lug Ln t10n in h1a ne 110 ( 0 

sr,11or ot t o " 6J1do pre nted I) t ttl 

00 u1 t ) tnat Ito).;,! 98 reaol d not .., to e ... 
e the 8e zure of* Tuni. b~ ony otne '!) --el' on t c 

t lIe the for .,;r-d '.in oe n T .is~ . 1) L~ ey 

fi1ch the h hit h to be Un9ttl) ptab""o, 

anrt I by tile Bor ~gree .• eat ." 
At t tl,fe ~he t Il. Q'ncy tf :1r 

)t r 

1e m. er f horne 1\ 

h d or • ... t h. , 

nw.bnr of rm sle Pl"JV';"<.;cd r r b # the G n r t d t 

GBBe 

ot t.he 00 •. u.r.a. 0) iJ ' o! tJ o~ .Iil!" A.nd '(!r.:n create" " hoc 

___ • ___ ~,,,,,,,*..--.'O> ______ ~ ___ 

J.. !It) .... v~.~ .A.. . • .) d 
d n~ erab~r 31, 

o L~. en ).. ... :; , )· ... to 0... t..; , 
'7B. 
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D1emA!'ck told S9.i.nt Vl!J.J.le~.. } 1~re}. til 0 
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"a ( i'or 1te 
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fl"nn'f8 a" " nil t t t )'{ " r SLY h.I , 61snVo d the net l ! 

of tb Ana &1' lan Cor; 

n aatuol t ct, Dijl ~ 

T11.nia "ct lui eeru1l.tl, l' 
, peut etre vr:'l ("'u e Co ~ul , 

.- ..... 
An~ ,le 9 •••• t j · ue u ro nn lc"'l n err 18 l .... t'allCe? It • 
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XVI. The Liberals and the Berlin Engagements 

~ranville and the legacy of Salisbury. 

1. oneOfthe main themes of the electoral propaganda or 

the liberals had been a violent denunciation of the 

foreign J;lolicy of the Disraeli Government: "Abl~oad they 

have strained if they have not endangered, the prero-

gative by gross misuse, and have weakened the Empire 

by needless wars, unprofitable extensions and unwise 

engagements, and have dishonoured it in the eyes or 

Europe by filch.ing the island of Cyprus from the porte" 

Gladstone had declared, among other public utterances. l 

The liberals now came into office with. a general wish 

to reverse the conservative policy everywhere, but more 

especially with regard to Turkey, where the traditional 

British policy of protection had already received 

serious blows with Salisbury. "It is clear that Turkey 

must now fall to pieces" Granville wrote to Lyons on 

May 1,1880. 2 And he added later: "(the) idea that in 

the last resort the ottoman power is a British interest 

to be sustained by our arms does not form the basis of 

any part of our policy.ItO 

1. seton-watson, D1sraeli, Gladstone ••• , p. 548 
2. G.P. 202, Granville to Lyons, May 1, 1880 
3. G.F. 123, Memorandum for Gladstone, May 1880. 
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The great docttines which Gladstone recognised as 

his guiding principles in international affairs - his 

strong belief "in law and justice,in the equality and 

community of interests of all nations"l, his hatred of 

war, his desire to base British pol~cy upon the love 

of freedom - would indeed have led, if applied, to a 

complete reversal of his predecessor's policy on many 

points. This, Queen Victoria was unwilling to accept: on 

the other hand the liberal principles came up against 

praetical difficulties of execution and embarrassing 

legacies which it was hard to repudiate altogether, 

especially in the Near East: the execution of the Berlin 

Treaty, the Cyprus convention, the Anglo-French dual 

control in Egypt. 2 In effect some kind of continuity 

was bound to a9pear between Salisbury's and Granville's 

policy: in the Near East Salisbury left no legacy of 

good will towards the porte, and it was the easier for 

Uranville to constitute himself the executor of the out-

standing decisions of Berlin, as on the whole they were 

rather unfavourable to Turkey, for instance the questions 

of Greece and Montenegro. 3 Hence probably the unexpected 

faithfulness of the liberals to the Berlin provisions: 

1. Knaplund: Letters from •••• , p. 13. 
2. Knaplund, Ibid., p. 136, and Knaplund, Gladstone's 

Foreign Policy, pp. 133-138. 
3. Gwynn and 'fuckwell, I, pp. 322-324. 
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"M. Gladstone and his colleagues," Granville reassured 

Qp:een Victoria in September 1880," instead of destroying 

the Berlin Treaty (are) determined to do their best to 

carry out its provisions."l 

2. The numerous secret engagements entered into by 

Salisbury confronted the liberals with a more deli~ate 

~roblem. No precedent could be found in the pa~t to 

such extensive use of secret negotiations: the famous 

Memorandum of 1844 about Nicholas' overtures to ,Aberdeen 

had not been shown to the cabinet and could not be con-

sidered as binding on the following Goverrunent. 

Palmers ton had set as a diplomatic principle in 1841 

that "the contractine; of secret obligations with a 

Foreign Power by a British Foreign iilinister or Cabinet 

(was) inconsistent with Parliamentary methods".2 But 

it would have been difficult to contest that the agree­

ments with Russia (May 1878) and Turkey (June 1878) -

which had been revealed - and the agreements about Tunis 

(,August 1878) and Egypt (September 1879) - which remained 

secret but were recorded in official documents of the 

Archives - were binding upon any British Government. 

Hence the perplexity and irritation of the liberals when 

1. Gladstone papers, 44172, Granville to Queen Victoria 
september 19, 1880 

2. Temperley, Lritish Secret Diplomacy (Cambridge Histor­
ical Journal, 1938), pp. 7-11. 
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the existence of these agreements was revealed to them. 

No record :' has been found of their immediate reactions 

but we may surmise them from Gladstone's angry comments 

three years later: "Of aoll the outrages (Salisbury) 

comrni tted •••• I am inclined to believe his three secret 

treaties, two of them still unpublished, are the most 

outrageous" he wl"ote to Granville. l 

Whatever may have been the indignation of Gladstone 

and Granville when they were infol'wed of the Tunis agree-

ment, it was clear that their appraisal of and attitude 

to\i\'ards it would depend upon the ultimate decision which 

the liberal government had to take about the CY.flrus con-

vention. The restitution of what they deeriled to be an 

unfortunate acquisition would have given them back some 

measure of freedom of action towards France with regard 

to Tunis, which had been, the counterpart of the Anglo-

Turkish bargain. But, during the lengthy discussion 

which was started inside the Cabinet at the end of May 

about Cyprus, if 8 strong ,opposi tion was generally 

expressed to the Convention, and above all to the "incon-

venient" and "onerous" obligations which it laid upon 

Great Britain~ few ministers actually suggested its 

cancellation: the Convention was "indefensible" Granville 

1. Knaplund, Gladstone's Foreign Policy, p. 186, Glad­
stone to Granville, September 3, 1883 

2. G.P. 123, Memorandum for Gladstone, May 1880. 



-608-

remarked, but to cancel it might a.9pear as "an incita-

tion to the Russians to sdvance." The general tendency 

was rather to keep Cyppus and get rid of the conditions 

which were attached to it" for instance by buying it. l 

Ultimately the fear of a Russian move prevailed and the 

convention was recognised: when Goschen in li'ebruary 

1881 again suggestec). tha t Cyprus be given up in order 

to induce the Porte to make concessions to Greece, Gran-

Ville answered that the proposals did not altogether 

"smile upon him"; although he did not tr..ink it unwise he 

"had to pay some attention to public opinion.,,2 Under 

these conditions the Foreign Office was in a very weak 

position to refuse altogether to acknowledge the agree­

ment about Tunis: "our position for resisting the French 

intrigues in Tunis •••• has been frightfully weakened 

first by the acquisition of Cyprus ••• secondly ••• by 

Salisbury's declaration which ••• I suppose binds us" 

Glad.stone was to conclude later. 3 All the subseQuent 

hesitations of the policy of the liberals towards Tunis 

were in germ in their first acknowledgement of the diffi-

culty of reconciling their moral principles with the hard 

realities of British foreign policy. 

1. G.F. 143. 
2. Elliot, Life of Lord Goschen, I, p. 222. 
3. Fitzmaurice, II, p. 236. Gladstone to Granville, 

April 22, 1881. 
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3. '£he French Government were well aware of the prob­

lems which the change of government in Gl~ea t Britain 

placed before them; they felt the more uneasy about the 

threats which it might involve for the execution of the 

Salisbury - Waddington agreement as in Tunis the begin-

ning of May 1880 had witnessed the renewal of Franco-

Italian tension. The French were trying to obtain the 

concession of the port of the Goulette and to acquire 

the T.G.M. (railroad of Tunis to the Goulette and the 

Ivla rsa) which the British Company was about to sell: but 

they came up against Italian obstruction. on the other 

hand in spite of French Op~)osi tion, Maccio was e«erting 

a strong pressure on the Bey to obtain the establisBment 

of a telegraphic cable joining Tunis to Italy.l In these 
" 2 conflicts the new British Consul, heade had maintained 

an attitude of neutrality which had met with Granville's 

approval, but in view of the impending difficulties 

about the sale of the T.G.M., the French government were 

naturally anxious to ascertain whether the Liberals 

",ould abide by the attitude of their predecessors. 

Freycinet first looked for reassurances in Berlin 

and obtained them in the clearest possible way.3 Then 

the French prime Minister turned to the British Government. 

1. Fa 102 127. Reade to Salisbury (May 5 1880) and to 
Granville, Ivlay 31. 

2. He was the son of Sir 'rhomas Reade, the late British 
Consul General in the Regency. 

2,1880. 3. D.D. F. III, Freycinet to Saint Vallier, June 
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Freycinet first recalled the British declarations of 

1878 and laid stress upon their precision: "Nous les 
, 

considerons comme n'ayant rien perdu de leur valeur par 
, ~ 

suite du changement de ministere", he added,"neanmoins 

i1 nous imyorte d'etre fixes sur les dispositions 

personnelles des membres du nouveau Cabinet." The }'rench 

Government, he concluded, considered that they could 

"compter pour l'avenir ••• Eur l'a'ppui sympathique de 
, 

l'Angleterre dans toutes les questions relatives a (sa) 

position dans la R~gence." (June 4).1 

According to Dilke it was Leon Say's demarche on 

June 8 which made him fully aware of the terms of Salis­

bury's offer to France.! Uranville's surprise and 

embarrassment may explain why his answer was only given 

on June 12. The Foreign Secretary seized upon all the 

elements which in Salisbury's correspondence could 

sUflPort his own seservations about an agreement which 

he was not at liberty to reject altogether: there was 

"some discrepancy between what was originally mentioned 

in private conversation and what was afterwards recorded 

of'ficially to (Lyons)3 as the opinion of' the late 

Government". Lord Salisbury, Granville added, "had 

distinctly reserved any opinion upon the position which 

1. D.D.F. I I I, Freycinet to Leon say, June 4,1880. 
2. Gwynn and Tuckwell, I, p. 335. 
3. In Salisbury's despatch of August 7, 1878. 
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Italy might take up in reference to 'funis", and the 

British Government shared the views of their predecessors 

on this particular point. still more significant was 

the reserve which followed (and which had not been 

expressed by Salisbury): ttIn the view of Her Majesty's 
I 

Government", Granville told Leon Say, "Tunis was a 

portion of the ottoman Empire, to dispose of which 

Great Britain had no moral or international right". 

After considerations which were anything but reassuring 

Granville concluded with a conciliatory but very vague 

formula: Great Britain "had no jealousy of the influence 

which France, from her greater power and her high 

civilisation exercised and is likely to exercise, over 

Tunis. ttl Freycinet had believed that England admitted 

and sympathised with French claims in Tunis, and would 

weigh on the French side in case of conflict with Italy: 

Obviously he was wide of the mark. 

The Crisis of the Summer of 1880. 

4. At the end of June 1880, Franco-Italian tension in 

Tunis led to a crisis in which British intervention 

might have proved decisive. The fact that the Gladstone 

ministry showed. no decided sympathy for ei ther party 

---------.. . --
1. A.O.T., I, Granville to Lyons, June 17,1880. 
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largely contributed to the aggravation of the situation 

in Tunis: the uncertalnty about British views encouraged 

both parties to go ahead, the Italians because they 

hoped that the liberals would support theml, the French 

because they wanted to stop Italian advance in the 

Regency and were disquieted by Granville's reticence 

and the effect it would have on the Italian Government. 

The si tuation was made more awlcward for the British 

Government as the effects of the Tunisian affair were 

felt in the oriental questions which were then mono-

polizing Granville and Gladstone's attention: the nego-

tiations about Montenegro and Greece were just beginning i 

in June 1880 at Berlin. The more France found difficul-

ties in her way in Tunis, the more relugtant she Vias to 

listen to British invitations to take an active part in 

the policy of coertion which Granville advocated with 

regard to the Porte, without great success, an attitude 

which gave rise to increasing irritation in London. 

5. The sale of the T. G. M. from the Tunisian Railway 

Company had given rise to a very sharp competition 

1. Paget remarked that the view was widely held in Rome 
that "if Italy (would) satisfy Enbland in commercial 
matters, surely England (would) not leave Italy in 
the berch in political matters which may interest 
her" and they meant Tunis (G.P. 182. Paget to Gran­
Ville, June 22, 1880). 



-613-

between the French company of the "Chemin de Fer de 
01\ , 

Bone a Guelma" (which already possessed the concession 

of the Tunis - Beja Railway and desired to give it an . 

outlet to the sea), and the Italian Rubattino Company of 

Navigation: the French Company had first scored a success 

and bought the railroad for 2,500,000 francs (its real 

value did not amount to more than 1,000,000 francs). But 

the adjudication was cancelled, for legal reasons, and a 

second sale by auction took place in London at the 

beginning of July. At this stage the French and Italian 

governments agreed to abstain from intervening in the 

matter. On July 7, quite unexpectedly, the Rubattino 

Company outbid its French o~ponent with an offer of 

4,100,000 f.: the day after the Italian Parliament 

voted an annual subsidy of 600,000 f., which was to &~ar-

antee the interest of the conSiderable outlay of the 

Rubattino. l The French Gover'nment had the feeling, not 

wrongly, that they had been fooled and nothing could 

equal the outburst of enthusiasm which followed the 

auction in Italy, except the intense irritation which it 

provoked in France - cairoli' s i-bliitti.3ti-¥e had been very 

imprudent indeed as the Rubattino incident immediately 

gave rise to a war to the knife in Tunis and probably 

decided the French to act in order to forestall Italian 

1. Broadley, I, p. 189, Cambon, p. 136. 
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France and Italy tried alike to secure Britain's 

adhesion to their respective views about Tunis. Right in 

the middle of t he struggle for the T.G.M. Freycinet had 

made a new overture to Lyons and reminded him that Salis-

bu~yts assurances had been understood by Waddington to 

amount "virtually, if not formally" to a declaration on 

the part of England "that France might annex Tunis to 
c 

Algeria if she pleased without encountering any opposition.~ 

Granville had answered that he had nothing to add to his 

previous declaration; as for the Rubattino incident, he 

had instructed Reade to adopt an atti~ude of complete 

neutrality and to decline giving the Bey any opinion mn 
the subject. 3 Of course ~reycinet was not well pleased 

with Granville's attitude: his language, he told Lyons, 

"did not go so far as he (Freycinet) should have expected; 

it meant no more than in case of Franco-Italian discussion 

"England would stand aloof and show no decided sympathy 

with either party"; Salisbury's correspondence had led 

him to look for something more than this and he thought 

1. Langer, European Powers ••• , p. 255. Reade much (Ques­
tioned) the wisdom of the Italian policy (po 102 127 
Reade to Granville August 9,1880). According to Oon­
stant, Jules Ferry attributed the origin of the 
French expedition of 1881 to the Rubattino incident. 

2. FO 27 2431, Lyons to Granville,June 29, 1880 
3. FO 102 12'1, Granville to Reade, July 8. 
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that England, sympathizing with the claim of France to 

"predominant and indeed exclusive influence in :J.1unistl, 

would have been ready to advise Italy not to interfere 

with France in Tunis. l This Granville was not decided 

to do: harking back to the reservations he had found in 

Salisbury's correspondence he concluded that he was not 

!ten etat d'avoir un avis sur les dif'ferends qui se sont 

produits entre la France et l'Italie ~ '.L'unis".2 On the 

other hand the Italians were making unsuccessful attempts 

to win Granville over to their cause, and to obtain a 

clear declaration against the Prench design to mal{e 11unis 

a dependency of Algiers; England had only minor interests 

at stal{e in Tunis, Granville answered, and did not wish 

to interfere in the settling of the misunderstandings 

that had arisen between Italy and France; and he added 

discreet but significant hints about the very high tone 

which the French took on the subject~3 

Granville, however, did not absolutely keep to this 

altogether passive view of the situation and he tried 

actively to avert an open crisis in Tunis. Granville pro-

bably did not think of going so far as Reade suggested: 

deeply pertu11bed by the violence of the struggle between 

France and Italy in Tunis and by the nearly intole11 able 

1. FO 27 2432. Lyons to Granville, July 8, 1880 
2. D.D.F., III, cha.Llemel Lacour to Freycinet, July 12,1880 
3. Crispi, II, p. 112. 
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pressure which wss brought to bear u.l?0n the Bey from both 

sides, the Consul asl<:ed "whether it may not be an oppor-

tune moment ••• to exercise some such beneficial influence 

as may inClUce one or both of my colleagues, to. abandon , 

(tl:lese) l ,ines of ,policy. ,,1 Granville tried~ least to 

discover elements of conciliation between the two antag-

onists; while the ~'rench govel~nment asserted that they 

did not 09iJOse the develol)ment of Italian "private 

undertaldngs" in Tunis, Granville remar'ked, Italy dis-

claimed any political designs whatever on Tunis: under 

these conditions, the Foreign Secretal"'y wrote to Paris 
> 

(July 26) and Rome (July 28), "ostensibly there was no 

difference between (the French views) and what was 

claimed by the Italian ,government". And he concluded 

tha t there ought to be no difficulty in arriving at a 

satisfactory result "by a calm interchange of oplnions. u2 

The only difficulty was that, as Granville himself 

recognised, these were the views "avowedly" taken by the 

two governments: the difference was indeed difficult to 

make between tile private economic Italian enterprises 

Yihich France accepted in rrunis and the governmental and 

J)ublic works for which she could not admit competition; 

1. FO 102 127. Reade to Granville, July 23, 1880. 
2. FO 272422. Granville to Lyons, July 15; FO 27 

2422, Geanville to Adams, July 26; FO 45 401, 
Granville to paget, July 28, 1880. 
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on the other hand the Italian Government had in certain 

instances taken steps "which seemed to have some poli-

tical significance, under the guise of commercial 

Objects."l Granville's attempt to find the way to a 

compromise and to bring about a lull in Tunis by per-

suading France to content hers~lf with a vague political 

predominance and Italy to abstain from hazardous in:t.t-

iatives, bore some resemblance to Salisbury's policy 

after the Berlin Congress. But it was based upon wishful 

thinking rather than upon a concrete appraisal of the 

si tuation. 

6.. In actual fact Franco-Italian rivalry increased in 

violence in 'runis aftel~ the affair of the T. G. M. The 

French, who had to take a revenge for their set back of 
.. 

July, proposed to build a railroad from Tunis to Rades, 

which would have given their Algero-Tunisian system 

accesf~ to the sea. 'l'he project was opposed by Maccio 

as competing with the T.G.M. 2 , but some days later French 

contractors obtained the authorization to create a canal 

from Tunis to the sea across the lake, smd to malee a 

harbour at Tunis, and two concessions for the building 

1. FO 27 2422, Granville to Adams, July 26,1880. 
2. FO 102 127. Reade to Granville, August 6,1880. 

Distant of 10 kilometres from Tunis, Rades is 
situated on the sea, on the south of the Goulette. 
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of railroads joining Tunis to Bizerta and Sousse. l Roustan 

was even beginning to negotiate a draft of protectorate 

with the Bey and was pressing Freycinet to give him strong 

sU.J?port to "convince" the Bey2, when the crisis, which 

seemed to be impending~ was again delayed. This result 

was not due to Granville's diplomatic speculations but 

firstly , 0 the hesitation in France which followed the 
ru...r r­

fall of De Freycinet (september 1880). Jules Ferry, the 

Minister, was primari~y concerned with internal problems; 

Barthelemy Saint Hilaire was a rather tim.id Foreign 

Minister and he was probably uneasy about Granville's 

dispositions; lastly Gambetta and Grevy were hostile to 

an action which would give rise to much resentment in 

Italy. Hence a respite on the French side at the end of 

September 1880. 3 As for the Italian Government, over-

tures had been made in August to Austria and Germany for 

a rapprochement but had met with reserve in Berlin and 

had been finally dropped4 ; the feeling of their isolation 

added to Granvi~le's rather dubious attitude incited them 

to prudence in 'J.'unis. 

A lull in Tunis could not but please Granville. At 

the end of September Granville's policy towards Turkey 

1. FO 102 127. Reade to Granvi11e,August 23,1880. 
2. b'reycinet, p. 168. It Autorisez moi ~ debarquer une 

compagnie de fusilliers marins, m'ecrivait il, et 
Ie Bey signera tt De Freycinet adds that he was about 
to authorize Roustan to go ahead when J. Ferry took 
his place. 

3. Langer, European Powers, p. 256. 
4. ehiala, II, p. 178 
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nearly met with a failure as the Powers appeared reluc-

tant to su .. .JlJort a bloclcade of Smyrna. In these condi-

tions Granville was bound to seize upon any possibility 

of settling Franco-Italian differen«es in Tunis as an 

incentive to more decided action in the Near East. Mattei 

having expressed to Macdonell the desire of the Italian 

Government that the tension should be reduced in Tunis 

by the removal of the French warships, Granville changed 

that somewhat vague hint into "an earnest of the desire 

of Italy to make friendly overtures to the French Gov-

ernment" and immediately informed Adams of it. The 

Italians had not intended to go so far and did not think 

of using British good offices for a rapprochement with 

France; as for Barthelemy Saint Hilaire's answer, it was 

friendly in tone, but reasserted vigorously the usual 

French themes about the necessity of French paramount 

influence in Tunis •••• l There was hardly anything re­

assuring in it for British policy in Tunis as well as 

in the Hear East. 2 At least there was nothing in the 

answer given in Paris to Granville's soundings which 

authorized him to assure Menabrea on October 9 (at a 

moment when he was trying desperately to gain SU1)port to 

1. FO 27 2436. Adams to Granville, September 30, 1880 
2. On October 11, 1880 (two days after the Sultan's 

ultimate capitulation about the Iviontenegro) Granville 
still wrote to Lyons that the policy of l:!'rance "was 
clearly a policy of perfect inaction." (FO 27 2424). 



-620-

his Balkan policy) that as for Tunis he thought that 

"la cosa sar~ ben questosistemata in modo soddisfacente 

per voiU •
l The hint was perhags meant to induce the 

Italians to support Granville's policy in the Balkans: 

But, the Porte having given way, Granville did not pro-

ceed further with the Italians with regard to Tunis. 

The crisis of the Enfida. 

7. The crisis which from December to March 1881 was to 

oppose the French and British governments about the sale 

of the Enfida estate, was the more unfortunate for France 

as it placed her in open opposition to the very Power 

whose fl~iendly relations it was essential for her to keep, 

as Ger:.:any was unflinching in her support, and Italy 

powerless if alone. As for Granville, one can sunnise 

that his f eelings with regard to the Enfida affair were 

mixed: the difficulty provided him with a providential 

opportunity to give way to the displeasure which France's 

attitude in the Montenegrine and Greek questions had 

caused him. At the same time the Enfida affair, and 

the clumsiness of Barthelemy Sai~t Hilaire allowed him 

to free himself for a time from the chain of Salisbury's 

1. Giaccardi, p. 189. Giaccardi thinks that Granville 
was alluding to a possible British support in Tunis 
which is perhaps going too far. 
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promises and to give way to his inner feelings about the 

French policy in Tunis. Lastly, after two years during 

which he was only allowed to complain of his financial 

difficulties, Reade was to be given a belated opportunity 

to show what Lyons called his tlLevantine Consular animustl : 

he had at last found a cause to defend. l 

When leaving Tunis in 18'77, Khaireddin had sold the 

estate of the Enfida,which had been previously given him 

by the Bey,to the French Soci~te Marseillaise: consid-

ering. Lts ~imensions (100,000 hectares in the Sahel 

between Hammamet and Sousse) the price paid by the 
I I 

Societe (2,500,000 france) made the affair a good bargain. 

'rhe Tunisian Government were not very pleased with a 

transaction which affected 60,000 Tunisians living on the 

estate and which was likely to give rise to the same pol-

itical difficulties as the Djedeida and de Sanc~ affairs: 

thus it was a happy coincidence that a British subject, 

Jose~h Levy, who ha~pened to own a small property near 

the Enfida should have claimed to exercise the right of 
( 5\\.a.; ...... . 

preemption/which, according to the local law, he- undoubt-

edly possessed (the sale had been made under the provis­

ions of the Tunisian law). As the societj Marseillaise 

1. Safwat, p. 307. Reade had been avpointed Consul 
(instead of Consul General and Political Agent) and 
received £900 instead of £1,600; in the end the 
title of Consul General was given back to him with a 
salary of £1350 (FO 102 135. Granville to Reade, 
February 5, 1881). 
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received the full support of the French Consulate this 

very intricated legal problem was bound to degenerate 

into a serious political question: Roustan considered 

that Levy was the agent of a group of people who wanted 

to prevent the Enfida estate from falling into French 

hands, and he suggested that the Tunisian Government, 

and even the Italians, supported Levy's pretensions. on 

the other hand, Reade sided whole-heartedly with Levy 

"a British subject who (seeked) to exercise a right 

guaranteed him by Treaty"; while admitting that he might 

represent other people interested in the business, Reade 

considered that Levy had acted strictly in accordance 

with the local law and it remained "for the local Tri-

bunals exclusively to judge as to whether the sheffa 

(was) valid."l on the British side, Broadley's inter-

vention contributed to arouse passions: Established as 

a barrister in Tunis since 1873, Broadley, after some 

differences with Wood in 1873, had become very influential 

both in the Beylical Palace and the British Consulate; 

by his articles in the Times and his appeal to his 

1. A.O.T. IV, Re3de to Granville, December 6,1880. 
January 17, 1881. The legal problem was, of course, 
confused by secondary issues: for instance whether 
Khaired.din had or not kept around the Enfida a strip 
of lands as a precaut~on against the right of Shefaa; 
whether or not such a precaution was valid (the 
hanefi and Maleki judges held d.ifferent views on 
this point), etc •••• 
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relations in the Parliament, Broadley succeeded in 

arousing British interest in the mishaps o~ his client 

whom he represented as. the victim of French manoeuvres 

in 'l'unis. 

At the outset Granville tried to keep the difficulty 

at a local level and to prevent its developping into a 

political crisis at the governmental level: the case 

appeared to depend "entirely on the local law", he wrote 

to Reade on December 29, 1880, and it "should await the 

decision of the local 'rribunals". Reade was therefore 

instructed to support Levy "in vindicating his legal 

rights", but, Granville added, only if Reade was satis­

fied. that he had "a bona fide claim, and that his 

proceedings were not "simply vexatious".l Gr8nville 

unhappily did not try to clear up what he meant by his 

rather vague formula, a lack of preCision which was to 

lead to much embarrassment as Reade INas to interpret 

"bona fio.e claim" on a strictly leeal basis, while' the 

French accused. Levy of bad faith, because they suspected 

that in the Enfida case he was acting as the mel"e repre­

sentative of interests antagonistic to France. fhe 

situation in the meantime was Quickly deteriorating in 

Tunis: French troops were being moved. to the frontier; 

1. A.O.T., IV. Granville to Reade, December 29,1880. 
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the Italians scored a political success at the begi~ning 

of J anuary 1881, with the visit of Sidi Hussein, the Bey's 

nephew, to Palermo where he met King Humbert; bl:).t the 

rather threatening Adress of the Italian Colony of 

Tunis (January . 2,1881)1 seemed to receive an answer some 

days later with an Havas despatch from Algiers which 

openly advocated the establishment of B French protector-

ate in 'l'unis (January 10,l( 81). 'I'he Enfida affail' was 

going from bad to worse when on January 14 Levy's agents 

whom he had established on the Enfid. to assert his 

rights were forcibly expelled by Officials of the French 
, / 

Consulate and Representatives of the Societe Marseillaise. 

A Violent polemic then began between Roustan and Readej 
tIv.. 

whose angry communications recalledtduels which had 

previously opposed Sir l'homas Reade and. Sir Richard Wood 

to their French Collea gues. "I have long been aware of 

••• the unduly rigorous and menacing attitude which M. 

Roust ,::n had for some time past a ~ sumea in his relations 

with the Tunisian Government, but as no British interests 

were therein directly involved, I held my peace", Reade 

wrote on January I? "He has now, however, thought fit 

to Violate the local law to the prejudice of a British 

1. 'I'he Italians of Tunis spoke of Tunis as one of "Les 
contrees qui riches de tant d.e glorieux souvenirs, 
furent jadis une province de Rome" (paget to Gran­
ville, January 15, FO 45, 426). 
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subject and it becomes my duty to speak, and to speak 
1 

plainly." The affair haa come to a complete deadlock 

on the spot and it only remained to Roustan and Reade to 

appeal to their Governments. 

On January 17 Barthelemy Saint Hilaire took up the 

matter during a conversation with Lyons, asserting that 

Levy's v-laim was "fictitious" and aimed at French inter-

ests in Tunis with Reade's connivance. 2 The attempt of 

the Quai d'orsay to remove Resae from the discussion and 

to act directly upon the Foreign Office which was 

supposea to be more amenable to French arguments, was 

not unsuccessful. l'hough it is probable that GranVille 

was less ready than Lyons to sacrifice Tunis for the 

sake of :B~rench friendship (British interests in 'l'unis, 

Lyons remarked are "not worth a quarrel or even a cool­

ness wi th ~'rance") he shared the view of the Ambassador 

that it was "ext'remely desirable" to prevent Tunisian 

questions from tlbeing stumbling blocks in the way of 

good relations between France and England. u3 He was 

well aware also that it was to Italy's interest more 

than to Great Britain's that a quarrel should o~pose 

Great Britain and ,b'rance over Tunis. The Italian Govern-

1. A.O.T., IV. Reade to GranVille, January 17,1881. 
2. A.O.T. V, ~yons to GranVille, January 17, 1681. 
3. G.P. 171. Lyons to Granville, January 18, 1881. 
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ment were obviously eager to push the Foreign Office: 

Italy, Maffei told Paget on Jrmuary 19, was keeping her­

self aloof from the Jnfida affair, but was anxious that 

in dealing with it the British Government "should pay 

due attention to the very serious consequences to the 

interests of other powers, and to the independence of 

the Bey which the overbearing policy of France •••• was 
1 

calculated to entail." Levy's case did not a.Jpear to 

the Foreign Office so obviously fair as to justify its 

playing the cards of Italy against ]lrance. These con­

siderations led Granville to receive favourably the French I 

suggestions that the Enfida affair should be left to 

the ordinary tribunals and ttlat Consular intervention 

should be avoided: On January 31 Granville and Challemel 

Lacour agreed that the further discussion of the question 

should be adjourned until further information VJould be 

available. But, Granville wrote to Lyons, it was of 

great importance that neither Government shoulCl take 

any step in the meanwhile "which might make the settle­

ment of the matter more difficult.,,2 

1. FO 45 426 paget to Granville, January 19,1881. 
2. AOT. IV. GranVille to Lyons, January 31 and 

February 2, 1881. 
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8. At this stage Bartheleray saint Hilaire tried, very 

imprudently, to bully both the Bey and Granville. The 

French Minister was deeply dissatisfied by the non-

committal attitude of Granville and feared lest any delay 

8hould injure French rights in Tunis. Very improbable 

rumours about a Turkish intrigue for appointing Khaireddin 

as Pasha in Tunis served as a pretext for proposing once 

again a French protectorate to the Bey, again unsuccess-

fully, and for sending a French iron clad to Tunis. The 

real motive for the sending of the "Friedland", as 

Barthelemy Saint Hilaire ingeniously told Lyons on 

February 2, was the question of the Enfida. Saint Hilaire 

probably thought that, Reade being now neutralized on 

the syot, the presence of the "Friedland" would intimidate 

the Bey and bring the affair of the Enfida to a satis-

factory conclusion. J.t is less eas;)' to understand why 

the l!'rench minister should 11.ave ex~ected that Granville 

would remain idle. l 

It would have been di l ficult to act more clumsily. 

Until then Granville had acted with much restraint pro­

bably because of the agreements of 1878, and of his 

1. Saint Hilaire's sta tesmanship has been questioned more 
than once: Noailles stated that "he had 'embrouille' 
the affair Which he had never thoroughly understood" 
(paget to Granville, ~arch 25,1881)! an~Wadd~ngton 
told Adams that he could not help l~kenlng Sa~nt 
Hilaire to a man "who without any knowledge of 
skating had suddenly been put upon the ice with 
sk::3 tes on, and l{ept slipping about" (G.P. 175 Adams 
to Granville, July 25,1881). 
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anxiety to avoid entering into difficulties with France. 

Barthelemy's decisions freed him from Salisbur'y's pro-

mises and allowed him to intervene on behalf of British 

interests which the French were threatening in Tunis, 

and to express his dissatisfaction with French policy 

in Tunis, and probably in Greek affairs. l On the other 

hand Barthelemy Saint Hilaire's behaviour was so obvious-

ly provocative and so detrimental to the rights of a 

British subject (however dubious these rights might be) 

that Granville was bound to show his teeth: the more 80 

as strong pressure was brought to bear ulJon him by 

Broadley and his political friends in London (Montague 

Guest in the commons and Earl De La warr in the Lords)2. 

As Dilke himself concluded "we did not want to keep the 

French out of Tunis, but \1Ve could not have ironclads 

used to force Tunisian Law Courts into giving decisions 

hostile to British subjects.,,3 

Granville took a very firm stand: Unless the "Fried-

landtt were immediately recalled from 'runis, he wrote to 

Lyons on February 3, the British Government would found 

themselves in the necessity of sending a naval force to 

1. Safwat, p. 309. Gwynn and Tuckwell, I, 378. 
Duplicity or Diplomacy, p. 6. 

2. FO 102 143. Montague Guest to Granville, February 
1 1881, Broadley , I, p. 202. 

3. Gwynn and Tuclcwell, I, 360. 
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Tunis, a decision which would be unfortunate "as it 

would give a false impression of a disturbance of the 

good relations existing between It'rance and England" and 

woulantend 'to make the question itself more difficult of 
1 

settlement". Barthelemy Saint Hilaire, at last conscious 

of his blunder, then tried to deny that the sending of 

the "Friedland" was connected with the Enfida affair; it 

was connected Vii th alarming rumours about a 'rurkish attempt 

against Tunis; the danger, however, appeared to be "moins 
I I / "" 

prochain Qu'on n'avait ete autorise a le croire lt and in 

these conditions the presence of the ~riedland in Tunis 
/ 

tIne (serait) pas de longue duree". In conclusion Saint 

Hilaire hoped that the It'oreign Office would give up the 
, 

idea of sending a warship "mesure sur le caractere 

co •. ;minatoire de laquelle il serai t l?enible au Gouvernement 
2 

francais d'insister". .dot unexpectedly Granville 

thought the answer "vague" and the assurances insufficient 

and suggested that two ships be ordered to call at Tunis. 

Gladstone gave his consent: "We "cannot well do less or 

more with reference to this foolish escapade of the 

French, he wrote to Granville· on It'ebruary 4. 3 On the 

1. A.O.T., IV, Granville to Lyons, February 3, 1881. 
2. D.D.F., III, Note given by st.Hilaire to Lyons, 

February 4. 
3. G.P. 124, Granville to Gladstone, and Gladstone to 

Granville, It'cbruary 4, 1881. 
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5th of February the Admiralty sent the "Thunderer" to 

Tunis. It only remained for Barthelemy Saint Hilaire to 

recognize that "he alone (could) be accused (Of] the mis­

take". On February 8 he announced the departure of the 

"fl~iedland" from Tunis, which was immediately followed 

by that of the "Thunderer". 

9. Granville had met with a complete success which, 

however, was to leave him in a rather embarrassing posi-

ition. First of all quite soon it appeared that the 

removal of the man-of-war had not brought the Enfida 

affair nearer a satisfactory conclusion. On February 

7, Dilke thouc;ht it possible to announce to the Commons 

• 

that the two governments had agl'eed "that the question 

should be dealt with by the local tribunals".l Granville's 

illus .... ons were quickly dispelled: on the 9th Barthelemy 

Saint Hilaire denied thGt he had ever accepted that the 

matter should be left to local jurisdiction; it was "so 

open to suspicion" that the ,b'rench Government must exa-

mine the question more minutely; the case, Saint Hilaire 

hinted in conclusion, might be "referred to impartial 

arbitration".2 Lyons was not a little disappointed, and 

so probably was Granville: but there was no avoiding a 

1. 
2. 

Hansard, CCLVII, 267 
~ 0 T IV Lyons to Granville, February 9,1881. 

.tt.. • ., • 
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resumption of the discussion upon the bases suggested by 

the French. It dragged on through February, March and 

April without positive results. Obviously the French 

Government were not anxious to conclude: it was to their 

interest to wait until the evolution of the Tunisian 

situation should allow them to seize the Enfida without 

difficulty (as was to happen after the establishment of' 

the protectorate). But the : position of Granville, 

whom Reade and Broadley urged to give the affair to the 

local 'cribunals while he was plied wi th questions in the 
. 1 

Comlllons and the Lords was far from enviable. The Law 

Officers, when consulted, we~e not very helpful: they 

appeared to favour a judgement by a Consular Court but 

admitted that it might be convenient for both parties 

"that the difference should be determined. by means of 

an independent arbitration.,,2 "I cannot think anything 

clear in this case" Lord selborne sadly concluded on 

March 9. 

From a political point of view the situation was not 

more satisfactory. When in face of Barthelemy Saint 

Hilaire's inprudences Granville had felt bound to make 

some kind of reprisals, he had tried to limit the signi-

ficance of his action: "DO not announce or give any 

1. nrummong Woiff-and Montague Guest on :&'ebruary 21; 
Montague Guest on x..iarch 10; Earl de la Warr and Lord 
Stanley on March 25; l'~Iontaf2,ue Guest on April 5; de 
la Warr on April 7 •.•• 

2. FO 102 144. Law Officers to Granville, l'iiarch3,1881 
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ostentatious importance" to the arrival of the "Thunderer" 

he had wri tten to Reade on It"lebruary 5. 1 But Granville 

could not prevent the 'sending of the "Thunderer" from 

being seen in 'runis in a different light, as marking the 

return of Britain to her traditional policy in the 

Regency. Reade let loose his "levantine animus": The 

effect of the visit of the l.'hunderer has been tt in the 

highest degree satisfactory" he re:ported triumphantly 

on Febl"uary 14; the impl"ession was prevailing that 

"Great Britain had ••• ceased to take an interest in the 

fate of this Regency, and, as a natural conseQ.uence 

French influence pr-evailed here ••• All is now changed ••• 

The 'l'unisian mind, which infers from the Thunderer's 

mission an aSEurance of this country's independence, 

is restored to a condition of comparative tranquillity.,,2 

The interpretation given to Granville's policy largely 

exceeded the real character of his action: as Lord Lyons 

wrote on March 15, it was to be feared that the affair 

of the Enfida and Reade's conduct ould lead Uto 

expectations of sUL"j)ort from us which could not be rea-

lized in case of need.,,3 Granville was prone to cast 

the whole blame upon Reade: "I am afraid (he) has been 

1. A.O.T. IV, Granville to Reade, February 5. 
2. FO 102 143. Reade to Granville, February 14,1881. 
3. G.P. 171, Lyons to Glanville, March 15, 1881. 



-633-

too impulsi veil he remarl:ced on February 10, and on March 

16, "I wish Read.e had never been sent to Tunis. ttl But 

the Consul could find some excuse in the fact that he had 

been very ill-informed of Granville's policy. That l)olicy 

itself was singularly uncertain about its aims and methods, 

Granville had never been able to reach in regard to Tunis 

Lyons' philosophical detachment: "in the peculiar state 

of things between us and trw Prench about 'runis, the more 

philosophically (Reade) can see the French bully and the 

Italian intrigue there, the better·tf , he wrote to the 

Foreign Secretary on M.arch 18. 2 But it was unfortunate 

that saint Hilaire's high-handed ~nd clumsy proceedings 

had so to say forced Granville into intervening in Tunis, 

for at the very time when Great iritain appeared ready 

to enter on a ser~ous quarrel with France about the 

Enfida, everybody in Granville's entourage, and Granville 

himself, were expressing the most serious doubts about 

the fairness of Levy's claim. 3 The embarrassment was 

the greater in London as the Foreign Office was conscious 

of serving the interests of Italy's policy in Tunis in 

- ... ------
1. G.P. 202. G:anville to Lyons, February 9, March 16,1881 
2. G. P. 1'71. 
3. selborne, on February 9: "Consul Reade seems to me to 

have assumed with a greater degr2'e of confidence than 
I can entirely share that Mr. Levy's claim of pre­
emjltion is well founded. tt (FO.l02 143). Granville on 
,li'ebruary 9, : "we are not very strong in our belief 
of Levy having right on his side fl (G.P. 202) - Lyons 
on February 11 expresl?ed a strong presuf!lption "again~t" 
Levy's being a bona f~de purchasel" on h~s own accoun • 
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spite of its efforts to avoid acting with Italy in the 

matter, and being entangled in the diplomatic wrangles 

about Tunis: the British Government, Granville told the 

Italian Ambassador on February 4, "were anxious to keep 

the Question of M. Levy's case separate from any other 

matters in 'funis, and to deal with it upon its own merits. ,,1 

In these conditions one understands Granville's 

belated wish that "the sooner the matter gets out of the 

international position it now occupies, the better it 

will be,tt 2 and his final decision about the Enfida 

Question "that Her Majesty's Govermnent are not called 

on to interfere in the difference which had arisen 

between the contending pUl"chasea of the Enfida Estate" 

(April 19). Unfol"tunately this pacifying gesture (if 

it was one) came too late: the Tunisian Question had 

just reached its final stage and the E'rench were soon to 

be in a position to settle questions in Tunis entirely 

in their own favour. In effect the Prench Government 

had drawn their own conclusions from the Enfida affair and 

their resolutions were not affected by the efforts of 

the Foreign Office to limit the significance of its 

intervention. As Granville had foreseen the "Enfida mess" 

1. FO 45 424, Granville to Poget, February 4, 1881 
2. G.P. 202 Granvi.!..le to Lyons, March 23, 1881. 
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had left "a bi tter taste in the Pl~ench mouth"l: the 

French had had the feeling that Granville was not m~y in-

di f ferent to their claims in Tunis, in sgite of Salisbury's 

pledges, but that he was now disputing the supremacy of 

French interests in Tunis. The Enfida affair, they 

believed, had been an Italian intrigue for raising 

difficulties between England and France, and with Reade's 

support it had largely succeeded. If the French posi-

tions i. , Tunis were to be saved, i t- was high time to 

act energetically. The hesitations which had appeared in 

Granville t s 'policy since ,li'ebruary, and his slowmess in 

taking a definitive position, induced the Quai d'Qrsay 

to ex.pect that the Frencr.l. undertaking. would meet in 
~ England wi th a grumpy neutrality at tL.G very worst.' 

1. G.P. 202. Granville to Lyons, February 9, 1881. 
2. See Challemel Lacour's opinion about Granville's 

attitude, (D.D.F. III, April 4, 1081). 
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XVII. The Bardo (April - May 1881) 

!;'rance decides to go ahead in 'llunis. ' 

1. Several reasons prompted the French government to 

seize upon the first opportunity which offered to go 

into the Regency and to put an end to the somewhat con-

fused situation which had prevailed since the Berlin 

Congress. The French authorities were of course eager 

to solve the Enlfrida question at their advantage, both 

on its own merits and because it was to be a test for 

subsequent French economic enterprises in the Regency.l 

But political considerations came first: Italian pre-

tensions in Tunis as ex-pressed during the SiciliaIl 

demonstrations (January 1881) had deve~oped into a 

systematic op~osition to French interests, either by 

the publication of the ttMostakel" in cagliari in which 

French policy was vigorously attacked, or by the ob-

stacles which they were putting in the way of the French 

concession for the 'runis-sousse ra.i.lway. The "Italian 

danger" was deemed to be the more acute as the b'rench 

1. 
,/ / 

'llhe opposition in the Chambre des Deputes, and 
several French polemists (especially Rochefort) 
have lengthily dwelt on the financial side of the 
Tunisian o~eration. See in Broadley, II, 260, 
Villetts declaration(made at the Roustan's action 
for libel against Rochefort), that private specula­
tions sU'p~orted by Roustan had provided an excuse 
for French intervention in Tunis. 
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government were afraid of the existence of some kind of 

'entente' between Italy and England about Tunis: that 

impression was largely unfounded, but Cairoli himself 

entertained illusions about the support which he could 

find in England to counteract French policy in Tunis. l 

Feeling tllat their chances of acquiring Tunis were decrea-

sing, the French government decided to settle definitely 

the cgaracter of their relations wi th 'l'unis and close 
~ 

the door to further op~ortunities for Italian interference.~ 

Tl1.e certainty of Uerman sUpport, the pressure of public 

(especially in Algeri8), the agreement of the RepUb.Lican 

leaders and above all of Gambetta, the necessity of 

acting wmll before the alJ.QroaC!ling general elections, 

were the other considera)ions which, at the end of March 

prompted the Government to action. 3 

It was at the end of h,arch 1881 that "des Kroumirs, 

plus ou moins menacants, en tout cas OIJ.Qortuns,,4 came 

on the stage. On March 31 and April 1 500 Kroumirs 

inVaded~.Algerian territory and after some hours' gunfire 

wi thdrew to Tunis. .J:.t'rontier incidents of this kind were 

no news in the northern part of the Regency: the French 

1. Chiala, II, pp. 242-243. safwat, p. 290. 
2. safwat, P9· 293-294, and 313. 
3. Langer, The European Powers, p. 260. Safwat, p.324. 
4. Freycinet, p. 169. 
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Blue Book records no less than 2635 complaints for 

trespass of frontiers in ten years. But this time the 

French authorities were resolved to act: Jules Grevy 

the Governor of Algiers , irnmedia tely aslced for a mili-

tar·y intervention. The Government decided to bring the 

'runisian ma t ter to an issue: on April 4 Jul,-s Ferry 

informed the Chambers of the incidents and aslced for, 

and obtained, credits for an expedition which was to be 

limited to the chastisement of the frontier tribes. 

But on the 11th, at the end of the Parliamentary session, 

Jules Ferry made an unambiguous dec.:.aration "Le Gouverne­

ment, he said, ira dans la repression militaire Qui comm-
, 

ence, jusQu'au point ou il faut qu'il aille pour mettre 
, / / .-
a l'abri d'une fa~on serieuse et durable la securite et 

l'evenir de Ie Tunisie." 

British policy was far from having the sharp out-

lines which the French suspected and which it needed, 

considering the resolutions of the Paris Cabinet. Since 

the sending of the "Thunderer·tt Granville had fallen back 

in his hesitations and irresolution: he was torn between 

the feeling that the agreement of 1878 was in some way 

binding u~on the British government and precluded a 

strong stand in 11unis, and his dislike of the methods and 

aims of French i}olicy in Tunis. .filurthermore he w~s fully 
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conscious of the didlomatic ~roblems which an action 

about Tunis would involve: It was difficult for the 

Liberals to support the claims of the Porte in Tunis, 

or even to gLve it assistance while they openly expressed 

their dislike of the ottomans and had not ceased to 

wringle concessions from them in the East, since 1880. 

On the other hand, Granville was just trying to settle, 

against the porte, the Greek question which was to reach 

its climax in April, and he wss thus precluded to make 

any strong .l.nter'vention in Tunis, in the meantime. l<'rench 

statesmen were indeed equivocating about Greece, as in 

1880 about f~lontenegro, to eranville t s obvious dissatis­

faction. On the other hand Italy was careful to act 

"in complete concord" with Great Britainl , in order to 

win her support in Tunis. But Bismarck, whose backing 

Granville tried anxiously to obtain in the Greco-Turkish 

boundary dispute, whole-heartedly, and openly supported 

France in her Tunisian undertaking. 

In these conditions Granville was more unable than 

ever to make up his mlnd about the attitude to adopt and 

went more or less adrift under the conflicting influences 

of Reade who advocated action, of public and· Parliamentary 

opinion which criticized his passivity, and of the Cabinet 

1. l!'0 4-5 424. Granville to Paget, I'lirJrch 7, 1881. 
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members and the Foreign Off ice functionaries who deemed 

an intervention impracticable. This impotence of 

British ?olicy was the more unfortunate as Britain's 

attitude was to be decisive at this critical stage of 
1 the Tunis question. 

Granville's hesitations (April-May 1881). 

2. From the outset Granville's attitude was in no way 

favourable and in spite of Bismarck's encouragements 

to France and assurances that Britain would not move 

and would accept the "fait-accompli,,2, it a'ppeared that 

the :b'oreign 01'1' ice was unwilling to t:;i ve "carte-blanche" 

to France. In answer to B8rthelemy Ss int I-iilaire' s 

inquiry about the intentions of the British Government, 

Granville enumerated the obstacles which the :b'rench would 

find in their way: "We do not wish to follow the example 

of tne foolish opposition made to Algiers", he wrote 

to Lyons on April 6, "but the It'rench cannot be allowed 

to seize Tunis without the consent of Turkey and COffil;Juni-

cation with the rest of Europe. The ttalians wish us to 

move vigorously in the matter. ,,3 Granville lmderstood 

1. 

2. 

In lliiarch 18bl, Dilkc rdlghtly remarked in trlis connec­
tion: "If we want to stop the French from going to 
Tunis, there is a safe and easy way to do it - i.e. 
let me go to Berlin for one day and see Bismarck 
and talk about the weather, and then to Rome f or one 
hour and see no one, merely to let the f~ ct get in 

, the newspapers" (Gwynn and 'l'uclCVvell, I, p. Ll 12). 
D.D.F. III, De saint Vallier to Saint Hilaire, 
April 3, 1881. 
Newton (II, p. 241), by error, gives the date of 
April 5 to this letter. 
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that with the Greek problem still on his hands an active 

0p.J;>osi tion was imposE,ible, but he was not ready to acknow-

l~ { ge it and British policy at this stage could be 

summarized in one typical formula of his letter to Lyons: 

"pray look as mysterious as you can as to what might be 

our attitude." And Granville rema11 ked, hopelessly, on 

April 6: "We ought to make up our minds what attitude we 

ought t o take."l 

In these conditions, the simplest way of dealing 

wi th the .&lrench expedition was obviously to take the , 

French assurances about their limited designs for Gospel 

truth. Disquieting signs were not lacking indeed: 

Barthelemy Saint Hilaire himself made a rather ominous 

comment on his first assurances that the French had "no 

intention of annexing Tunis but were determined to punish 

the savages who attacked the~t: these we~e his "intentions 
/ , I 

presentes" but he had "nullement limite (sa) liberte 

6'action, et ••• .Dris aucun engagement pour l'avenir" 

(April 8), Lyons avowed that he could not view the 

accumulation of ':;:'~rench forces in Algiers "without anxiety. ~ 

However the Foreign Office showed, at least offiCially, 

the utmostmnfidence in the assurances given in Paris. 

1. G.P. 124. 
2. A.O.T. II, Lyons to Granville, April 8, 1881; D.D.F 

III, st. Hilaire to Challemel Lacour, Apr'il 8. 
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In Parlisrnent Dilke and liranville impel"turbably gave as 

answer to mneasy queries about French action in Tunis 

that assurances had been given that the opel'>ations v:iould 

be confined "to the punishment of the lawless Frontier 

tribes" and that any other object "would be quite out­

side of the statement ••• made to Lord Lyons. ,,1 Similarly 

Granville reassured M:enabrea vlho expressed the misgivings 

of his government about French intentions: "While France 

claimed to exercise the influence over Tunis which is 

necessary for a powerful civilised country over a small 

and less civilised neighbour ••• she had no intention to 

annex Tunis.,,2 Lastly in answer to Reade's anxious 

a.)peals - the Consul suggested that British warships be 

sent to Tunis, and even, on April '7, that Bizerta be 

occupied with a naval force as Ita desirable countermove,,3-

Granville instructed Reade to "maintain a careful reserve" 

and to recommend the Bey to "take all necessary meaSU1"es 

to co-opera te with the ,b'rench au thori ties in the punish-

ment" of the recent outI'ages, a piece of advice which had 

of course "a very depressing effect" in Tunis. 4 

Some disappointment could not but a ,pear also in 

Rome - de courcel rel)orted that the Italian Embassy in 

1. Hansard CCLX, Dilke April 8 (1021) and ]:,iay 3 (1662) 
2. AOT, N2. Granville to ""ienabrea, April 6, 1881. 
3. FO 102 133, Reade to Granville, Apr~l 5,7 and 8,1881 
4. A.O.T. N2, Granville to Reade, April 8, 1881. 
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. 1 London complained of "l'egolsme des Anglal.s" - and Con-

stantinople - "Voila encore une fois Que l'Angleterre 

nous 18che" the Turlcish interpreter commented after 

Gos chen's interview with the SUltan. 2 

Challemel Lacour remarked with satisfaction that in spite 

of "une certaine defiance, sinon un peu d'aigreur" it 

was likely that Granville would not appose the Tunisian 

operation actively.3 British public opinion, however, 

and a large portion of P8rliament, expressed an open 

sympathy for the Bey which was partly the result of 

Broadley's activity: besides the part of occult TuniSian 

Foreign Minister which he played in Tunis during the 

crisis, he was in correspondence with three London Papers, . 

wrote the ~euter telegrams and was representeo by person-

a1 acquaintances in both Houses of ps rliament. 4 
It was 

perhaps w~th a view to putting an end to this hostile 

campaign and undoubtedly to strengthen Granville's un-

steady resmlution not to interfere that, on April 10, 

Barthelemy Saint Hilaire sent the correspondence relative 

to the Berlin agreement to Challemel Lacour: these docu-

ments, Saint Hilaire remarlced, were to remain "strictly 

1. D. D. F., L .. I, De courcel to Noailles, April 1G,1881. 
2. G.P. 189, Goschen to Granville, April 13, 1881. 
3. D.D.F. III, Challemel Lacour to Saint H~laire, 

APril 7, 1881. 
4. See Granville's declaration in the Lords on May 29 

(Hansard CCLXI, 144.7). 
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confidential" and there was "jusQ.u,a present" no desire 

to make them .QUblic. l But it cannot be a mere coinci-

dence that on April 11, Blowitz, then correspondent of 

the Times in Paris, gave an account of the Berlin agree-

ment which was so accubate that, in s pite of Saint 

Hilaire's subsequent denial, it could only have originated 

in a "calculated indiscretionlt of the French Foreign 

Office. Blowitz' conclusion that "successive cabinets 

in England may differ as to the means but not as to the 

great princilJ les '~Jf forei gn policy, and loyally abid.e by 

theirpredecessors' engagements" 'Could indeed have been 
t") 

Saint Hilaire's.u 

Be that as it may, the "Blowitz bomb" made a strong 

impression 'in England: the British Government were dis-

armed, but at the same time the a ttacks which were 

directed against them in Parliament and the country were 

somewhat blunted. Even if Granville ·had had an urge to . 

intervene and had thought of favour i ng a scheme of med­
~ 

iation
U 

he seemed definitely to corne round to an attitude 
I ' c" 

1. D. D. F. Ill, Barthelemy st. ,dilaire, April 10. 
2. The Times, April 11, 1881, p. 5, col.2. 
3. It is at this point that the somewhat obscure Dufferin 

episode occurs: At the beginning of May Bismarck 
assured st Vallier that Lord Dufferin, when coming 
back from Russia, had tried to decide him to tal{e 
part in an European mediation in the Tunisian affair 
"sur un ordre s~ecial de Granville lt (D.D.F. III. st 
Vallier, May 2.). But none of t he il?-formatiomwe 
have about Lord Dufferin' s conversat~on Wi. th trle 
Chancellor on APril 1 8 coni'~:~ms Bism~rck' s statem~nt 
(G.P. 185 Dufferin to Granv~lle, Apr~l 23 - Lyall. ~ 

/cont. p.6Ll 'D 
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of strict neutrality: "The whole question is difficult 

and delicate, he wrote to Queen Victoria on April 14, 

and made more so by some impulsive declarations of Lord 

Salisbury at Berlin •••• Your Majesty's present govern-

ment, like the last, admit that they have no jealousy 

of the legitimate influence of a great civilized country 

over a semi-barbarous and weak neig:lbour". The question 

Granville added,was "what is legitimate influence"l 

he gave no precise answer but it appeared clearly from 

what followed that tllegitimate influence" was anything 

short of annexation. In any case, during the few days 

which followed, Granville gave uninistakable proofs of 

his desire to stand aloof from the Tunisian Question:;. 

On April 19 he informed Lyons that the Goverhment did 

not feel that they were called on to interfere in the 

Enfida affair. The Bey's successive calls for help were 

left unanswered: On April 20 Granville only expressed 

1. The Letters of Queen Victoria, III, pp. 209-210. 

3. (cont. from p.644) : The Life of the Marquis of 
Dufferin I, 323). Dilke and Granville have denied it 
most emphatically (Gwynn and 'ruckwell, I, 381), and 
Odo Russell likew~se denied that there had been English 
representation against France about Tunis in Berlin 
(FO 64 981 Odo Russell to Granville, May 10,1881). one 
is reduced to suppose either tha'L, it vms one of Bis­
marck's usual tl'icl;;:s to embroil France and Great 
Britain or, more likely, that in the course of a 
conversation which dealt with 'l'unis among many other 
subjects, Lord Dufferin.had.made a,con~identi~~ and . 
unofficial sounding about B1smarck s V1ews. (G1accard1 
p. 311). 



his regret "at the Bey's refusal to co-operate with the 

French, since it gives them a plausible excuse for taking 

the law into their own hands." At the same time the 

Poreign Secretary ignored Menabrea's suggestion "of 

simultaneous and identic ac t .J..on" of the two governments 

in view of the eventual despatch of warships to protect 

British and Italian nationals in Tunis~: it did not ai?,pear 

that there was any real occasion for it, Granville 

answered, and the sending of warships would most likely 

induce France to do the same. l 
The sugcestion made by 

the Turl{ish Government that England should interfere in 

the 'runisian question met likewise with a "stern" admon-

ition by Goschen about the past misbehaviour of Turkey: 

moreover Goschen made it clear to the Sultan that England 

was not "interesteoU in maintaining the status quo in 

'l'unis but only "desirous" that it should be maintained. 2 

It was not to be denied "that the French (were) playing 

the part of the wolf against the lamb in the Tunisian 

matter," Lyons concluded on April 22, "but unless the 

Italians (could) and (would) protect the lamb, it (was) 

very far from a kindness to her to stir her up to defy 

the Violf,,3: obviously Granville was not ready to pit 

himself against the wolf, and Lyons even leGS. 

1. 
2. 
3. 

A.O.T. II, Granville to Paget, April 20, 1881. 
A.O.T., II, Gos chen to Granville, April 19, N 57 & 58. 
G.P. 171. Lyons to Granville, April 22, 1881. 
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3. It soon apge ared that Granville's hopes "that the 

matter (would) be satisfactorily settled and ••• the 

marauders ••• subdued and punished by the jOint action 

of the French and Tunisian authorities"l would be dis-

apPointed. Vihile the Bey firmly refused to co-operate in 

the projected operations, huge concentrations of troops 

were -taicing place behind the frontier and were completed 

on the 20th of April: 30,000 men, 24,000 of which had been 

brought from France, were ready to invade the Regency, 

in three columns on the 24th of April. In the meanwhile 

a landing of troops was prepared in Tabarka from the 

16th and carried out on April 25. after a show of resis-

tance. It became difficult to entertain illusions any 

longer ab ..: ut the real character of the French expedition. 

On April 22 Lyons re~orted that the object of the inter-

vention was to "exact from the Bey the signature of a 

Treaty which, with or without the introduction of the 

word protectorate, shall place France in an exceptional 

and predominating position in the Regency.,,2 

Granville's forced Ol)timism gave place to concern 

and his long-repressed irritation suddenly broke out: 

"I am uneasy about Tunis, " he wrote to Gladstone on 

April 21, "I see that during the reigns of Louis Philippe 

1. 
2. 

A 0 'I'll, Granville to Lyons, Ap· ril 9, I G81. • • • 
A 0 T II, T·yons to Granville, April 22,1861. . .. ..... 
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and of Napoleon III, the French were constantly biting 

at Tunis, and as::f'ten stopped by the decided language 

of successive Foreign Secretaries. I do not like barking 

without biting. But if the result of our not barking 

a t all is that the prench make (Bizerta) ••• impregnable ••• 

and neutralizing Malta, vve shall look rather foolish." 

Granville then suggested that Lyons be instructed to 

remind the French" tha t this country had alvvays maintained 

the doctrine, now put forward by Tur key and the Bey, that 

Tunis was under the suzerainty of the porte. The risk 

of a war wi th }t'rance about Tunis is appallin6," Granville 

concluded, "but they would have to think twice before 

they took steps which might bring upon the. England and 

Italy. A hint need not commi t _i.S, while it mi ght have 

a moderating effect on the French."l This limited and 

ill defined scheme of vocal ovposition to French action 

in Tunis was only a new and more r eBerved variation on 

the t heme of "look mysterious as you can": "I do not see 

how we are to give France 'ca rte blanche'" Granville 

wrote to Lyons. It 'would be as well that Prance should 

not ima gine that it would be ":perfectly impossible" 

to have England, Italy and the Arabs against her. No 

doubt Lyons did not like the despatch even accompanied 

with Granville's Qualification ("I am rather sorry to 

1. Glaa~ stone, A",r il 2~ (partly 124 Granvilie to - ~ 
G.P l.'n· ~itzmaurice, II, 234) quoted -
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1 
send it.") Gladstone was not enthusiastic eitner: 

"OIilr position for resisting the French intrigues in 

Tunis" he replied. on April 22, "has been fri ghtfully 

weakened first by the acquisition of Cyprus ••• secondly 

by Salisbury's declaration, which . . . I suppose binds 

us ••• In fact, the position seems to me not tenable 

beyond the point of fri endly remonstrances in case of 

need.,,2 

Gladstone had however agreed to sending ships when-

ever it would a J .gear necessary, and the Admiralty was 

accordingly requested to keep a ship of war ready at 

Nia l ta to be dispatched to the Tunisian coa s t (April 22). 

In the meanwhile Lyons, acting on Gr anville's instruct­

i ons reminded B[ll~th~lemy Saint Hilaire that Great Britain 

maintained the doctrine that Tunis was under the 

suzerainty of the porte and formed a part of the otto­

man Empire,3 on April 23 and again on April 25, Menabrea 

sULgested the sending of shifls of war to Tunis "not as 

a menace to France" but as a measure of protection for 

English and Italian subijects, and "represented that the 

1. Newton, II, pp. 242, 243. Granville to Lyons,April 
22, 1881. 

2. Fitzmaurice, II, p. 236, Gladstone to Granville, 
Apl~il 22. 

3. A.O.T. II, Lyons to Granville, April 25. "Nobody 
will wrap up the warning of our doctrine as to the 
ottoman Em:pire better than you will", Granville 
wrote to Lyons on April 22 (Newton, p. 243). 
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moment had arrived for ta lcing some decision. ttl Granville 

gave no imlJJediate ansvver but as the Italiam stated that 

the French fleet had received orders to go to the 
C) 

Goulette~ and asked what Britain was "prepared to do 

in concert with them" he obviously contemplated some 

restraining action in conjunction with Italy and asked 

for Gladstone's opinion by telegra.Qh. The Prime Mini­

stersanswer was very clear: Granville was free to act 

on his judgement "as to sending force" but Gladstone 

was ttaverse to combination".3 

Under these circmTIstances Granville decided to give 

up the course of policy which he had s ke tched from the 

S2nd: "Tunis does not seem so alarming as Menabrea seemed 

to thinlc," he wr'ote to Glad.stone on the 27th. "1 suppose 

our best policy is to do nothing to irritate the French 

unnecessarily and at the same time nothing to reassp.re 

them as to possible result.,,4 Granville thus reverting 

to the policy of "look as mysterious as you can", 

Tunisian affairs resumed their previous aspect. To the 

queries in the Commons, Dilke opposed the French 

assurances about the aims and limits of the expedition. 

1. A.O.T. II, Granville to Paget, April 25, 1881. 
2. The news immediately received a flat denial in Paris. 
3. G.P. 124 Granville to Gladstone, April 25, and 

Gladstone to Granville, April 26. 
4. G.P. 124, Granvi~le to Gladstone, April 27, 1881. 
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The alJpeal addressed by the Bey to the Powers signatory 

of the Berlin Treaty after the "violation" of the 

Tunisian territory by French troops (April 25) was dis­

regarded in the Foreign Office: Granville replied to 

Menabrea's inquiry about British intentions and offer 

of common action that "Her IIiIa jesty's Government Cwould) 

not imrnediately reply to the Bey's circular. ,,1 A 

Turkish 1)ro.£)osa1 for an inquiry about the Tunisian diffi-

culties met with no better success.: the British Govern­

ment did not feel "called u,Pon to give any opinion 

upon the proposal ••• which (appeared) to be superseded 
2 by the course of events." Lastly Reade's repeated 

demands for the sending of a British ship of war met 

with a cold and even irritated welcJme in London: "The 

accounts given in your several telegrams as to danger 

to foreign residents are not quite consistent" Granville 

wrote on April 26 "Continue to maintain a reserved and 

cautious attitude." And some days later, while Reade 

frightened by the prospect of a French protectorate 

being imposed on the Bey, suggested a British interven-

tion ("1 am convinced that a word from Her Majesty's 

Representative would effectually prevent his yielding 

1. A.O.T., II, GranviLle to Paget, April 29. 
A 0 rj1 II, Tenterden to Musurus Pasha, May 1, 1881. . ..... , 2. 
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even now.") Tenterden remarked that it "would be as 

well" if Granville were to write privately to Reade "to 

tell him not to get us into an imbroglio. He seems all 

on the wrong tack."l 

4. On May 1 the port of Bizerta was unexpectedly 

conquered by the French and on the 2nd, 8000 soldiers 

were landed and soon began marching towards Tunis, which 

was only 100 kilometres distant from Bizerta. The French 

were now going far beyond the objects which they had 

avowedly assigned to their intervention. The sudden 

extension of the operations, as well as the pros~ects 

of seeing Bizerta transformed into a French naval base 

aroused deep emotions in Great Britain: "The French have 
2 behaved very badly" the Q,ueen remarked on May 2. Gran-

ville himself was deeply perturned by the news, and the 

gravity of the situation, which confirmed the apprehen-

sions he had expressed to Gladstone in April, led him 

to consider diplomatic action to check further French 

progl"ess. 

The circwnstances seemed to be wholly favourable for 

Britain's taking the initiative of interhational action. 

On Jollay 3 the porte proposed to the Signatories of the 

1. FO 102 132. Re ade to Gr anville, May 1; G.P. 193, 
Tenterden, May 1, 1881. 

2. G.P. 38, Queen Victoria to Granville, May 2. 
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Berlin treaty "de (s')entendre soit avec el1es, soit 

directement avec la France" to arrive to a satisfactory 

settlement of French grievances. l The Italian Govern-

rnent were pressing the Foreign Office to take the ini­

tiative in bringing about a solution of the Tunisian 

difficulties: if the British Government were disposed 

to take any steps with that object in view "the Italian 

Government would be ready to cordially co-operate" 

Menabrea again assurred Granville on May 4. 2 On the same 

day the Russian Ambassador affirmed that his Government 

wished to ascertain the views of Great Britain "with 

whom they would be glad to act as far as possible in 
3 

unison." Lastly the Bey of 'l'unis made a desperate 

appeal to Granville's help on May 5: ".Ie place mon propre 

sort, ainsi Que les destinees de la Regence entre les 

mains de Votre Excellence ••• implorant, au nom de 

l'humanite et en qualite d'ancien allie de votre gouverne-

ment ••• 1', aide de Votre Excellence. ,,4 'rhe fate of 

Tunis was in the hands of Granville, who since the 

settlement of the Greek Question (May 2) Vias freer to 

act than ever before. 

1. A.O.'r., II, Assim Pasha to Musurus Pasha, May 3, 1881 
2. A.O.T., II, Granville to Paget, May 4, 1081. 
3. A.O.T., II, Granville to Wyndham, May 4, 1881. 
4. A.O.T. The Bey to Granville, May 5. Broadley was 

present at the Council which decided to send the 
appeal, and concluc1es : "everybody felt that we 
were now hoping against hope." (I., p. 293). 
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Dill{e has given the only account which we possess 

of the memorable 6th of May when Lord Granville, against 

Tenterden's and Dilke's opinion, drafted despatches to 

Gerli1any and Austria "as to the pos i tion of the French 

in Tunis with a view to raise the concert of Europe in 

their path". During the discussion which followed 

'renterden and Dilke pointed out to Granville t hat 

Germany and Austria would "snub" Great Britaih and that 

the Concert of Europe would be reduced to Russia, Italy 

and England: "A curious league . . . and a queer concert". 

These arguments were convincing and Granville at last 

abandoned his scheme. l International action was im-

practicable, but Granville's hostility to the French 

policy in Tunis found a milder and more limited exgress­

ion in the half-offer of mediation which, on M8Y 7, he 

instructed Lyons to make in Paris: vYhile not doubting 

the sincerity of the assurances given by the French 

government about the aims of the exgedition, the British 

government could not but note the fact t hat it seemed 

directed "to some object beyond the mere chastisement 

of disorderly Arab tribes"; this object, although not 

being a protectorate, "would be in the nature of one". 

Great Britain could not be indifferent to measures 

1. Gwpnn and Tucl{Well, I, 380. 
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affecting the existing state of the Regency; nor could 

she "ignore entirely" the Bey's and the Sultan's 

appeals. Without desiring to give an exaggerated imp-

ortance to the Question of Tunis or make "any formal 

proposal of mediation" unless invited to do so, by both 

parties, the British Government were ready, if they 

could "in any way conduce to an early settlement" of 

the Tuniso-French differences,"to exercise all the 

influence they (might) possess in any manner which 

(Barthelemy Saint H~laire might) indicate as likely to 

be useful and acceptable."l 

One wonders whether Granville entertained any 

illusions about the chances of success of a proposal 

which was so va guely shaped and so timidly put forward, 

which had no international sup~ort - ezcept from the 

vacillating Turkey and weak Italy as even Russia was 

soon to confirm that she would observe a reserved atti­

tude in the 'funisian affair2 - and which was not 

expected to be more than a friendly advice as the 

majority of, if not all, the members of the Cabinet 

were convinced of 'I:;he impl"acjtibili ty of any protest 

and of its undesirableness for the reasons which Gladstone 

had very forcefully stated . As for the French Qovernment, 

1. A. O. T., II, Granville to Lyons, hiay 7, 1881. 
2. A. O. T., VI, Wyndham to Gl'anville, May 11, 1881. 
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strong as they were in German support, fthey were now 

wei ting for the conclusion of ttle '11unisian affair. Ttle 

French troops had left Bizerta on kay 7 for the last 

stage of their canrpaign, the Bardo, and it was hoped in 

Paris that the success of the expedi tion could be :)btained 

for the re-opening cbf Parliament (on May 12). 
~ 

Barthelemy 

felt sure that, as Bismarck had told Saint Vallier, 

Granville vmuld not go farther than expressing "du 

mauvais vouloir', des procedes peu aimables, des 

taquineries"l. On Niay 10, tl1e prench Minister affirmed 

once more than .B'rance "did not intend to annex Tunis", 

that the military occupation would be "of an essentially 

prOVisional character", and that the Treaty which would 

be made with the Bey would respect the Treaties concluded 

between the Bey and the Powers, ane refused Granville's 

offel" as mildly as he could: "he did not think that at the 

present moment he could sULLest any way in which the 

interpOSition of Her Majesty's Government could conduce 

to the early settlement of the quest.l..ons at if sue between 

France and Tunis.,,2 This time everything was over: 

while Granville resigned himself to the 'fait-accom:pli' 

and turned clown the last Italian and Turl<:ish demarches, 

1. D.D.P., III, Saint Vallier, to Saint Hilaire,May 2,1881 
2. A. O. T., III, Lyons to Granville, IvltlY 10, 1881. 
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French troops arrivea in the neighbourhood o~ the Bardo. 

On May 12, Roustan and General Breart imposed on the 

Bey the signature o~ a '.l.'reaty which had been l\:ept ready 

for three years and provided for the tem:Qorary occupa-

tion of some parts of the Regency (article II), and tlle 

nomination of a Minister Resident 'whm was to act as the 

Bey's foreign minister (articles V and VI). 

After the Treaty. 

5. .:he conclusion of the Treaty VJas bound to cause an 

unfavourable impression in Great Britain. Not to speak 

of Reade's a~fliction, even Lyons felt some irritation 

at a Treaty which established something so like a Pro­

tectorate "that it would be difflcult to point out a 

dif~erence."l Bri1Jish public o.fJinion and the press 

wel~e deeply impressed by the possible strategic conse­

cuences of the seizure of Bizerta by France, although 

Sa int Hilaire had assured that It'rance did not contemplate 

incurr'ing the enormous expenses which wel~e needed to 

make Bizerta a harbour utilizable by war-ships. In 

Pe rliarnent lilontague Guest t s enel~getic speech of lviay 16, 

and demand for a protest against .B'rance's "high handed 

attacklt was followed by numerous and pressing suggestions 

1. Newton, II, p. 2 t14-: Lyons to Granville, May 13,1881 
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for action. In the ]:.'oreign Off ice, however, even if 

some emotion had been felt at first - Ch.allemel Lacour 

reported on IVlsy 16 that it had been thought of expressing 

reservationsl - it Quickly subsided. A diplomatic 

action was out of the Q.uestion as it Vlould have been 

useless: moreover Bismarck, who was in great spirits 

"since the French (had) gone into the Tunis trap,,2 
, .. 

was urging the London Cabinet to "se resigner a ce Qu'il 

ne pouvai t plus empecher et accepter les fai ts accomplis. ,6 

The feeling that in the situation created by Salis­

bury's enga gements there was not JJl.lch room left for 

resistance largely contributed to soothing the irritation 

of the British Government: "We think Cyppus and the 

lang~age of Salisbury leaves little ground under our 

feet to take a strong attitude" Granville wrote to 

Goschen on Iv~ay 13, and this tendency to put the blame 

on Salisbury appeared again and again in the corres-

pondence of the Liberal statesmen. 4 At the same time, 

it was thought expedient to publish part of the Salis-

burY-Waddington correspondence of July and August 1878 

with a view to putting an end to the attacks to which the 

1. E.B.]:.'. IV, Challemel Lacour to Saint Hilaire,May 16. 
2. G.P., 1'77, Odo Russell to Granville, May 14. 
3. E. Daudet, p. 214. 
4. G.P. 210, Granville to Goschen, Me. y 13. See also 

G.P. 137, Northbrook to Granville, May 13, G.P. 143 
Bright, May 16, and Forster, Ma y 17, etc •••• 
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Uovernment's policy in Tunis was subjected in Parliament 

and in the country: it is perfectly understandable that 

Granville,wilo had laboured during one year under the 

burden of the Berlin agreement, was not sorry to distri-

bute the responsibilities more fairly. publication 

was decided on by the Cabinet after some discussion 

whether they were to publish the whole or only part of 

the correspondence (May 14 to 17)1. Though some of the 

crudest docwnents were ultimately left aside, especially 

Lyons' letter of July 19, 1881, what remained was 

impressive enough, and the discussion in P8rliament 

ended lamely Vii ttl innocuous considera tions about the 

preservation of the rights of British subjects in Tunis 

(May 20, 1881).2 

6. At the same time, Granville was asking for such 

guarantees as would strengthen his pOSition at home. On 

lviay 13 he reminded Br; rthelemy Saint Hilaire of the 

successive assurances which he had given to Great Bri-

tain about Tunis: no intention of annexation, no design 

of using Bizerta as a naval station, respect of all 

1. See lillaplund, Gladstone's Foreign Policy, p. 122, 
and G.P., 143. 

2. Dilke and Gladstone had persistently'refused to 
engage into any fUll discussion before the publi­
cation of the Papers - See Hansard CCLXI 571 to 574 
(May 16), 683 (May 17), 805 (May 19). 
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existing Treaty rights of foreign countries and subjects 

in 'runis, maintenance of the commercial freedom and of 
1 the financial agreements. The :b'rench Minister showed 

a significant readiness to give the satisfactory assur-

ances which were demanded of him, and professed a sincere 

desire to maintain Anglo-French friendship: "T'liIllis ne 

peut pas etre entre nous un objet de discorde,,2. Gran-

ville's answer, however, was still tinged with some ill 

humour: The British government, he wrote on i'Jiay 20, 

"woula be wanting in frankness if they allowed M. 

Barthelemy Saint Hilaire to remain under the impression 

that the proceedings of the French in Tunis have pro-

duced a favourable effect on public opinion in this 

country. ,,3 

Granville's lasting irritation was probably meant 

to induce the French Government to adopt a prudent 

attitude: "However anxious we are not to squabble about 

little points," he wrote to Lyons on JUne 22, "public 

opinion will be very watchful here.,,4 If the Queen's 

1. A.O.T., III, Granville to Lyons, May 13, 1881 
2. G.P. 147. Salnt Hilaire to Reeve May 16,1881 
3. A.O.T. III, Granville to Challemel Lacour,May 20,1881 
4. G.P. 202. Granville to Lyons, June 22. Granvillets 

squabbling with France was perhaps part of his poli­
tical philosophy: "MY mother, who was popular in 
French society, used to say that it was impossible 
to be so, unless one insulted them once a month" 
he wrote to Lyons on July 9, 1881 (G.P. 202.) 
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vehement apprehensions about EglIPt seem to have been at 

least premature - "Lord GI'anville said the other day to 

the Queen that this (the French annexation of Egypt) WE 

could not tolerate and she trusts he will take care that -
our unfortunate apparent acquiescence in the annexation 

of Tunis does not lead ,l;"rance and Europe to believe we 

shall stand trlat. This should be known. ttl - the out-

break of a revolt in the south of the Regency and the 

French military intervention which followed uould give 

rise to some concern about Tripoli. At all events 

Granville made it quite clear that in view of the un-

questioned incorporation of 'fripoli in the ottoman Empire 

and of its proximity to Eg~pt, Great Britain could not 

regard French interference in that province with indiff-
o 

erence (July 15). 'J Barthelemy lnD11ediately, and most 

emphatically, denied that France had any designs on 

Tripoli. (July 17) 

By that time the stir which had been caused by the 

'J.'unis affair had largely subsided. A rapprochement· 

between ;b'rance and England was hoped for in Paris where 

France's isolation and her utter dependence upon Bis-

marck's support aroused some misgivings. In the Foreign 

Office also the closeness of French relations with Germany 

1. The Letters of Queen Victoria, III, p. 223. Victoria 
to Granville, June 27. 

2. Fitzmaurice, II, p. 235. 
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was a matter of concern and as early as the end of May 

Granville agpeared anxious not to worsen Franco-British 

relations. The resumption of serious business - the 

discussions about the Trade agreement - helged to speed 

up the "detente" and in December Gambetta remarked with 

much gratification that Lyons'friendly language about 

Tunis was "une preuve precieuse de la bonne grace avec 

" " laquelle le cabinet de M. Gladstone parait dispose a 

accepter aujourdhui les faits accomplis dans la Regence."l 

7. In sp ite of a belated effort to convince the French 

government that he had maintained a "conciliatory atti­

tude" during the crisis,2 it was impossible for Granville 

to derive political benefit from his unwilling neutrality. 

The obstacles to a british intervention were indeed 

formidable: Germany's constant support to France had 

prevented the interposition of the "concert of Europe" 

in the TuniSian question; in the::e conditions, Granville 

could rely only on Turkey and Italy which were obviously 

not suitable partners. The rapidity of French action 

also la rgely contributed to put the Foreign Office before 

the tlfait accompli": the French statesmen had carefully 

1. D.D.F. IV, Gambetta to Ohallemel Lacour, December 
15, 1881. 

2. G.p. 202, Granville to Lyons, June 22 , 1881. 
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conceiled their intentions at the beginning; when they 

at last showed their hand, towards the 25th of April, 

they needed only two weeks to bring the 'l'unisian affair 

to its conclusion. Lastly the existence, and the dis­

closure of the Berlin agreement made a ,British isolated 

intervention impossible, in the absence of an organised 

action of the powers. 

It appears however that none of these difficulties 

would have b~en such as to prevent the ultimate inter­

vention which GI!anvil1e had had in mind in April and May, 

had it not been for the moderating influence which his 

entourage exercised on him at the critical moments. 

Preserved from what was likely to be a diplomatic failure 

by the interventions of Gladstone, Dilke and Lyons, 

Granville came gradually to accept with a bad grace the 

events which he was unable to prevent. 
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Concluding Observations 

1. The British policy towards Tunis took shape in 

answer to a well defined situation - namely the danger 

of, a French occupation of Tunis which seemed to be threat­

ening in 1835, as a result both of l!'rance' s expansion 

in Algiers and Constantine and of her fear lest the 

Turks, now masters of Tripoli, should try likewise to 

reassert their direct authority in Tunis. This accounts 

for the first fundamental feature of British policy: 

unlike France and Italy, Great Britain persistently 

disclaimed any political designs over the hegency, and 

gave over ane over again indis~utable proofs of her dis­

i nterestedness. Britain's interest in ,Tunis was from the 

outs et limited to the dip lomatic aspect of Tunisian 

affairs, na mely to upholding the Regency as a seL,i­

autonomous state in the ge neral fr8mewoP1c:>r .t:3ritie.h . Med­

i terl'ane::m and !Suropean .Jolicy: }\t a time when, Pal'merston 

thousllt, t ile UIlited 9,I"!Ib1t .,ons of lI'r'3::1ce and ,-,iohamrned 

Ali wel"'e threatenlne to overthrow the balance of power 

in the lvJ.edi terranean and endangering the very existence 

of the Ottoman Empire, the possibili ty of French ex-pan­

Eion i n Tunis was of a vel~y alarming character and had 

to be firmly opposed by Britain. 
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The obvious WealGleSS of tne Tunisian state called 

for an external SUPl)Ort to counterbalance incr'easing 

?rench pressure: the 'rapprmchement' between Tunis and 

the Porte, in palmerston's mind, was to provide for this 

strengthening of the Regency; at the same time it fitted 

in well with Britain's policy of supporting the ottoman 

Empire. The obstacles which were met with in imple­

menting t ile "Turkish solution" - and primarily the un­

flinching 0p.:losi tion of l!'rance - were, however, to lead 

the Foreign Office to accept the policy of "status quo" 

as a lesser eVil: in spite of its brilliant appearance 

the settlement of 1871 was a mere consecration of the 

status quo and in no way the materialization of Palmer­

stone's more radical conceptions. An examination of 

the means of British policy in Tunis may account for 

this progressive shrinkage of its ambitions. 

2. We have already remarked that Britain's desire to 

prolong the autonomous existence of the Regency was 

merged into more general diplomatic issues: as seen 

from London the Tunisian Question had never constituted 

an isolated problem, but a limited and local aspect of 

Britain's relations with France and the Porte, determined 

by these,relations, and never determining them. This 

principle was to reach its limit when, in 1878, the 
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change of attitude towards the ottoman Empire and the 

necessity of squaring France led Salisbury ultimately to 

sacrifice Tunis in the interests of Britain's "Great policy' 

':the methods which the Foreign Office considered 

using in 'l'unis corre sponded with the subordinate and, as 

it were, mediate position which the Tunisian problem was 

thus occupying in its diplomatic preoccupations. It 

40es not appear tha t the It'oreign Office was ever prepaI'ed 

to go farther than diplomatic interventions to hold 

France in check and to moderate the impatience of the 

Porte: as early as 1837 Ponsonby had warned the Porte 

that England would not quarrel wi th ~lral1ce in support 

"of any injudicious attempt"of the Ottoman Government 

meaning any attempt to revive the rights which the porte 

nndicated in TuniS, and w~ich Great Britain agreed that 

it had. It is true that at several critical moments, 

and especially in 1839 and 1840 palmerston had appeared 

ready to resort to a more determined action to stop 

:&'rench encroachments: but the Tunisian question was then 

merged into a Me(:_ i terranean problem, the centre of which 

was in Egypt. By th~s limiting its own action, the 

Foreign Office was bound to upset the balance which it 

tried to maintain between what was to be allowed to 

France and what was due to rrurl{ey in Tunis: it was to 

t . T . , nretens;ons over Tunis prove easier to res ra~n uri.{ey s 1::' .... 
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than to prevent France from showing her strength before 

Tunis; hence the gradual drift of British policy towards 

the policy of status quo. 

Wood was later to demQnstrate with much lucidity 

the inconsistencies and contradictions in the policy of 

status QUo, and to su;gest the adoption of more logical 

solutions - as for instance neutralizing the Regency. 

The Foreign Office, however, ignored these suggestions, 

less perhaps through ignorance of the short comings of 

this policy than through a belief that the adoption of 

Wood's clear-cut solutions would have forced a diffi:cult 

choice upon Great Britain. She would have had either to 

sacrifice the friendship of li'rance for Turkey's benefit, 

or publicly to repudiate British traditional policy of 

support of the ottoman Empire. The maintenance of an 

ovscure and ambiguous smtuation was deemed to be more 

advisable than recourse to decisions which would perhaps 

have affected the whole of British Foreign Policy. 

3. The main trends which have just been defined, give, 

however, only a schematic and incomplete picture of 

British policy: to complete it, one must examine the 

features of Consular activity in Tunis. The Foreign 

Office was of course mainly interested in these aspects 

of the Tunisian problem 'which wel"'e likely to affect the 
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general equilibrium of British ~olicy in the Mediterranean. 

At a time when Britain was on the whole clinging tightly 

to the policy of supporting the ottoman Empire, which 

underlay . her concept of equilibrium in the ~iedi terranean, 

her policy in Tunis was bound to be remarkably static: 

this stability revealed itself in the diplomatic tradi­

tion which had been given shape by Palmerston, and had 

invariably triumphed whenever the Tunisian policy had 

been subjected to close examination (for instance in 

1850 with Baynes' arrival, in 1856 after Wood's nomina­

tion, in 1862 •••• ). When the period of framing this 

tradition was over, i.e. after 1846, the influence of 

the parties was insignificant until Salisbury questioned 

the fundamental principles of British policy in the lVled­

iterranean (fear of French expansion and integrity of 

the ottoman Empire) and Tunis was al to[:,ether abandoned 

to its fate: Granville was to experience the difficulty 

of reswning the traditional British policy in Tunis 

without the general princi~les which had underlain it 

and which the Liberals were not ready to restore. 

The outlook of the Consuls was for many reasons 

different from the views which were held in London. 

Isolated from London by distance and the difficulty of 

communications (the first telegraphic line was establmshed 

only in 1860) they enjoyed a large freedom of action 
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because the Foreign Office did not provide them with 

more than a bare outline of its diplomatic interests in 

Tunis. Imbued with the traditions of the Levantine 

consular body, with which many of them had spent their 

entire career, they had an irresistible propensity to 

indulge in a keen struggle with their Fre:nch colleagues 

with an avowed view to checking the progress of French 

influence: but they were strongly tempted to take up 

their stand on the very ground of their opponents, and 

to drag their own goverrunent into the competition for 

political influence which opposed France and Italy in 

Tunis. Limited as they were to the narrow horizon of 

local politics and consular rivalries they were prone to 

forget that the ]loreign Office had other considerations 

~han their own often trivial difficulties to take into 

account in its shaping of a policy. This tendency of 

the Consuls to interfere with the internal affairs of 

the Regency had not always a negative aspect: it some­

times contributed towards giving British policy an 

original course as was the case with Wood's policy of 

refonm. In this last instance the Foreign Office was 

ready to give its backing to Wood's initiative because 

it fitted in with the policy which Great Britain was 

then pursuing in Turkey. 

But on the whole the Foreign Office appeared but 

moderately enthusiastic to support the action of the 
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Consuls when it was likely to draw Great Britain into 

taking an active share in the competition for political 

domination in Tunis, and ultimately to divert British 

policy from its main course or to hinder Britain's rela­

tions with France or Tur:-<:ey. A latent discrepancy 

between the objects of t he Poreign Office and the local 

attitude of the Consuls had already appeared in the 

question of reform. It could not but lead to an open 

conflict when Richard. Wood endeavoured after 1870 to 

develop an a cti ve policy in 'tunis while the Government 

of Gladstone and Granville were very strongly prejudiced 

against any kind of "interventionism" in the internal 

affairs of foreign countries. Granville's refusal in 

1873 to follow Wood's policy of economic penetration 

and of participation in the politlcal struggle in Tunis 

rang the knell of Wood's ambitions schemes. Wood's 

language and methods during that period had not been very 

different from those of the Consuls who were looking for 

poli tical predominance in 'l'unis: His disavowal indicated 

that the Foreign Office kept to the traditional concep­

tion of a policy limited in Tunis to diplomatic objects. 
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4. If one tries to base conclusions about British 

policy towards Tunis on the object which Palmerston had 

set himself ~n 1835, that is to say the protection of 

the political existence of the ReLency against French 

designs, it appears as an uninterrupted succession of 

failures - regarding the l'urkish solution, the reforms 

and the economic penetration - with, in the end, Salis­

bury's paradoxical volte-face of Berlin. For these 

failures the shortcomings of British policy were largely 

resyonsible: improvisation and empirism during the first 

years whi~h perhaps threw palmerston off the track with 

the illusory hotion of the status quo; internal contra­

dictions of a policy which should have rested on the 

Beys - but the Beys were not unnaturally reluctant to 

accept for themselves the fate of their neighbours of 

Tripoli - and on the porte - but the Porte was first 

uncompromising and later faltering. But the fundamental 

cause of Britain's failure was of course the flagrant 

disparity between the means and the aims of her ~olicy 

in 'runis: while ,Prance was preE,sing with all her weight 

on the Regency, Great Britain pretended to keep France 

out of 'llunis by means which fell short of the active 

measures of protection which would have been need.ed at 

cri tical junctures. 'fhis refusal to use in Tunis the 
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means which her policy required was justified by Bri­

tain's appraisal of the subordinate character of the 

Tunisian question. Eu tat the same time the .6'oreign 

Office was tempted to pursue a policy which was beyond 

its means as was apparent at the very end with Granville's 

uns~ccessful attempts at "barking without biting". 

One may also try to base one's conclusions on the 

principles which had inspire~ Palmerston's policy from 

1835 to 1841, and underlay British policy after him, 

that is to say the fear lest French expansion should 

overthrow the equilibriurn in the iviedi terranean and 

imperil the existence of the ottoman Empire. This danger, 

if there was one, was first averted by Mohammed Ali's 

failure and, with respect to 'l'ul1is, by Palrnerston' s 

firm resistance to French penetration. After 1841 the 

internationalisation of the Turkish question, at the 

Congress of Paris (1856) and much later the concurrence 

of the Powers in a controlled and limited partition of 

the Ottoman Empire, less ened greatly the danger which a 

French annexation of 'l'unis might have represented for 

British interests in the hlediterranean. Salisbury's 

decision of 1878 was the result of an ap?raisal of 

this new situation in the hle6iterranean as well as of 

his recognition of the fundamental im:potence of british 

policy in Tunis to which we have just celled attention. 
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At the moment when the Great Powers were about to launch 

forth on the conouest of the world, palmerston's notions 

about equilibrium in the lv.edi tel' l'anean would indeed. seem 

outrnoded. When examined from this point of view, the 

occupation of 1'unis by l!'r ance was only the first episo(1e 

of the great redistribution of Africa between the 

Imperialist Powers which was to go on for forty years, 

until the Versailles settlement. 
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